
AUDIT COMMITTEE

Date:- Tuesday, 19 June 2018 Venue:- Town Hall, Moorgate Street, 
Rotherham.  S60  2TH

Time:- 2.00 p.m.

AGENDA

1. To determine whether the following items should be considered under the 
categories suggested in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended 
2006) of the Local Government Act 1972 

2. To determine any item(s) which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 
considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency 

3. Apologies for Absence 

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. Questions from Members of the Public or the Press 

6. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 6th February, 2018 (herewith) (Pages 
1 - 8)

7. Briefing Paper - GDPR Compliance Progress (herewith) (Pages 9 - 13)

8. Publication of Unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18 (herewith) (Pages 14 
- 157)

9. Update Report on the Use and Operation of Surveillance and Acquisition of 
Communications Data Powers (herewith) (Pages 158 - 265)

10. External Audit and Inspection Recommendations (herewith) (Pages 266 - 279)

11. Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 (herewith) (Pages 280 - 303)

12. Internal Audit Annual Report 2017 - 2018 (herewith) (Pages 304 - 321)

13. Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21 (report herewith) (Pages 322 - 
343)

 



14. Audit Committee Prospectus and Forward Work Plan 2018/19 (report herewith) 
(Pages 344 - 355)

15. Items for Referral for Scrutiny 

16. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

That under Section 100(A) 4 of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of such Act indicated, as now 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 (information relates to finance and business affairs).

17. Internal Audit Progress Report for the period 1st January to 31st May 2018 
(herewith) (Pages 356 - 393)

18. Strategic Risk Register (herewith) (Pages 394 - 413)

19. Date and times of meetings for the 2018/19 Municipal Year 

Monday, 30th July, 2018, at 2.00 p.m.

Tuesday, 28th September at 4.00 p.m.

27th November

29th January, 2019

26th March

Chief Executive.

Membership 2018/19

Chair – Councillor Wyatt.
Vice-Chair – Councillor Walsh

Councillors Cowles, Evans and Vjestica

Independent Member – Mr. B. Coleman



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

AUDIT COMMITTEE
6th February, 2018

Present:- Councillor Wyatt (in the Chair); Councillors Evans, Sansome, Walsh and 
Bernard Coleman (Independent Person) and Amy Warner (KPMG).

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Cowles. 

48.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest made at the meeting.

49.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC OR THE PRESS 

There were no members of the public or press present at the meeting.

50.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 21ST NOVEMBER, 
2017 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting of the 
Audit Committee held on 21st November, 2017.

Resolved:-  That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Audit 
Committee be approved as a correct record of proceedings.

51.   COMMUNICATIONS 

(a)  The Council was to be subject to a full health check by 
representatives of the Local Government Association at the request of the 
Commissioners.  The Chair and the Head of Internal Audit would be 
interviewed as part of the process.

(b)  E-learning on Fraud Awareness had been rolled out to managers, 
relevant Council staff in the Council and all Members.  Members of the 
Audit Committee would be encouraged to undertake the E-learning.

(c)  The results of the recent self-assessment were now known which 
would help influence the Committee’s training and development 
throughout the year.  The scores had improved from the previous self-
assessment.

52.   FINAL ACCOUNT CLOSEDOWN AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Finance Manager presented a report setting out the main changes to 
the local authority accounting framework in 2017/18, including their effect 
on the Council’s accounting policies and to the statutory framework for 
preparing and reporting local authority financial statements (the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015). 

Page 1 Agenda Item 6



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

It also highlighted the need to achieve faster closure to meet the 
shortening of the reporting timetable under the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 which required unaudited financial statements to be 
published by the end of May, previously the end of June, and audited 
financial statements to be published by the end of July, previously the end 
of September.  

Information was included in the appendix to the submitted report which 
set out the key accounting issues and changes to the accounts in 
2017/18.

Resolved:- (1)  That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2)  That a meeting be held on Monday, 30th July at 2.00 p.m. to enable 
the final accounts to be signed off by the Chairman and published by the 
31st July deadline.

53.   EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2017/18 

Consideration was given to a report, presented by Amy Warner (KPMG), 
describing the KPMG External Audit Plan in respect of the 2017/18 
financial year. 

The report stated that, as the Council’s external auditor, KPMG had a duty 
to:

- give an opinion on the Council’s financial statements;

- conclude on whether the Council had arrangements in place to secure 
value for money in the use of its resources.

The External Audit Plan document was included as an appendix to the 
submitted report and set out the audit approach that KPMG were planning 
to take to discharge these duties.

The main proposed areas identified of the audit were:-

: Financial statements audit planning (risk assessment; determination of 
materiality level; issuing of audit plan to communicate with audit strategy);

:  Use of resources (concluding on the arrangements in place for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources)

The External Audit Plan set out the risks which KPMG have identified as 
requiring special audit attention, which may prevent them from being able 
to reach a positive Value For Money conclusion, namely:

 Valuation of PPE 
 Pension Liabilities and Assets 
 Faster Closure of Final Accounts 

Page 2



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

 Financial Sustainability
 Delivery of Children’s Services Improvement Plan

Members were informed that KPMG would continue in their present role 
as the Council’s external auditor until the end of the present audit and 
completion of the contracted Housing Benefit work; the 2018/19 audit 
would be with the new auditors.

Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2) That KPMG’s External Audit Plan for the 2017/18 financial year, as 
now submitted, be approved and the proposed areas of audit identified be 
noted.

54.   EXTERNAL AUDIT GRANTS REPORT 2016/17 

Consideration was given to a report, presented by Amy Warner (KPMG) 
concerning the annual feedback, provided by external auditor KPMG, on 
the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for preparing and 
submitting Government grant claims and returns.

The external auditor’s report summarised KPMG’s key findings from the 
certification work carried out in 2016/17. The Committee was informed 
that KPMG was required to audit three claims and returns in 2016/17 all of 
which had been issued an unqualified certificate. Minor adjustments were 
made to the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim as a result of the certification 
work. 

KPMG had noted that there were no recommendations outstanding from 
previous years’ work and had not made any recommendations following 
this year’s certification work.  

Resolved:- (1)  That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2)  That the fees, in line with those charged for 2015/16, be noted.

55.   INTERNAL AUDIT SELF-ASSESSMENT AGAINST THE PUBLIC 
SECTOR INTERNAL AUDIT STANDARDS 

The Head of Internal Audit presented the results of the internal self-
assessment for 2017/18 to confirm compliance with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) together with the Internal Audit Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) produced to address the 
areas where conformance was not achieved during the internal self-
assessment completed in January 2017.

Page 3



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

The self-assessment had found that substantial progress had been made 
to conclude that the department now had general conformance with the 
Standards.  Appendix 1 of the report submitted contained the evaluation 
procedure used together with a detailed assessment against individual 
standards, current and last year.

The areas of partial conformance gave rise to actions which would form 
the Quality Assurance and Improvement Plan for the next year.  Key 
actions included:-

 Embedding new audit scoping, reporting and performance monitoring 
and management processes

 Individual and team development plans implemented
 Implementation of the electronic audit system, streamlining of 

administration and reduction of non-productive time
 Development of assurance mapping
 Fully refreshing the Internal Audit Manual to reflect new PSIAS 

compliant audit policies and procedures

Progress against the action plan would be reported to the Audit 
Committee.

The Standards required that an external assessment be carried out every 
five years by a qualified independent assessor with the next assessment 
due in 2020-21.  However, as the Department was still subject to 
considerable change in the way it worked, it was proposed that an 
external assessment be carried out next year to verify the general 
conformance at that time.

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 The external review would be by way of a Peer Review
 The full implementation of the audit software would reduce the 

number of non-productive time
 Assurance mapping required development and was an outstanding 

risk on the Risk Register
 Develop the use of CAATs (Computer Aided Audit Techniques) – 

software that enabled comparison to be made and directed the user to 
anomalies for investigation

Resolved:-  (1)  That the result of the self-assessment against the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) be noted.

(2)  That the progress since the external assessment carried out in 
2015/16 be noted.

(3)  That an external peer review be completed in 2019. 

Page 4



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

(4)  That the production and ongoing implementation of the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme based on the internal self-
assessment be reported to this Committee.

56.   AUDIT COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PLAN 

Consideration was given to proposed forward work plan for the Audit 
Committee covering the period June 2018-February, 2019.

Resolved:-  That the forward work plan be supported and any 
amendments arising actioned in due course.

57.   ITEMS FOR REFERRAL FOR SCRUTINY 

Resolved:-  That the Audit Committee Forward Work Plan be forwarded to 
Caroline Webb, Scrutiny Adviser.

58.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved:-  That under Section 100(A) 4 of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of such 
Act indicated, as now amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006 (information relates to finance and 
business affairs).

59.   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

Consideration was given to a report presented by the Head of Internal 
Audit which provided a summary of Internal Audit work completed during 
1st November 2017 to 31st December, 2017, and the key issues that had 
arisen therefrom.    

It was noted that there had been no further changes to the Audit Plan 
since those reported to the November meeting of the Audit Committee.

Productive time, completion of reviews within planned time and the issue 
of draft reports had all been hit previously by sickness, annual leave and 
the introduction of new software during the period impacting upon the 
completion of the audit plan.   An inward secondment was in place but 
had ended at the end of December 2017 with another due to start on 1st 
February, 2018.    

Summary conclusions in all significant audit work concluded during the 
period were set out in Appendix A of the report submitted.    All the reports 
issued during the period gave Partial, Substantial or Reasonable 
Assurance (set out as part of Appendix B).  In two reports no 
recommendations were made.  

Page 5



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

Reference was also made Appendix C which detailed significant 
responsive work completed since the last Audit Committee.  A number of 
requests had been submitted resulting in Internal Audit currently working 
on five investigations.

Appendix D listed the outstanding recommendations and their current 
status and, as requested at a previous Audit Committee, Appendix E 
showed aged recommendations that were still outstanding with an 
explanation of progress made for each.  These had been reported to the 
Strategic Leadership Team on 23rd January.  As previously reported, this 
procedure had been expanded to include all recommendations raised that 
were still outstanding after 6 months.

Appendix F summarised Internal Audit’s performance against a number of 
Indicators.  These had been affected by leave over the Christmas period.

Discussion ensued on the report with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 Number of tenant/former tenant rent arrears
 Current situation with regard to the refresh of the Asbestos 

Management Plan

Resolved:-  (1)  That the Internal Audit work undertaken since meetings of 
the Audit Committee, 1st November 2017 to 31st December, 2017, and the 
key issues arising therefrom be noted.

(2)  That the information contained regarding the performance of Internal 
Audit and the actions being taken by management in respect of the 
performance be noted.

60.   STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

The Corporate Risk Manager, presented the current Strategic Risk 
Register which took account of updates from Directorates, the Strategic 
Leadership Team and the Audit Committee.  

The Register was currently reviewed six weekly by the Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT) and reported quarterly to the Committee.  

The current Register had been constructed from updates provided by risk 
owners.  There were two new risks with three risks having been removed 
totalling eighteen risks on the Strategic Risk Register.  

It was noted that the format of the Register had been amended to improve 
the focus and actions that needed to be carried out in order to reduce the 
level of risk and clarity of the risk scoring.  However, it was clarified that 
the Register was formally reviewed quarterly by the SLT at joint SLT/AD 
Performance Management meetings as well as the Corporate Risk 
Manager ensuring updates were obtained from all risk owners, reviewed 
each update and drew attention to any issues or missing updates.

Page 6



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

Discussion ensued with regard to the need for the Audit Committee to 
have an audit trail of the success, or otherwise, of the mitigating actions 
taken and the resultant impact upon the risk rating.  The report stated the 
number of risks removed from the Register but not the tracking of any 
adjustment of the risk rating.  

Resolved:-  (1)  That the updated Strategic Risk Register be noted.

(2)  That future updates include a paragraph highlighting any risks whose 
ratings had decreased. 

61.   RISK REGISTER - CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLES' SERVICES 

The Strategic Director of Children and Young People’s Services 
presented the Directorate Risk Register and risk management activity in 
particular highlighting:-

 How the Register was maintained/monitored and at what frequency
 Cabinet Member involvement
 How risks were included on/removed from the Register
 Anti-fraud activity in the Directorate

Discussion ensued with the following issues raised/clarified:-

 The risks contained within the Risk Register would need to be 
recalibrated in light of the results of the recent Ofsted inspection

 Each outcome had a number of risks – the SLT decided which ones 
they wanted to monitor and score the risk level

 The Service was facing unprecedented budgetary pressures in the 
next financial year with massive increases in the numbers of children 
in care

 Complex Abuse Inquiry
 Document completed for the consultation “Enabling School 

Improvement”
 Preparation underway for the forthcoming SEND inspection
 Working partnership with Academies
 Recruitment and retention
 Number of conversions from Statement of Special Educational Need 

to Education Health Care Plan which was a requirement of the 
Children and Families Act

 Development of the SEND Excellence Strategy for children in 
Rotherham

Resolved:- That the progress and current position in relation to risk 
management activity in the Children and Young People’s Directorate be 
noted.

Page 7



AUDIT COMMITTEE - 06/02/18

62.   DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 

Resolved:-  That a further meeting be held on Tuesday,12th June, 2018, 
commencing at 4.00 p.m.

Page 8



ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

FINANCE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES

Dated: 11 June 2018

Audit Committee Briefing Paper: GDPR Compliance Progress

The report provides a summary of the Council’s progress towards compliance with the General 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) as at March 2018 and the outstanding actions.

1. Background 

1.1 On 28 February 2017, SLT approved the Council’s Information Governance Programme 
of Work. 

1.2 The programme of work incorporates existing and upcoming compliance gaps in 
relation to information governance legislation.

1.3 GDPR has been a key driver for the programme of work and although significant 
progress has been made, there remain a number of activities which will require new 
process development, change to existing processes and implementation. 

1.4 To date the programme of Work has established and implemented a wide range of 
projects.

Appendix 1 provides details of work completed in Quarter 4, and outstanding tasks. 

2. Issues / Concerns

2.1 As at March 2018 the Information Audit which aims to identify the Council’s valuable 
information assets and any related risks was 90% complete, with approximately 840 
information assets recorded. 

2.2 The target date for completion of the Information Audit was September 2017 to allow 
sufficient time to prepare risk assessments and address individual improvement plans.

2.3 Risk assessments have been carried out for 90% of the information assets and 
Improvement Plans have been issued. Risks have been categorised into 3 priorities 
based on the impact of non-compliance with data protection legislation. 

2.4 Improvement Plans provide recommended actions and links to appropriate resources.

2.5 The key risks identified across some of the Council Information Assets are:

- assets are not detailed within the existing Council privacy notice
- assets deemed high risk have no historical Privacy Impact Assessment
- assets have breached data retention requirements
- assets are stored in mailboxes 
- assets are stored in filing cabinets/paper form 

Page 9 Agenda Item 7



- assets (personal data) are shared with no formal information sharing 
arrangements

- assets are shared on the basis of historical information sharing arrangements 
which have not been reviewed for a long period of time

- assets containing sensitive information may not be attracting additional security 
measures

- assets have no form of data quality checks on data entry or periodically

3 2018/19 Quarter 1 Targets

The Information Management Team is working closely with Information Asset Owners across 
the Council to address the risks identified. 

Name: Marie Buxton
Title:    Head of Information Management
Contact Details: 07919 304217

Page 10



Appendix 1: GDPR Compliance Progress Q4 (Jan-Mar 18)

Phase 1 (Mar-Jul 17): Raise Awareness, Build Accountability and Gather Information 

1.1 An Information Governance Framework has been established and Implemented
Deliverables Met Dec 17

1.2 An Information Governance Programme of Work has been established and Implemented
Deliverables met Dec 17

1.3 Decision-makers at all levels have been informed on the impact of GDPR
Deliverables met Dec 17

1.4 A Council wide ‘Information audit’ has been established and implemented
Deliverables met Dec 17

1.5 Carry out a review of IT systems and procedures in light of new information rights, to 
include
Deliverables achieved:

- System Owners of high risk systems (approx. 30) contacted via Digital Services to determine gaps in GDPR 
compliance and timeline of software releases

Deliverables outstanding:
- List of risks across RMBC high risk systems in relation to GDPR compliance
- Digital solutions agreed between System Owners and Software Suppliers to meet GDPR compliance eg right to 

erasure, portability 
- Offline solutions agreed with System Owners to meet GDPR compliance, 

1.6 Review the resource and training requirements within the IM Team, to include: 
Deliverables achieved:

- Practitioner Certificate in GDPR complete by Head of Information Management Team

Deliverables outstanding:
- GDPR Training for IM Team ongoing

Phase 2: Plan and Prioritise (Jul – Nov 17)

2.1 Recruit and appoint a Data Protection Officer (DPO):

Deliverables achieved:
- DPO designation agreed by SLT

Deliverables outstanding:
- DPO not yet formally appointed 

2.2 Prioritise compliance activity and remedial measures based on areas with high risk and 
most significant impact (identified via Information Audit and Information Rights Review)
Deliverables achieved:

- Information Audit Risk Assessments by IAO – 85% complete
- Improvement Plan by IAO prepared and submitted – 85% complete 

Deliverables outstanding:
- Risk assessments outstanding for 2 IAO’s due to delays within services completing the Information Audit
- Improvement plans outstanding for 2 IAO’s due to delays within services completing the Information Audit
- Directorate resource to be allocated to the improvement plan deliverables
- A monitoring and review schedule to be agreed between the IAO and IM Team to complete improvement 

plans 

Page 11



- All Information risks will not be mitigated by May 2018 due to the delays in completing the Information Audit 

2.3 Embed Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) guidance and process across the Council

Deliverables outstanding:
- PIA Checklist Template to be updated to reflect GDPR requirements

2.4 Conduct retrospective PIA’s for riskier activities
Deliverables achieved:

- Approx 25% of the Council’s CCTV systems have a new PIA in line with new requirements, risk assessed and 
mitigating actions recommended to the service 

- SPOC for CCTV has now been allocated to Lewis Coates R&E

Deliverables outstanding:
- PIA’s outstanding for 75% of CCTV systems 
- PIA’s to be completed for cloud based systems

2.5 Embed the data breach guidance and process across the Council
Deliverables achieved:

- 72 hour ICO notification measure embedded in existing process

Deliverables outstanding:
- Communicate across the Council, tighter reporting deadlines eg 72 hours

Phase 3: Implement Changes (Dec17-Apr 18, 5 months)

3.1 Review and update privacy standards and processes
Deliverables achieved:

- Corporate Privacy Notice ready for launch on the new Information Rights website
- Directorate’s received a Privacy Notice template to confirm accuracy before this is uploaded and linked to the 

Council Privacy Notice page.

Deliverables outstanding:
- Finalised and approved Directorate Privacy Notices to be uploaded to the external site

3.2 Review and update consent standards and processes
Deliverables achieved:

- Guidance on consent arrangements available on the new Information Management Intranet Site
- Advice relating to the use of consent as a lawful basis for processing personal data has been embedded within 

the Information Audit Risk Assessment

Deliverables outstanding:
- IAO to review the lawful basis for processing personal data (6 bases) where the information audit has 

identified reliance on ‘consent’. Local Authorities should be reliant on public task when processing personal 
data, consent only on an exception basis.
3.3 Review and update information sharing (inc confidentiality) standards and processes
Deliverables achieved:

- Information Sharing standards and processes discussed with IAO at Improvement Plan progress meetings

Deliverables outstanding:
- The Council is able to monitor compliance by maintaining a central register of information sharing agreements 

in readiness for the regional information gateway project
3.4 Review and update information rights standards and processes
Deliverables achieved:

- The Council has a documented process for each information right which it can respond to within the legal 
timescales.

- IM Team working with Directorate Coordinators (PA’s) to develop trackers, templates, mgt reports in readiness 

Page 12



for GDPR
-  

Deliverables outstanding:
- The Council has a tested process for each information right. 
- The Council is able to monitor compliance against legislation and report KPI’s to CIGG on a monthly basis

3.5 Review commissioning supply chain and update contracts in line with GDPR requirements
Deliverables achieved:

- The Council has a documented contract clause which includes GDPR mandatory terms
- The Council has communicated the process for approving contract variations in relation to GDPR to key 

stakeholders

Deliverables outstanding:
- Legacy contracts revised
- New contracts incorporate contract clause

Phase 4: Embed change, train and re-train (May-Jul 18, 3 months)
4.1 Implement the appropriate standards and processes in order to embed culture change
Deliverables achieved:

- New Information Management intranet site developed which incorporates GDPR standards and processes 
- Internet site prepared ready for launch which incorporates GDPR guidance 

Deliverables outstanding:
- Demonstrate compliance with all obligations under the GDPR through the Councils completed 

Information Asset Register
- Demonstrate standards and processes used to embed cultural change via digital communications 

(internet/intranet)
-

4.2 Implement an appropriate training plan in order to embed culture change
Deliverables achieved:

- SIRO/IAO/CG Training by Act Now 23/5/17
- e-learning module available to all accessing the Council’s network
- GDPR video’s x 2 embedded within the Council’s e-learning system ready for launch in Apr 2018 subject to 

technical testing

Deliverables outstanding:
- Pre GDPR training material launched
- Post GDPR training material launched

4.3 Implement the Communication Plan in order to embed culture change
Deliverables achieved:

- Ongoing Council wide bulletins 

Deliverables outstanding:
- Development of a Communication Strategy which is effective in embedding cultural change

Page 13



Public Report
Audit Committee

Summary Sheet

Council Report
Audit Committee

Title
Publication of unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No.

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Judith Badger – Strategic Director of Finance & Customer Services

Report Author(s)
Paul Stone – Head of Corporate Finance 
Finance & Customer Services Directorate 
01709 822013 paul.stone@rotherham.gov.uk 

Ward(s) Affected
All

Executive Summary

The Council’s annual accounts are the principal means by which the Council is held 
publicly accountable to local and national stakeholders over the stewardship of its 
resources. 

The report to Audit Committee in February 2018 highlighted the approach taken by 
the Council in ensuring that the draft unaudited Statement of Accounts would be 
published in accordance with the revised timescales in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.       

The draft unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18 were published on the Council’s 
website on 31 May 2018 which are available through the following link:

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/361/financial_reports_and_docu
mentation_2018 

It also provides Members with an opportunity to consider the draft unaudited 
Statement of Accounts before Audit Committee is asked to formally approve them, 
post completion of KPMG’s audit, at its meeting in July.  

Page 14 Agenda Item 8

http://modgovapp/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1005&MId=13465
mailto:paul.stone@rotherham.gov.uk
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/361/financial_reports_and_documentation_2018
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/downloads/download/361/financial_reports_and_documentation_2018


Recommendation

The Audit Committee is asked to receive the draft unaudited Statement of Accounts 
2017/18.

List of Appendices Included
Appendix A – Narrative Report
Appendix B – Highlights Report setting out key matters reported in the 2017/18 
accounts
Appendix C – Draft Unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18  

Background Papers
CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2017/18
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
Audit Committee meeting – 6 February 2018 

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Publication of the draft unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18

1. Recommendation

The Audit Committee is asked to receive the draft unaudited Statement of Accounts 
2017/18.

2. Background

2.1 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2017/18  together with 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 set out the accounting and statutory 
framework for local authority financial reporting. 

2.2 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, local authorities are required 
to publish their unaudited accounts no later than 31 May accompanied by a 
Narrative Report and draft Annual Governance Statement. This triggers a 
period of 30 working days for local electors to exercise their rights to inspect 
the accounts and supporting records and to ask questions of the external 
auditor. The 2017/18 draft unaudited Statement of Accounts were published 
on the Council’s website alongside the Narrative Report and draft Annual 
Governance Statement on 31 May 2018. The period for local electors to 
exercise their rights will cease on 12 July 2018.

Page 15



2.3 The external audit of the 2017/18 accounts commenced on 11 June 2018. 
KPMG will report the findings from their audit to Audit Committee at its July 
meeting.  Where appropriate, they will set out any material adjustments made 
to the accounts and any uncorrected differences of a non-trivial nature (KPMG 
have set an overall materiality level of £11 million and triviality threshold of 
£0.550 million for their audit of the 2017/18 accounts).  Audit Committee will 
then be asked to formally approve the audited Statement of Accounts for 
publication having regard to KPMG’s findings and KPMG will give their 
opinion on whether the accounts give a true and fair view of the Council’s 
financial performance for the year and its financial position at the end of the 
year and whether they have been prepared in accordance with proper 
practice. The deadline for publishing the audited accounts is 31 July 2018. 

3. Key Issues

3.1 Draft unaudited Statement of Accounts  

3.1.1 The Council’s draft unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18 as published on 
the Council’s website are attached as Appendix C.

3.1.2 There have been no significant accounting policy changes to the accounts 
since 2016/17.  

4. Options considered and recommended proposal

4.1 Compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 is a statutory 
requirement. The Regulations state that the Council’s “responsible financial 
officer” is required to sign-off the draft unaudited Statement of Accounts by 31 
May and confirm that they are satisfied it presents a true and fair view of the 
Council’s financial position for the financial year.  However, the Audit 
Committee does have discretion over whether it wishes to receive the 
unaudited accounts before they are formally required to approve them for 
publication post audit. 

5. Consultation

5.1 Close liaison continues to be maintained with the Council’s External Auditors 
to ensure that complex accounting issues and action taken in response to 
changes to the local authority accounting framework are agreed in advance of 
the accounts being prepared.

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 The statutory deadline for publishing the draft unaudited Statement of 
Accounts by 31 May has been met. The statutory deadline for publishing the 
audited financial statements is 31 July. 

Page 16



7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 There are no financial or procurement implications directly associated with 
closure of the accounts, other than the impact on the audit fee of having good 
quality financial statements and supporting working papers which meet 
KPMG’s expectations.

8. Legal Implications

8.1 None, other than ensuring compliance with the requirements of the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015. 

9. Human Resources Implications

9.1 There are no Human Resource implications arising from the report.

10. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1  There are no implications arising from the proposals to Children and Young 
People and Vulnerable Adults.

11. Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 There are no implications arising from this report to Equalities and Human 
Rights. 

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 The NHS requires information on how the pooled budgets operated under the 
Better Care Fund have been spent to an earlier timetable than that of the 
Council. Arrangements have been made to ensure this earlier timetable is 
met. There are no other implications arising from this report to Partners or 
other directorates.

13. Risks and Mitigation

13.1 Robust project management arrangements have been put in place to ensure 
that the timetable is adhered to and quality standards met. 

14. Accountable Officer(s)

Judith Badger - Strategic Director of Finance & Customer Services)

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:- 
http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 17

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Appendix B

Draft Statement of Accounts 2017/18 – Financial Highlights Report 

This financial highlights report draws Members attention to key financial disclosures 
reported in the 2017/18 draft Statement of Accounts. The primary financial 
statements that Members should be aware of are: 

• The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) on page 6, which 
is inclusive of the HRA figures shown in the separate statement on page 98, shows 
what the Council’s financial performance would have been on an accounting basis 
under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). This is very different to the 
revenue outturn reported on the basis on which local government is funded and 
which is used to determine the amount to be raised from council tax payers and rent 
payers.

• The Movement in Reserves Statement on page 7 of the accounts which sets out 
the change in the overall level of usable reserves (revenue and capital) available to 
support revenue spending and the capital programme in future years. It provides the 
reconciliation of the deficit reported in the (CIES) on an accounting basis to the net 
change in the General Fund balance and HRA balance on a local government 
funding basis.

 • The Balance Sheet on page 9 of the accounts which sets out the assets and 
liabilities of the Council at the end of 2017/18. 

The Cash Flow Statement on page 10 shows the changes in cash and cash 
equivalents of the Council during the reporting period.  

• The Collection Fund on page 106 of the accounts which shows separately the 
surplus or deficit to be distributed or recovered relating to council tax and retained 
business rates. 

Material Items Per note 49 (page 96) the main item to note is the significant 
difference between the 2016/17 and 2017/18 is the result of a large revaluation gain 
in 2016/17 which was due to a national change implemented by Government to the 
discount factor on council dwellings which affected the revaluation calculation 
resulting in a large credit to the HRA.

Page 32



 

DRAFT 
 

METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF ROTHERHAM 
 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2017/18 
 
Contents          Page Number 
   
 
 
Notice of Public Rights        1  
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts           2 
 
Explanation of the Financial Statements        3 
 
Main Financial Statements and Notes to the Core Financial Statements          5 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement           6 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement           7 
 
Balance Sheet          9 
 
Cash Flow Statement         10 
 
Statement of Accounting Concepts and Policies                 12 
 
Accounting Standards not yet adopted                 31 
 
Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies                 32 
 
Assumptions made about future and other major sources of estimations                 33 
 
Notes to the Core Financial Statements         34 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Income and Expenditure Account        100 
 
Movement on the HRA Statement        101  
   
Collection Fund        108 
 
Metropolitan Debt Administration                111 
  
Certification                114 
 
Glossary                116 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 1 

 
 
AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS 2017/18 
  
 
ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
Statement of Accounts 2017/18 Public Inspection Notice 
 
Notice of the Commencement of the Period for the Exercise of Public Rights 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 Sections 26 and 27 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 Regulations, 14 and 15 
 
The period for the Exercise of Public Rights commences at 9.30am on Friday 1 June 2018 and will conclude 
at 4pm on Thursday 12 July 2018. 
 
The following documents will be made available: 
 

 The Draft Statement of Accounts 
 The Annual Governance Statement 
 The Narrative Report 

 
The draft Statement of Accounts may be subject to change. 
 
The above Council’s accounts are subject to external audit by KPMG LLP, Timothy Cutler, 1, Sovereign 
Square, Sovereign Street, Leeds, LS1 4DA.  Members of the public and local government electors have 
certain rights in the audit process:- 
 
1. The period for the Exercise of Public Rights commences on Friday 1 June 2018 and will conclude on 

Thursday 12 July 2018 (between 9.30am and 4.00 pm Monday to Friday).  Any person interested, on 
application to the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council, Riverside House, Main Street, Rotherham, S60 1AE, may inspect and make copies of the 
accounts of the above-named Council for the year ended 31 March 2018, and all books, deeds, 
contracts, bills, vouchers and receipts relating thereto. 

 
2. Notice is also given that on or after Friday 1 June 2018 until Thursday 12 July 2018, a local government 

elector for the area to which the accounts relate or his/her representative may ask any questions of the 
auditor.  Please contact the auditor at the above address to make arrangements to ask any questions.  
 

3. These rights do not permit a person to require disclosure of personal information as defined in section 26 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 
4. From 9.30am on Friday 1 June 2018 until Thursday 12 July 2018, a local government elector for the area 

of the Authority, or his/her representative, may object to the Council’s accounts asking that the auditor 
issue a report in the public interest (schedule 7, Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014) and/or apply to 
the Court for a declaration that an item in the accounts is contrary to law (section 27, Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014). No such objection may be made unless the Auditor has previously received 
written notice of the objection and the grounds on which it is made and a copy of that notice has been 
provided to the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council. 

  
 
 

Judith Badger CPFA 
Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services 
Finance and Customer Services Directorate,  
Riverside House,  
Main Street, 
Rotherham,  
S60 1AE 
 
Thursday 31 May 2018 
 
 

Page 34



 2 

 
 
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
The Council’s Responsibilities 
 
The Council is required: 
 
- to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Council, that officer is the 
Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services; 

- to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and to safeguard its 
assets; 

- to approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
 
The Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services Responsibilities 
 
The Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts, consistent with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
(the Code). 
 
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services has: 
 
- selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently, 
- made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent, 
- complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services has also: 
 
- kept proper accounting records which were up to date, 
- taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services Certificate 
 
This Statement of Accounts is that upon which the Auditor should enter his certificate and opinion.  It presents 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at 31 March 2018 and its income and expenditure 
for the year then ended. 
 

 
 
 

Signed… ……………………………………………………………… 
 
 
Judith Badger CPFA 
 
Date…………..31 May 2018………………………………. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 3 

 
Explanation of the Financial Statements 
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s financial performance during the year ended 31 March 
2018 and shows its overall financial position at the end of that period. 
 
The Statement is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the 
Code), as published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  The Code is 
based on approved accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), except where 
these are inconsistent with specific statutory requirements. 
 
The principle bases, conventions, rules and practices that specify how the effects of transactions and other 
events are reflected in the financial statements of the Council are set out in the section of this report headed 
‘Statement of Accounting Policies’.  These accounting policies are kept under review and updated where 
appropriate to take account of changes in accounting practice adopted within the Code.   
 
The Statement of Accounts comprises: 
 
 Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts (Page 2) – which details the 

respective responsibilities of the Council and its chief financial officer for the accounts; 
 
 An explanation of the financial Statements (Page 3) – which details the components of the Financial 

Statements; 
  
 A Statement of Accounting Concepts and Policies (Page 12) – These are the principle bases, 

conventions, rules and practices that specify how the effects of transactions and other events are 
reflected in the financial statements. The accounting concepts and policies that have been applied in 
preparing the Council’s 2016/17 financial statements are detailed on Page 12; 

 
 Financial Statements and related disclosure notes – which are explained further below. 
 
For the sake of clarity, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 has clarified that the Annual Governance 
Statement does not form part of the Statement of Accounts although there is an expectation that it is 
published alongside the Statement of Accounts. The Council follows this practice.  
 
To comply with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Code, the Narrative Report will be 
published alongside the Statement of Accounts.  
 
Financial Statements 
 
The Financial Statements report the Council’s financial performance for the year and its financial position.  
 
The Council’s financial performance is reported through the: 

 
 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) (Page 6) – The Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement shows the surplus or deficit on the provision of services and other gains 
and losses recognised in the year prior to any statutory adjustments for the differences between the 
way transactions are presented on a commercial accounting basis and the amounts which are 
statutorily required to be met under the Local Authority Accounting Framework from local taxpayers 
and housing rents to meet the cost of General Fund and HRA services.  

 
 Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) (Page 7) – The Movement in Reserves Statement shows 

the net change in the balances on reserves allowing for the aforementioned statutory adjustments.  
Reserves are analysed into usable reserves and unusable reserves. Usable reserves represent 
revenue or capital resources which are available to fund revenue or capital expenditure or repay debt 
in the future, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves to cover contingencies and 
unforeseen commitments.  Unusable reserves are not available for use. 

 
 The Cash Flow Statement (Page 10) – This Statement summarises the inflows and outflows of cash 

arising from transactions with third parties for revenue and capital purposes.  The statement shows 

Page 36



 4 

how the Council generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. 

 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Income and Expenditure Account (Page 100) – This 
Account summarises the income and expenditure in respect of the provision of local Council housing 
accommodation. Councils’ are required by statute to account separately for all transactions relating to 
the cost of providing such accommodation. 

 
 Collection Fund Account (Page 108) – By statute, billing Authorities are required to maintain a 

separate Collection Fund which shows the level of National Non Domestic Rates, Council Tax and the 
residual Community Charge received by the Council during the accounting period and the distribution 
of these funds.  

 
The Council’s financial position is reported through the: 

 
 Balance Sheet  (Page 9) - The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the 

assets and liabilities recognised by the Council.  The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) 
represent the Council’s net worth and are matched by the reserves held by the Council.  Reserves are 
analysed into usable and unusable in the same way as in the MIRS.  

  
The financial statements described above include the income, expenditure, assets, liabilities, reserves and 
cash flows of maintained schools within the control of the Council. 
 
The Council’s Financial Statements also include the Metropolitan Debt Administration statement (Page 111) 
as under the Local Government Act Reorganisation (Debt Administration – South Yorkshire) Order, 1986, the 
Council became responsible for the administration of the former South Yorkshire County Council Debt with 
effect from 1 April 1986.  A separate account has been established to record the transactions, in order to 
arrive at an average rate of interest with which to charge the four district councils and joint boards within the 
South Yorkshire area. 
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis, included as Note 1 (Page 35) in the Notes to the Accounts, 
accompanies the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. It takes the net expenditure that is 
chargeable to taxation and rents (i.e. the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account) and reconciles it to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 5 

 
 
 
Main Financial Statements and Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
Balance Sheet 
 
Cash Flow Statement 
 
Notes to the Core Financial Statements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 6 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement   
This Statement shows the surplus or deficit on the provision of services and other gains and losses 
recognised in the year prior to any statutory adjustments for the differences between the way transactions are 
presented on a commercial accounting basis and the amounts which are statutorily required to be met under 
the Local Authority Accounting Framework from local taxpayers and housing rents to meet the cost of 
General Fund and HRA services.  The amount to be met from local taxpayers and housing rents is shown in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
All of the Council’s income and expenditure relates to continuing operations.   
 
None of the items included within other comprehensive income and expenditure are reclassifiable within the 
surplus or deficit on provision of services. 
 
 
 

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17
2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Gross 
Expenditure Gross Income Net Cost Gross 

Expenditure Gross Income Net Cost

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 Notes
111,611 (37,849) 73,762 Adult Care and Housing 112,038 (46,660) 65,378

(32,983) (85,096) (118,079) Local Authority Housing (HRA) 68,803 (84,345) (15,542) 49

99,188 (28,069) 71,119 CYPS Excl Schools 112,405 (34,583) 77,822

101,049 (110,862) (9,813) Schools 85,343 (90,474) (5,131) 49

75,604 (30,825) 44,779 Regeneration and Environment Services 81,417 (29,950) 51,467

17,950 (17,542) 408 Public Health 16,906 (16,975) (69)

7,783 (2,730) 5,053 Assistant Chief Executive Office 8,813 (3,247) 5,566

106,847 (92,355) 14,492 Finance and Customer Services 104,325 (89,557) 14,768

16,363 (10,431) 5,932 Central Services 13,273 (10,828) 2,445

503,412 (415,759) 87,653 Cost of Services 603,323 (406,619) 196,704

62,038 (2) 62,036 Other Operating Expenditure 60,202 (16) 60,187 4

48,141 (1,964) 46,177
Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 45,943 (1,782) 44,161 5

0 (228,457) (228,457)
Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income and 
expenditure 0 (225,787) (225,787) 7

613,591 (646,182) (32,591) (Surplus) / Deficit on Provision of Services 709,468 (634,204) 75,264

(60,972) (Surplus) on Revaluation of Non Current Assets (33,505) 38b
(1,424) Write down of Met Debt (1,567) 38a

142,878 Remeasurements of the Pensions Net Defined 
Benefit Liability (Asset) (93,612) 18

80,481 Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (128,684)

47,890 Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (53,420)

 
 
 

Page 39



 7 
Movement in Reserves Statement 

 
This Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation and are detailed in Note 37) and 'unusable reserves' (which are not available for use and are detailed in Note 38).  The 'surplus or 
(deficit) on the provision of services' line shows the economic cost of providing the Council's services on a commercial accounting basis.  The “adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations” line represents the statutory adjustments required to arrive at the amounts to be charged to the General Fund 
Balance for Local Tax purposes.  The 'net increase /decrease before transfers to statutory and other reserves' line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before 
any discretionary transfers to or from statutory and other reserves undertaken by the Council. 
 

       

2016/17
General 

Fund  (GF) 
Balance 

including GF 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
(HRA)

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major 
Repairs 

Reserves

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied
Total Usable 

Reserves

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

Total Council 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 Notes

Balance as at 1 April 16 72,546 27,933 25,008 3,874 10,606 139,967 (66,086) 73,881 37/38

Movement in reserves during the year:

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (72,057) 104,648 0 0 0 32,591 (80,481) (47,890)

Adjustments from income & expenditure charged under 
the accounting basis to the funding basis 53,702 (97,425) 2,414 1,345 877 (39,087) 39,087 0

Increase / (Decrease) in Year (18,355) 7,223 2,414 1,345 877 (6,496) (41,394) (47,890)

Schools Balances transferred out on conversion to 

academy
(952) (952) (952)

Balance as at 31 March 17 carried forward 53,239 35,156 27,422 5,219 11,483 132,519 (107,480) 25,039
 

P
age 40



 8 
      
2017/18

General 
Fund  (GF) 

Balance 
including GF 
Earmarked 
Reserves

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
(HRA) 

Balance 
including 

HRA 
earmarked 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major 
Repairs 

Reserves

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied
Total Usable 

Reserves

Total 
Unusable 
Reserves

Total Council 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 Notes

Balance as at 1 April 17 53,239 35,156 27,422 5,219 11,483 132,519 (107,480) 25,039 37/38

Movement in reserves during the year:

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (82,395) 7,131 0 0 0 (75,264) 128,684 53,420

Adjustments from income & expenditure charged under 
the accounting basis to the funding basis 66,978 (4,616) 1,393 4,450 2,863 71,069 (71,069) 0

Increase / (Decrease) in Year (15,417) 2,515 1,393 4,450 2,863 (4,195) 57,615 53,420

Schools Balances transferred out on conversion to 

academy
401 401 401

Balance as at 31 March 18 carried forward 38,223 37,671 28,815 9,669 14,346 128,725 (49,865) 78,860
 

 

 

 

P
age 41



 9 
Balance Sheet  
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Council.  The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched 
by the reserves held by the Council.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first 
category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Council may use to 
provide services subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory 
limitations on their use (for example the capital receipts reserve that may only be used to fund 
capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves, are those that the 
Council is not able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes reserves 
that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the revaluation reserve), where amounts 
would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold 
timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line “Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations”. 
 
 

2016/17 2017/18
 £000  £000 Notes

1,115,799 Property, Plant and Equipment 1,102,552 19
6,952 Heritage Assets 6,970 23

29,970 Investment Property 27,827 20
2,064 Intangible Assets 2,577 21

190 Long Term Investments 190 30
4,771 Long Term Debtors 3,909 33

1,159,746 Long Term Assets 1,144,026

34 Short Term Investments 34 24
1,015 Assets Held For Sale 649 22

702 Inventories (Stock) 692 31
51,580 Short Term Debtors 54,028 33
29,129 Cash and Bank Balances 28,838 34

82,460 Current Assets 84,241

(32,911) Bank Overdraft (1,463) 34
(56,077) Short Term Borrowing (148,938) 24
(63,700) Short Term Creditors (61,520) 35

(4,390) Short Term Provisions (5,204) 36

(157,078) Current Liabilities (217,125)

(5,564) Long Term Provisions (5,144) 36
(28) Long Term Creditors (28) 35

(447,008) Long Term Borrowing (419,702) 24
(605,209) Other Long Term Liabilities (505,163) 50

(2,280) Capital Grants Received in Advance (2,245) 8

(1,060,089) Long Term Liabilities (932,282)

25,039 Net Assets 78,860

(132,519) Usable Reserves (128,725) 37
107,480 Unusable Reserves 49,865 38

(25,039) Total Reserves (78,860)

 
 
 

Page 42



 10 
Cash Flow Statement  
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority during 
the reporting period. 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 Notes
(Surplus)/Deficit on the provision of services (32,591) 75,264
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services for non-cash movements 3,268 (97,787)

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services that are investing and financing activities 25,087 27,551 39

Net cash inflows from Operating Activities (4,236) 5,028

Investing Activities 17,377 24,195 40

Financing Activities (22,012) (60,380) 41

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (8,871) (31,157)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 
period (12,653) (3,782) 34

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period                                                             (3,782) 27,375 34
 

 

Page 43



 11 
 

Accounting Policies 
 
A) Statement of Accounting Policies  
 
B) Accounting Standards issued but not yet adopted  
 
C) Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies 
 
D) Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 
 

Page 44



 12 
 
A Statement of Accounting Concepts and Policies 
 
1 General Principles 
 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2017/18 
financial year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2018. The Council is 
required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in accordance with 
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (“the Code”), supported 
by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
The objective of the Statement of Accounts is to provide information about the 
Council’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows that is useful to a 
wide range of stakeholders in assessing the Council’s stewardship of its resources. 
 
Fundamental to making this assessment is that information is both relevant and 
faithfully represented.  
 
A key feature of relevance is materiality.  Information is material if omitting it or 
misstating it could influence decisions that users make on the basis of financial 
information presented in the Statement of Accounts. Conversely, there is no need to 
comply with the accounting principles or disclosure requirements of the Code where 
information is not material.  
 
Information is faithfully represented if it is complete, unbiased and properly 
determined using appropriate estimation techniques and judgements.  
 
The accounting policies are the principle bases, conventions, rules and practices that 
specify how the effects of transactions and other events are reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. The accounting policies and estimation techniques selected 
are those that best assist users in their understanding of the financial information 
presented or disclosed in the Statement of Accounts. The expectation is that this will 
be achieved by selecting accounting policies that are compliant with the Code.  

 
Consistent policies are applied both within the year and between years. Where 
policies have changed the reason and effect is disclosed.   
 
The underlying assumptions made in preparing the Statement of Accounts are that 
financial performance is reported on an accruals basis and that the Council is a going 
concern.  
 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally 
historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets 
and financial instruments. 

 
The CIES is reported using total cost principles under international financial reporting 
standards not the way in which local government is funded. The income and 
expenditure reported in the CIES will not therefore correspond to the outturn charged 
to the General Fund and HRA reported against the Council’s budget.  
 
Note 1 in the Notes to the Core Financial Statements, the “Funding and Expenditure 
Analysis” provides a high level reconciliation of the expenditure analysis reported in 
the CIES to the net amount charged to the General Fund and HRA which is to be met 
by taxpayers and council house tenants together with additional disclosure on 
material reconciling adjustments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 13 
 
 
2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or 
financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively by 
adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the 
new policy had always been applied unless the Code specifies that the change 
should be applied prospectively. 
 
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current 
and future years affected by the change. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 

 
3 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash 
payments are made or received.  
 
The general principle is that revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received which, in most transactions, will be the amount of cash and 
cash equivalents receivable.  
 
Revenue is recognised when the following conditions have been met:: 
 
- Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Council transfers the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
the Council. 
 

- Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Council can 
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Council. 
 

- Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed.  Where there is 
a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are 
carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 
 

- Expenses in relation to services received (including those rendered by the 
Council’s officers) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received, 
rather than when payments are made. 
 

- Interest payable on borrowings (other than that capitalised on qualifying assets) 
and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed 
or determined by the contract. 
 

- Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet.  Where there is evidence that debts are unlikely to be settled, the 
balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that might not be collected. 

 
Where the Council acts as an agent for another party, income and expenditure are 
recognised only to the extent that commission is receivable by the Council for the 
agency services rendered or the Council incurs expenses directly on its own behalf in 
rendering the services. 

Page 46



 14 
 
4 Overheads and Support Services 
 

Support services are operated, managed and reported as separate segments they 
are not apportioned across services but instead reported separately in their own right 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Under the Council’s 
current structure such costs predominantly fall within Assistant Chief Executive’s or 
Finance and Customer Services.  

 
5 Debtors 

 
Debtors are recognised when the Council has delivered or tendered a supply of 
goods or services.  They are recognised and measured at fair value when revenue 
has been recognised, except for a financial asset where they form part of the asset’s 
carrying value (see accounting policy note 22). Amounts paid in advance of the 
receipt of goods/services are recognised as a prepayment. 
 

6 Creditors 
 
Creditors are recognised when the Council receives a supply of goods or services.  
They are recognised and measured at fair value of the consideration payable except 
for a financial liability where they form part of the liability’s carrying value (see 
accounting policy note 22).  If consideration is received but the revenue does not 
meet the revenue recognition criteria, a receipt in advance is recognised. 

 
7 Tax Income (Council Tax, Residual Community Charge, National Non-

Domestic Rates and Rates 
 

Council Tax 
 
Council tax collection is an agency arrangement.  Income shown within the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the Council’s share of the year’s 
accrued income.  The difference between this and the amount transferred to the 
General Fund under statute (representing the demand on the Collection Fund for the 
year together with the Council’s share of the previous year’s surplus or deficit which is 
distributed or recovered) is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.  
Debtors are shown exclusive of the proportions attributable to major preceptors. 
 
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 
 
NNDR collection is an agency arrangement.  Business rate income within the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the Council’s share of the 
accrued business rate income for the year. The difference between this and the 
amount transferred to the General Fund under statute (representing the Council’s 
share of the estimated business rate income for the year together with the Council’s 
share of the previous year’s surplus or deficit which is distributed or recovered) is 
taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.  The central share (after allowable 
deductions) of business rate income is paid out of the Collection Fund to central 
government. Growth in business rate income in an Enterprise Zone area, business 
rate income from renewable energy schemes and from businesses in New Deal areas 
is wholly attributable to the Council and transferred in full to the General Fund on an 
accruals basis. Debtors are shown exclusive of the proportions attributable to major 
preceptors 
 

8 Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value except where 
acquired through a non-exchange transaction when cost is assumed to be equal to 
fair value at acquisition date.  
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where 
held for distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge. 

Page 47



 15 
 
The cost attributed to identify inventory is assigned using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
basis. 
 

9 Work in Progress (Construction Contracts) 
 

Where the Council acts as a contractor, if the outcome of a construction contract can 
be estimated reliably, the percentage of completion method is used to recognise 
revenue and expenses.  Contract revenue is matched with the contract costs incurred 
in reaching the stage of completion, resulting in the reporting of revenue, expenses 
and surplus/deficit which can be attributed to the proportion of work completed. 
 
If the outcome cannot be estimated reliably revenue is recognised only to the extent it 
is probable costs will be recoverable, and costs are recognised as an expense in the 
period incurred.  When the uncertainties no longer exist, revenue and expenses are 
recognised using the percentage of completion method. 
 
Should it become apparent that total costs will exceed total revenue the expected 
deficit on the contract is immediately expensed. 
 

10 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are 
investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in 
value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s 
cash management. 

 
11 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

 
Provisions 
 
A provision is recognised when: 

- there is a present obligation (legal/constructive) as a result of a past event 

- it is probable a resource outflow will be required to settle the obligation, and 

- a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 
 
For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually result 
in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council 
becomes aware of the obligation, and measured at the best estimate at the balance 
sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account 
relevant risks and uncertainties. 
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect current best estimates. Where it becomes less than probable that a 
transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than 
anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant 
service. 
 
If some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be 
reimbursed (e.g. an insurance claim), this is recognised when it is virtually certain that 
if the obligation is settled reimbursement will be received.  The reimbursement is 

Page 48



 16 
treated as an asset but the amount recognised does not exceed the amount of the 
provision. 
 
Contingent Liability 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. 
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
A contingent liability is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed as a 
note to the accounts.  If it becomes probable that a resource outflow will be required 
for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised. 
 
Contingent Asset 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. 
 
A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed as a 
note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic 
benefits or service potential.  If it has become virtually certain an inflow will arise and 
the asset’s value can be measured reliably, a debtor and related revenue are 
recognised. 
 

12 Reserves 
  
The Council sets aside specific amounts as usable reserves for future policy 
purposes or to cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts 
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When 
expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate 
service in that year to score against the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  The reserve is then 
appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain unusable reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-
current assets, financial instruments and retirement benefits and that do not represent 
usable resources for the Council – these reserves are explained in the sections 
relating to the relevant policies. 

 
13 Government and Non-Government Grants 

 
Government grants and third-party contributions, including donated assets are 
recognised as due when there is reasonable assurance that; 

- the Council will comply with the conditions attached to them 

- the grants and contributions will be received 
 
Where conditions of grant remain outstanding which could give rise to grant being 
repaid, grant is carried in the balance sheet as grant received in advance. 
Conditions are stipulations that give the grant funder or donor the right to the return of 
their monies if it is not used for the purpose specified.  
 
Revenue grants or contributions are credited to the relevant service line within net 
cost of services if specific or to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income if general or 
non ring-fenced. 
 
Capital grants are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income as general 
grant, but then reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 

Page 49



 17 
Reserves Statement.  Where capital grant has been recognised but has yet to be 
used to finance capital expenditure, it is credited to the Capital Grants Unapplied 
Account within reserves.  Capital grant that has been used for financing purposes is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 

14 Non-current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition and creation of or which add to Property, Plant & 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains 
but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service 
potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred. 

 
 

Measurement 
   
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising: 

- the purchase price 

- any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management 

- the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling, removing or restoring an asset 
where the Council has an obligation to do so and is required to make provision 
for these costs 

 
Borrowing Costs - The Council has adopted a policy under IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’ 
to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset.  In implementing a policy of capitalisation of 
borrowing costs the Council has determined what it sees as a qualifying asset and 
what the borrowing costs are, that are to be capitalised. 

- Qualifying Assets – Assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, where this would cause a significant balance of 
borrowing costs to accrue. 

- Borrowing costs – Where the Council borrows to specifically fund a scheme the 
amount that is capitalised is the actual cost of borrowing less investment income. 
Where funds are borrowed generally a capitalisation rate is used based on the 
weighted average of borrowing costs during the period. 

 
The Council only capitalises borrowing costs when in addition to the above it 
becomes probable that the capital expenditure will result in future economic benefits 
or service potential to the Council; and that the borrowing costs can be measured 
reliably. 
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition will not increase the cash flows of the Council. In the latter 
case, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the 
Council. 
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation 
has been made conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the 

Page 50



 18 
Donated Assets Account. Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance to 
the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 

- infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated 
historical cost 

- dwellings – current value based on existing use value for social housing (EUV-
SH) 

- all other assets – current value based on existing use (existing use value – EUV) 
for non-specialised operational assets where there is an active market or where 
there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost. 

 
Depreciated historical cost is used as a proxy for current value for relatively short life 
assets such as vehicles, plant and equipment. 
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently 
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years. In support of this 
the Council carries out an annual review of its assets for impairment. Increases in 
valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised 
gains unless they reverse a previous revaluation or impairment loss in which case 
they are credited to the relevant service line within net cost of services. 
 
Where decreases in value are identified, the revaluation loss is accounted for by: 

- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains) 

- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
Impairment of Assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period an assessment takes place as to whether there is 
any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any 
possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an 
impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 

- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains) 

- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
 

Page 51



 19 
 
Disposals 
  
The carrying amount of an item is derecognised: 
- on disposal through, for example, sale, donation granting of a finance lease or 

transfer, or 

- when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use 
or disposal as a result, for example, of it being abandoned, scrapped or 
decommissioned. 

 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. Fair Value is the price that would be received from the selling the asset in an 
orderly transaction between market participants under the conditions prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Fair value for social housing being disposed of under 
Right to Buy (RTB) legislation is the discounted RTB value. Depreciation is not 
charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
Assets held solely for capital appreciation purposes are classified as investment 
properties. 
 
Non-operational property, plant and equipment which do not meet the criteria for 
reclassification as either Assets Held for Sale or investment properties are held within 
property, plant and equipment as surplus assets. Surplus assets are carried in the 
balance sheet at their existing use value and revalued immediately prior to disposal if 
the current carrying value is materially different in order that the proper gain or loss 
on disposal can be determined. 
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale. 
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in 
the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) 
is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from 
disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts. A proportion of receipts relating to housing disposals (75% for dwellings, 
50% for land and other assets, net of statutory deductions and allowances) is payable 
to the Government. The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside 
to reduce the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing 
Requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of 
Non-Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives, the 
depreciable amount being an asset’s depreciated historic cost or fair value at the start 

Page 52



 20 
of the financial year. No depreciation is charged in the year in which an asset is first 
made ready for use. A charge is made in the year in which an asset is derecognised 
or classified as held for sale. An exception is made for assets without a determinable 
finite useful life (i.e., freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are 
not yet available for use (i.e., assets under construction). 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 
 
- dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the 

property as estimated by the Council’s valuer (Council dwellings 30 Years or now 
notional Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) if notional MRA reasonably reflects the 
annual cost of maintaining property in its current condition over a thirty-year 
period, other buildings and non-operational properties up to 100 years) 

- vehicles – a reducing balance method over the useful life of the asset, as 
advised by a suitably qualified officer (Up to 10 years) 

- infrastructure – straight-line allocation over 40 years 

- plant, equipment and computers – straight-line allocation over the useful life of 
the asset as advised by a suitably qualified officer (plant and equipment up to 15 
years and computers/office equipment up to 10 years). 

 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose 
cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are 
depreciated separately. Componentisation is being introduced with effect from 1 April 
2010 as assets are acquired, enhanced, replaced or revalued. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each 
year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 

15 Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following 
amounts to record the cost of holding Non-Current Assets during the year: 

- depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 

- revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 
are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses 
can be written off 

- amortisation of intangible Non-Current Assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual 
provision from revenue to contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing 
requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the 
Council in accordance with statutory guidance. This is known as the minimum 
revenue provision and the policy is detailed below. Depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the revenue provision 
in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 
Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses represent a “real” charge to the HRA 
to be met by rent payers. However, the Council has taken advantage of the 
transitional protection offered to housing authorities over a five year period to 
2016/17, to reverse out impairment and revaluation losses relating to council 
dwellings and to cap the amount of depreciation charged on council dwellings at the 
notional Major Repairs Allowance included within the HRA Business Plan for that 
year. From 2017/18, depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses will be 
determined in accordance with the new Item 8 Credit and Item 8 Debit (General) 
Determination” which came into effect from 1 April 2017. That determination allows 

Page 53



 21 
the Council to reverse out impairment and revaluation gains and losses relating to 
both council dwellings and non-dwellings. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 
Prudent provision (MRP) is made annually for the repayment of debt relating to 
capital expenditure financed by borrowing or credit arrangements. The amount 
charged is determined having regard to the relevant statutory requirements and 
related guidance on MRP issued by DCLG. 
 
The recovery of any MRP that has been overcharged in previous years will be 
effected by taking an MRP holiday in full or in part against future years' charges that 
would otherwise have been made. The MRP holiday will be taken in such a way as to 
ensure that the total MRP after taking the holiday will not be less than zero in any 
financial year. 

 
16 Leases and Lease-Type Arrangements 

 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are 
considered separately for classification. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an 
asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 

 
(a) Finance Leases – Council as Lessee 
 
An asset held under a finance lease is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is 
matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the 
Council are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a 
lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as 
expenses in the years in which they are incurred. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 

- a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset – applied to write down 
the lease liability, and 

- a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement) 

 
The apportionment is done in such a way as to produce a constant rate of interest on 
the outstanding liability in each period over the lease term 
 
An asset recognised under a finance lease is accounted for using the policies applied 
generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if 
this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life. 
 
The Council is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a minimum revenue provision is 
made towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory 
requirements and the Council’s policy for determining MRP. Depreciation, revaluation 
and impairment losses are therefore replaced by the revenue provision in the General 
Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment 
Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
(b) Operating Leases – Council as Lessee 

Page 54



 22 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments. 

 
(a) Finance Leases – Council as Lessor 

Where the Council grants a finance lease over an asset, the relevant asset is written 
out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the 
carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the Council’s net 
investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease 
asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

- an amount to write down the net investment in the lease including any premiums 
received, and 

- finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement) 

 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on 
disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and will be 
required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this 
is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease 
asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted 
out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are paid, the element for 
the charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property is used to write down the 
lease asset. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of 
Non-Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing. Amounts are appropriated from the Capital Adjustment Account to the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
(b) Operating Leases – Council as Lessor 

Where the Council grants an operating lease over an asset, the asset is retained in 
the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of 
payments. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 
17 PFI and PPP Arrangements 

 
PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility 
for making available the property, plant and equipment needed to provide the 
services passes to the PFI contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the 
services that are provided under its PFI schemes and as ownership of the property, 
plant and equipment will pass to the Council at the end of the contracts for no 
additional charge, the Council carries the assets used under the contracts on its 
Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
PFI assets are initially recognised at their fair value when they are first made 
available for use balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the 
scheme operator to pay for the capital investment (this is normally based on the 

Page 55



 23 
relevant elements of capital cost in the operator’s financial model). Initial direct costs 
of the Council are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Any upfront 
contributions made by the authority to the PFI operator, either in the form of a cash 
lump sum or transfer of property that will not be used to provide services under the 
arrangement, are applied to write-down the PFI liability at the contribution’s value 
agreed in the operator’s financial model when the PFI asset is first made available for 
use. 
 
PFI assets under construction are recognised on the balance sheet where the terms 
and conditions of the contractual obligation are such that the economic benefit of the 
asset flows to the Council at that time, similar to an asset that a Council constructs or 
develops for its own use. 
 
PFI assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the 
same way as property, plant and equipment owned by the Council. 
 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into five elements: 

- fair value of the services received during the year – debited to the relevant 
service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

- finance cost – an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

- contingent rent – increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising 
during the contract, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

- payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability due 
to the PFI operator (the profile of write-downs is calculated using the same 
principles as for a finance lease) 

- lifecycle replacement costs – are accounted for as they are incurred. Where the 
profile of lifecycle expenditure actually incurred by the PFI operator differs 
significantly from the projected profile included within the PFI model adjustments 
are made to account for the difference. A prepayment is recognised where 
planned expenditure paid for through the unitary payment exceeds the actual 
amount incurred by the PFI operator. An additional liability is recognised where 
planned expenditure is less than that actually incurred. The prepayment / 
additional liability is carried forward in the balance sheet until the expenditure is 
actually incurred / settled, or , in the case of a prepayment when there is no 
longer an expectation that it will eventually be incurred by the PFI operator at 
which point it is charged to revenue. Lifecycle replacement costs which represent 
the refurbishment or replacement of major components are capitalised as 
Property, Plant and Equipment in accordance with Accounting Policy 14. 

 
18 Investment Properties 

 
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate 
the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value 
being the price that would be received from the selling the asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants under the market conditions prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period.. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually 
according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are 
posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied 
to gains and losses on disposal. 
 
Rentals received and expenditure incurred in relation to investment properties are 
credited/charged to the Financing and Investment Income line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  

Page 56



 24 
 
Revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory 
arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses 
are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds 
greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

 
19 Intangible Assets 

 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Council as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is 
capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will 
flow from the intangible asset to the Council. 
 
Internally generated assets are capitalised where it is demonstrable that the project is 
technically feasible and is intended to be completed (with adequate resources being 
available) and the Council will be able to generate future economic benefits or deliver 
service potential by being able to sell or use the asset.  Expenditure is capitalised 
where it can be measured reliably as attributable to the asset and is restricted to that 
incurred during the development phase (research expenditure is not capitalised). 
Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely 
or primarily intended to promote or advertise the Council’s goods or services. 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the 
fair value of the assets held by the Council can be determined by reference to an 
active market. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its 
useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the asset might be impaired and any losses recognised are posted to 
the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is 
posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory 
purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not 
permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are 
therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds 
greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

 
20 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 

 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory 
provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset is charged as 
expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year.  This includes transformational expenditure on reform projects 
capitalised under the capital receipts flexibilities implemented with effect from 1 April 
2016 under the Local Government Act 2003.  Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a 
transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to 
the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there 
is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 

21 Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets’ principal purpose is to contribute to knowledge and culture and 
which are preserved in trust for future generations for their artistic, cultural, 
environmental, historical, scientific or technological associations. They are recognised 
on balance sheet at cost or value. Where they are carried at value, the most 
appropriate and relevant valuation method is used including, e.g., insurance values. 

Page 57



 25 
Revaluations are carried out as and when necessary in order to keep carrying values 
current (there is no requirement for them to be revalued at least every 5 years).  .  
 
Operational heritage assets (i.e. those that are being held for their heritage 
characteristics, but are also used for other activities or services) are accounted for as 
operational assets. 
 
Depreciation is not provided on heritage assets where they have indefinite lives.  
 
Revaluation gains and losses and impairments of heritage assets are accounted for 
in exactly the same way as for Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 

22 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into two types: 

- loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are 
not quoted in an active market 

- available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not 
have fixed or determinable payments. 

(a) Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument.  They are 
initially measured at fair value, this being the price that would be received in an 
orderly transaction between market participants on the date on which the asset is 
recognised. Ordinarily, this will be the transaction price, such as the principal amount 
of a loan advanced.  Thereafter they are then measured at their amortised cost. 
Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based 
on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. For most of the loans that the Council has made, this means that the 
amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus 
accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
When the Council makes loans at less than market rates (soft loans) a loss is 
recorded in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (debited to the 
appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the 
life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the outstanding 
principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at a 
marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable, with the difference 
serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory 
provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the 
interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net gain 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written 
down and a charge made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited/debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

Page 58



 26 
 
 

(b) Available-for-Sale Assets 
 
Available-for-sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value. Where the asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual 
credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based 
on the amortised cost of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable payments, income (e.g., 
dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
when it becomes receivable by the Council. 
 
Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Fair Value is measured by 
reference to prevailing interest or market rates using an appropriate valuation 
technique.  

 
Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available-for-Sale Reserve and 
the gain/loss is recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on Revaluation of Available-for –
Sale Financial Assets line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
The exception is where impairment losses have been incurred – these are debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any net gain/loss for the asset 
accumulated in the Reserve. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made (fixed or determinable 
payments) or fair value falls below cost, the asset is written down and a charge made 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. If the asset has fixed or determinable payments, 
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and 
the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. Otherwise, the impairment loss is measured as any shortfall of 
fair value against the acquisition cost of the instrument (net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation). 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited/debited 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any accumulated gains/losses 
previously recognised in the Available for Sale Reserve. 
 
Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less 
any impairment losses) 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value  this being the price that would be paid in an orderly transaction between 
market participants on the date on which the liability is recognised. Ordinarily, this will 
be the transaction price, such as the principal amount of a loan received. Thereafter 
they are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the 
liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over 
the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. For most 
of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and 
interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the 
amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 

Page 59



 27 
The amount of interest charged to the HRA is determined on a fair and equitable 
share basis by reference to the HRA’s Capital Financing Requirement.  

 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of 
repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a 
restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of 
existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added 
to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan 
by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund 
Balance to be spread over future years.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required 
against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 
Where the Council has entered into financial guarantees that are not required to be 
accounted for as financial instruments they are reflected in the Statement of Accounts 
to the extent that provisions might be required or a contingent liability note is needed 
under the policies set out in the section on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets. 

 
23 Employee Benefits 

 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly within 12 months of the year-
end), such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses 
and non-monetary benefits for current employees, are recognised as an expense in 
the year in which employees render service to the Council.  An accrual is made 
against services in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for the cost of 
holiday entitlements and other forms of leave earned by employees but not taken 
before the year-end and which employees can carry forward into the next financial 
year. The accrual is made at the remuneration rates applicable in the following 
financial year. Any accrual made is required under statute to be reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance by a credit to the Accumulating Compensated Absences 
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Termination Benefits 
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis at the 
earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw an offer of those benefits or when 
the Council recognises the cost of restructuring. .  
 
Redundancy payments are charged to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Pension strain costs are charged to Non Distributed Costs in accordance with 
statutory provisions which require that the General Fund be charged with the amount 
payable by the Council to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.   
 
Post-Employment Benefits 

Employees of the Council are members of three separate pension schemes: 

- The National Health Service Pension Scheme, administered by the NHS 
Business service  

Page 60



 28 
- The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on 

behalf of the Department for Education 

- The Local Government Pensions Scheme, administered by South Yorkshire 
Pensions Authority 

 
All three schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and 
pensions), earned as employees worked for the Council. 
 
The arrangements for both the National Health Service and teachers’ scheme mean 
that liabilities for these benefits cannot be identified specifically to the Council.  These 
schemes are therefore accounted for as if they were a defined contributions scheme 
– no liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet and 
the Public Health and Children’s and Education Service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statements are charged with the employer’s contributions 
payable to the National Health Service and Teachers’ Pensions Scheme in the year. 
 
The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

- The liabilities of the South Yorkshire pension fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation 
to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions 
about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected 
earnings for current employees. 

- Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate 
based on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds. In 
determining these liabilities, an assumption has been made on the advice of our 
actuaries that 50% of employees retiring will take an increase in their lump sum 
payment on retirement in exchange for a reduction in their future annual pension 

- The assets of the South Yorkshire pension fund attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

- The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following 
components: 

- current service cost – the increase in liabilities as result of years of service 
earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the services for which the employees worked  

- past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year 
decisions as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect 
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs 

- net interest  – interest receivable on the fair value of plan assets held at the 
start of the period adjusted for changes in plan assets during the year as a 
result of contributions and benefit payments less the interest payable on 
pension liabilities both determined using the discount rate based on high 
quality corporate bonds used to measure the defined benefit obligation at 
the beginning of the period – debited/credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

- remeasurements - return on plan assets (net of admin expenses and 
excluding amounts included in net interest) and actuarial gains/losses that 
arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last 
actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions 
debited/credited to the Pensions reserve as Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure  

- contributions paid to the South Yorkshire pension fund – cash paid as 
employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not 
accounted for as an expense. 

Page 61



 29 
- In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund 

balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to 
the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this 
means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such 
amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  The negative balance that arises 
on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact on the General 
Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash 
flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

 
Discretionary Benefits 
 
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the 
decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied 
to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 

24 Repayment of Debt – Metropolitan Debt 
 
Principal repayments are based on a 10% Sinking Fund using a methodology 
prescribed in Statutory Instrument 1986 No. 437 and will be extinguished by 2020/21. 
 

25 Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included only to the extent that it is irrecoverable from HM Revenue & 
Customs, whilst VAT receivable is excluded from income.  The net amount due 
from/to HMRC at the end of the financial year is included within debtors or creditors. 
 

26 Events after the Reporting Period 
 

Events after the reporting period are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, 
that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement 
of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting 
period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events 

- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect 

 
Events taking place after the date the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer 
Services authorises the Accounts for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 
 

27 Exceptional Items 
 
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is 
disclosed separately, either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on how significant 
the items are to an understanding of the Council’s financial performance. 
 

28 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
Where the Council exercises control, shares control or exerts a significant influence 
over another entity, and the Council’s interests are material in aggregate, it will 
prepare Group Accounts. The Council’s interest in another entity can be contractual 
or non-contractual, and may be evidenced by, but is not limited to, the holding of 

Page 62



 30 
equity or debt instruments in the entity as well as other forms of involvement such as 
the provision of funding, liquidity support, credit enhancement and guarantees. 
 
The Council has control over another entity, where it is able to direct the activities of 
that entity such that it is has exposure to or rights over variable returns and can use 
its power over the entity to affect the returns it receives.  
 
Shared control with another party or parties in a joint venture arises where decisions 
about activities that significantly affect returns require the unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control including the Council.   
 
The Council can exert a significant influence over an associate where the Council has 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity 
which fall short of control or joint control. 

 
The Council’s single entity financial statements include the income, expenditure, 
assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows of the local Council maintained schools 
within the control of the Council..  
 
Where local Council maintained schools convert to academies during the year, the 
assets, liabilities and reserves of the school are deconsolidated from the Council’s 
single entity accounts at their carrying amount at the date of conversion unless the 
school has a deficit for which the Council retains responsibility. The Non-Current 
Assets of the school are derecognised when the Council relinquishes control over 
school premises which it had held as a local Council maintained school through 
ownership, legally enforceable rights or some other means. 

 
Interests in companies and other entities are recorded in the Council’s balance sheet 
as financial assets at cost, less any provision for losses. 

 
29 Acquisitions and discontinued operations  

 
Transfers of functions to or from other public sector bodies are accounted for with 
effect from the date of transfer. Assets and liabilities are transferred at their carrying 
value at the date of transfer unless otherwise agreed and the balance sheet restated 
to reflect the value of assets brought onto or removed from the balance sheet. The 
financial effect of functions transferred, to or from the Council are disclosed 
separately in the current year as “transferred in” or “transferred out” operations. The 
financial effect of functions transferred to another public sector body are disclosed 
separately in the comparative year to enable the performance of continuing 
operations to be compared on a like for like basis.  
 
A function in this context is an identifiable service or business operation with an 
integrated set of activities, staff and recognised assets and/or liabilities that are 
capable of being conducted and managed to achieve the objectives of that service or 
business operation. 

 
Discontinued operations are activities that cease completely. Income and expenditure 
relating to discontinued operations are presented separately on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



 31 
B) Accounting Standards issued but not yet adopted 

 
Amendments have been made to two accounting standards that will not be adopted 
by the Code until 2018/19 and a further standard which will not be adopted until the 
2019/20 Code. A brief description of the accounting changes and their estimated 
financial effect is provided.  

 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
IFRS9 replaces IAS39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  It 
includes a single classification approach for financial assets driven by cash flow 
characteristics and how an instrument is managed.  It is a forward looking ‘expected 
loss’ model for impairment rather than the current ‘incurred loss’ model.  Its adoption 
in the 2018/19 Code will require a review of all financial assets to ensure they are 
categorised under the new approach. It will not be necessary to restate comparatives; 
all adjustments are to be made in 2018/19. It has not yet been possible to assess 
what the effect of these changes might be, however due to the nature of Instruments 
held by RMBC it is anticipated any financial impact will be minimal. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts and their 
associated interpretations. The core principle in IFRS 15 for local authorities is that 
they should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
the service recipient or customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the authority expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  At this 
stage it is not envisaged that this will result in material changes to the accounts, 
however a review will be carried out during 2018/19. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
IFRS 16 replaces IAS17 Leases, it will not be adopted until the 2019/20 Code.  The 
key impact of IFRS 16 will be to bring most leases on balance sheet from April 2019. 
Transitional arrangements will cover existing contracts but these judgements will 
have to be made for all new contracts.  Preparatory work has begun to ensure 
compliance with IFRS 16. 
 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments & Minimum Revenue Provision 
 
Over the past years, the economic and regulatory landscape has changed 
significantly, along with changes in the borrowing and investing activities of local 
authorities. The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
have therefore sought to refresh the statutory codes.  The principle changes are to 
set a 50 year maximum asset life, for the calculation of MRP charges, LA’s can 
exceed this where the related debt is PFI or opinion from an appropriately qualified 
person states an asset will be operational for more than 50 years. The guidance has 
re-affirmed that net MRP charges must not be a credit. Investments Guidance will be 
implemented in 2018/19, and MRP changes from 2019/20, they are not expected to 
materially impact the Council’s accounts.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 64



 32 
C) Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies 
 

In applying the accounting policies set out, the Council has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future 
events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 

- Back funding pension contributions - The Council is liable to make annual 
revenue contributions in respect of its Pension Fund deficit liabilities as specified 
in the actuary’s certificate of rates and contributions. Agreement was reached 
with South Yorkshire Pensions Authority that the amounts due in respect of 
2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 could be settled by way of a single payment made 
in April 2017. The amount settled in April 2017 in respect of 2017/18 was 
£7.272m, this was a discounted payment in respect of past service deficit. The 
discount given for doing this and has been apportioned over the three years on a 
pro rata basis.  

  
- Better Care Fund – The Council entered into a partnership agreement with 

Rotherham CCG in April 2015 to manage the Better Care Fund (BCF) as a 
pooled budget arrangement from 2015/16 onwards. A joint assessment was 
conducted with the CCG on how the arrangement should be accounted for by 
reference to the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2015/16 
(Chapter 3 Annex 1) and the guidance on “Pooled budgets and the Better Care 
Fund” produced in October 2014 by HFMA /CIPFA. In accordance with this 
guidance, the Council has recognised income and expenditure and assets and 
liabilities proportionate to the risks and rewards it enjoys.  The total available BCF 
funding for the year was £32.389m, of which the Council was allocated and 
recognised in its accounts £21.486m of income and £21.672m of expenditure, 
resulting in an overspend of £0.186m which was approved by the BCF Board to 
be supported by underspends elsewhere in the BCF programme.  

 
- Business rates appeals – The introduction of the business rates retention scheme 

with effect from 1 April 2013, means that the Council shares in the risks and 
rewards of growth or decline in business rates income with central government 
and the fire authority. As a consequence the Council recognises on its balance 
sheet its proportion of business rates assets and liabilities including its share of 
refunds to business ratepayers as a result of appeal. Valuation Office statistics on 
appeals lodged and settled since the April 2010 rating valuation to the 2017 
revaluation has been used to arrive at the best estimate of the likely level of 
business rate income collectable up to and including 2017/18 which may have to 
be refunded as a result of outstanding appeals as at 31 March 2018.  Since the 
2017 revaluation the appeals has process has changed resulting in the Valuation 
Office no longer providing the same statistics, as a result the addition to the 
provision for potential refunds relating to amounts billed in 2017/18 has been 
calculated as a percentage of the amount billed. The Council’s share of the 
provision for appeals £4.317m is shown as a provision in Note 36.        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 33 
 
D) Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of 

estimation 
 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions 
made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are 
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant 
factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual 
results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

 
MRP 
As stated in Accounting Policy Note 15, the Council is required to make a prudent 
provision (Minimum Revenue Provision or MRP) to repay debt each year relating to 
capital expenditure financed by borrowing or credit arrangements. The recovery of 
any MRP that has been overcharged in previous years will be effected by taking an 
MRP holiday in full or in part against future years’ charges that would otherwise have 
been made. The MRP holiday will be taken in such a way as to ensure that the total 
MRP after taking the holiday will not be less than zero in any financial year. 

 
Pensions liability 
Included in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 is an estimated pensions 
liability of £371m. This compares to £466m at 31 March 2017 and £320m at 31 March 
2016. The volatility in the amount of the liability is due to it being highly sensitive to a 
number of key assumptions used to determine pension fund liabilities, including the 
rate at which future liabilities are discounted to present value terms, the rate at which 
salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates, 
indexation of pensions and the rate of inflation. The sensitivity analysis provided in 
Note 18 sets out how small changes to these key assumptions can result in a 
material change to the pensions liability.  A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged by 
South Yorkshire Pensions Authority to provide expert advice about the best 
assumptions to be applied based on information available each year end. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about 
the level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual 
assets. The current economic climate makes it uncertain that the authority will be able 
to sustain its current spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing into doubt the 
useful lives assigned to assets. If the useful lives of the assets reduce, depreciation 
increases and the carrying amount of the assets falls.  

Page 66



 34 

 
 
NOTES TO THE CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
2 Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
3 Transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves 
4 Other Operating Expenditure 
5 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
6 Trading Operations 
7 Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
8 Analysis of Grant Income credited to CIES and capital grant received in advance  
9 Acquired and discontinued operations  
10 Agency Services 
11 Transport Act  
12 Pooled Budgets  
13 Members’ Allowances  
14 Staff Remuneration  
15 External Audit Fees  
16 Dedicated Schools Grant  
17 Related Party Transactions  
18 Pensions  
19 Property, Plant and Equipment, Capital Commitments, PFI, 
20 Investment Property 
21 Intangible Assets 
22 Assets Held for Sale 
23 Heritage Assets 
24 Financial Instruments – Balances 
25 Financial Instruments – Risk 
26 Financial Instruments – Gains/losses 
27 Financial Instruments – Fair Value of Assets carried at Amortised Cost        
28 Financial Instruments – Soft Loans and Financial Guarantees 
29 Impairment adjustment – Heritable Bank 
30 Long-term investments 
31 Inventories 
32 Construction Contracts  
33 Debtors 
34 Cash & Cash Equivalents 
35 Creditors 
36 Provisions 
37 Usable Reserves 
38 Unusable Reserves 
39 Cash Flow - Analysis of adjustments to Surplus or Deficit on the Provisions of Services 
40 Cash Flow – from Investing Activities 
41 Cash Flow – from Financing Activities 
42 Capital Expenditure and Financing 
43 Leases 
44 PFI and similar contracts 
45 Capitalised Borrowing Costs 
46 Contingent Liabilities 
47 Contingent Assets 
48 Trust Funds 
49 Material Items of Income and Expenditure 
50 Other Long-term Liabilities 
51 Events after the Balance Sheet date / Authorised for Issue 
 

Page 67



 35 
Note 1 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) is to demonstrate to council tax [and rent] payers how the funding available to the authority, 
i.e. government grants, rents, council tax and business rates for the year, has been used to provide services compared with those resources consumed 
or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices (as shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (CIES). The EFA also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s. Income and expenditure 
accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the CIES on page 6. 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA Balances

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in 
the Comprehensive 

Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA Balances

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive 

Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

71,354 2,408 73,762 Adult Care and Housing 63,920 1,458 65,378 

(7,224) (110,855) (118,079) Local Authority Housing (HRA) (2,515) (13,027) (15,542)

69,866 1,253 71,119 Children and Young People's Services excluding schools 75,312 2,510 77,822 

2,295 (12,108) (9,813) Schools 1,561 (6,692) (5,131)

41,506 3,273 44,779 Regeneration and Environment Services 43,724 7,743 51,467 

408 0 408 Public Health (70) 1 (69)

5,031 22 5,053 Assistant Chief Executive Office 5,243 323 5,566 

13,787 705 14,492 Finance and Customer Services 13,140 1,628 14,768 

(185,891) 191,823 5,932 Central Services (187,413) 189,858 2,445 

11,132 76,521 87,653 Net Cost of Services 12,902 183,802 196,704 

0 62,876 62,876 Other Operating Expenditure 0 60,186 60,186 

0 45,337 45,337 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 0 44,161 44,161 

0 (228,457) (228,457) Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income and expenditure 0 (225,787) (225,787)

11,132 (43,723) (32,591) (Surplus) / Deficit 12,902 62,362 75,264 

(100,479) Opening General Fund and HRA Balance as at 1 April (88,395)

11,132 Less (Surplus) / Deficit on General Fund Balance in year 12,902 

952 Transfer from/to reserves to/from Academies (401)

(88,395) Closing General Fund and HRA Balance at 31 March (75,894)

2016/17 2017/18

 

P
age 68



 36 
 
 
Note 1a Adjustments in Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

Capital 
Adjustment

Pension 
Adjustment

Other 
Adjustment Total

Capital 
Adjustment

Pension 
Adjustment

Other 
Adjustment Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2,817 40 (449) 2,408 Adult Care and Housing 733 1,499 (774) 1,458 

(97,265) 10 (13,600) (110,855) Local Authority Housing (HRA) 308 544 (13,879) (13,027)

1,185 50 18 1,253 Children and Young People's Services excluding schools 309 1,951 250 2,510 

4,628 (17,850) 1,114 (12,108) Schools 2,099 (7,746) (1,045) (6,692)

7,192 58 (3,977) 3,273 Regeneration and Environment Services 11,031 2,064 (5,352) 7,743 

0 0 0 0 Public Health 0 0 1 1 

13 7 2 22 Assistant Chief Executive Office 12 307 4 323 

689 25 (9) 705 Finance and Customer Services 644 889 95 1,628 

7,823 23 183,977 191,823 Central Services 3,220 2,472 184,166 189,858 

44,626 0 18,250 62,876 Other Operating Expenditure 43,550 0 16,636 60,186 

2,441 11,442 31,454 45,337 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 2,210 11,004 30,947 44,161 

4,344 0 (232,801) (228,457) Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income and expenditure 2,799 0 (228,586) (225,787)

(21,507) (6,195) (16,021) (43,723) 66,915 12,984 (17,537) 62,362 

2016/17 2017/18

 
 
Notes: 

1. Capital Adjustments - This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the services line, and for: 
 Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets. 
 Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are 

deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 
 Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are adjusted for as it is income that is not chargeable under generally accepted accounting 

practices. Revenue grants receivable in the year are adjusted to take out any grants that have conditions that have not been met in the year. This line is credited with capital 
grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 

2. Pensions Adjustments - Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 
 For services –- this is the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the authority as allowed by statute and replaced with current and past service costs. 
 For Financing and investment income and expenditure –- the net interest on the defined benefit liability is charged to the CIES. 

3. Other Adjustments i.e. between amounts debited/credited to the CIES and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 For Financing and investment income and expenditure –- this column recognises adjustments to the General Fund for the timing differences for premiums and discounts. 
 The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure –- represents the difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council 

tax and NDR that was projected to be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing 
difference as any difference will be brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund.  

P
age 69



 37 

Note 1b Income and Expenditure Analysed by Nature  
 
The authority’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows:

2016/17 2017/18

Expenditure/Income £000 £000
Expenditure
Employee benefits expenses 213,453 211,496 
Other services expenses 357,056 364,567 

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment (51,693) 41,245 
Interest payments 32,932 32,242 
Precepts and levies 16,455 15,956 
Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool 1,924 1,907 

Gain on the disposal of assets 43,464 42,055 

Total expenditure 613,591 709,468 

Income
Fees, charges and other service income (186,029) (187,559)

Interest and investment income (462) (254)
Income from council tax and non domestic rates (132,782) (134,697)
Government grants and contributions (326,909) (311,694)

Total income (646,182) (634,204)

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services (32,591) 75,264  
 
 
Note 1c Income Analysed by Segment 
 
The authorities fees charges and other income is analysed as follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18
Income from Services Income from Services

£000 £000
Adult Care and Housing (36,078) (42,949) 
Local Authority Housing (HRA) (85,096) (84,131) 
Children and Young People's Services excluding schools (6,258) (5,254) 
Schools (7,803) (6,069) 
Regeneration and Environment Services (30,022) (29,296) 
Public Health (216) 0
Assistant Chief Executive Office (2,727) (2,584) 
Finance and Customer Services (3,695) (4,882) 
Central Services (10,397) (10,152) 
Other income below Cost of Service (3,737) (2,242) 

Total Income analysed on a segmental basis (186,029) (187,559) 

 

Page 70



 38 
Note 2 Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis    
 
This note details the statutory adjustments for the differences between the way transactions are presented on a commercial accounting basis and the 
amounts which are statutorily required to be met under the Local Authority Accounting Framework from local taxpayers and housing rents to meet the 
cost of General Fund and HRA services.   

Movements in Usable Reserves 2016/17

General Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Movements in 
Unusable 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account:

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets 21,277 13,675 0 0 0 (34,952)

Amortisation of intangible assets 728 84 0 0 0 (812)

Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 835 (119,100) 0 0 0 118,265

Capital grants and contributions applied (17,102) (262) 0 0 877 16,487

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 8,292 0 0 0 0 (8,292)
Gain/loss on disposal of non current assets charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 44,618 (445) 7,894 0 0 (52,067)
Debt Repayment 4,709 (4,709)
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (40) 0 0 0 0 40

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA balances (87) (5,466) 0 0 0 5,553

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 0 (7,949) 0 0 7,949

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to repay debt (317) 317
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance payments to the Government capital 
receipts pool 1,924 0 (1,924) 0 0 0
Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash 0 0 1 0 0 (1)

Adjustment primarily involving the Major Repairs Reserve:

Reversal of Major Repairs Allowance credited to the HRA  0 13,471  0 (13,471)  0 0

HRA depreciation to capital adjustment account 0 0 0 33,446  0 (33,446)

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 0 0 (18,630)  0 18,630

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account:

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are 
different from finance costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(25) 114 0 0 0 (89)

 

P
age 71



 39 
 
 
 
 

Movements in Usable Reserves 2016/17 continued

General Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Movements in 
Unusable 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (see note 18) 18,439 1,627 0 0 0 (20,066)

Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (25,135) (1,126) 0 0 0 26,261

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account:
Amount by which council tax income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements (1,262) 0 0 0 0 1,262

Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account:

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on an accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements 1,240 3 0 0 0 (1,243)

Total Adjustments 53,702 (97,425) 2,414 1,345 877 39,087

 

P
age 72



 40 

Movements in Usable Reserves 2017/18

General Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Movements in 
Unusable 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account:
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets 20,292 11,158 0 0 0 (31,450)

Amortisation of intangible assets 464 85 0 0 0 (549)

Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment & Investment Properties (3,482) (2,242) 0 0 0 5,724

Capital grants and contributions applied (14,069) (4,119) 0 0 2,863 15,325

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 6,200 223 0 0 0 (6,423)
Gain/loss on disposal of non current assets charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 43,133 (1,195) 9,349 0 0 (51,287)
Debt Repayment 192 (192)
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA balances (14) (7,028) 0 0 0 7,042
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:
Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 0 (6,049) 0 0 6,049

Use of receipts to repay debt 0 0 (192) 0 0 192
Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance payments to the Government capital 
receipts pool 1,907 0 (1,907) 0 0 0
Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash 0 0 0 0 0 0
Adjustment primarily involving the Major Repairs Reserve:
Transfer from HRA to Major Repairs Reserve re notional MRA  0 (2,619)  0 2,619  0 0

HRA depreciation to capital adjustment account 0 0 0 17,463  0 (17,463)

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 0 0 (15,632)  0 15,632
Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account:

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are 
different from finance costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(26) 36 0 0 0 (10)

 

P
age 73



 41 

Movements in Usable Reserves 2017/18 continued

General Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Movements in 
Unusable 
Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (see note 18) 36,431 2,340 0 0 0 (38,771)

Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year (24,529) (1,259) 0 0 0 25,788

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment Account:

Amount by which council tax income, non-domestic rate income and residual community charge 
adjustment included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different from the 
amount taken to the General Fund in accordance with Regulation

1,321 0 0 0 0 (1,321)
Adjustment primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account:

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on an accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements (651) 4 0 0 0 647

Total Adjustments 66,977 (4,616) 1,393 4,450 2,863 (71,067)

 

P
age 74



 

 

42 
Note 3 Transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves 
 

Bal at 

Trans 
between 
Reserves Trans out Trans in Bal at

Trans 
between 
Reserves Trans out Trans in Bal at

1 Apr 16 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 31 Mar 17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 31 Mar 18
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

General Fund

Insurance 246 0 (17) 0 229 0 0 0 229

Insurance Fund Reserve 350 0 0 0 350 0 0 0 350

Transformation Reserve 5,151 0 (2,418) 0 2,733 0 0 0 2,733

Business Rates Reserve 4,000 0 0 0 4,000 0 0 0 4,000

Pensions Reserve 6,000 0 0 0 6,000 0 (1,075) 0 4,925

Revenue Grants Reserve 13,947 0 (5,417) 1,015 9,545 0 (4,707) 989 5,827

DSG Grant Reserve 24 0 (6,395) 1,158 (5,213) 0 (763) (3,711) (9,687)

Local Authority Energy Fund 
(LAEF) 131 0 (127) 67 71 0 0 127 198
Museum 34 0 0 0 34 0 0 0 34

Rotherham  Economic 
Regeneration (RERF) 75 0 (75) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Maintenance of Buildings 433 0 (214) 48 267 0 (112) 48 203
Managed Workspace Repairs & 
Renewals 193 0 0 32 225 0 0 52 277

PFI - Waste 1,618 0 (299) 1,002 2,321 0 (2,087) 0 234

PFI – Leisure 822 0 0 1,571 2,393 0 0 0 2,393

Schools Declared Savings 37 0 (15) 0 22 0 (22) 0 (0)

PFI - Schools 12,198 0 (2,749) 0 9,449 0 (1,290) 2 8,161

Looked-After Children Reserve 6,000 0 (4,000) 0 2,000 0 (2,000) 1,000 1,000

Academy Conversion Reserve 1,200 0 (18) 108 1,290 0 (1,261) 0 29
Housing Improvement 
Programme 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 10
Aston CSC Repair / 
Maintenance Fund 120 0 0 20 140 0 0 20 160
Kimberworth The Place Repairs / 
Maintenance Fund 10 0 0 5 15 0 0 5 20
Riverside House Repairs / 
Maintenance Fund 232 0 0 51 283 0 0 0 283

EMS Implementation Fund 195 0 0 38 233 0 (150) 0 83

Furnished Homes 3,276 0 (226) 0 3,050 0 0 0 3,050

Selective Licensing Reserve 702 0 (18) 156 840 0 (65) 76 851

Memb Comn Leadership Fund 0 0 0 18 18 0 0 13 31

Emergency Planning 0 0 0 71 71 0 0 18 89

Rotherham Partnership 0 0 0 71 71 0 (34) 0 37

School Insurance 0 0 0 8 8 0 (8) 0 0

School Music 0 0 0 28 28 0 (2) 0 26

School Catering 0 0 0 125 125 0 (125) 0 0

Dispersed Units 0 0 0 79 79 0 0 16 95

Area Assembly Ward 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 13

Treasury Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61 61

Total 57,004 0 (21,988) 5,671 40,687 0 (13,701) (1,271) 25,715

Total HRA (within grant reserve) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 163 163

Total General Fund 57,004 0 (21,988) 5,671 40,687 0 (13,701) (1,434) 25,552

 
 

Page 75



 

 

43 
 
Earmarked General Fund Reserves 
 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund and HRA balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from 
earmarked reserves to meet expenditure in 2017/18. A brief description of the purpose of each 
reserve is provided as follows.  

(i) Insurance Reserve 

This reserve has been set up to cover claims incurred but not yet reported to the Council and 
not taken account of in the Insurance Provision. 

(ii) Insurance Fund Reserve 

The majority of this reserve relates to insurance settlement money in respect of Museum and 
Art Collections, with a small residual balance in respect of Leisure and Green Spaces. 

(iii) Transformation Reserve 

This reserve is to be used to fund costs associated with transformational change in the 
delivery of Council services.   

(iv) Business Rates Reserve 

This reserve is to cover residual risks relating to appeals, NHS trusts claim for charitable 
relief and business closures. 

(v) Pension Reserve 

The Pension Reserve is to be used to meet the Council’s pension obligations across the 
medium term. 

(vi) Revenue Grant Reserve   
The Revenue Grant Reserve represents revenue grants which have been recognised within 
income as the grant’s terms and conditions have been met but yet to be applied.  They will be 
used to meet future spending plans relevant to the grant. 

(vii) DSG Grant Reserve 
The Dedicated School Grant (DSG) is a ring fenced grant for Schools.  There is currently a 
deficit balance on the Dedicated Schools Grant, which in accordance with Government 
policy, can be carried forward for the deficit to be addressed in future years.  Childrens’ and 
Young Peoples Service have implemented a plan to recover the deficit in later years 

(viii) Local Authority Energy Fund (LAEF)  

 This reserve has been set up to provide initial investment for energy conservation work.  It is 
anticipated that such investment will generate long term savings.  Money is advanced to 
spending services and is repaid over a predetermined period, the repayments generating 
resources for further investment. 

(ix) Museum  

 This reserve was created principally for the Rotherham Museum to enable the purchase of 
exhibits that come onto the market on an irregular basis. 

(x) Rotherham Economic Regeneration Fund (RERF)       

 Set up to defray the costs associated with supporting/funding externally funded schemes 
across several financial years and facilitating the economic regeneration of the borough, and 
to allow carry forward of funds on an annual basis. 

(xi) Maintenance of Buildings  

 Set up to defray the cost of Maintenance of Buildings across the Council by focussing on a 
more corporate and strategic approach. 

(xii) Managed Workspace Repairs and Renewals 

Set up to defray the cost of a rolling programme of maintenance on the managed workspace 
buildings and a programme of equipment renewal.  The nature of the initial grant funding of 
these buildings excludes them from the programme of maintenance for other council 
buildings, creating the necessity for a separate reserve. 

(xiii) PFI – Waste 

Page 76



 

 

44 
 This PFI arrangement will last for 25 years.  The reserve recognises the fact that receipts and 

payments into the reserve are smoothed out over the life of the contract so that the balance 
on the reserve at the end of the contract is nil.   

(xiv) PFI – Leisure  

 This PFI arrangement will last for 33 years and 3 months.  The reserve recognises the fact 
that receipts and payments into the reserve are smoothed out over the life of the contract so 
that the balance on the reserve at the end of the contract is nil.   

(xv) Schools Declared Savings  

 Under the Council’s Scheme for the Local Management of Schools, all Primary, Secondary 
and Special Schools are allowed to invest, internally with the Council, sums set aside from 
their delegated budgets, for use in future years.  Interest can be earned on such savings.  
These sums were initially allocated to schools as part of their formula-funded budgets and 
are, therefore, exclusively earmarked for use by those same schools in the future. 

(xvi) PFI – Schools  

 This PFI arrangement will last for 30 years.  The reserve recognises the fact that receipts and 
payments into the reserve are smoothed out over the life of the contract so that the balance 
on the reserve at the end of the contract is nil. 

(xvii) Looked-After Children 

 This has been set up to support the Council’s Revenue Budget on a £3m, £2m and £1m 
basis over the three financial years, 2016/17 to 2018/19. 

(xviii) Academy Conversion 

 This reserve has been created to manage the potential financial impact of schools converting 
to Academy status. 

(xix) Housing Improvement Programme (HIP) 

This reserve has been created to support HIP’s role in enabling decent affordable housing in 
the private sector.  It covers the Works in Default Scheme. 

Under the Works in Default scheme Environmental Health Officers may require private 
landlords to do improvements to their properties. An amount of £9,554 has been set aside in 
the event that landlords default in reimbursing the Council for the cost of the improvement 
works.   

(xx) Aston CSC Repair & Maintenance Fund  

This reserve has been created for agreed cyclical redecoration and major repair with NHS 
Rotherham. 

(xxi) Kimberworth The Place Repairs & Maintenance Fund 

This reserve has been created for agreed cyclical redecoration and major repair with NHS 
Rotherham. 

(xxii) Riverside Repairs & Maintenance Fund  

This reserve has been created for agreed cyclical lifecycle maintenance, major repair and 
redecoration of the building, in line with the Council’s obligations in respect of the lease 
agreement. 

(xxiii) Environmental Management System (EMS) Implementation Fund  

This reserve has been created to provide funding for a temporary post of Carbon Reduction 
Officer to work towards reducing CO2 emissions. 

(xxiv) Furnished Homes Reserve 

The Rotherham Furnished Homes Scheme offers a range of furniture and other household 
goods to tenants to assist them in establishing and sustaining their home in exchange for an 
additional service charge.  The scheme was transferred from the HRA to the General Fund 
on 1 April 2014 in order to maximise the Scheme’s flexibility and capacity to respond to the 
changing circumstances brought about by welfare reform and the introduction in 2012/13 of 
HRA self-financing. The reserve is being used to provide financial resilience for the existing 
scheme, to support any future expansion of the service, and, to meet additional financing 

Page 77



 

 

45 
costs in future years following the capitalisation of furniture purchases with effect from 
2014/15. 

(xxv) Selective Licensing 

 This reserve has been created in line with the requirement for the service to be self-financing. 

(xxvi)    Other Reserves 

The remaining reserves have been set up to hold approved carry forwards for use in future 
years. 
 
 
 

Note 4 Other Operating Expenditure 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 Notes

2,390 Parish Council precepts 2,565

14,065 Levies payable 13,391

1,924 Payments to the Government Housing Capital Receipts Pool 1,907

43,464 Loss on disposal of non current assets 42,055 49

193 Revaluation loss on disposal of Assets Held for Sale - current assets 268 22

62,036 Total 60,186

 
Note 5 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 Notes

32,932 Interest payable and similar charges 32,242 26

11,442 Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 11,004 18

(462) Interest receivable and similar income  (254) 26

2,265
Income and expenditure relating to Investment Properties and changes in their 
fair value 1,169 20

46,177 Total 44,161

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

 

46 
 
 
Note 6  Surplus / Deficit on Trading Services, including dividends from 

 Companies 
 
The Council considers a trading operation exists where the service it provides is competitive i.e. the 
service user has the choice to use an alternative supplier than the Council and the Council charges 
the user on a basis other than a charge that equates to the costs of  supplying the service.  
 
The trading accounts operated by the Council during the year are as follows: 

2016/17 2017/18

Expenditure Income (Surplus) / 
Deficit Expenditure Income

(Surplus) / 
Deficit

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

18,283 (18,916) (633)
Construction, Street Cleansing     
and Landscaping 18,710 (19,777) (1,067)

2,024 (2,034) (10) Vehicle Maintenance 1,315 (1,199) 116

1,710 (1,995) (285) Property Services – Fee-billing 1,577 (2,255) (678)

1,016 (1,169) (153) Engineering – Fee-billing 871 (967) (96)

5,376 (5,309) 67 Cleaning of buildings 5,517 (5,243) 274

1,045 (1,236) (191) Markets 1,007 (884) 123

403 (373) 30 Building Regulations Control 396 (396) 0
10,067 (10,301) (234) School Support Services 8,897 (9,024) (127)

83 (86) (3) Dispersed & Furnished Units 120 (135) (15)

40,007 (41,419) (1,412) (Surplus) / Deficit 38,410 (39,880) (1,470)

 
Traded services are included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within the 
Service that they are based.  The Council’s traded services include: 
 
Construction, Street Cleansing and Landscaping 

Streetpride maintains over 680 miles of highways in a clean and safe condition for pedestrians, 
motorists, other road users and local communities. 
 
Vehicle Maintenance 

Management and policy of the Council’s vehicle fleet and ensuring legislative standards are 
maintained.  
 
Property Services – Fee Billing 

Quantity surveyors, project managers, architects, valuers involved in the valuation and construction 
of new and existing Council buildings.  
 
Engineering – Fee Billing 

Streetpride provides a design, inspection, assessment service and carries out engineering works to 
buildings, bridges, structures and highways.  
 
Cleaning of Buildings 
Facilities Services provides a cleaning service for schools and other premises owned by Rotherham 
MBC. This service is also utilised by the NHS in certain buildings.  
 
Markets 

The Council operates regular markets in Wath and Rotherham town centre. 
 
Building Regulations Control 

Building Control service begins at preplanning application stage and continues throughout the entire 
planning and construction process.  Ultimately the Council aims to provide a service that will achieve 

Page 79



 

 

47 
a fast and trouble-free Building Regulation approval and a rapid response inspection process that will 
assist a project to fully comply with the Building Regulations when complete.  From 1st January 2010 
a new scheme of Building Regulation charges made under the Building (Local Council Charges) 
Regulations 2010 has been adopted by the Council. 
 

School Support Services 

School support services provides catering, Information Technology Support, Human Resources 
support, training facilities and the provision of supply staff to schools, teachers absence in-house 
insurance scheme and schools finance support team. 
 
Dispersed and Furnished Units 

To enable continued funding and improvements of emergency accommodation properties “crash 
pads”.  Income from the weekly charge from occupied units is used to contribute to replace fixtures, 
furniture and furnishings within the temporary units for the homeless. 
 
Note 7 Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 Notes

94,430 Council Tax Income 100,328

38,352 Non Domestic Rates 34,369

25,094 Business Rates grants 31,234
57,561 Non Ring-fenced government grants 44,467 8

13,020 Capital Grants and Contributions 15,389 8

228,457 Total 225,787

 
Note 8 Analysis of grant income credited to the CIES and capital grant  

received in advance   
 
The Council receives certain government grants which are not attributable to specific services. The 
amount of General Revenue Grants Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income was as 
follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

39,405 Revenue Support Grant 28,943

9,822 PFI Grant 9,822

8,334 Other Non Specific Revenue Grants 5,702

57,561 Total 44,467

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

48 
 
 
 
 
Capital Grants Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 
 

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000

5,546 Department for Transport 6,864

30 Sheffield City Region 0

0 Environment Agency 40

2,070 European Regional Development Fund 0

1,577 Education Funding Agency: LA Maintained Maintenance Grant 1,600

213 Education Funding Agency: Basic Need Pupil Places (244)

558 Education Funding Agency: LA Maintained Devolved Formula 144

0 Education Funding Agency: Targeted Basic Need 2,022

0 Early Years Capital Fund and Entitlement for 2 year olds (644)

(10) Department of Health 0

793 Section 106 Developer Contributions 311

(16) Department for Communities and Local Government 1,197

0 SOAHP Grant Housing England 3,713

2,259 Other Local Authorities and Partners 386

13,020 15,389

 
 
 
 

Page 81



 

 

49 
 
Significant Revenue Grants attributable to specific services and which have therefore been credited 
to Cost of Services were as follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000
108,263 Dedicated Schools Grant (Note 16) 99,665

85,384 Housing and Council Tax Benefit: subsidy 81,185

2,368 Sixth Form Funding 1,912

1,146 Troubled Families & Troubled Families Co-ordinator 1,053

7,580 Pupil Premium 6,353

1,625 Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Administration 1,512

430 Youth Offending Teams Grant 432

423 Rotherham Music Hub 423

619 Adult Community Learning Grants 240

2,104 Universal Free School Meals 1,715

86 Year 7 Catch Up Premium 58

169 SEND Implementation Grant (New Burdens) 188

300 Local Sustainable Transport Fund 252

6,162 Social Care Funding 6,166

4,575 Other NHS Funding (including Better Care Fund) 13,291

184 Local Reform & Community Voices Grant 187

1,588 Independent Living Fund 1,535

17,157 Public Health Funding 16,734

304 Police and Crime Commission 304

673 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) 819

250 Police & Crime Commissioner Election 0

421 EU Election Grant 0

182 Adoption Support 231

307 Inter Agency Grant 0

243 Fusion Funding 500

0 Elections Grant 609

0 Domestic Abuse Grant 168

0 Estate Regeneration Enabling Grant 214

0 Department for Transport 104

 
The Council has received a number of capital grants and contributions that have yet to be recognised 
as income as they have conditions attached to them that will require the monies or property to be 
returned to the funding body if they are not applied for their intended purpose.  The balance of capital 
grant received in advance at the year-end was as follows: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18
£000 £000

2,280 Section 106 Developer Contributions 2,245

2,280 Total of Capital Grants Received in Advance 2,245

 
Section 106 Developer Contributions 
 
Section 106 Developer Contributions are monies paid to the Council by developers as a result of the 
grant of planning permission where works are required to be carried out or new facilities provided as 
a result of that permission.  The sums are restricted to being spent only in accordance with the 
agreement concluded with the developer.  
 

Page 82



 

 

50 
The major balances of Section 106 receipts held by the Council at the end of the year end are as 
follows: 
 

Income Expenditure 2016/17 Income Expenditure 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(844) 1,046 1,251 Regeneration & Environment (382) 806 (826)

0 0 940 CYPS (115) 31 (1,024)

0 0 89 HRA (536) 230 (395)

(844) 1,046 2,280 Total (1,033) 1,067 (2,245)

Note 9  Acquired and discontinued operations   
 
The Council did not acquire any new operations in 2017/18.   
All of the Council’s income and expenditure relates to continuing operations.   
 
Note 10 Agency Services 
 
NHS Funded Nursing Care 
 
The Council administers on behalf of Rotherham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) the financial 
process/procedures relating to the payment of NHS funded nursing fees to nursing care providers, 
under Health Act flexibilities (section 256 of the NHS Act 2006). The agreement covers the fees for 
NHS funded nursing care, cost of incontinence products, administration costs and nursing cost of 
assessments. Any overspend against the approved budget will be recharged by the Council to 
Rotherham CCG, any underspend will be reimbursed by the Council to Rotherham CCG. 
 
The under spend in the current and previous year were as follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(2,204) Gross income (2,189)

2,204 Gross expenditure 2,189 

0 (Under) / over spend 0 

 
Note 11 Transport Act                
 
Authorities are allowed to operate a road charging or workplace charging scheme under the 
Transport Act 2000. There is no such scheme in place in Rotherham.  
 
 
Note 12 Pooled Budgets        
 
The Council, through Adult Social Services, has a pooled budget arrangement with Rotherham 
Clinical and Commissioning Group (RCCG) (formerly, NHS Rotherham) in respect of the Better Care 
Fund to enable joint working under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
The Better Care Fund is split into two Pools. RMBC host Pool 1 with income of £21.486m, which 
includes the former Intermediate Care and Equipment pooled budgets together with Occupational 
Therapy services, falls prevention, jointly commissioned integrated services and management of the 
Disabled Facilities grant funding. The RCCG host Pool 2 with income of £10.903m.   
 

Page 83



 

 

51 
The finance involved in the arrangements where the Council acts as host is detailed as follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 Better Care Fund - Pool 1 RMBC £000

(9,570) Rotherham CCG (10,141)

(2,119) Rotherham MBC - Capital (2,311)

(1,717) Rotherham MBC - Revenue (9,034)

(13,406) Total Gross Income (21,486)

2,119 Capital Expenditure 2,311

11,458 Revenue Expenditure 19,361

13,577 Total Gross Expenditure 21,672

171 Overspend 186

(171) Use of balances (186)

0 Net Balance as at 31 March 0

2016/17 2017/18

£000 Better Care Fund - Pool 2 RCCG £000

(10,867) Rotherham CCG (10,853)

(50) Rotherham MBC (50)

(10,917) Total Gross Income (10,903)

10,746 Revenue Expenditure 10,717

10,746 Total Gross Expenditure 10,717

(171) Underspend (186)

171 Transfer of balances 186

0 Net Balance as at 31 March 0

 
 
Note 13   Members’ Allowances 
 
Members’ allowances and expenses during the year totalled £923,981 excluding Joint Council 
allowances (2016/17 £924,471 excluding Joint Council allowances). The employers’ pension 
contributions associated with these allowances was nil (2016/17 £1,832), as members are no longer 
eligible for the superannuation scheme.   
 
In the light of the Professor Jay Report on 26 August 2014 and subsequent Corporate Governance 
Report, Members’ allowances and Cabinet Member appointments have been subject to change 
whilst Commissioners have performed certain functions and oversaw actions which the Council 
would normally carryout.  Detailed information about Members’ Allowances can be obtained from the 
Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services, Finance and Customer Services Directorate, 
Riverside House, Main Street, Rotherham, S60 1AE. 

Page 84



 

 

52 
2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

727 Basic allowance 723

196 Special responsibility allowances 201

1 Travel 0

924 Total Members’ Allowances and Expenses 924

2 Employer Pension Costs 0

926 Total 924

Members Allowances

 
Note 14 Staff Remuneration 

 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the disclosure of certain information relating to 
officers’ remunerations.  Details of the number of employees who received remuneration of £50,000 
or more based on 2017/18 payroll information, expressed in bands of £5,000 is as follows: 
 

Officers Teachers Officers Teachers 

Total Total Total Total

33 29 £50,000 - £54,999 46 17

15 13 £55,000 - £59,999 18 10

16 18 £60,000 - £64,999 18 13

5 10 £65,000 - £69,999 1 8

6 6 £70,000 - £74,999 2 7

2 3 £75,000 - £79,999 3 1

7 0 £80,000 - £84,999 7 1

1 3 £85,000 - £89,999 2 2

0 0 £90,000 - £94,999 1 0

1 0 £95,000 - £99,999 0 0

0 0 £100,000 - £104,999 0 0

0 0 £105,000 - £109,999 0 0

0 0 £110000 to £114999 0 0

0 0 £115000 to £119999 0 0

0 0 £120000 to £124999 1 0

2016/17 2017/18

 
The number of employees whose remuneration was £50,000 or more includes a number of staff, who 
have been given approval to leave the Council under the terms of its Voluntary Severance 
arrangements (that is Voluntary Early Retirement, Voluntary Redundancy, Compulsory Redundancy 
Phased Retirement and Redeployment). In some cases that has resulted in these staff falling into 
higher banding brackets than would otherwise be the case. In 2017/18, the number of such 
employees was 2 (2 officers and 0 teachers).   
 
The increase in officers whose remuneration fell between £50,000 - £54,999 has increased by 13, in 
the main, due to the Council’s 1% pay award increasing the top of Band P016 above £50,000. 
 
The above table excludes the senior employees whose remuneration for 2016/17 and 2017/18 are 
shown in the Strategic Leadership Team note overleaf: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



 

 

53 
Strategic Leadership Team Remuneration 2016/17 
 

Salary
Additional 
Payments

Compensation 
& Ex-gratia

Total 
remuneration 

excluding 
employer 
pension 

contributions

Pension 
employer 

contribution 
2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

Job Title/Employee £ £ £ £ £
Strategic Leadership Team (who were Members 
during all or part of the year):

Sharon Kemp- Chief Executive - Refer to Note 
(i) 160,000.01 0.00 0.00 160,000.01 20,640.00

Assistant Chief Executive - Refer to Note (ii) 97,970.04 0.00 0.00 97,970.04 12,638.14

Strategic Director of Children and Young 
Peoples Services - Refer to Note (iii) 146,450.04 0.00 0.00 146,450.04 18,892.06

Strategic Director of Regeneration and 
Environment - Refer to Note (iv) 106,883.50 0.00 0.00 106,883.50 13,787.97

Interim Strategic Director of Regeneration and 
Environment - Refer to Note (iv) 46,130.00 0.00 0.00 46,130.00 0.00

Director of Public Health - Refer to Note (v) 85,658.65 12,382.26 0.00 98,040.91 12,374.87

Interim Strategic Director of Adult Care and 
Housing - Refer to Note (vi) 116,463.56 0.00 0.00 116,463.56 0.00

Strategic Director of Adult Care and Housing - 
Refer to Note (vi) 77,741.94 0.00 0.00 77,741.94 9,640.92

Director of Legal Services - Refer to Note (vii) 83,547.00 0.00 0.00 83,547.00 10,777.56

Strategic Director of Finance and Customer 
Services 114,518.04 0.00 0.00 114,518.04 14,772.83

Interim Head of Human Resources - Refer to 
Note (viii) 96,630.87 0.00 0.00 96,630.87 0.00

Head of Human Resources - Refer to Note (viii) 20,437.57 0.00 0.00 20,437.57 2,636.45

Total 1,152,431.22 12,382.26 0.00 1,164,813.48 116,160.80

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 

 

54 
Strategic Leadership Team Remuneration 2017/18 
 

Salary
Additional 
Payments

Compensation 
& Ex-gratia

Total 
remuneration 

excluding 
employer 
pension 

contributions

Pension 
employer 

contribution 
2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Job Title/Employee £ £ £ £ £
Strategic Leadership Team (who were Members 
during all or part of the year):

Sharon Kemp - Chief Executive - Refer to Note  
(i) 161,600.04 0.00 0.00 161,600.04 24,078.41

Assistant Chief Executive - Refer to Note (ii) 98,949.96 0.00 0.00 98,949.96 14,743.54

Strategic Director of Children and Young 
Peoples Services - Refer to Note (iii) 147,915.00 0.00 0.00 147,915.00 22,039.34

Strategic Director of Regeneration and 
Environment - Refer to Note (iv) 115,662.96 0.00 0.00 115,662.96 17,233.78

Director of Public Health - Refer to Note (v) 84,381.96 12,526.80 0.00 96,908.76 13,935.48

Strategic Director of Adult Care and Housing - 
Refer to Note (vi) 121,200.00 0.00 0.00 121,200.00 18,058.80

Strategic Director of Finance & Customer 
Services - Refer to Note (vii) 115,662.96 0.00 0.00 115,662.96 17,233.78

Director of Legal Services - Refer to Note (viii) 84,381.96 0.00 0.00 84,381.96 12,572.91

Head of Human Resources - Refer to Note (ix) 84,381.96 0.00 0.00 84,381.96 12,572.91

Interim Head of Communications and Marketing - 
Refer to Note (x) 42,863.54 0.00 0.00 42,863.54 0.00

Head of Communications and Marketing - Refer 
to Note (x) 13,580.63 0.00 0.00 13,580.63 2,023.51

Assistant Director - Financial Services - Refer to 
Note (xi) 73,834.22 0.00 0.00 73,834.22 11,001.30

Total 1,144,415.19 12,526.80 0.00 1,156,941.99 165,493.76

 
The disclosure for Senior Officers Remuneration includes Senior Officers who are a Member of the 
Senior Leadership Team and in Statutory and Non-Statutory Chief Officers roles and any other officer 
whose salary details are required to be disclosed by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, 
including any other employees whose salary exceeds £150,000. 
 
Notes: 
 
(i) Sharon Kemp commenced her employment as the Chief Executive on 18 January 2016. 
 
(ii) The Assistant Chief Executive commenced their employment on 1 March 2016.  
 
(iii) The Interim Strategic Director of Children and Young People’s Services was appointed to the 

substantive role of the Strategic Director of Children and Young People’s Services with effect 
from 26 November 2015. 

 
(iv) The Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment commenced their employment on 

25 April 2016.   
 
(v) The Director of Public Health commenced their employment on 29 June 2015. The additional 

payments made to the Director of Public Health represent various allowances to which they 
are contractually entitled to.     

      

Page 87



 

 

55 
(vi) The Strategic Director of Adult Care and Housing commenced their employment on 8 August 

2016. 
 
(vii) The Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services commenced their employment on 

the 1 April 2016. 
 
(viii) The Director of Legal Services commenced their employment on 7 March 2016. 
 
(ix) The Head of Human Resources commenced their employment on 3 January 2017 
 
(x) The Interim Head of Communications and Marketing left the Council on 4th January 2018. 

The new Head of Communications and Marketing commenced their employment on 2nd 
January 2018. 

 
(xi) The Assistant Director of Financial Services became a member of the Strategic Leadership 

Team on 15th May 2018. 
 
The LGPS Employer Pension contributions disclosed in 2016/17 and 2017/18 are based on the 
common rate of contribution set by the Actuary of 12.9 percent and 14.9 percent respectively.  Also 
contained in the disclosure is the Director of Public Health Employer Pension contributions that are 
based on the common rate of contribution set by the NHS Actuary of 14.38 percent (including a 0.08 
per cent administration levy)   
 
Senior Leadership Team remuneration costs for 2017/18 have decreased by £7,871.50 compared to 
2016/17. Interim agency staff have been replaced by permanent members of staff. 

 
Commissioners 
 
A team 5 of Commissioners was originally appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government on 26 February 2015 to take over responsibility for discharging the Executive and 
Licensing functions of the Council. Following the appointment of a substantive Chief Executive, the 
number of Commissioners reduced to 4 in May 2016/17. These 4 Commissioners remained in post 
throughout 2016/17, until 31 March 2017 when Sir Derek Myers left the Council following the return of 
additional powers to the Council. The role of the Commissioners is to perform certain functions and 
oversee actions which the Council is to perform, but they are not employees of the Council. They are 
instead accountable to the Secretary of State. The team comprises: 
 
Mary Ney (Lead Commissioner)  
 
Patricia Bradwell (Children’s Social Care Commissioner)  
 
Julie Kenny CBE (Supporting Commissioner)  
 
The Commissioners are nominated for the period beginning on 26 February 2015 and ending on 31 
March 2019 or such earlier time as the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
determines.   
 
The fees payable by the Council to the Commissioners for discharging their duties has been 
determined by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.  The agreed fees are 
£800 a day for the Lead Commissioner and £700 a day for other Commissioners.   
 
The Commissioners were paid fees of £73,200 (2016/17 £164,200) for services rendered for the 
period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. Business expenses of £5,043.91 (2016/17 £15,766) were 
incurred by the Commissioners over the same period in carrying out these services.  Employer’s 
national insurance contributions on these fees and expenses are being met by the Council. 
 
(xi) Further disclosure for exit packages 

 
In order to bring about a structured approach to reducing staff numbers to achieve necessary budget 
savings, the Council has continued to operate a voluntary severance scheme during 2017/18. The 
table below shows the cost to the Authority of staff who have left under the voluntary scheme, 
together with other departures and those who have been made compulsorily redundant. These costs 
include, where appropriate, the full pension strain cost arising from early retirement, for which the 
Council is required to make an additional payment to the Pensions Authority. Since 2016/17 the 

Page 88



 

 

56 
Council has met this additional cost in full in the financial year that the employee’s departure is 
accounted for, prior to this the Council, with the agreement of the South Yorkshire Pensions 
Authority, spread the cost over 3 financial years, the final instalment in respect of 2015/16 £0.727m 
was paid in 2017/18 (2016/17 £0.727m), however residual payments of £0.180m are outstanding at 
31st March 2018.     
 
The costs tabulated below are comprised of actual severance payments made during the year less 
accrued severance payments in respect of individuals who left or were approved to leave during 
2016/17 but who were paid in 2017/18 and those staff who’s severance was approved and agreed 
and to which the Council was committed at 31 March 2018 but who are planned to leave in 2018/19.   
 
In 2017/18 no provision was made in respect of severance costs associated with the major 
restructuring of services (in 2016/17 the provision was £0.1m) 
 
These changes are reflected in the total cost of termination benefits shown in Note (xi) below. 
 

Exit package cost band (including 
special payments)

Non Schools 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

£0 - £20,000 43 11 94 54 137 65 798 373

£20,001 - £40,000 16 2 16 4 32 6 815 181

£40,001 - £60,000 2 1 2 0 4 1 190 55

£60,001 - £80,000 2 2 1 0 3 2 205 137

£80,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

£100,001 - £150,000 1 2 0 1 1 3 124 376

£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 157

Total 64 18 113 60 177 78 2132 1279

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 

band

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Total number of other 
departures agreed

 

Exit package cost band (including 
special payments)

Schools 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

£0 - £20,000 10 8 45 26 55 34 335 253

£20,001 - £40,000 0 0 2 0 2 0 47 0

£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

£60,001 - £80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 10 8 47 26 57 34 382 253

Total number of exit 
packages by cost 

band

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Total number of other 
departures agreed

 
N.B. The above figures include 6 settlement agreements including a Tribunal payment entered into to 
terminate the employment relationship with the School/Council.   
 
(xii)   Termination Benefits 
 
As part of the rationalisation of Council services during 2017/18, 112 employees (2016/17 234) from 
across the whole of the Council, including schools, have been given approval to leave the Council 
with an exit package (including, Compulsory Redundancies, Voluntary Early Retirement, and 
Voluntary Redundancy etc.).  
 
The liabilities incurred as a result of the early termination of employees both in schools and non-
schools in 2017/18 totalled £1.532m (2016/17 £2.514m) - composed of severance payments of 
£0.881m (2016/17 £1.628m) and £0.651m in pensions strain costs (2016/17 £0.886m).   
 

Page 89



 

 

57 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 15 External Audit Fees                    
 
The Council has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and to non-audit services provided by the 
Council’s external auditors: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

141 Fees payable to KPMG with regard to external audit services carried out by the 
appointed auditor 141

29 Fees payable to KPMG for the certification of grant claims and returns 22

170 Total 163

 
Note 16          Dedicated Schools Grant             
 
The council’s expenditure on schools is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency, the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is ring-fenced and can only be 
applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as defined in the School 
Finance and Early Years (England) Regulations 2017. The Schools Budget includes elements for a 
range of educational services provided on an authority-wide basis and for the Individual Schools 
Budget, which is divided into a budget share for each maintained school. 
 
Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2017/18 and the comparative year are as follows: 
 

Central 
Expenditure ISB Total Central 

Expenditure ISB Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

218,515 Final DSG before Academy recoupment 223,020
(110,021) Less Academy figure recouped (123,142)

108,494 Total DSG after Academy recoupment 99,878

24 Brought forward from previous year (5,213)

15,977 92,541 108,518 Agreed initial Budgeted Distribution 18,351 76,314 94,665

0 (231) (231) In Year Adjustments 0 (213) (213)

15,977 92,310 108,287 Final Budgeted Distribution 18,351 76,101 94,452

(21,881) 0 (21,881) Less actual Central expenditure (28,799) 0 (28,799)

0 (91,619) (91,619) Less actual ISB deployed to schools 0 (75,340) (75,340)

(5,904) 691 (5,213) Carry forward to next year (10,448) 761 (9,687)

2016/17 2017/18

 

Page 90



 

 

58 
In Year Adjustments 2017/8: 
 

£

Early Years Jan 17 Census Adjustment 2016/17 (3&4 year old Universal Funding) (33)

Early Years Jan 17 Census Adjustment 2016/17 (2 Year old Disadvantaged Funding) 5

Early Years Jan 17 Census Adjustment 2016/17 (Early Years Pupil Premium Grant) (1)

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18 (3&4 year old Universal Funding) (317)

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18 (3&4 year old Additional 30 Hour Funding) 286

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18 (2  year old Disadvantaged Funding) (80)

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18  (Early Years Pupil Premium Grant) (17)

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18  (Supp.Funding for Maintained Nursery Schools) (30)

Estimated Early Years Jan 18 Census Adjustment 2017/18  (Disability Access Fund) (26)

Total Adjustment 2017/18 (213)

 
Note 17 Related Party Transactions 
 
A person or close family member is a related party of the Council if they have the potential to control 
or significantly influence the Council’s operating or financial decisions or are key management 
personnel. Close family member is more narrowly defined as a child, spouse or domestic partner, 
and children and dependants of spouses or domestic partners. 
 
Another body is a related party of the Council if it is a subsidiary, associate or joint venture of the 
Council or otherwise related, or has the ability to control or significantly influence the Council’s 
operating or financial decisions.  
 
The potential to control or significantly influence may come about due to member or management 
representation on other organisations, central government influence, relationships with other public 
bodies or assisted organisations to whom financial assistance is provided on terms which enable the 
Council to direct how the other party’s financial and operating policies should be administered and 
applied. The fact that a voluntary organisation might be economically dependent on the Council does 
not in itself create a related party relationship.   
 
Disclosure of related party transactions is made when material to either party to the extent that they 
are not disclosed elsewhere in the accounts. 
 
Joint Ventures and Associates  

(i) BDR Property Limited (formerly Arpley Gas Limited)  
 
With effect from 16 March 2008 Arpley Gas Ltd became BDR Property Ltd, a company set up under 
the Environment Protection Act 1990 by Rotherham, Barnsley and Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 
Councils and the Waste Recycling Group Ltd.  Waste Recycling Group was subsequently acquired 
by the FCC group in January 2014 with the company’s immediate parent being FCC Environment 
(UK) Limited. 
 
The company was set up for the purpose of carrying out waste disposal work and civic amenity site 
management. Its principal activity is management of the Thurcroft landfill site. It operates under a 
management agency agreement with FCC Recycling (UK) Limited.   
 
The share capital of the company is as follows: 
 
Authorised and fully paid up Share Capital   £1.850 million  
 
Council’s Shareholding: 
a) For voting purposes – the Company’s shares are divided into ‘A’ shares and ‘B’ Shares.  The 

1,998 ‘A’ shares comprise 20% of the total voting shares.  One third of these ‘A’ shares are 
held by the Council (666 shares costing £6.66).  Barnsley and Doncaster Metropolitan Borough 

Page 91



 

 

59 
Councils have similar share holdings, so that collectively the Councils hold 20% of the total 
voting shares.  These are non-equity shares. 

 
b) For dividend purposes – the Council holds 3.5% (63,421 shares) of the company’s £1 class ‘C’ 

shares – no voting rights are attached to these shares. 
 
c) For winding up purposes – the Council holds 12,500 £1 deferred shares which is one third of 

the total. These shares are ranked after the other 3 classes of shares (A, B and C) and 
payment will only be made should funds remain available for distribution after meeting the 
entitlements of the other groups  of shareholders.   No voting rights are attached to these 
shares.  

 
At the time of publication of this Statement, accounts for the company for the year ending 31 
December 2016 were available and the details are as follows: 
 

31 Dec 15 31 Dec 16

£000 £000

5 Turnover 131
(291) Profit / (Loss) before taxation 67
(291) Profit / (Loss) after taxation 67
4,619 Net Assets 4,686  

 
On 21 January 2016 the lease of the Thurcroft Landfill site was assigned to BDR property.  No 
contributions to running costs were made by Rotherham MBC to BDR Property Limited during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2018.  
 
 (iii) Groundwork Cresswell, Ashfield and Mansfield Trust 
 
Groundwork Cresswell, Ashfield and Mansfield Trust is a charity and a company limited by 
guarantee.  The members of the company, whose liability is limited to £1, are Amber Valley Borough 
Council, Ashfield District Council, Bolsover District Council, Derbyshire County Council, Mansfield 
District Council, Newark and Sherwood District Council, North East Derbyshire District Council, 
Nottinghamshire County Council, West Lindsay District Council, the Federation of Groundwork 
Trusts, and Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council. 

The company’s principal activities are the promotion of conservation, protection and improvement of 
the physical and natural environment, to provide facilities in the interests of social welfare and to 
advance public education. 

At the time of publication of this Statement, accounts for the company for the year ending 31 March 
2017 were available and the details are as follow: 
 

31 Mar 16 31 Mar 17

£0 £0

2,349 Turnover 1,408

(10) Surplus for the year (347)

1,292 Net Assets 946  
 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council’s made no contribution to the company during 2017/18 
(2016/17 nil). 
 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, Creswell Groundwork Trust provided no services to 
the Council (2016/17 nil) and incurred no charges from the Council (2016/17 nil). 
 
A copy of the accounts of the company may be obtained from Mr TM Witts, Worksop Turbine 
Innovation Centre Shireoaks Triangle Business Park, Worksop S81 8AP. 

Page 92



 

 

60 
(iv) Magna Trust  

Magna Trust is a company limited by guarantee.  The members of the company are Rotherham 
MBC, The Stadium Group and Rotherham Chamber of Commerce.  Its principal objects are to 
advance education of science and technology, provide facilities for recreational and other leisure time 
occupation for the public at large in the interests of social welfare, and, to preserve buildings of 
historical importance to British industry. 
  
At the time of publication of this Statement, accounts for the company for the year ending 29 March 
2017 were available and the details are as follows: 
 

29 Mar 16 29 Mar 17

£0 £0

2,027 Turnover 1,773

(961) (Deficit) for the year (996)

11,252 Net Assets 10,256  
 
 
During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the company provided services to the Council to the 
value of £61,375.54 (2016/17 £70,642.11).  Magna incurred charges from the Council of £256 
(2016/17 £1,988).  
 
A loan for £300,000 was issued to the Magna Trust in 2006/07 and of this £190,000 was still 
outstanding as at 31 March 2018.  The Council issued to Magna a short term loan of £250,000 during 
2014/15.  This was outstanding as at the 31 March 2018.  
 
The Council are currently in discussions with Magna regarding repayment of the outstanding 
balances. 
 
The Council meeting of 9 December 2015 confirmed the decision made by Commissioner Manzie of 
30 November 2015 to negotiate an agreed repayment plan with Magna on the 2 Council Loans.  This 
followed external assessment by PwC of Magna’s business plan.  The Council and Magna are in the 
process of agreeing a new combined loan agreement, covering both loans.   
 
A copy of the accounts can be obtained from Mr J Smith, Magna, Sheffield Road, Templeborough, 
Rotherham, S60 1DX. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

 

61 
Other   
 
The following table discloses material transactions between the Council and other related parties. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£ Related Parties Nature of Transactions £

Assisted Organisations:
24,151 Dinnington Resource Centre Fees 36,156

82,890 Full Life Christian Centre Grants & Fees 50,417

13,437 Get Sorted Academy of Music Fees 6,333

72,378 Rotherham Advocacy Partnerships Grants and Fees 53,838

35,616 Rotherham Ethnic Minority Alliance Ltd Fees 91,203

19,054 Tassibee Project Grants, Fees and Charges 6,741

6,489 United Multicultural Centre Ltd Fees 7,285

Member Related:
139,700 Rotherham and Barnsley Mind Grants and Fees 9,860

545,010 Rotherham Women’s Refuge Fees 293,119

91,208 Swinton Lock Activity Centre Grants and Fees 15,243

274,192 Voluntary Action Rotherham Grants and Fees 293,924

19,559 Turner Hire & Sales Ltd Fees and Charges 14,778

Commissioner Related:
116,043 Maltby Learning Trust Fees and Charges 60,314

Officer Related Organisations:
95,730 GROW Grants and Fees 65,612

29,698 Kiveton Park Independent Advice Grants and Fees 29,698

248,560 Morthyng Group Ltd Fees and Charges 284,164

Other Related Organisations:
         11,521,000 Sheffield City Region Combined Authority Transport Levy 10,905,000

237,006 Sheffield City Region Combined Authority Contribution 309,460  
 
Note 18 Pensions 
 
The Council participates in three separate pension schemes relating to: Teachers, Local Government 
employees and staff performing Public Health Functions who transferred to the Council on 1 April 
2016.  All three schemes require contributions from both the employer and the employee, and 
provide members with benefits calculated by reference to pay levels and length of service. 
 
(a) Teachers 

Teachers employed by the Council are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by 
the Teachers’ Pension Agency (TPA).  It provides teachers with defined benefits upon their 
retirement, and the Council contributes towards the costs by making contributions based on a 
percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. Scheme benefits are underwritten by the Government.  
Since April 2015 the Teacher’s Pension Scheme has been a career average scheme rather than a 
final salary scheme with a normal retirement age the same as that for the state pension. 
 
Although the scheme is unfunded, the TPA uses a notional fund as the basis for calculating the 
employer’s contribution rate paid by Local Education Authorities (LEAs).  However it is not possible 
for the Council to identify a share of the underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable to its own 
employees.  For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts it is therefore accounted for on the same 
basis as a defined contribution scheme.  
 
During 2017/18 the Council paid employer’s contributions calculated at 16.48%, amounting in total to 
£5.336m (2016/17 £6.518m).  Contributions have reduced due to a number of schools converting to 
academies during 2017/18.  The total of contributions expected to be made to the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme by the Council in the year to 31 March 2019 is £3.5m.   
 

Page 94



 

 

62 
The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) carried out an actuarial valuation of the scheme as at 
31 March 2012. It showed there to be an overall deficit against the notional fund of £15bn compared 
to a deficit of £1.8bn at the time of the last actuarial valuation at 31 March 2004. 
 
The GAD has determined that the employers’ contribution over the 4 years commencing 2015/16 
should be 16.48%. The rate of 16.48% comprises 5.6% to recover the projected deficit at 31 March 
2015 over a 15 year period and 10.8% to meet the ongoing benefits accrued by members under the 
new scheme from 1 April 2015 onwards and 0.08% administration. This has been capped at 10.9% 
over the years commencing 2015/16. Members will be expected to pay an average contribution of 
9.6%.  The current employer contribution rate will be payable until the outcome of the next valuation 
is implemented, which is expected to be April 2019.    
 
(b) Public Health Staff 

Under the provisions of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Public Health functions and the staff 
performing these duties were transferred from the National Health Service to Local Authorities on 1 
April 2013.  The majority of staff transferring have the eligibility to continue membership of the 
National Health Service Pension Scheme (NHSPS).  
 
The NHSPS is an unfunded scheme operated on a “pay as you go” basis which provides defined 
benefits to its members. The NHS Business service (NHSBS) which administers the scheme uses a 
notional fund as a basis for calculating the employer’s contribution rate paid by Local Authorities. 
However, it is not possible for the Council to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
relating to the scheme and it is therefore accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme 
with the amount charged to revenue being the employer contributions payable in the year.  Employee 
contributions in 2017/18 are tiered from 5% to 14.5% based on salary. 
 
During 2017/18 the Council paid employer’s contributions calculated at 14.3% amounting in total to 
£0.086m (£0.116m 2016/17).  
 
A new NHS Pension Scheme came into effect in April 2015, the main features of the new scheme are 
that it is a career average scheme rather than a final salary scheme and the normal retirement age is 
now the same as that for the State Pension.  
 
An actuarial valuation of the NHS Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2012 to replace 
the previous actuarial valuation at 31 March 2004. The primary purpose of the 2012 actuarial 
valuation was to set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2015 under the new NHS 
Pension scheme. This determined that employee contribution rates continue to be tiered from 5% to 
14.5% based on salary over the 4 years commencing 2015/16 and employer contributions at 14.3% 
over the same period.   
 
In March 2017 the Department of Health announced that a levy of 0.08% on employers would be 
introduced to pay for the administration of the NHS Pension scheme meaning that employers would 
pay 14.38% of pensionable pay – in light of this the total contributions expected to be made to the 
new NHS Pension Scheme by the Council in the year to 31 March 2019 is £0.058m.  
 
(c) Other Local Government Employees 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the Council 
offers retirement benefits through its participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme, 
administered by the South Yorkshire Pensions Authority.  Although these benefits will not actually be 
payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments and this needs 
to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
The Council is able to identify a share of the underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable to its own 
employees and accordingly accounts for post-employment benefits as a defined benefit scheme in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS19.  Consequently, the Council recognises the cost of 
retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by employees, rather than when 
the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  However, the charge the Council is required to make 
against Council Tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the IAS 19 cost of retirement 
benefits is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement and replaced by the actual 
contributions payable in the year. The IAS 19 figures provided by the actuary in respect of 2017/18 
make allowance for the reduction in liabilities falling on the Council as a result of schools acquiring 
academy status during the year which are shown as gains / losses on settlements.     
 

Page 95



 

 

63 
During the year the Council paid employer’s superannuation contributions calculated at 14.9% 
amounting to £16.529m (2016/17 £14.759m at 12.9%) and made a prepayment of £21.802m in 
relation to past service deficit for the 3 years 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 of which £7.272m relates 
to 2017/18. 
 
Total ongoing contributions of £16.1m are expected to be made to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme by the Council in the year to 31 March 2019 based on an ongoing service contribution rate 
of 14.9%. 
 
The contribution rates take account of changes to the Local Government Pensions Scheme which 
came into effect from April 2014. The main changes were the introduction of a career average 
scheme rather than a final salary scheme and a “50:50 Scheme Option” whereby members can elect 
to accrue 50% of the full scheme benefits and pay 50% of the normal member contribution for a 
period of up to 3 years. 
 
They also reflect the most recent triennial actuarial valuation in March 2016 which the South 
Yorkshire Pensions Authority, on behalf of its member Authorities, commissioned from the actuary, 
Mercer Human Resource Consulting Ltd. This showed an improvement in the fund’s position with the 
Council’s share of the Fund deficit on the scheme reducing from £181 million at the previous actuarial 
valuation in 2013 to £129 million in March 2016 (with the funding level improving from 82% to 88% of 
scheme liabilities).  
 
The funding plan, in accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS), is to make good the 
shortfall and achieve a funding level of 100% by 31 March 2036.  In order to make good the funding 
deficit the Council has made and will continue to make contributions towards recovering Rotherham’s 
share of the deficit on the pensions fund.  The deficit recovery contribution in 2017/18 was £7.3m 
which was included in the lump sum prepayment of £21.8m paid April 2017 and covering the 3 
financial years 2017/18 to 2019/20. 
 
The funding level of the Pensions Fund is subject to a range of potentially material risks. The impact 
of small changes to key assumptions (inflation, pay awards, life expectancy, discounting of future 
pension liabilities) is set out in the sensitivity analysis later in this note.  In assessing the potential 
level of liabilities the funds actuary has estimated the weighted average maturity profile of the defined 
benefit obligation to be 19 years. 
 
The Pensions Authority invests the funds held by the scheme with the aim of achieving a return on 
these funds to pay the benefits due. If actual investment returns do not in future match the 
assumptions then the value of the assets will be lower and a funding shortfall could arise.  To 
address this South Yorkshire Pensions Authority has processes in place to monitor investment 
performance and the actuaries produce an annual review of the fund’s performance including a 
comparison to other local Council funds.  The Pension Fund’s investment strategy is reviewed 
alongside each triennial valuation.  
 
In the event that an employer is unable to pay contributions or make good deficits, the Pension 
Authority’s focus is to ensure as far as possible that any liability can be recovered should an 
employer exit the Pension Fund. Where a Council acts as guarantor for an employer that defaults the 
Council is responsible for meeting the liability, otherwise it falls on all employers in the Fund in 
relation to their size. Rotherham Council does not act as guarantor for other employers.  Council 
contractors with access to the LGPS are required to have bonds in place (which are subject to 
regular review) to cover unpaid liabilities should their business fail before the end of their contract 
with the Council. In addition, contractors’ contributions are subject to smoothing arrangements which 
are intended to ensure that they are fully funded by the end of the contract period.   
 
An exception to this is regulation 64 of the Local Government Pensions Regulations which require, in 
some circumstances, that the Council makes Exit Payments in respect of employers leaving the 
Fund.  
 
Further information in relation to the Local Government Superannuation Scheme can be found in the 
South Yorkshire Pension Fund Annual Report which is available upon request from the 
Superannuation Manager, South Yorkshire Joint Secretariat, Regent Street, Barnsley 
 

Page 96



 

 

64 
Transactions relating to Post-employment Benefits 
 
The amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement in relation to post 
retirement benefit costs under IAS 19 are shown in the table below.  It also shows the adjustment 
made through the Movement in Reserves Statement to bring the amount charged to the General 
Fund back to the employer contributions payable to the LGPS during the year.   
 

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net Cost of Services

(25,315) 0 - Current Service Cost (36,008) 0

(1,206) 0 - Past Service (944) 0

17,897 0 - Gain / (loss) from settlements 9,185 0
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

(11,442) (730) - Net Interest Expense (11,004) (572)

(20,066) (730)
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provisions of Service (38,771) (572)

Other Post-employment Benefits charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:

20,433 (64) - Experience gain / (loss) on liabilities 0 0

163,661 0
- Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the 
net interest expense) 15,285 0

10,153 98
- Actuarial gains and (losses) arising on changes in 
demographic assumptions 0 0

(337,125) (3,211)
- Actuarial gains and (losses) arising on changes to financial 
assumptions 78,327 242

(142,878) (3,177)
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 93,612 242

Movement in Reserves Statement

(6,195) (619)

- Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services for Post-employment benefits in 
accordance with the code 12,983 (749)

Actual amount charged against General Fund:

Balance for pensions in year:

(26,261) 0 - Employer’s contributions payable to Scheme (25,788) 0

0 (1,349) - Rechargeable Pensions 0 (1,321)

 
The unfunded liabilities represent Compensatory Added Years’ benefits which are not a liability of the 
LGPS and are therefore recharged to the employer. They have been included in the liabilities figure 
for the purpose of IAS 19 calculations, as unfunded discretionary benefits arrangements. 
 
Net interest expense above includes £0.443m Administrative expenses in relation to investments 
during 2017/18 (2016/17 £0.461m).  
 
In addition to the recognised gains and losses included in the CIES in arriving at the surplus / deficit 
on services, actuarial gain of £93.612m (£142.878m loss in 2016/17), has been included in other 
comprehensive income and expenditure in the CIES. 
 
 

Page 97



 

 

65 
Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised on the Balance Sheet 
 
The amount included in the balance sheet from the Council’s obligation in respect of its defined 
benefit plans is as follows: 
 

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

Fair Value of Scheme Assets 1,103,208 1,151,589

Present value of Funded Liabilities (1,546,418) (1,500,630)

Net (under) funding in Funded Plans (443,210) (349,041)

Present Value of Unfunded Discretionary Liabilities (23,504) (22,513)

Per Mercers Report (466,714) (371,554)

Amount in the Balance sheet:

Liabilities - funded and unfunded (1,569,922) (1,523,143)

Assets - funded and unfunded 1,103,208 1,151,589

Add back Employer Contributions Prepayment for 2016/17 0 (14,531)

Pensions Reserve (466,714) (386,085)

Pensions Liability (466,714) (371,554)

 
 
Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 
 

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

927,244 0 Fair Value of Plan Assets at beginning of period 1,103,208 0

33,045 0 Interest on plan assets 28,123 0

Remeasurement gain / (loss):

163,661 0
- The return on plan assets, excluding the amount 
included in interest expense 15,285 0

(461) 0 - Administrative expenses (443) 0

(7,245) 0 - Settlements (3,525) 0

16,522 1,349 - Employer contributions 25,788 1,321

0 0 - Prepayment Employer Contributions for  2018/19 & 
19/20 14,531 0

7,261 0 - Member contributions 7,120 0

(36,819) (1,349) - Benefits/transfers paid (38,498) (1,321)

1,103,208 0 Fair Value of Scheme Assets at end of period 1,151,589 0

 
 
 
 

Page 98



 

 

66 
Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 
 

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Unfunded 
Discretionary 

Benefits 
Arrangements 

(included in 
Total)

2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

(1,247,536) (20,946) Benefit Obligation at beginning of period (1,569,922) (23,504)

(25,315) 0 Current Service Cost (36,008) 0

(44,026) (730) Interest Cost (38,684) (572)

(7,261) 0 Member Contributions (7,120) 0

Remeasurement gains and (losses):

20,433 (64) - Experience gain / (loss) 0 0

10,153 98
- Actuarial Gain / (loss) arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions 0 0

(337,125) (3,211)
- Actuarial Gain / (loss) arising from changes in 
financial assumptions 78,327 242

(46) 0 - Past Service Cost 0 0

(1,160) 0 - (Loss) / gain on Curtailments (944) 0

25,142 0 - Liabilities extinguished on Settlements 12,710 0

36,819 1,349 - Benefits/Transfers paid 38,498 1,321

(1,569,922) (23,504) Benefit Obligation at end of period (1,523,143) (22,513)

Analysis of the Fair Value of Plan Assets: 
 

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

Total Funded & 
Unfunded Local 

Government 
Pension 
Scheme

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

Quoted (Y/N) £000 £000

Cash & cash equivalents: 17,431 55,737
Equity Investments:
- UK quoted Y 197,585 171,242
- Overseas quoted Y 474,931 472,151
Bonds:
- UK Government fixed Y 0 0
- UK Government indexed Y 127,310 130,590
- Overseas Government fixed Y 30,007 29,711
 - Overseas other Y 19,747 30,517
- UK other Y 48,872 54,470
Property:
- UK direct Y 89,250 91,321
-Property Funds Y 14,121 13,934
Alternatvies:
- Pooled Investment Vehicles N 83,954 101,916

1,103,208 1,151,589

 
The above asset values are at bid value as required by IAS19. 

Page 99



 

 

67 
Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 
 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis discounted to present value terms using the 
projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rate, salary levels, etc.  The Council Fund liabilities have been assessed 
by Mercer Human Resources Ltd, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the Council Fund 
being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2018. 
 
The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

Local 
Government 

Pension 
Scheme

Discretionary 
Benefits

Local 
Government 

Pension 
Scheme

Discretionary 
Benefits

2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18

Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:

22.9 years 22.9 years Men 23 years 23 years

25.7 years 25.7 years Women 25.8 years 25.8 years

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:

25.1 years 25.1 years Men (in 20 years time) 25.2 years 25.2 years

28 years 28 years Women (in 20 years time) 28.1 years 28.1 years

2.3% 2.3% Rate of CPI inflation 2.1% 2.1%

3.55% - Rate of increase in salaries 3.35% -

2.3% 2.3% Rate of increase in pensions 2.2% 2.2%

2.6% 2.6% Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.6% 2.6%

 
Assets in the South Yorkshire Pension Fund are valued at fair value, which in line with the 
requirement of the Code is principally realisable or bid value for investments, and consist of the 
following categories, by proportion of the total assets held by the Fund. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are longevity, rate of 
inflation, expected salary increase and discount rate.  The sensitivity analysis below indicates the 
effect on the defined benefit obligation of changes to these assumptions. 

 If there were to be one year increase in the life expectancy for both men and women, the 
defined benefit obligation would increase by £29.8m if all other assumptions were held 
constant. 

 If the rate of inflation were to be 0.1% higher, the defined benefit obligation would increase by 
£27.9m if all other assumptions were held constant. 

 If the expected salary growth were to be 0.1% higher, the defined benefit obligation would 
increase by £4m if all other assumptions were held constant. 

 If the discount rate used to discount future pension liabilities were to be 0.1% higher, the 
defined benefit obligation would decrease by £27m if all other assumptions were held 
constant. 

 
In reality interrelationships exist between some of these assumptions, especially between discount 
rate and expected salary increases that both depend to a certain extent on expected inflation rates.  
The analysis above does not take account of any interdependence between the assumptions. 

Page 100



 

 

68 
Note 19 Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

2016/17 C
ouncil 

D
w

ellings

O
ther Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant & 

Equipm
ent

Infrastructure 
Assets

C
om

m
unity 

Assets

PP&E U
nder 

C
onstruction

Surplus 
Assets

Total PP&E

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 Apr 16 515,883 369,242 57,237 174,306 6,823 17,458 20,014 1,160,963

Additions 23,238 3,309 3,033 9,229 4 7,110 1,974 47,897
Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment written out to gross 
cost/valuation (50,918) (12,943) 0 0 0 0 (43) (63,904)
Revaluation increases/decreases to 
Revaluation Reserve 54,788 9,299 0 0 0 0 1,688 65,775

Revaluation increases/decreases to 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 119,100 1,637 0 0 0 0 166 120,903
Derecognition - Disposals (5,013) (44,200) (3,506) 0 (7) 0 (1,625) (54,351)

Derecognition - Other 0 (393) (33) 0 0 0 0 (426)

Reclassified to/from Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,019) (1,019)
Reclassified to/from Investment 
Properties 0 0 0 0 0 (220) (875) (1,095)
Other Movements in cost valuation as 
restated 2,873 (110) 0 2,397 1,392 (6,987) 415 (20)

At 31 Mar 17 659,951 325,841 56,731 185,932 8,212 17,361 20,695 1,274,723

Depreciation and Impairment

At 1 Apr 16 (33,770) (42,523) (31,556) (37,809) (6,435) 1 (1,513) (153,605)

Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment written out to gross 
cost/valuation 50,918 12,943 0 0 0 0 43 63,904
Depreciation Charge (32,796) (8,212) (5,052) (4,015) (3) 0 (45) (50,123)
Impairment losses/reversals to 
Revaluation Reserve (3,027) (1,719) 0 0 0 0 (56) (4,802)

Impairment losses/reversals to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services (13,675) (1,580) (205) (541) (838) (1) (1,437) (18,277)
Derecognition - Disposals 79 2,742 1,101 0 0 0 18 3,940

Derecognition - Other 0 20 8 0 0 0 0 28

Reclassification to / from Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 12

Reclassified to/from Investment 
Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other movements in depreciation and 
impairment - as restated (18) 18 0 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 Mar 17 (32,289) (38,311) (35,704) (42,365) (7,277) 0 (2,978) (158,924)

Net Book Value

At 31 Mar 17 627,662 287,530 21,027 143,567 935 17,361 17,717 1,115,799

At 31 Mar 16 482,113 326,719 25,682 136,497 387 17,459 18,501 1,007,358

 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 

69 
 

2017/18 C
ouncil 

D
w

ellings

O
ther Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant & 

Equipm
ent

Infrastructure 
Assets

C
om

m
unity 

Assets

PP&E U
nder 

C
onstruction

Surplus 
Assets

Total PP&E

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 Apr 17 659,951 325,841 56,731 185,932 8,212 17,361 20,695 1,274,723

Additions 18,880 4,436 2,961 9,467 183 9,643 366 45,937
Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment written out to gross 
cost/valuation (33,566) (8,982) 0 0 0 0 (1,500) (44,048)
Revaluation increases/decreases to 
Revaluation Reserve 7,074 30,312 0 0 0 0 679 38,066
Revaluation increases/decreases to 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 1,060 7,294 0 0 0 0 (136) 8,217
Derecognition - Disposals (6,751) (44,004) (3,261) 0 0 0 (865) (54,880)

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassified to/from Held for Sale (10) 0 0 0 0 0 49 39
Reclassified to/from Investment 
Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other Movements in cost valuation 1,174 279 2,062 4,898 2 (9,097) (136) (818)

At 31 Mar 18 647,811 315,178 58,494 200,297 8,397 17,907 19,153 1,267,235

Depreciation and Impairment

At 1 Apr 17 (32,289) (38,311) (35,704) (42,365) (7,277) 0 (2,978) (158,924)

Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment written out to gross 
cost/valuation 33,566 8,982 0 0 0 0 1,500 44,048
Depreciation Charge (16,803) (8,727) (4,357) (4,333) (3) 0 (5) (34,229)
Impairment losses/reversals to 
Revaluation Reserve (3,170) (1,389) 0 0 0 0 (7) (4,564)

Impairment losses/reversals to Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services (11,154) (1,102) (1,109) (791) (185) (6) (344) (14,692)
Derecognition - Disposals 124 2,090 1,458 0 0 0 6 3,678

Derecognition - Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassification to / from Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified to/from Investment 
Properties 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other movements in depreciation and 
impairment (9) 9 0 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 Mar 18 (29,733) (38,447) (39,713) (47,488) (7,465) (6) (1,829) (164,683)

Net Book Value

At 31 Mar 18 618,078 276,731 18,781 152,809 932 17,900 17,324 1,102,552

At 31 Mar 17 627,662 287,530 21,027 143,567 935 17,361 17,717 1,115,799

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 

 

70 
(a) Carrying Value of PFI Assets 
Included within Property, Plant and Equipment are PFI assets with the following carrying value: 

2016/17 2017/18

Cost or Valuation:

72,887 At 1 April 71,324

(1,802) Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment written out to gross cost/valuation (649)

767 Additions 284

(89) Revaluation Increases / (Decreases) taken to Revaluation Reserve 9,676

(47)
Revaluation Increases / (Decreases) taken to (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 546

(392) Derecognition - Disposals (23,587)

71,324 Cost or Valuation at 31 March 57,594

Depreciation & Impairment:

4,889 At 1 April 5,471

(1,802) Adjustments between cost / value & depreciation/impairment (650)

2,073 Depreciation Charge 1,826

0 Depreciation written out on Revaluation  Reserve 0

0
Depreciation written out on Revaluation taken to (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 0

26 Impairment Losses Recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 87

304 Impairment Losses taken to (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 184

(19) Derecognitions - Disposals (1,683)

5,471 Depreciation and impairment at 31 March 5,235

Net Book Value

65,853 At 31 March 52,359

2016/17 2017/18

62,053 Land and buildings 49,834

3,800 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment 2,525

0 Assets under Construction 0

65,853 Total 52,359

£000 £000

£000 £000

 
 
 
b) Effects of change in estimates  
There were no material changes in accounting estimates during the financial year. 
 
c) Valuations  

Capital assets are revalued on the basis of a five year rolling programme in accordance with RICS 
Guidance, and in the case of council dwellings in accordance with revised guidance on housing stock 
valuations. In 2017/18 the assets were revalued by Jonathan R Marriott BSc(Hons), MRICS, Principal 
Estates Surveyor, acting as Internal Valuer within the Council's Regeneration and Environment 
Services.  The Statement of Accounting Policies provides further information on revaluation and 
depreciation policies.    The table below provides an analysis between the carrying value of assets 
carried in the balance sheet at historical cost and those carried in the balance sheet at fair value 
together with, in the case of the latter, when assets were revalued. 
 

Page 103



 

 

71 
d) Revaluations and Impairment 

In 2017/18 a net valuation decrease of £7.488m has been recognised in the CIES. Contained within 
the net figure is £19.298m relating to capital expenditure which did not enhance asset carrying 
values.  This was offset in part by an increase in the value of the Council’s school buildings of 
(£4.623m) and an increase of (£2.671m) on other properties. 
 C

ouncil 
D

w
ellings

O
ther Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, Plant 
& Equipm

ent 

Infrastructure 
Assets

C
om

m
unity 

Assets

Surplus Assets

Assets U
nder 

C
onstruction

Total

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Carried at historical cost 2,477 39,385 58,492 200,299 7,004 1,470 17,907 327,033

Valued at fair value as at:

31 Mar 18 645,335 71,944 0 0 0 15,814 0 733,092
31 Mar 17 0 61,811 0 0 2 1,869 0 63,682
31 Mar 15 0 83,729 0 0 1,390 0 0 85,119
31 Mar 14 0 27,827 0 0 0 0 0 27,827
31 Mar 13 0 30,480 0 0 0 0 0 30,480

Total Cost or Valuation 647,812 315,176 58,492 200,299 8,396 19,153 17,907 1,267,234
 

 
e) Capital commitments  

At 31 March 2018 the Council has entered into a number of contracts for the construction or 
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2017/18. The Council had significant commitments 
of £1 million or more budgeted to cost £40.505m (£24.508m at 31 March 2017). 
 

Cost

£000

Neighbourhood and Adult Services:

   Refurbishment of Dwellings 17,941

   New Build 21,519

Regeneration & Environment

Street Lighting 1,045

Total 40,505
 

 
The projects above are included in the Council’s Medium Term Capital Programme and appropriate 
funding has been committed. 
 
f) Fair Value Hierarchy – Surplus Assets 

Following the implementation of IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, in 2016/17 the Council’s surplus 
assets were revalued to fair value as at 31 March 2017. The Council uses appropriate valuation 
techniques for each circumstance and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of 
relevant known data (‘observable inputs’) and minimising the use of estimates or unknowns 
(‘unobservable inputs’).  
 

Page 104



 

 

72 
Details of the Council’s Surplus Assets and their fair value hierarchy, taking into account the three 
levels of categories for inputs to valuations, are as follows: 
 

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

 Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets 

 Other significant 
observable inputs 

 Significant 
unobservable inputs 

 Fair value as at 31 
March 2018 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£000 £000 £000 £000

Land and Buildings 85 17,241 0 17,326

Total 85 17,241 0 17,326

 
2016/17 Comparative figures 

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

 Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets 

 Other significant 
observable inputs 

 Significant 
unobservable inputs 

 Fair value as at 31 
March 2017 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£000 £000 £000 £000

Land and Buildings 0 17,718 0 17,718

Total 0 17,718 0 17,718

 
Transfers between Levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy 

There were no transfers between levels during the year. 
 
Valuation Techniques used to determine Fair Values for Surplus Assets 

The fair value for the surplus assets of £17.326m (£17.718m as at 31 March 2017) has been based 
on the market approach using current market evidence including recent sale prices and rentals 
achieved and other relevant information for similar assets within the local authority area. Market 
conditions are such that similar properties have actively sold or let and the level of observable inputs 
are significant leading to properties being categorized at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Note 20 Investment Property 
 
Income and expenditure from investment property included within Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure (Note 5) was as follows: 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(1,501) Rental income from investment property (1,528)

485 Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 488

(1,016) Net income (1,040)

2,441 Net (surplus) from fair value adjustments 2,224

840 Loss on disposal (15)

2,265 Total included in Finance & Investment Income 1,169

 

Page 105



 

 

73 
The following table summarised the movement in fair value of investment properties over the year: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

32,152 Balance at 1 April 29,970

5 Subsequent expenditure 107

(840) Disposals (25)

(2,441) Net  gain from fair value adjustments (2,224)

0 Net gain / (loss) through Revaluation Reserve 0

1,094 Transfers from Property, Plant & Equipment 0

29,970 Balance 31 March 27,827

 
There are no restrictions on the Council's ability to realise the value inherent in its investment 
property or the Council's right to the remittance of income and the proceeds of disposal. 
 
The Council has no major contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment 
property or for repairs, maintenance or enhancement. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
 
To conform with the requirements of IFRS 13, Fair Value measurement, the Council’s investment 
properties have been revalued to fair value. The Council uses appropriate valuation techniques 
maximising the use of ‘observable inputs’ and minimising the use of ‘unobservable inputs’. The fair 
value hierarchy for investment properties takes into account the three levels of categories for inputs 
to valuations for fair value assets, as follows: 
 

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

 Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets 

 Other significant 
observable inputs 

 Significant 
unobservable inputs 

 Fair value as at 31 
March 2018 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£000 £000 £000 £000

Land and Buildings 0 27,827 0 27,827

Total 0 27,827 0 27,827

 
2016/17 Comparative figures 
 

Recurring fair value 
measurements using:

 Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets 

 Other significant 
observable inputs 

 Significant 
unobservable inputs 

 Fair value as at 31 
March 2017 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£000 £000 £000 £000

Land and Buildings 0 29,970 0 29,970

Total 0 29,970 0 29,970

 
Transfers between levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy  
 
There were no transfers between levels during the year. 
 
Valuation techniques used to determine Fair Values for Investment Properties 
 
The fair value of investment property of £27.827m (£29.970m as at 31 March 2017) has been 
measured using a market approach, which takes into account quoted prices for similar assets in 
active markets, existing lease terms and rentals, research into market evidence including market 
rentals and yields, the covenant strength for existing tenants, and data and market knowledge gained 
in managing the Council’s investment property portfolio. The underlying market conditions are such 
that similar properties are actively purchased and sold with a significant level of observable inputs. 
This has resulted in the Council’s investment properties being categorised as level 2 on the fair value 
hierarchy. 

Page 106



 

 

74 
 
Highest and Best Use of Investment Properties 
 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s investment properties, the highest and best use of the 
properties is deemed to be their current use. 
 
Valuation Techniques 
 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for investment 
properties. 
 
Valuation Process for Investment Properties 
 
The investment property portfolio has been valued at 31 March 2018 in accordance with the 
methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution 
for Chartered Surveyors. The assets were valued by Jonathan R Marriott BSc(Hons), MRICS, 
Principal Estates Surveyor, acting as Internal Valuer within the Council's Regeneration and 
Environment Services.  
 
Note 21 Intangible Assets 
 
The Council has purchased software licences that it accounts for as intangible assets, the licences 
are valued at cost.  The Council has no internally generated intangible assets. The software licences 
have a finite useful life of 3 years during which period they are being amortised using the straight line 
method.  
 

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April:

5,693  - Gross carrying amount 6,011

(3,135)  - Accumulated amortisation (3,947)

2,558 Net carrying amount at 1 April 2,064
Additions:

298 - Purchases 244

20 - Reclassified from PP&E under Construction 818

(812) Amortisation (549)

2,064 Net carrying amount at 31 March 2,577

Comprising:

6,011 Gross carrying amounts 7,073

(3,947) Accumulated amortisation (4,496)

2,064 Balance at 31 March 2,577

 

Page 107



 

 

75 
Note 22 Assets Held for Sale   

2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 629 1,015 0 0

Assets newly classified as held for sale:

  -  Property, Plant and Equipment 1,006 10 0 0

  -  Revaluation losses (193) (402) 0 0

  -  Revaluation gain 0 134 0 0

Assets declassified as held for sale:

  -  Reclassified to Property, Plant and Equipment 0 (49) 0 0

  -  Assets sold (427) (60) 0 0

Balance at 31 March 1,015 649 0 0

Assets Held for Sale-Current Assets Held for Sale-Non-
current

 
 
Note 23 Heritage Assets  
 
Nature and scale of heritage assets held by the Council: 
 
Museum Exhibit 
 
The Museum Exhibit collections hold over 90,000 items. Approximately 10% of these are on display 
at Clifton Park Museum in Rotherham. The remainder are held in off-site locations within the 
Borough. Access to the collections can be obtained during the main museum opening times. The 
collections can be divided into the following main categories: 

a) Social & Industrial History (around 11,000 items) - Contains objects and ephemera illustrating 
themes of domestic, personal and community life within the Borough from 1660 to the 
present day.  

b) Archaeology (around 36,000 items) - Includes large collections excavated from the Roman 
Fort at Templeborough, Roche Abbey and Jesus College (Rotherham). 

c) World Cultures (around 300 items) - Consists of objects originating from Africa, Asia, the 
Americas and Oceania. In 1981 the collection was transferred on loan to Leeds Museum. 

d) Numismatics & Philately (over 3,000 items) - Includes items dating from the 4th century BC to 
the 20th century AD.  

e) Fine Art (around 3,000 items) - Consists of oil paintings, water-colours, prints and a good 
collection of sculpture items. 

f) Decorative Art (around 5,500 items) - Predominated by ceramic items including a large 
collection from Yorkshire potteries, the most significant being items from the Swinton 
Pottery/Rockingham Works.  

g) Natural Sciences (over 30,000 items) – Including botanical and geological specimens from 
Yorkshire and Great Britain. 

These assets are carried at valuation, using the insurance valuation as a proxy for market value or 
the sale of similar items as a basis, with the exception of the addition in 2012/13 which is currently 
shown at cost. The last valuation for insurance purposes was carried out in 2012/13. 

Civic Regalia & Plate 

The Council’s collection of Civic Regalia includes the Mayor and Mayoress’ Chain of Office, the 
Diamond Pendant, the Mace and the Empire Cup. The chains and pendants are held in a safe in the 
Town Hall until required for civic ceremonies whilst all other items are kept in display cases and can 
be seen as part of a tour of the building.  

These assets are carried at valuation rather than cost, using the insurance valuation as a proxy for 
market value. The last valuation for insurance purposes was carried out in 2012/13. 

Page 108



 

 

76 
Archives 

The Council holds over 900 archive collections in secure, environmentally controlled, strong rooms 
and a secure, environmentally monitored store at Bailey House. These documents cover the history 
of the whole of Rotherham Borough from 1328 to the present day. The collection includes local 
Council materials, maps, plans, title deeds and family records. Access to the documents can be 
obtained by contacting the Archives and Local Studies Service. 

These assets are carried at valuation rather than cost, using the insurance valuation as a proxy for 
market value. The last valuation for insurance purposes was carried out in 2012/13. 

Historic Buildings 
 
Two historic buildings are in the ownership of the Council: Keppel’s Column, a 35.5 metre high free 
standing Tuscan order column listed grade II, and Catcliffe Glassworks Cone a listed grade I conical 
structure dating from 1740, the earliest surviving example of its type in Western Europe. These 
buildings are closed to the public on safety grounds.  
 
These assets are carried at valuation rather than cost, both of them being  valued on the 1 April 2012 
by Jonathan R Marriott BSc(Hons), MRICS, Principal Estates Surveyor, acting as Internal Valuer. 
Both were regarded as having nil value as they are listed building with restrictions on their disposal, 
which gives them no commercial value.  

Council policies for the acquisition, preservation, management and disposal of heritage assets 
 
The Council’s policies are contained in the “Collections Management policy” and the “Acquisition and 
Disposals policy”, both of which are available on request from Heritage Services. 
 
Heritage Assets Values 
 
The table below provides an analysis between the carrying value of assets carried in the balance 
sheet at historical cost and those carried at fair value. 
 
It is not practicable to present additions for years prior to 2010/11 as detailed information is not 
available. 
 

Museum Exhibits 
held at valuation

Civic Regalia & 
Plate held at 

valuation
Archives held at 

valuation Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

1 Apr 17 4,948 1,746 258 6,952

Additions 15 0 0 15

Revaluation increases/decreases to 
Revaluation Reserve 3 0 0 3

31 Mar 18 4,966 1,746 258 6,970

31 Mar 17 4,948 1,746 258 6,952

 
Disposal of Heritage Assets in 2017/18 
 
There have been no Heritage Asset disposals in 2017/18. 
 
Additions of Heritage Assets in 2017/18 
 
The Council has received a donated asset with a fair value £0.015m during the financial year 
2017/18. 
 

Page 109



 

 

77 
 
Note 24 Financial Instruments – Balances 
 
The borrowings and investments disclosed in the Balance Sheet are made up of the following 
categories of financial instruments: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18 31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities (principal amount) (447,008) (419,702) (52,299) (145,306)

Plus Accrued Interest 0 0 (3,778) (3,632)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (447,008) (419,702) (56,077) (148,938)

Total Borrowings (447,008) (419,702) (56,077) (148,938)

Loans and receivables (principal amount) 0 0 34 34

Plus(+)/Less(-) Other accounting adjustments 0 0 0 0

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 0 0 34 34

Unquoted equity investments at cost 190 190 0 0

Total Investments 190 190 34 34

Long Term Short Term

 
No financial instruments have been reclassified during the year.  The Council also did not transfer 
any financial assets which have not been derecognised or retained a continuing involvement in a 
transferred asset. 
 
Note 25 Financial Instruments – Risk 
 
The Council’s activities necessarily expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are: 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council; 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments;  

 Re-financing risk – the possibility that the Council might have to renew a financial instrument on 
maturity at less advantageous interest rates or terms. 

 Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes in 
such measures as interest rates movements. 

Overall Procedures for Managing Risk 

The Council’s overall risk management procedures focus on the uncertainties of financial markets, 
and implementing restrictions to minimise these risks.  The procedures for risk management are set 
out in the Local Government Act 2003 and the associated regulations.  These require the Council to 
comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services 
Code of Practice and Investment Guidance issued through the Act.  Overall these procedures require 
the Council to manage risk in the following ways: 

 by formally adopting the requirements of the Code of Practice; 

 by approving annually in advance prudential indicators for the following three years, limiting: 

 The Council’s overall borrowing; 

 Its maximum and minimum exposures to fixed and variable rates; 

 Its maximum and minimum exposures the maturity structure of its debt; 

 Its maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year. 

 by approving an investment strategy for the forthcoming year setting out its criteria for both 
investing and selecting investment counterparties in compliance with the Government Guidance. 

Page 110



 

 

78 
These are required to be reported and approved at the Council’s annual Council Tax and Budget 
setting meeting.  These items are reported with the annual treasury management strategy which 
outlines the detailed approach to managing risk in relation to the Council’s financial instrument 
exposure.  Actual performance is also reported semi-annually to Members. 

These policies are implemented by a central treasury team.  The Council maintains written 
procedures for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as 
interest rate risk, credit risk, and the investment of surplus cash through Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs).  These TMPs are a requirement of the Code of Practice and are reviewed 
regularly. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
the Council’s customers. 

This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not 
made with financial institutions unless they meet minimum credit criteria.  The Annual Investment 
Strategy also considers maximum amounts and time limits in respect of each financial institution.  
Details of the Investment Strategy can be found on the Council’s website.  

The following analysis summarises the Council’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk, based on 
experience of default assessed by the ratings agencies and the Council’s experience of its customer 
collection levels, adjusted to reflect current market conditions. 

Amount at 

Historical 
experience of 

default

Adjustment for 
market 

conditions at 

Estimated 
maximum 

exposure to 
defaults

31 Mar 18 31 Mar 18
£000 % % £000
(a) (b) (c) (a*c)

Deposits with banks and financial institutions – 
excluding Icelandic Banks
AAA rated counterparties 0 0.000% 0.000% 0
AA rated counterparties 0 0.030% 0.030% 0
A rated counterparties 0 0.080% 0.080% 0
Bonds 0 0.000% 0.000% 0

Total 0 0

Debtors
Long Term Debtors 3,909 15.902% 15.902% 622
Sundry Debtors 12,082 4.991% 4.991% 603
Housing Tenants 8,166 47.202% 47.202% 3,855
Other Short-Term Debtors 16,349 7.315% 7.315% 1,196

Debtors 40,506 6,275
 

 

Except as disclosed later at Note 29 the Council has no exposure to losses from non-performance by 
any of its counterparties in relation to deposits and bonds.   

Whilst the current credit crisis in international markets has raised the overall possibility of default the 
Council maintains strict credit criteria for investment counterparties.  As a result of these high credit 
criteria, we have maintained historical default rates as a good indicator under these current 
conditions. 

The Council also uses non credit-rated institutions (for instance smaller building societies or bank 
subsidiaries where the parent has a satisfactory rating).  In these circumstances these investments 
would be classified as other counterparties. 

The estimated maximum exposure to defaults of £6.275m represents the Council’s provision for bad 
debts for the Financial Instruments in the table above and form part of the provision for bad debts as 
disclosed within the Balance Sheet.  In calculating these provisions reference is made to historical 
collection rates and these rates are applied to the debt raised rather than the percentages shown 
above. 

Page 111



 

 

79 
The Council does not generally allow credit for its sundry debtors, such that all of the balance is past 
its due date for repayment. The past due amount can be analysed as follows: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18
£000 £000

11,026 Less than three months 9,185

1,705 Three to six months 381

651 Six months to one year 546

1,799 More than one year 1,970

15,181 12,082
 

 
Collateral 
 
The Council initiates a legal charge on property where, for instance, clients require the assistance of 
social services but cannot afford to pay immediately.  The total collateral at 31 March 2018 was 
£0.837m (£0.845m as at 31 March 2017). 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures above (the 
setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury and investment strategy 
reports), as well through cash flow management procedures required by the Code of Practice.  This 
seeks to ensure that cash is available when it is needed. 
 
The Council has ready access to borrowings from the Money Markets to cover any day to day cash 
flow need, and the PWLB, which provides access to longer term funds, also acts as a lender of last 
resort to councils (although it will not provide funding to a council whose actions are unlawful). The 
Council is also required to provide a balanced Budget by the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
which ensures sufficient monies are raised to cover annual expenditure. There is therefore no 
significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial 
instruments. 
 
Refinancing and Maturity Risk 
 
The Council maintains a significant debt and investment portfolio.  Longer term risk to the Council 
relates to managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments as they mature. This risk relates 
to both the maturing of longer term financial liabilities and longer term financial assets. 
 
Limits on the maturity structure of debt and the limits on investments placed for longer than one year 
are the key controls used to address this risk.  The treasury team address the operational risks within 
the Council approved parameters by: 

 Monitoring the maturity profile of financial liabilities and amending the profile by either new 
borrowing or rescheduling existing debt; and 

 Monitoring the maturity profile of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is available for the 
Council’s day to day cash flow needs, and the spread of longer term investments provide stability 
of maturities and returns in relation to longer term cash flow needs. 

 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

56,077 Less than one year 148,938

27,306 Between one and two years 12,313

74,246 Between two and seven years 72,156

27,062 Between seven and fifteen years 17,146

318,394 More than fifteen years 318,086

503,085 568,639
 

Page 112



 

 

80 
The maturity analysis of financial assets is as follows: 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

34 Less than one year 34

0 Between one and two years 0

0 Between two and three years 0

0 More than three years 0

34 34
 

 
All Sundry debtors and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. These Sundry 
debtors of £12.082m are not shown in the above table, however, an analysis is provided in the 
‘Credit Risk’ section above. Interest accruals are disclosed as less than one year although 
associated with both short and long-term financial liabilities and assets. 
 
Market Risk 
 
Interest Rate Risk – The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments.  Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, depending on how 
variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial instrument periods. For instance, a 
rise in variable and fixed interest rates would have the following effects: 
 
 Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement will rise; 

 Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the borrowing liability will fall (no impact on revenue 
balances); 

 Investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement will rise; and 

 Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall (no impact on revenue balances). 
 
The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  The Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy draws together the Council’s prudential indicators and its expected treasury 
operations.  It includes a statement about expectations regarding interest rate movements.  From this 
strategy a prudential indicator is set which provides maximum and minimum limits for fixed and 
variable interest rate exposure. The Council’s Treasury Team monitor market and forecast interest 
rates within the year to adjust exposures appropriately. For instance during periods of falling interest 
rates, and where economic circumstances make it favourable, fixed rate investments may be taken 
for longer periods to secure long term returns. 
 
The risk of interest rate loss is partially mitigated by Government grant payable on financing costs. 
If all interest rates had been 1% higher (with all other variables held constant) the financial effect 
would be: 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

0 Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 0

0 Share of overall impact debited to the HRA 0

(150,030)
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowing liabilities (no impact on the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure) (147,632)

 
 
The approximate impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements 
being reversed. These assumptions are based on the same methodology as used in Note 27 Fair 
Value of Assets and Liabilities carried at amortised cost. 
 
Price Risk – The Council does not generally invest in equity shares but does have a number of small 
shareholdings in its related companies.  The Council is therefore not exposed to any significant risks 

Page 113



 

 

81 
arising from movements in the price of these shares and the shares are not classified as Available-
for-Sale. 
Foreign Exchange Risk – The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies.  It therefore has no exposure to risk arising from movements in exchange rates. 
 
Note 26 Financial Instruments – Gains/Losses  
 
Gains/Losses charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement 
in Reserve Statement for the year to 31 March 2018 are as follows: 
 

2016/17
Financial 
Liabilities 2017/18

Total

Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised 
cost

Loans and 
receivables

Available-for-
sale assets

Fair value 
through the 

CIES Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

19,883 Interest expense 19,149 0 0 0 19,149

0 Impairment (gain) 0 0 0 0 0

13,049 Finance Lease Interest 13,093 0 0 0 13,093

32,932
Interest payable and similar 
Charges 32,242 0 0 0 32,242

(462) Interest income 0 (254) 0 0 (254)

32,470 Net gain (-) / loss (+) for the year 32,242 (254) 0 0 31,988

Financial Assets

 
Note 27 Financial Instruments – Fair Values 
 
Fair Value of Financial Assets 
 
At 31 March 2018 the Council had no Available for Sale financial assets measured in the Balance 
Sheet at fair value on a recurring basis (Nil at 31 March 2017).  The Authority’s equity shareholdings 
in companies disclosed at Note 17 – Related Party Transactions are not traded in an active market 
and are valued at historical cost (see below). 
 
There were no transfers between input levels 1 and 2 during the year and there has been no change 
in the valuation technique used during the year for Available for Sale financial instruments. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities not measured at Fair Value 
 
All other financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables and long-term 
debtors and creditors which are not measured at Fair Value but for which a disclosure is required are 
carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value has been assessed by calculating the 
present value of the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instruments (Level 2), 
using the following assumptions: 
 
• For loans from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) redemption rules and prevailing 

PWLB redemption rates as at each balance sheet date. 

• The fair values for non-PWLB debt have also been calculated using the same procedures 
and interest rates and this provides a sound approximation for fair value for these 
instruments. 

• For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide the fair 
value; 

• No early payment or impairment is recognised; 

• Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months or is a trade or other receivable 
the fair value is taken to be the carrying amount, either the principal outstanding or the billed 
amount.  

Page 114



 

 

82 
• Some rights and obligations that would otherwise be financial instruments are excluded from 

the Creditors and Debtors figures in the two tables below as they are covered by more 
specific provisions about their recognition, measurement and disclosure elsewhere in the 
Statement of Accounts e.g. any Statutory debts and payments. This results in different 
amounts for creditors and debtors being shown in the tables below compared to elsewhere 
in the Statement of Accounts. 

The fair values calculated are as follows: 
 

Carrying 
amount Fair Value Carrying 

amount Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Long and Short-term

227,929 338,421 PWLB debt 205,341 307,455

245,170 473,445 Non-PWLB debt 245,162 472,974

30,000 30,000 Temporary Borrowing 118,000 118,000

503,099 841,866 Total Debt 568,503 898,429

(40,880) (40,880) Trade Creditors (41,619) (41,619)

462,219 800,986 Total Financial Liabilities 526,884 856,810

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

 
 
The fair value for financial liabilities is greater than the carrying value because the Council’s portfolio 
of loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the rates 
available for similar loans in the market at the balance sheet date.  This shows a notional future loss 
(based on economic conditions at 31 March 2018) arising from a commitment to pay interest to 
lenders above current market rates. 
 
The fair value of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans of £307.455m measures the economic 
effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered 
for market transactions undertaken at the Balance Sheet date.  The difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value (£102.114m) measures the additional interest that the Council will pay over 
the remaining terms of the loans under the agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid if 
the loans were at prevailing market rates.  
 
However, the Council has a continuing ability to borrow at concessionary rates from the PWLB rather 
than from the markets.  A supplementary measure of the additional interest that the authority will pay 
as a result of its PWLB commitments for fixed rate loans is to compare the terms of these loans with 
the new borrowing rates available from the PWLB. If a value is calculated on this basis, the carrying 
amount of £205.341m would be valued at £267.335m.  But, if the Council was to seek to avoid the 
projected loss by repaying the loans to the PWLB, the PWLB would raise a penalty charge for early 
redemption by charging a premium equivalent to the additional interest, based on the redemption 
interest rates (£102.114m) that would not then be paid.  The exit price for the PWLB loans including 
this charge would therefore be £307.455m. 
  

Carrying 
amount Fair Value Carrying 

amount Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

34 34 Money Market loans less than one year 34 34

190 190 Equity 190 190

4,772 4,772 Long-term Debtors 3,909 3,909

15,181 15,181 Sundry Debtors 12,082 12,082

7,798 7,798 Housing Rents 8,166 8,166

Other Short-Term :

16,513 16,513 Debtors 16,349 16,349
(6,171) (6,171) Bad Debts Provision (6,275) (6,275)

38,317 38,317 Total Loans and Receivables 34,455 34,455

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

 

Page 115



 

 

83 
 
The fair value for financial assets is the same as the carrying value because all are carried at cost as 
a fair approximation of their value.   
 
 
Note 28 Financial Instruments – Soft Loans and Financial Guarantees 
 
Soft Loans – Loans granted by the Council at below market rates are accounted for on a fair value 
basis.  This is the present value of all future cash receipts discounted using the prevailing market 
interest rate for a similar instrument for an organisation with a similar credit rating. 
 
Government Regulations permit the removal of this charge through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement to the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account.  The balance is then amortised from this 
account over the remaining life of the loans. At 31 March 2018 the Council had no material soft loans 
requiring disclosure within the Balance Sheet. 
 
Financial Guarantees – Under the revised Regulations the Council is required to record in its balance 
sheet any financial guarantees that it has provided based on the likelihood of the guarantee being 
called. 
 
The initial recognition of the guarantee is measured at fair value based on the probability of the 
guarantee being called together with the likely amount payable under the guarantee. 
 
At 31 March 2018 the Council had no material financial guarantees requiring disclosure within the 
Balance Sheet. 
 
Note 29 Impairment adjustment – Heritable Bank 
 
Early in October 2008, the Icelandic bank Landsbanki collapsed and the UK subsidiary of the bank, 
Heritable, went into administration. The Council had £1.800m deposited in this institution, with a 
maturity date and interest rate as follows:  
 

Bank Date invested Maturity Date Amount Invested Interest Rate Carrying Amount Impairment

£m £m £m

Heritable 24/09/2008 24/10/2008 1.800 5.95% 0.034 (0.002)  
 
The Council has recouped almost all of the original investment  (£1.767m / 98.21%) with an 
outstanding balance as at 31st March 2018 of £32,262. All monies within the institution have been 
subject to an administration process. The amounts and timing of payments to depositors such as the 
Council have been determined by the administrators. 
 
The Council’s claim under Heritable Bank’s cross-guarantee with its former parent Landsbanki Bank 
was finalised in 2015/16 at a maximum amount of £9k. This is currently held in an interest bearing 
Escrow account in Iceland, and will be paid on a pro-rata basis to the Council depending on the 
extent to which the administration of Heritable Bank falls below the 100% recovery level. The Council 
did not receive anything in 2017/18. 
 
Recognition in the CIES 
 
There has been no impairment gain recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in 2017/18 as the remaining anticipated loss of interest to the Council until monies are 
recovered is now minimal (in 2015/16 it was less than £2,000). 
 
 
Note 30 Long-Term Investments 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures:

190 Investment in BDR Property Limited (formerly Arpley Gas Ltd) 190

190 Balance at 31 March 190
 

 

Page 116



 

 

84 
 
 
Note 31 Inventories 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

747 Balance at 1 April 702

5,304 Purchases 2,328

(5,280) Recognised in year as an expense (2,315)

(69) Written on / (off) in year (23)

702 Balance at 31 March 692
 

 
 
Note 32 Construction contracts 
 
The Council has not recognised any significant contract revenue in respect of construction contracts 
with third parties during the year, and there are no significant construction contracts in progress at 31 
March 2018 (Nil 2016/17). 
 
 
Note 33 Debtors 

2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Central Government Bodies 9,817 10,326 0 0

Other Local Authorities 2,603 4,383 0 0

NHS Bodies 6,028 5,994 0 0

Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0

Other Entities and Individuals 33,131 33,325 4,771 3,909

Total 51,580 54,028 4,771 3,909

Long TermShort Term

 
Note 34 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months 
or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related 
items in the Balance Sheet as follows: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

29,129 Cash and Bank balances 28,838

(32,911) Bank Overdraft (1,463)

(3,782) Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 27,375

 
 

Page 117



 

 

85 
Note 35 Creditors 
 

2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Central Government Bodies (6,526) (7,164) 0 0

Other Local Authorities (1,368) (1,387) 0 0

NHS Bodies (920) (1,135) 0 0

Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0

Other Entities and Individuals (54,886) (51,834) (28) (28)

Total (63,700) (61,520) (28) (28)

Short Term Long Term

 
 
Note 36 Provisions 
 

Balance as at Balance as at 
1 Apr 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Insurance Claims (5,265) (1,256) 1,502 0 (5,019)

Compensation Payments (1,073) 0 47 128 (898)

Severance Costs 0 0 0 0 0

Business Rates Appeals (3,226) (1,091) 0 (4,317)

Other (391) 0 197 80 (114)

Total (9,955) (2,347) 1,746 208 (10,348)

Current Provisions (4,390) (1,091) 197 80 (5,204)

Long Term Provisions (5,565) (1,256) 1,549 128 (5,144)

Total (9,955) (2,347) 1,746 208 (10,348)

Current Year

Increase in 
provision during 

year
Utilised during 

year
Unused Amounts 

Reversed

 
Balance as at Balance as at 

1 Apr 16 31 Mar 17
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Insurance Claims (6,859) 0 1,593 0 (5,266)

Compensation Payments (893) 0 0 0 (893)

Severance Costs (175) 0 176 0 1

Business Rates Appeals (5,081) 0 1,855 0 (3,226)

Other (1,060) 0 177 312 (571)

Total (14,068) 0 3,801 312 (9,955)

Current Provisions (6,541) 0 2,120 30 (4,391)

Long Term Provisions (7,527) 0 1,681 282 (5,564)

Total (14,068) 0 3,801 312 (9,955)

Increase in 
provision during 

year
Utilised during 

year
Unused Amounts 

ReversedComparative Year

 
Insurance claims 
 
The Council carried out a complete re-tender of its insurance arrangements in 2013, with new 
policies commencing 28 February 2013. The liability risk is insured by QBE (via RMP) whilst the 
property risk is insured by Zurich Municipal. The contracts were for three years with a two year 
optional extension.  The two year optional extension was exercised, the first year commencing from 
28 February 2016.  An additional one year extension covering 2018/19 was renegotiated with both 

Page 118



 

 

86 
insurers upon expiry of the original two year option; policies will be completely re-tendered in 2018 
with the new policies commencing 28 February 2019. 
 
In balancing the cost of insurance against the risk of a liability arising, the Council has elected to 
meet the policy excess in respect of certain types of claim (Employers Liability and Public Liability) 
and to co-insure or self-insure itself against other types of claim by operating an Insurance Fund. 
Details of the different types of claim covered by this arrangement are set out below.  
 
The Council keeps under review the best estimate of the likely liability falling on the Insurance Fund 
by reference to recent claims history, repudiation rates and other relevant factors and the expert 
advice of the Council’s legal representatives on larger more complex claims. 
 
The provision in this year’s accounts covers the estimated residual liability relating to claims settled 
by Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) which, under the terms of MMI’s Scheme of Arrangement, can 
no longer be met in full and therefore require a proportion to be repaid by the local authorities who 
were members of MMI when it went into solvent liquidation in 1992. This includes the Council. 
 
The Council continues to liaise with its insurers and legal advisors to ascertain the extent to which the 
Council’s insurance policies can be used to meet liabilities arising from compensation claims that 
have been brought in relation to child sexual exploitation cases. 
 
(a) Employers Liability and Public Liability  

Since the demise of Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) in 1992, many authorities have been 
retaining and funding their liability losses, third party, highways third party and employers’ 
liability, up to an agreed threshold per claim.  For several years, this remained static at 
£100,000, however, with effect from 28 February 2015, the Council now meets the first 
£250,000 of every settlement. In effect the Insurance Fund meets the majority of settlements 
determined by the insurers. 

(b)  Fire 

The Fund acts as a co-insurer, up to a stop-loss limit of £350,000 in any one period of 
insurance. 

The Fund bears the first £50,000 of all claims involving education, municipal and housing 
property. 

(c)  Motor 

All accidental damage to our own vehicles is self-funded.  The Fund recoups the cost from 
user departments/services via an annual charge per vehicle.  There is an excess of £500 on all 
claims (£1,000 for thefts) which is met initially by the Fund and recharged to owning 
departments.  Third party risks remain with the external insurer. 

 (d) Council Flats – Added Perils 

The Fund insures blocks of flats for added perils where one or more flats have been sold under 
the right to buy arrangements. 

(e) ICT Equipment 

Where requested, schools ICT equipment is insured on the Fund on an ‘All-Risks’ basis.   

(f)     Other Equipment 

Where requested, schools’ musical instruments, televisual and video equipment, Youth & 
Community equipment and office equipment are insured on the Fund on an ‘All-Risks’ basis. In 
addition schools can insure many other items if desired. 

 

In addition to the above there are many smaller risks which are self-insured including: 

Schools PABX Equipment 
‘Time on Risk’ Cover 
The York and Lancaster Exhibition 

 
 
 
 

Page 119



 

 

87 
Severance Costs   
 
Provision is made for the estimated severance costs associated with reductions in staff numbers 
arising from the restructuring of services when there are detailed formal plans in place, a valid 
expectation is raised amongst those staff who are affected that the plans will be implemented, 
significant changes to the plans are unlikely, and, the costs can be identified.  The expectation is that 
the outstanding liability at 31 March 2018 will be settled in 2018/19. 
 
Rating appeals  
 
Under the business rates retention regulations which came into effect on 1 April 2013, an allowance 
is made for the amount of business rate income it is estimated will have to be refunded to business 
ratepayers as a result of appeal.  The provision represents the Council’s share of the overall 
estimated liability for refunding business rate payers income recognised up to and including the end 
of the financial year. We anticipate the majority of refunds provided for at 31 March 2018 will be 
made during 2018/19 and the provision has therefore been classified as a current provision. 
 
Other 
 
Other provisions comprise commercially or politically sensitive items disclosure of which would 
prejudice the Council’s position. 
 
Note 37 Usable Reserves 
 
The Council’s usable reserves are summarised in the table below into capital and revenue followed 
by a brief description of the nature and purpose of each reserve. Movements in the Council's usable 
reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement on Page 7 and Notes 2 and 3. 
 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

CAPITAL RESERVES

(27,422) Capital Receipts Reserve (28,816)

(5,219) Major Repairs Reserve (9,669)

(11,483) Capital Grants Unapplied Account (14,346)

REVENUE RESERVES

(1,283) General Fund - Schools (1,401)

(11,268) General Fund - Council (11,269)

(45,900) Earmarked Reserves excluding DSG (35,402)

5,213 Earmarked Reserve DSG 9,687

(35,156) HRA (37,508)

(132,519) TOTAL USABLE RESERVES (128,725)
 

 
 (a)    Capital Receipts Reserve  

Income from the disposal of non-current assets is credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
The amount credited in respect of housing capital receipts is reduced by the amount the 
Council is required to pay over to central government under the national pooling 
arrangements. The Capital Receipts Reserve can only be applied to finance new capital 
expenditure, repay debt or meet liabilities under credit arrangements. 

(b)      Major Repairs Reserve   

The Council is required by regulation to establish a Major Repairs Reserve.  The main credit to 
the account comprises the total depreciation charge for all HRA assets.  This can only be used 
to finance new capital expenditure, repay debt or meet liabilities under credit arrangements. 
The arrangements ensure that subsequent funding of capital expenditure does not affect the 
Housing Revenue Account. 

 

 

Page 120



 

 

88 
 (c)     Capital Grants Unapplied Account  

Where a capital grant or contribution (or part thereof) has been recognised as income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but the expenditure to be financed from 
that grant or contribution has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, the grant or 
contribution is transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account within usable reserves 
reflecting its status as a capital resource available to finance future capital expenditure. 

(d)      General Fund   

The General Fund balance represents uncommitted revenue balances held to safeguard the 
Council against potential financial risks, unforeseen costs and contingencies.  The balance to 
be held is risk assessed annually as part of the budget setting process to ensure a prudent 
level of resources is retained.  

(e)      Earmarked Reserves 

Details of the earmarked reserves the Council has set aside to meet specific needs or which 
are ring-fenced to particular services are contained in Note 3.  

(f)       Earmarked Reserve DSG 
The Dedicated School Grant (DSG) is a ring fenced grant for Schools.  There is currently a 
deficit balance on the Dedicated Schools Grant, which in accordance with Government policy, 
can be carried forward for the deficit to be addressed in future years.  Childrens’ and Young 
Peoples Service have implemented a plan to recover the deficit in later years 

(g)  HRA  

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a record of revenue expenditure and income relating 
to a Council’s housing stock. Its primary purpose is to ensure that expenditure on managing 
tenancies and maintaining dwellings is balanced by rents charged to tenants. Consequently, 
the HRA is a statutory account, ring-fenced from the rest of the General Fund, so that rents 
cannot be subsidised from council tax (or vice versa). 

 

Note 38 Unusable Reserves 
 
The Council’s unusable reserves are summarised in the table below into capital and revenue followed 
by a brief description of the nature and purpose of each reserve and movements thereon during the 
year. 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

CAPITAL RESERVES

(224,896) Capital Adjustment Account (189,331)

(131,489) Revaluation Reserve (144,724)

(98) Deferred Capital Receipts (98)

REVENUE RESERVES

466,714 Pensions Reserve 386,085

4,485 Short term accumulating absences account 3,838

184 Financial instruments adjustment account 194

(7,420) Collection Fund adjustment account (6,099)

107,480 TOTAL UNUSABLE RESERVES 49,865
 

  
(a) Capital Adjustment Account  

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs timing differences arising from the different arrangements 
for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets under normal accounting practices and 
statutory requirements for financing capital expenditure applicable to local authorities. Hence, it is 
debited with capital charges (depreciation, impairment, revaluation losses and amortisation) that have 
been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement but which are reversed out as 
they are not proper charge to revenue for council tax purposes and credited with the amount which is 
set aside from capital resources or from revenue to finance capital expenditure under the statutory 
provisions (the accounting policies set out the Council's approach for determining a prudent charge to 

Page 121



 

 

89 
revenue for debt repayment and PFI liabilities).  The Capital Adjustment Account also contains 
accumulated gains and losses on investment properties and on Property Plant and Equipment before 
1 April 2007, the date on which the Revaluation Reserve was created. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(173,094) Balance 1 April (224,896)

4,709 Debt Repayment 192

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

812 Amortisation of Intangible Assets 549

(83,313) Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 25,726

8,292 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 6,423

52,067
Non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 51,287

33,446 Depreciation -  Major Repairs Reserve 17,463

(1,424) Write down of Met Debt deferred Liability (1,566)

Adjusting amounts written out to Revaluation Reserve:

(13,824) Disposal (16,059)

(3,592) Excess of current cost depreciation over historic cost depreciation (4,210)

Capital Financing Applied in the year:

(7,949) Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure (6,049)

(317) Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to repay debt (192)

(18,630) Use of Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital expenditure (15,632)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing:

(16,487) Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account (15,325)

(5,551)
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against the General 
Fund and HRA balances (5,920)

5,511 MRP holiday 5,920
(5,552) Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA balances (7,042)

(224,896) TOTAL (189,331)

 
 
(b) Revaluation Reserve 
 
The Revaluation Reserve represents the cumulative unrealised revaluation gains and losses on the 
Council's Property, Plant and Equipment since the reserve was created on 1 April 2007.  

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000
(87,932) Balance 1 April (131,489)

(65,775)
Net revaluation gains/losses not charged to the Surplus /( Deficit) on Provision of 
Services (38,069)

4,802
Impairment losses and reversals thereof not charged to the Surplus / (Deficit) on 
Provision of Services 4,565

(60,973)
Sub total - net revaluation and impairment gains / losses not posted to the Surplus / 
Deficit on provision of Services (33,504)

13,824 Accumulated Gains on assets sold or scrapped 16,059

3,592
Excess of fair value depreciation over historic cost depreciation transferred to Capital 
Adjustment Account 4,210

(131,489) Balance at 31 March (144,724)
                                                                                                                         

 

Page 122



 

 

90 
 
(c) Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve   
 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve represents amounts due from the sale of non-current assets 
that have still to be realised. Under statutory arrangements, this only becomes available for financing 
on receipt of cash at which point a transfer is made to the Capital Receipts Reserve. The balance is 
mainly represented by mortgages on council houses sold to (former) tenants. 
. 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(98) Balance 1 April (98)

(0) Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve of cash received 0

(98) Balance at 31 March (98)
 

 
(d) Movements in Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve  
 
The Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising 
from increases in the value of its investments that have quoted market prices or otherwise do not 
have fixed or determinable payments. The balance is reduced when investments with accumulated 
gains are: 
 
 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
 disposed of and the gains are realised.  
 
At 31 March 2018 the Council held no financial assets classified as available-for-sale.  
 
(e)  Pensions Reserve 
 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits under normal accounting practices and statutory 
requirements for funding benefits applicable to local authorities. The amount recognised as post-
employment benefits under normal accounting practice reflects the benefits accrued by employees 
from their reckonable service, and changes to the assumptions about the liabilities that will fall on the 
scheme when benefits are paid out and the value of scheme assets to cover those liabilities. The 
amount charged under statutory provision is the amount due to be paid over by the Council as 
employer contributions under local government pension scheme rules.  

 
The Pensions Reserve represents the Council’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities for post-
employment benefits attributable to the Council at the balance sheet date. The deficit represents the 
amount by which benefits earned by past and current employees currently exceeds the resources set 
aside by the Council to meet them. 

 
Further details of the Council’s participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme (administered 
by South Yorkshire Pensions Authority) are detailed in Note 18.   
 

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000
330,031 Balance 1 April 466,714

142,878 Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset) (93,612)

20,066

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 38,771

(26,261)
Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the 
year (25,788)

466,714 Balance 31 March 386,085
 

Page 123



 

 

91 
(f)       Short-term Accumulated Absences Account  

 
The Accumulating Absences Accounts absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for short term compensated absences under normal accounting 
practices and statutory requirements for charging such absences applicable to local authorities. 
Under normal accounting practice, an accrual is made to charge compensated absences, for 
example, annual leave entitlement not yet paid, in the year in which they are earned. However, under 
statutory provision, these are charged to revenue in the year in which they are payable. The balance 
on the Accumulating Absences Account therefore represents the amount of compensated absences 
earned which will fall as a charge on the General Fund in the future. 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000

3,242 Balance 1 April 4,485

(3,242)
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end 
of the preceding year (4,485)

4,485 Amounts accrued at the end of the current year 3,838

1,243

Net amount charged to Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year reversed out 
under regulation chargeable to revenue in the future 
when payments fall due (647)

4,485 Balance at 31 March 3,838

2017/182016/17

 
 
(g)  Financial Instruments Adjustment Account  
This reserve has been created to hold the accumulated difference between the financing costs 
included in the Income and Expenditure Account and the accumulated financing costs required in 
accordance with Regulations to be charged to the General Fund Balance. 
 
General Transactions 
 
The Code requires that unless directly attributable to a loan held at 31 March 2007 then all premium 
and discounts carried on the Balance Sheet at that date are to be written off to the General Fund 
Balance as at 1 April 2007.  Government Regulations allow for the impact to be neutralised through a 
transfer to the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account.  The balance of premium and discounts will 
be amortised to revenue in line with the provisions set down in the Council’s accounting policies. 
 
The Code also requires that where the Council has provided loans at less than market rates then 
these should be accounted for on a fair value basis.  The difference between the fair value and loan 
amount is accounted for as an immediate charge to the Income and Expenditure Account.  
Government Regulations allow for the impact to be neutralised through a transfer to the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account.  The fair value increases over the period of the loan and the annual 
impact will be neutralised in the Income and Expenditure Account by the writing down of the balance 
on the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

95 Balance at 1 April 184

Movement in year:

89 Premium and discounts 10

0 Soft Loans 0

184 Balance carried forward at 31 March 194
 

 
 
 
 

Page 124



 

 

92 
(h)  Collection Fund Adjustment Account  
 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account absorbs differences between the amount of council tax 
income recognised under normal accounting practice as it falls due from council tax payers and the 
amount due to the General Fund and preceptors under statutory provisions. The balance on the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account therefore represents the amount still to be distributed to the 
General Fund and precepting authorities. 
 

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

CTAX NNDR Total CTAX NNDR Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(7,045) 887 (6,158) Balance 1 April (5,898) (1,522) (7,420)

1,147 (2,409) (1,262)

Difference between amount receivable 
in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for the year and 
General Fund balance 390 931 1,321

(5,898) (1,522) (7,420) Balance at 31 March (5,508) (591) (6,099)

 
 
Note 39 Cash Flow – Analysis of adjustments to (Surplus) / Deficit on the 

Provisions of Service 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

Items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are 
investing and financing activities:

17,365 Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provison of services 18,188

0 Net adjustment from sale of long term investments 0

7,722
Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets 9,363

25,087 27,551

(466) Interest received (cash basis) (325)

33,265 Interest paid (cash basis) 32,449  
 
Note 40 Cash Flow – from Investing Activities 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

47,343 Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets 49,664

0 Long term loans granted 0

0 Purchase of short term investments 0

0 Purchase of Long term investments 0

232 Capital Grants and Contributions Repaid 45

(7,722)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets (9,174)

(17,703) Capital Grants and Contributions Received (15,956)

(4,773) Other receipts from investing activities (384)

17,377 Net cash outflow from Investing Activities 24,195
 

 
 
 
 

Page 125



 

 

93 
Note 41 Cash Flow – from Financing Activities 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

(108,199) Cash receipts of short- and long-term borrowing (211,000)

231
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating to finance leases 
and on-balance sheet PFI contracts 249

85,491 Repayments of short- and long-term borrowing 145,299

465 Other payments for financing activities 5,072

(22,012) Net cash outflow from Financing Activities (60,380)
 

 
Note 42 Capital Expenditure and Financing  
 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the 
value of assets acquired under finance leases and PFI contracts), together with the resources that 
have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges 
to revenue as assets are used by the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

787,248 Opening Capital  Financing Requirement Capital Investment 792,538

47,897 Property, Plant and Equipment 45,937

5 Investment Properties 107

298 Intangible Assets 244

0 Heritage Asset 0

8,292 Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute 6,417

843,740 845,243

Sources of finance:

(7,949) Capital receipts to finance new capital expenditure (6,049)

(16,487) Government grants and other contributions (15,325)

(18,630) Major Repairs Allowance (15,632)

Sums set aside from revenue

Direct revenue contributions:

(87) General Fund (14)

(5,466) Housing Revenue Account (7,028)

(5,903) Minimum Revenue Provision (6,343)

5,511 MRP holiday 5,920

(2,191) Write down of finance lease liability (2,760)

(51,201) (47,231)

792,538 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 798,012
 

 

2016/17 Explanation of movements in year 2017/18

£000 £000

5,290
Increase in underlying need to borrowing (unsupported by government financial 
assistance) 5,473

0 Assets acquired under finance leases 0

5,290 Increase in Capital Financing Requirement 5,473
 

 
 

Page 126



 

 

94 
Note 43 Leases      
 
The classification of all types of lease including land is assessed on who has the risks and rewards of 
ownership as for all other types of lease.   
 
Contingent rents are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. 
 
(a)  Finance leases – Council as Lessee 
 
The movements in Finance Lease liabilities during the year are as follows:   
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

Finance Lease Liability outstanding at start of year (28,741) (28,501)

Principal repaid in year 231 249

Less: Schools converting to academies Finance Lease Liability written off 9 0

New Liabilities arising in year 0 0

Balance outstanding at year end (28,501) (28,252)

Short Term Creditors (249) (269)

Long Term Liabilities (28,252) (27,983)
 

 
The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18 31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Not later than one year (234) (3,234) (234) (269)

Later than one year and not later than five years (1,007) (13,319) (1,007) (1,026)

Later than five years (27,499) (110,373) (27,499) (26,957)

Minimum Lease Payments Finance Lease Liabilities

 
 
The assets acquired under the leases are carried as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Balance 
Sheet at the following net amounts: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

27,753 Land and buildings 27,099

336 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment 206

28,089 Total 27,305
 

 
(b)  Operating leases – Council as Lessee 
 
The Council has the right of use over a range of assets by virtue of operating leases that it has 
entered into. The future minimum lease payments due under these non-cancellable leases in future 
years are: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000

1,345 Within one year 1,153

2,914 Between one year and five years 2,382

5,114 After more than five years 4,936
 

 
The expenditure charged to service in 2017/18 in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
statement in relation to these leases was £1.407m (£1.684m 2016/17). 

Page 127



 

 

95 
(c)  Finance leases – Council as Lessor 
 
The Council has leased out property to Thurcroft Junior School, land on which the Council’s former 
Civic buildings were situated and land on which the former Doncaster Gate building was situated.  
The former is being leased out on a peppercorn rent.  The minimum leased payments in respect of 
the latter two were received in full as a premia.  As a consequence, there is no net investment in 
finance lease receivable to bring onto the balance sheet. 
 
 (d)  Operating leases – Council as Lessor 
 
Most of the property and equipment leased out by the Council meets the definition of investment 
property.  The rental income earned from leasing out these investment properties is disclosed in Note 
20. 
 
Note 44 Private Finance Initiative and Similar Contracts  
 
As at 31 March 2018, the Council has in place three long-term contracts under Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI) arrangements, one of which, the Waste PFI, is a joint contract with Barnsley and 
Doncaster Councils.  In addition, it has in place one partnership agreement. 
 
As a result of a change to the way in which PFI Schemes and Similar Contracts were accounted for 
in 2009/10 on transition to IFRS, assets within the PFI Schemes or Similar Contracts were brought on 
Balance Sheet.  The movement in the carrying value of these assets is disclosed in the Property 
Plant and Equipment note (Note 19a). 
 
The note below provides a brief description of each scheme and outstanding obligations. 
  
(a) Private Finance Initiatives - Schools PFI 
 
The contract for the provision of 8 primary and 6 secondary schools commenced on 1 April 2004 with 
an end date of 31 March 2034, and a capital value of £96m. All the schools were completed in line 
with the original programme.  At the expiry of the contract the schools transfer back to the Council for 
nil consideration, with the exception of 8 PFI schools, 3 primary and 5 secondary schools which have 
converted to academy trusts and therefore transfer to the individual trusts under 125 lease 
arrangements with the Council.  The agreed government funding is being received and the Authority 
has established a fund to manage income and expenditure over the rest of the 30 years of these 
arrangements. Payments during the year totalled £15.638m and are subject to availability and 
performance-related deductions and contractually agreed inflation adjustments.  In the same period 
the Council received £6.223m of PFI grant in support of this project. 
 
(b) Private Finance Initiatives – Sports and Leisure PFI 
 
The Sport and Leisure Facilities Regeneration Programme and Maltby Joint Service Centre PFI 
involves the construction of 3 new combined swimming pools and dry leisure centres, one stand-
alone swimming pool and a joint service centre. The contract with DC Projects (Rotherham) Ltd 
became operational in August 2008 and has a capital value of £38m.  The contract expires on 31 
October 2041, when all the assets transfer back to the Council for nil consideration.  £24.954m of PFI 
Credits have been awarded to support the scheme.   All 5 facilities are operational.  Payments during 
the year totalled £4.729m.  In the same period the Council received £1.811m of PFI grant in support 
of this project. 
 
(c) Bereavement Services Partnership  - Dignity 
 
The Council signed a partnership agreement with Dignity Funerals Limited in July 2008, who now 
manage the Borough’s bereavement services on the Council’s behalf.  The contract commenced in 
August 2008 and operates for a period of 35 years at which point all the Assets revert back to the 
Council for nil consideration.  This is a partnership that will improve the provision of bereavement 
services to the Rotherham public, with significant investment having taken place on the crematorium 
facility and the wider East Herringthorpe site.     
 
(d)      Waste Management PFI 
 
The Council’s joint Waste PFI Contract, along with Barnsley and Doncaster Councils, with 3SE 
(Shanks, Scottish and Southern Energy) became operational in July 2015.  The contract is providing 

Page 128



 

 

96 
residual waste facilities for the 3 boroughs.  The Councils have been jointly awarded £77.4m PFI 
credits for this project.  The Council received £1.789m of PFI grant in support of this project in 
2017/18.  Payments during the year totalled £6.548m.  The contract will assist the Councils in 
achieving their overall 50% recycling targets.   
 
(e) Movements in Finance Liabilities 
 
The Table below shows the movements in the Finance Liabilities during 2017/18: 
 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

Balance outstanding at start of year (109,001) (107,050)

Principal repaid in year 1,951 2,511

Balance outstanding at year end (107,050) (104,539)

Short Term Creditors (2,511) (2,894)

Long Term Liabilities (104,539) (101,645)
 

 
The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 
 

Payment for 
Services

Finance Lease 
Liability Interest Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Not later than one year 14,840 2,894 10,512 28,246

Two to five years 66,195 12,192 39,693 118,080

Six to ten years 93,806 22,035 44,613 160,454

Eleven to Fifteen years 107,212 34,062 36,490 177,764

Sixteen to twenty years 81,340 20,619 20,278 122,237

Twenty one to twenty five years 54,231 12,258 9,193 75,682

Twenty six to thirty years 2,693 477 728 3,898  
 
 
Note 45 Capitalised borrowing costs 
 
The Council had £39,577 of capitalised borrowing costs during 2017/18 (£24,504 in 2016/17) the 
capitalisation rate used in 2017/18 was 4.19% (4.25% in 2016/17). 
 
 
Note 46 Contingent Liabilities   
 
Lord Hardy Court Nursing Home 
 
Following a death at the nursing home in 2013 and resulting outcome in the Coroners Court in 2015, 
the Adults Safeguarding Board commissioned a Safeguarding Review. The incident has resulted in a 
litigation case against the council and is being dealt with by the Council’s insurance section in 
conjunction with our appointed legal partners, Kennedys Law. Kennedys are in the process of 
compiling statements to assist the Council in defending the claim.  
 

Page 129



 

 

97 
Note 47        Contingent Assets     
 
Claims for recovery of tax and damages 
 
Protective VAT claims have been submitted to HMRC to recover VAT on Disabled Facilities Grants, 
Landfill Tax, and Cultural Exemption. There is also a claim for damages filed at the High Court 
against Royal Mail. The quantity and strength of the claims have yet to be determined by litigation. 
 
Note 48 Trust Funds              
 
The Council acts as sole trustee for various legacies relating to the provision of educational supplies 
to specific local schools.  Each fund holds investments and may use the interest derived from those 
investments to fund the purchase of supplies.   
 
Accumulated interest balances and the respective balance sheets are as follows: 
 

Balance as at Income Expenditure Balance as at

1 Apr 2017 31 Mar 18

£ £ £ £

Treeton Council School War Memorial 743 28 0 771

EJ Butland, Treeton Infants 649 28 0 677

Whiston Two Wars Memorial 709 114 0 823

Total 2,101 170 0 2,271
 

 
 
Trust Funds – Balance Sheet  
 

2016/17 2017/18

£ £

Assets

Investments
58 - Treeton Council School War Memorial 58

59 - EJ Butland, Treeton Infants 59

233 - Whiston Two Wars Memorial 233

350 Total Investments 350

42 -     Debtors 40

2,058 -     Cash 2,231

2,450 Total Assets 2,621

Financed by:

350 -     Fund Balance 350

2,101 -     Accumulated Investment Interest 2,271

2,451 Total Equity 2,621
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

 

98 
Note 49 Material items of income and expenditure 
 
This note is used to draw attention to material items of income and expenditure not disclosed 
separately on the face of the CIES which need to be taken into consideration to gain a full 
understanding of the Council’s financial performance in the year.  
 
Schools  
 
As shown in Note 18 of the accounts on page 62, £9.185m has been credited to the CIES in respect 
of settlements. This all relates to the transfer of pension liabilities from the Council when schools 
convert to academies and, as a consequence, has been credited in full to the “Schools” heading 
within the CIES. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 
A change in MRP policy in 2014/15 to produce a fairer charge to revenue for present and future 
council tax payers in respect of pre 2007/08 debt identified that £34.783m of MRP had been 
overcharged in the period 2007/08 to 2014/15. The overcharge is being recovered by taking an MRP 
holiday as set out in Accounting Policy 15. 
 
As at 1 April 2017, £14.680m of the overcharge had still to be recovered. As shown in Note 42 on 
page 93 of the accounts, a further £5.920m has been recovered in 2017/18. 
 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  
 
The loss on disposal of non-current assets reported in Note 4 of £41.149m includes £42.828m of 
school property, plant and equipment transferred from the Council’s balance sheet as a result of 
schools converting to an academy.  
 
HRA 
 
The large variance between 2016/17 and 2017/18 HRA expenditure figures is the result of a large 
revaluation gain being applied in 2016/17 that was the result of a government change in social 
housing discount factor.  There was no material adjustment required in 2017/18. 
 
Note 50 Other Long-term Liabilities  

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000 Notes

(104,539) PFI Liability (101,645) 44

(28,252) Finance Lease Liability (27,983) 43

(466,714) Pension Liability (371,554) 18

(5,705) Deferred Liabilities (3,981) 50

(605,209) Total (505,163)
 

 
Deferred Liabilities 
 
The Council has a proportionate share in the interests of the Metropolitan (former South Yorkshire 
County Council) Debt (Page 111 of this Statement refers).  As at 31 March 2018 the deferred 
liabilities of Rotherham MBC arising out of the Metropolitan Debt Administration amounted to 
£5,704,770 comprising £1,723,488 maturing within one year and £3,981,282 after that date. 
 
Note 51 Events after the Balance Sheet date 
 
The draft Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Judith Badger, Strategic Director of 
Finance and Customer Services on 31 May 2018.  Events taking place after this date are not 
reflected in the Financial Statements or Notes. 
 
Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 
March 2018, the figures in the Financial Statements and Notes have been adjusted in all material 
respects to reflect the impact of this information. 

Page 131



 

 

99 
 
 
Other Financial Statements and Notes to the Other Financial Statements 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
The Collection Fund Income and Expenditure Account 
 
Metropolitan Debt Administration 
 

Page 132



 

 

100 
 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shows the economic cost in the year of providing housing 
services in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, rather than the amount to be 
funded from rents and government grants.  Authorities charge rents to cover expenditure in 
accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The increase or 
decrease in the year, on the basis of which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the HRA 
Statement. 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 £000 Notes

Expenditure

18,382 Repairs and maintenance 19,743

18,987 Supervision and management 21,118

230 Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 169

(71,830) Depreciation and impairment of Non Current Assets 27,767

116 Debt management costs 124

1,139 Provision for bad or doubtful debts 830 8

(32,976) Total Expenditure 69,751

Income

78,801 Dwelling rents 77,873

776 Non-dwelling rents 765

5,519 Charges for services and facilities 5,707

85,096 Total Income 84,345

(118,072)
Net Cost of HRA Services as included in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (14,594)

289 HRA services share of Corporate and Democratic Core 274

(296)
HRA share of other amounts included in whole Authority Cost of Services but 
not allocated to specific services (1,222)

(118,079) Net Cost of HRA Services (15,542)
HRA share of the operating income and expenditure included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(445) Gain on sale of HRA Non Current Assets (1,195)

13,555 Interest Payable and similar charges 13,419 9
(101) Interest receivable (97)

491 Pensions interest cost and expected return on pension assets 537 10

(262) Capital grants and contributions receivable (4,119)

193 Revaluation of Assets held for sale (134)

(104,648) Surplus for the year on HRA services (7,131)
 

 

Page 133



 

 

101 
 
Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement 
 
This statement takes the outturn on the HRA Income and Expenditure Statement and reconciles it to 
the surplus or deficit or the year on the HRA Balance, calculated in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000

(27,932) Balance on the HRA at the end of the previous year (35,155)

(104,648) Surplus for the year on HRA Income and Expenditure Account (7,131)

97,425
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
statute 4,615

(7,223) Net increase before transfers to or from reserves (2,516)

Transfers to reserves 163
(7,223) Increase in year on the HRA (2,353)

(35,155) Balance on the HRA at the end of the current year (37,508)

2016/17 2017/18

 

Page 134



 

 

102 
 
Notes to the Housing Revenue Account 

 
Note 1 Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 

Regulations 
 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources 
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to meet future capital and 
revenue expenditure. 
 

2016/17 Usable Reserves 

  

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve 

Movement 
in Usable 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment 
Account:       

Charges for impairment of non current assets  (Council 
dwellings only) 18,821 0 18,821 

Capital grants and contributions applied (621) 0 (621) 
Gain/Loss on disposal on non current assets charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,880) 0 (1,880) 

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement:       

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and 
HRA balances (4,572) 0 (4,572) 

Adjustments primarily involving the Major Repairs Reserve:       
Reversal of Major Repairs Allowance credited to the HRA (7,098) 7,098 0 

HRA Depreciation to the Capital Adjustment Account 0 12,970 12,970 

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure 0 (20,932) (20,932) 

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments 
Adjustment Account:       

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs 
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements 130 0 130 

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:       
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 

credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 1,602 0 1,602 

Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year (1,103) 0 (1,103) 

Short-term Accumulated Absences Account (3) 0 (3) 

Total Adjustments 5,276 (864) 4,412 

 
 

Page 135



 

 

103 
 
Note 1 continued 
 
2017/18

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Movement in 
Usable 

Reserves
£000 £000 £000

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account:
Charges for impairment of non current assets 9,001 0 9,001
Capital grants and contributions applied (4,119) 0 (4,119)
Revenue Expenditure Funded from capital under statute 223
Gain/Loss on disposal on non current assets charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,195) 0 (1,195)
Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement:
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA 
balances (7,028) 0 (7,028)
Adjustments primarily involving the Major Repairs Reserve:
Transfer from HRA to Major Repairs Reserve re notional MRA (2,619) 2,619 0
HRA Depreciation to the Capital Adjustment Account 0 17,463 17,463

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 (15,632) (15,632)

Adjustment primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account:

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs 
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements 36 0 36
Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 2,340 0 2,340
Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners 
payable in the year (1,259) 0 (1,259)
Short-term Accumulated Absences Account 4 0 4
Total Adjustments (4,616) 4,450 (389)

Usable Reserves

 
 
 
Note 2      Housing Stock at 31 March 2018 
 

Houses Flats Bungalows Total

1 Bedroom 4 2,199 2,784 4,987

2 Bedroom 1,938 2,794 1,921 6,653

3 Bedroom 8,136 298 49 8,483

4+ Bedroom 261 9 0 270

Total 10,339 5,300 4,754 20,393  
 
 

Page 136



 

 

104 
 
 Note 3 Housing Stock Valuations  
 
(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

2016/17 C
ouncil 

D
w

ellings

O
ther Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant & 

Equipm
ent

PP&E U
nder 

C
onstruction

Surplus 
Assets

Total PP&E

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 Apr 16 515,883 14,832 491 2,631 9,531 543,367

Additions 23,238 300 0 1,251 0 24,788
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment written 
out to gross cost/valuation (50,918) (789) 0 0 (2) (51,708)
Revaluation increases/decreases to Revaluation 
Reserve 54,788 506 0 0 1,464 56,758
Revaluation increases/decreases to Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services 119,100 (66) 0 0 263 119,297
Derecognition (5,013) 0 0 0 (95) (5,107)

Assets reclassified (to) / from Investment Property 0 0 0 0 (374) (374)
Other Movements in cost valuation 2,873 (255) 0 (2,618) 0 0

At 31 Mar 17 659,952 14,528 491 1,263 10,786 687,021

Depreciation and Impairment

At 1 Apr 16 (33,769) (1,044) (206) 0 (2) (35,021)

Accumulated Depreciation  written out to gross 
cost/valuation 29,250 468 0 0 0 29,718
Accumulated Impairment  written out to gross 
cost/valuation - as restated 21,668 321 0 0 2 21,990
Depreciation Charge (32,796) (577) (71) 0 (2) (33,446)
Impairment losses/reversals to Revaluation 
Reserve (3,027) (294) 0 0 0 (3,321)
Impairment losses/reversals to Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services (13,675) 0 0 0 0 (13,675)
Derecognition - Disposals 79 0 0 0 0 79

Other movements in depreciation and impairment (18) 18 0 0 0 0

At 31 Mar 17 (32,290) (1,108) (277) 0 (2) (33,676)

Net Book Value

At 31 Mar 17 627,662 13,420 214 1,263 10,785 653,346

At 31 Mar 16 487,037 14,638 351 1,377 4,022 507,425

 

Page 137



 

 

105 

2017/18

C
ouncil 

D
w

ellings

O
ther Land 

& Buildings

Vehicles, 
Plant & 

Equipm
ent

PP&E 
U

nder 
C

onstruction

Surplus 
Assets

Total PP&E

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 Apr 17
659,952      14,528     491          1,263       10,786     687,021   

Additions 18,880 221 0 5,112 4 24,217 
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment written 
out to gross cost/valuation (33,566) (857) 0 0 (1,236) (35,659)
Revaluation increases/decreases to Revaluation 
Reserve 7,074 423 0 0 834 8,331 
Revaluation increases/decreases to Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services 1,060 (122) 0 0 1,171 2,108 
Derecognition - Disposals (6,751) 0 0 0 (25) (6,776)

Assets reclassified (to) / from Assets Held for Sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Other Movements in cost valuation 1,164 (465) 0 (728) 2,166 2,138 

At 31 Mar 18 647,813 13,728 491 5,647 13,699 681,380 

Depreciation and Impairment

At 31 Mar 17 (32,290) (1,108) (277) 0 (2) (33,676)

Accumulated Depreciation  written out to gross 
cost/valuation 16,882 563 0 0 1,236 18,681 
Accumulated Impairment  written out to gross 
cost/valuation 16,684 294 0 0 0 16,978 
Depreciation Charge (16,803) (587) (71) 0 (2) (17,463)
Impairment losses/reversals to Revaluation 
Reserve (3,170) (205) 0 0 0 (3,374)
Impairment losses/reversals to Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services (11,154) 0 0 0 (4) (11,158)
Derecognition - Disposals 124 0 0 0 0 124 

Other movements in depreciation and impairment (9) 9 0 0 (1,234) (1,234)

At 31 Mar 18 (29,736) (1,033) (348) 0 (6) (31,124)

Net Book Value

At 31 Mar 18 618,077 12,695 143 5,647 13,694 650,257 

At 31 Mar 17 627,661 13,420 214 1,264 10,785 653,346 

 
Other assets including district boiler houses have been classified as intrinsic to the day to day 
operation of the housing estates in which they are located and as such have no asset value in their 
own right.  Garage structures are valued based upon capitalised income streams. 
 
Other operational property plant and equipment such as estate shops and area housing offices are 
held within the General Fund Asset Register. 
 
(b) Vacant possession 

 
 £m

Value as at 1 Apr 17 1,548  
 
The difference between the Balance Sheet valuation of dwellings shown at (a) above and the vacant 
Possession value reflects the economic cost to Government of providing Council Houses at less than 
open market rents. 
 
 
 

Page 138



 

 

106 
Note 4 Major Repairs Reserve 
 
The Council is required by regulation to establish a Major Repairs Reserve.  The main credit to the 
account comprises the total depreciation charge for all Housing Revenue Account assets.  Capital 
expenditure is then funded from the reserve without being charged to the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

2016/17 2017/18
£000 £000

3,874 Balance as at 1 April 5,219 

33,446 Depreciation in the year 17,463 

(13,471) Transfer to MRR 2,619 

(18,630) Financing of Capital Expenditure (15,632)

5,219 Balance as at 31 March 9,669 
 

 
Note 5       Financing of Capital Expenditure 
 
Capital expenditure on Land, Houses and Other Property within the HRA was financed as follows: 
 

2017/18
£000

Borrowing Need 0

Capital Receipts 400

Revenue Contributions 7,020

Government Grants / Other Capital Income 1605

Major Repairs Reserve 15,632

Total 24,657

 
During the year total capital receipts of £8.118m were received by the HRA, of which £5.950m was 
available to support capital expenditure within the Council 
 
Note 6 Depreciation 
 
A depreciation charge has been included in respect of dwelling houses within the Housing Revenue 
Account.  This charge is based upon the value of the dwelling stock at the 1 April 2017 excluding the 
value of land.  Depreciation has been calculated using the ‘straight line’ method over 30 years.   
 
An additional depreciation charge has been included in the total charged to the Housing Revenue 
Account in respect of garages.  This charge is based upon the value at 1 April 2017 and has been 
calculated using the ‘straight line’ method over 15 years. 
 
Note 7 Impairment  
 
A net impairment charge of (£10.221m) has been included in the HRA Income and Expenditure 
Account (£105.359m reversal in 2016/17). This charge is reflected in the HRA Income and 
Expenditure Account in arriving at the surplus on the provision of HRA Services. In accordance with 
proper accounting practice the Council reversed out the impairment charge in determining the 
movement on the HRA balance. 
 
Note 8 Rent Arrears & Other Provisions for Bad and Doubtful Debts 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 Rent Arrears £000

4,452 Current Tenants 4,505 

3,344 Former Tenants 3,389 

7,796 As at 31 March 7,894 
 

 
As at 31 March 2018, the level of rent arrears for current tenants as a proportion of gross rent 
income was 5.29% (2016/17 5.15%). 

Page 139



 

 

107 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 Bad Debt Provision in respect of rent income £000

2,893 As at 1 April 3,813 

1,068 Increase in Provision 779 

(148) Utilised in year (737)

3,813 As at 31 March 3,855 

   
Provision has also been made in the accounts for write-offs in respect of tenants’ and former tenants’ 
rechargeable repairs are as follows: 
 

2016/17 2017/18

£000 Bad Debt Provision in respect of the rechargeable repairs £000

526 As at 1 April 556 

72 Increase in Provision 51 

(42) Utilised in year (76)

556 As at 31 March 531 
 

 
Note 9 Interest Payable and Other Charges 
 
This is the cost of external interest payable together with the cost of debt redemption premium. 
 
Note 10 Contributions to and from the Pensions Reserve 
 
Local authorities are required to account for their pension costs on an IAS 19 basis, but to reverse 
the impact of IAS 19 based accounting to the Pensions Reserve to ensure that it does not impact on 
housing rents. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 140



 

 

108 
THE COLLECTION FUND 
 
By statute, billing Authorities are required to maintain a separate Collection Fund which shows the 
level of National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR), Council Tax and the residual Community Charge 
received by the Council during the accounting period and the distribution of these funds.  
 
REVENUE ACCOUNT FOR YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 
 

Council Tax
Non 

Domestic 
Rates

Total Council Tax
Non 

Domestic 
Rates

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 Note

110,264 110,264 Council Tax Receivable 117,044 117,044

75,400 75,400 National Non-Domestic Rates (excluding write-offs) 77,102 77,102 2

(468) (468) NNDR Transitional Payments (4,640) (4,640)

110,264 74,932 185,196 Total Income 117,044 72,462 189,506

Precepts:
91,578 36,564 128,142 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 97,717 33,227 130,944

36,591 36,591 Central Government 33,495 33,495
10,285 10,285  - South Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner 10,792 10,792

4,541 739 5,280 South Yorkshire Fire & Civil Defence 4,705 674 5,379

106,404 73,894 180,298 113,214 67,396 180,610

Distribution of previous years surplus(defict):

4,000 (841) 3,159 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 3,000 1,831 4,831
(858) (858) Central Government 1,868 1,868

357 357  - South Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner 338 338

159 (17) 142 South Yorkshire Fire & Civil Defence Authority 150 37 187

4,516 (1,716) 2,800 3,488 3,736 7,224

Charges to Collection Fund:

626 555 1,181 Write off of uncollectable amounts 249 295 544

(80) 578 498 Increase/(Decrease) in bad debt provision 556 378 934

(3,785) (3,785) Increase in provision for appeals 2,226 2,226
312 312 Cost of Collection 303 303

6 6 Adjust 15/16 Disregard 0 0
169 169 Disregarded amounts 443 443

546 (2,165) (1,619) 805 3,645 4,450

111,466 70,013 181,479 Total amounts charged to the Collection Fund 117,507 74,777 192,284

(1,202) 4,919 3,717 Surplus/(Deficit) arising during the year (463) (2,315) (2,778)

Collection Fund Balance

(1,202) 4,919 3,717 Surplus/(Deficit) arising during the year (463) (2,315) (2,778)

7,606 (1,920) 5,686 Surplus brought forward 6,404 2,999 9,403

6,404 2,999 9,403 Surplus  carried forward 5,941 684 6,625 4

2016/17 2017/18

 
 

Page 141



 

 

109 
Notes to the Collection Fund Statement 
 
Note 1 Council Tax 
 
The Council Tax system involves the categorisation of properties into bands (A-H) dependent upon 
their value.  It is a requirement of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 that the basis on which 
the Council Tax is calculated should be expressed as a ratio of the Band D equivalent.  Totals of 
properties falling into bands other than Band D therefore have to be adjusted to reflect their 
relationship to this band.  The effect of this for 2017/18 is shown below. 
 
Adjustments to the Council Tax base to reflect the estimated collection rate of Council Tax are also 
set out below: 
 

Band Number of Band D Equivalents 
properties Ratio to Band D Collection Rate @ 97%

A 26,880 6:9 26,074
B 14,664 7:9 14,224
C 11,837 8:9 11,482
D 8,257 9:9 8,009
E 5,213 11:9 5,057
F 2,329 13:9 2,259
G 1098 15:9 1065
H 67 18:9 65

70,345 68,235
 

 
Note 2 National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) – Business Rates 
 
Business Rates are levied on non-domestic premises at a rate in the pound determined by Central 
Government which is applied nationally (the national multiplier).  The national multiplier in 2017/18 
was 47.9 pence in the pound and a small business rating multiplier of 46.6 pence in the pound (49.7 
pence and 48.4 pence respectively in 2016/17). 
 
The NNDR income in 2017/18 after allowing for mandatory and discretionary reliefs of £77.102m 
(75.400m 2016/17) was based on a total rateable value of £189.2m as at 31 March 2018 (£188.5m 
as at 31 March 2017).  
 
 
Note 3 Discounts 

 
The Council does not operate a discount scheme for the early payment of Council Tax.  
 
Note 4 Collection Fund Balance 

 
The balance on the Collection Fund at 31 March 2018 is a surplus of £6.625m (£9.403m surplus 
2016/17) and consists of a £0.684m surplus (£2.999m surplus 2016/17) relating to business rates to 
be distributed to the billing Authority (Rotherham MBC), Central Government and South Yorkshire 
Fire and Civil Defence Authority, and a £5.941m surplus (£6.404m surplus 2016/17) in relation to 
Council Tax to be distributed to the billing Authority (Rotherham MBC), South Yorkshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner and South Yorkshire Fire and Civil Defence Authority as follows: 

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Council Tax NNDR Total Council Tax NNDR Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

5,898 1,469 7,367 Billing Authority – Rotherham MBC 5,509 335 5,844

0 1,500 1,500 Central Government 0 343 343

Major Precepting Authorities:

351 0 351  - South Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner 301 0 301

155 30 185  - South Yorkshire Fire and Civil Defence Authority 131 6 137

6,404 2,999 9,403 Total 5,941 684 6,625

 

Page 142



 

 

110 
Note 5 Parish Precepts 

 
Precept demands are issued by the parishes on the Council as Billing Council.  In turn the Council 
issues a precept on the Collection Fund for the year inclusive of the parish precepts payable.  The 
payment of the parish precepts appears as a charge in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account (see Note 4 Other Operating Expenditure). 
 

Page 143



 

 

111 
 
METROPOLITAN DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

 
The Council became responsible for the administration of the former South Yorkshire County Council 
(SYCC) Debt from 1 April 1986.  The following statements account for the administration of the 
Metropolitan Debt. 
 

2016/17 Capital Account 2017/18

£000 £000

(35,400) Cash at bank 1 April (33,840)

(35) Transfer (from) Financial Instruments Adjustments Account (35)

0 Adjustment to loans outstanding for interest accruals 0

10,000 Add: Expenditure in the year – Loans repaid 39,709

(25,435) 5,834

Less Income:

0 Loans raised 0

8,405 Repayments by Relevant Authorities 8,846

(33,840) Cash at bank 31 March (3,012)

2016/17 Revenue Account 2017/18

£000 £000

4,511 Interest Paid on Outstanding Loans 3,220

50 Management and other expenses 49

4,561 3,269

Less Income:

116 Notional Interest 62

4,445 3,207

4,445 Recharge to Relevant Authorities 3,207

0 0

2016/17 Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017/18

£000 £000

Capital Liabilities

78,253 Loans Outstanding 37,828

(33,840) Cash at bank (3,012)

44,413 34,816

Capital Assets

44,378 Advances Outstanding 34,816

Reserves

35 Financial Instruments Adjustments Account (FIAA) 35

44,413 34,851
 

 

Page 144



 

 

112 
Note 1       Financial Instruments  – Balances 
 
The borrowings disclosed in the Balance Sheet are made up of the following categories of financial 
instruments: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18 31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial liabilities (principal amount) - PWLB 37,000 36,189 39,708 811

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - PWLB 37,000 36,189 41,253 1,639

Loans and receivables (principal amount) 0 0 0 0

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 0 0 0 0

Long Term Short Term

 
Note 2       Financial Instruments – Maturity Analysis 
 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

41,253 Less than one year 1,639

811 Between one and two years 16,500

36,189 Between two and five years 19,689

78,253 37,828  
 
Note 3       Financial Instruments – Fair Values 
 
Fair Value of Financial Assets 
 
At 31 March 2018 the Metropolitan Administration Account had no Available for Sale financial assets 
measured in the Balance Sheet at fair value on a recurring basis (Nil at 31 March 2017).  There were 
no transfers between input levels 1 and 2 during the year and there has been no change in the 
valuation technique used during the year for Available for Sale financial instruments. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities not measured at Fair Value 
 
All other financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables which are not 
measured at Fair Value but for which a disclosure is required are carried in the balance sheet at 
amortised cost.  Their fair value has been assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows 
that take place over the remaining life of the instruments (Level 2), using the following assumptions: 
 
• For loans from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) redemption rules and prevailing PWLB 

redemption rates as at each balance sheet date. 

• For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide the fair 
value; 

• No early payment or impairment is recognised; 

• Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months or is a trade or other receivable 
the fair value is taken to be the carrying amount, either the principal outstanding or the billed 
amount. 

 
The fair value of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans of £40.430m measures the economic effect 
of the terms agreed with the PWLB compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for 
market transactions undertaken at the Balance Sheet date.  The difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value (£2.602m) measures the additional interest that the Account will pay over 
the remaining terms of the loans under the agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid if 
the loans were at prevailing market rates. 
However, the Account has a continuing ability to borrow at concessionary rates from the PWLB rather 
than from the markets.  A supplementary measure of the additional interest that the authority will pay 
as a result of its PWLB commitments for fixed rate loans is to compare the terms of these loans with 

Page 145



 

 

113 
the new borrowing rates available from the PWLB.  If a value is calculated on this basis, the carrying 
amount of £37.828m would be valued at £39.846m.  But, if the Account was to seek to avoid the 
projected loss by repaying the loans to the PWLB, the PWLB would raise a penalty charge for early 
redemption by charging a premium equivalent to the additional interest, based on the redemption 
interest rates (£2.602m) that would not then be paid.  The exit price for the PWLB loans including this 
charge would therefore be £40.430m. 
 
The fair values of the financial instruments are as follows: 
 

Carrying 
amount

Fair Value at 
Redemption 

rate

Carrying 
amount

Fair Value at 
Redemption 

rate
£000 £000 £000 £000

78,253 84,383 Financial Liabilities – Debt 37,828 40,430

0 0 Loans and Receivables 0 0

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

 
The fair value for financial liabilities is greater than the carrying value because the Account’s portfolio 
of loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the rates 
available for similar loans in the market at the balance sheet date.  This shows a notional future loss 
(based on economic conditions at 31 March 2018) arising from a commitment to pay interest to 
lenders above current market rates. 
 
Note 4       Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
 
This reserve has been opened to hold the accumulated difference between the financing costs 
included in the Revenue Account and the accumulated financing costs required in accordance with 
regulations to be charged to the Metropolitan Debt Administration Account. 
 
Unless directly attributable to a loan held at 31 March 2007 then all premiums and discounts carried 
on the Balance Sheet at that date were written off at 1 April 2007.  Regulations allowed for this 
impact to be neutralised through transfer to this account.  The balance is amortised to the Revenue 
Account in line with the provisions set down in the Council’s accounting policies. 
 

31 Mar 17 31 Mar 18

£000 £000

70 Balance at 1 April 35

0 Movement in year 0

(35) Premium and discounts (35)

35 Balance carried forward at 31 March 0
 

 
Note 5 Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary 
 
For the former SYCC, the Council’s operational boundary for external debt for the year was 
£76.709m and its Authorised Limit for External Debt, the statutory limit determined under section 3(i) 
of the Local Government Act 2003, was £76.709m.  

Page 146



 

 

114 
  

 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 
We have audited the financial statements of Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 on pages 12 to 133. The financial reporting framework that has been applied 
in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Council 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13.  
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Council, as a body, in accordance with Part II of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
members of the Council, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the members of the Council, as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  
 
Respective responsibilities of the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services and auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services 
Responsibilities, the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services is responsible for the 
preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Council Accounting 
in the United Kingdom, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility 
is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Council’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.  In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Explanatory 
Foreword to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion the financial statements:  
 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2013 and of the 

Council’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

  Been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Council Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
 

Page 147



 

 

115 
The Code of Audit Practice 2010 for Local Government Bodies requires us to report to you if: 
 

 the annual governance statement which accompanies the financial statements does not reflect 

compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: a Framework’ published by 

CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007; or  

 the information given in the explanatory foreword for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is not consistent with the financial statements; or 

 any matters have been reported in the public interest under section 8 of Audit Commission Act 

1998 in the course of, or at the conclusion of, the audit; or  

 any recommendations have been made under section 11 of the Audit Commission Act 1998; or 

 Any other special powers of the auditor have been exercised under the Audit Commission Act 

1998. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters 
 

 

Conclusion on Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
Council’s responsibilities 
 
The Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to 
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities 
 
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the 
Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 
of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to 
you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified by 
the Audit Commission. 
 
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that 
the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of resources 
 
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the  
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of,  

Page 148



 

 

116 
GLOSSARY 

 
This listing will help Members and other readers to understand the terminology used within the 
Statement of Accounts.   

 
ACCOUNTING PERIOD 
 
The period of time covered by the accounts, normally a period of twelve months commencing on 1 
April. The end of the accounting period is the Balance Sheet date. 
 
ACCRUALS 
 
Sums included in the final accounts to recognise revenue and capital income and expenditure 
earned or incurred in the financial year, but for which actual payment had not been received or 
made as at 31 March. 
 
ADDED YEARS 
 
A discretionary award increasing the value of pensions for retiring employees aged 50 or over 
subject to specific conditions.  Employers’ must exercise this discretion in accordance with the 
national regulations and the Council’s own policies. 
 
ASSET 
 
An asset is a resource controlled by the Council as a result of past events from which future 
economic benefits or service potential is expected to flow to the Council. 
 
- A current asset is an amount which is expected to be realised within 12 months. 
- A non-current asset is an amount which is expected to be realised after more than 12 months. 
 
AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
An independent examination of the Council’s financial affairs. 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
 
A statement of the recorded assets, liabilities and other balances at the end of the accounting 
period. 
 
BORROWING 
 
Government support for capital investment is described as either Supported Capital Expenditure 
(Revenue) known as SCE(R) or Supported Capital Expenditure (Capital Grant) known as SCE(C). 
SCE can be further classified as either Single Capital Pot (SCP) or ring-fenced. 
 
BUDGET 
 
The forecast of net revenue and capital expenditure over the accounting period. 
 
CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 
 
An account maintained to provide a balancing mechanism between the different rates at which 
assets are depreciated and are financed through the capital controls system. 
 
CAPITAL CHARGE 
 
A charge made to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of Non-Current Assets used in the 
provision of services. 
 

Page 149



 

 

117 

 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
Expenditure on the acquisition of a fixed asset, which will be used in providing services beyond the 
current accounting period, or expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an 
existing fixed asset. 
 
CAPITAL FINANCING 
 
Funds rose to pay for capital expenditure. There are various methods of financing capital 
expenditure including borrowing, leasing, direct revenue financing, usable capital receipts, capital 
grants, capital contributions, revenue reserves and earmarked reserves. 
 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
The capital schemes the Council intends to carry out over a specific period of time. 
 
CAPITAL RECEIPT 
 
The proceeds from the disposal of land or other Non-Current Assets. Proportions of capital receipts 
can be used to finance new capital expenditure, within rules set down by the government but they 
cannot be used to finance revenue expenditure. 
 
CIPFA 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
 
COLLECTION FUND 
 
A separate fund that records the income and expenditure relating to Council Tax and non-domestic 
rates. 
 
COMMUNITY ASSETS 
 
Assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life and that 
may have restrictions on their disposal. Examples of community assets are parks and historical 
buildings. 
 
CONSISTENCY 
 
The concept that the accounting treatment of like items within an accounting period and from one 
period to the next are the same. 
 
CONTINGENT ASSET 
 
A contingent asset is a possible asset arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Council’s 
control. 
CONTINGENT LIABILITY 
 
A contingent liability is either: 
- A possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Council’s control; or 
- A present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability. 
 
COUNCIL TAX 
 
A banded property tax that is levied on domestic properties.  The banding is based on assessed 
property values at 1 April 1991. 
 

Page 150



 

 

118 

CREDITOR 
 
Amount owed by the Council for work done, goods received or services rendered within the 
accounting period, but for which payment has not been made by the end of that accounting period. 
 
CURRENT SERVICE COST (PENSIONS) 
 
The increase in the present value of a defined benefits pension scheme’s liabilities, expected to 
arise from employee service in the current period. 
 
DEBTOR 
 
Amount owed to the Council for works done, goods received or services rendered within the 
accounting period, but for which payment has not been received by the end of that accounting 
period. 
 
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEME 
 
Pension schemes in which the benefits received by the participants are independent of the 
contributions paid and are not directly related to the investments of the scheme. 
 
DEPRECIATION 
 
The measure of the cost of wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life 
of the Council’s Non-Current Assets during the accounting period, whether from use, the passage 
of time or obsolescence through technical or other changes. 
 
DISCRETIONARY BENEFITS (PENSIONS) 
 
Retirement benefits, which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to 
award and are awarded under the Council’s discretionary powers such as the Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996. 

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT (DSG) 
 
A ring-fenced grant for Schools paid by the Department for Education and Skills (DfES) to the Local 
Council; it replaces the Schools Formula Spending Share (FSS). 

EARMARKED RESERVE 
 
A sum set aside in a reserve for a specific purpose. 
 
EQUITY 
 
The Council’s value of total assets less total liabilities. 
 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, favourable or unfavourable, that occur 
between the Balance Sheet date and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. 
 
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 
 
Material items which derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the 
Council and which need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size or incidence to give fair 
presentation of the accounts. 
 
FAIR VALUE 
 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s length transaction 
less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the asset. 
 

Page 151



 

 

119 
FEES AND CHARGES 
 
Income arising from the provision of services e.g. the use of leisure facilities. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 
 
This reserve has been created under the SORP 2007 to hold the accumulated difference between 
the financing costs included in the Income and Expenditure Account and the accumulated 
financing costs required in accordance with Regulations to be charged to the General Fund 
Balance. 
 
FINANCE LEASE 
 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a fixed asset to the 
lessee. 
 
GENERAL FUND SERVICES 
 
Comprises all services provided by the Council with the exception of services relating to the 
provision of local Council housing – which are accounted for in the Housing Revenue Account.  
The net cost of General Fund services is met by council tax, Government Grants and Business 
Rates. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
 
The concept that the Statement of Accounts is prepared on the assumption that the Council will 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
Grants made by the government towards either revenue or capital expenditure in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of the Council. These grants may 
be specific to a particular scheme or may support the revenue spend of the Council in general. 
 
HERITAGE ASSETS 
 
Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved in trust for future generations 
because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. 
 
HOUSING BENEFITS 
 
A system of financial assistance to individuals towards certain housing costs administered by 
authorities and subsidised by central government. 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) 
A separate account to the General Fund, which includes the income and expenditure arising from 
the provision of housing accommodation by the Council. 
 
IMPAIRMENT 
A reduction in the value of a fixed asset to below its carrying amount on the Balance Sheet. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 
The revenue account of the Council that reports the net cost for the year of the functions for which 
it is responsible and demonstrates how that cost has been financed from precepts, grants and 
other income. 

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS 
 
Non-Current Assets belonging to the Council that cannot be transferred or sold, on which 
expenditure is only recoverable by the continued use of the asset created. Examples are highways, 
footpaths and bridges. 
 

Page 152



 

 

120 
INVENTORIES 
 
Items of raw materials and stores a Council has procured and holds in expectation of future use.  
Examples are consumable stores, raw materials and products and services in intermediate stages 
of completion. 
 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
An intangible (non-physical) item may be defined as an asset when access to the future economic 
benefits it represents is controlled by the reporting entity. This Council’s intangible assets comprise 
computer software licences. 
 
NET INTEREST EXPENSE (PENSIONS) 
 
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period in the present value of the 
scheme liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to settlement less interest income 
earned on plan assets. 
 
INVESTMENTS 
 
A long-term investment is an investment that is intended to be held for use on a continuing basis in 
the activities of the Council.  Investments should be so classified only where an intention to hold 
the investments for the long term can clearly be demonstrated or where there are restrictions as to 
the investor’s ability to dispose of the investment. 
 
INVESTMENTS (PENSION FUND) 
 
The investments of the Pension Fund will be accounted for in the statements of that fund. However, 
authorities are also required to disclose, as part of the disclosure requirements relating to 
retirement benefits, the attributable share of the pension scheme assets associated with their 
underlying obligations. 
 
LIABILITY 
 
A liability is a present obligation arising from a past event, the settlement of which is expected to 
result in an outflow of resources. 
  
A liability is where the Council owes payment to an individual or another organisation. 
- A current liability is an amount which is expected to be settled within 12 months. 
- A non-current liability is an amount which is expected to be settled after more than 12 months.  
 
LIQUID RESOURCES 
 
Current asset investments that are readily disposable by the Council without disrupting its business 
and are either: 
- Readily convertible to known amounts of cash at or close to the carrying amount; or 
-Traded in an active market 
 
LONG-TERM CONTRACT 
 
A contract entered into for the design, manufacture or construction of a single substantial asset or 
the provision of a service (or a combination of assets or services which together constitute a single 
project), where the time taken to substantially complete the contract is such that the contract 
activity falls into more than one accounting period. 
 
MATERIALITY 
 
The concept that the Statement of Accounts should include all amounts which, if omitted, or mis-
stated, could be expected to lead to a distortion of the financial statements and ultimately mislead a 
user of the accounts. 

Page 153



 

 

121 

 

MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE 
 
The Council is required by regulation to establish a Major Repairs Reserve.  The main credit to the 
account comprises the total depreciation charge for all Housing Revenue Account assets.  Capital 
expenditure is then funded from the reserve without being charged to the Housing Revenue 
Account. 
 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) 
The minimum amount which must be charged to the revenue account each year in order to provide 
for the repayment of loans and other amounts borrowed by the Council. 
 
NET BOOK VALUE 
 
The amount at which property, plant and equipment are included in the Balance Sheet, i.e. their 
historical costs or current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 
 
NET DEBT 
 
The Council’s borrowings less cash and liquid resources. 
 
NET EXPENDITURE 
 
Gross expenditure less specific grants and income for charging for services. 
 
NET REALISABLE VALUE 
 
The open market value of an asset in its existing use less any expenses incurred in realising the 
asset. 
 
NON-DISTRIBUTED COSTS 

These are overheads for which no user now benefits and as such are not apportioned to services 
 
NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) 
 
The National Non-Domestic Rate is a levy on businesses, based on a national rate in the pound set 
by the government and multiplied by the assessed rateable value of the premises they occupy.  It is 
collected by the Council on behalf of the Council, Central Government, and South Yorkshire Fire 
and Civil Defence Council with surplus and deficits being shared in the ratio specified by Business 
Rates Retention Regulations. 
 
OPERATING LEASE 
A lease where the ownership of the fixed asset remains with the lessor. 
 
PAST SERVICE COST (PENSIONS) 
 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the increase in the present value of the scheme liabilities 
related to employee service in prior periods arising in the current period as a result of the 
introduction of, or improvement to retirement benefits. 
 
PENSION SCHEME LIABILITIES 
 
The liabilities of a defined benefit pension scheme for outgoings due after the valuation date. 
Scheme liabilities measured during the projected unit method reflect valuation date. 
 
PRECEPT 
 
The levy made by precepting authorities by billing authorities, requiring the latter to collect income 
from Council Tax on their behalf. 

Page 154



 

 

122 

 
PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT 
 
Material adjustments applicable to previous years arising from changes in accounting policies or 
from the correction of fundamental errors. This does not include normal recurring corrections or 
adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior years. 
 
PRIVATE FINANCE IMITATIVE (PFI) 
 
A contract in which the private sector is responsible for supplying services that traditionally have 
been provided by the Council.  The Council will pay for the provision of this service, which is often 
linked to availability, performance and levels of usage. 
 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 
Tangible assets used by the Council in the provision of services that yield benefits to the Council 
for a period of more than one year. 
 
PROVISION 
 
An amount put aside in the accounts for future liabilities or losses which are certain or very likely to 
occur but the amounts or dates of when they will arise are uncertain. 

PRUDENCE 
 
Requires that revenue is not anticipated until realisation can be assessed with reasonable 
certainty.  Provision is made for all known liabilities whether the amount is certain or can only be 
estimated in light of the information available. 
 
PRUDENTIAL CODE 
 
Under the prudential framework, local authorities make their own decisions how much and what 
capital investment to undertake, based on their judgement on affordability, prudence and strategic 
objectives.  In making their decisions, finance teams are required to take account of the CIPFA 
Prudential Code. 
 
RATEABLE VALUE 
 
The annual assumed rental of a hereditament, which is used for NDR purposes. 
 
RELATED PARTIES 
 
There is a detailed definition of related parties in IAS24.  For the Council’s purposes related parties 
are deemed to include the Council’s members, the Chief Executive, its Directors and their close 
family and household members. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires the disclosure of any material 
transactions between the Council and related parties to ensure that stakeholders are aware when 
these transactions occur and the amount and implications of such. 
 
RE-MEASUREMENTS 
 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the re-measurements comprise:  
 
(a)    Changes in actuarial surpluses or deficits that arise because: 

Events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 
(experience gains and losses); or 
The actuarial assumptions have changed 
 

(b)   Return on plan assets excluding interest income which forms part of the pensions net interest 
expense 

Page 155



 

 

123 
 
All sums paid to or receivable by an employee and sums due by way of expenses allowances (as 
far as those sums are chargeable to UK income tax) and the money value of any other benefits. 
Received other than in cash. Pension contributions payable by the employer are excluded. 
 
RESERVES 
 
The accumulation of surpluses, deficits and appropriations over past years. Reserves of a revenue 
nature are available and can be spent or earmarked at the discretion of the Council. Some capital 
reserves such as the fixed asset restatement account cannot be used to meet current expenditure. 
 
RESIDUAL VALUE 
 
The net realisable value of an asset at the end of its useful life. 
 
RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees 
that are payable after the completion of employment 
 
REVALUATION RESERVE 
 
Records unrealised revaluation gains arising (since 1 April 2007) from holding Non-Current Assets. 
 
REVENUE EXPENDITURE 
 
The day-to-day expenses of providing services. 
 
REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 
 
Legislation allows some items to be funded from capital resources that under IFRS and normal 
accounting practice would be charged to Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
 
REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT 
 
A grant paid by Central Government to authorities, contributing towards the general cost of their 
services. 
 
TEMPORARY BORROWING 
 
Money borrowed for a period of less than one year. 
 
TRUST FUNDS 
 
Funds administered by the Council for such purposes as prizes, charities, specific projects and on 
behalf of minors. 
 
USEFUL ECONOMIC LIFE (UEL) 
 
The period over which the Council will derive benefits form the use of a fixed asset. 
 
WORK IN PROGRESS (WIP) 
 
The cost of work performed on an uncompleted project at the end of the financial year.  
 
 

Page 156



 

 

124 

 
 
 
 

A summary of this document can be made available in your language and in 
alternative formats such as Braille, large print, electronic and audio-tape 
versions. Contact us at: 
 
Email: central.finance@rotherham.gov.uk 
 
 

‘’If you or someone you know needs help to understand or read this   
document, please contact us’’: 
  : 01709 254510    :central.finance@rotherham.gov.uk 

 

   Minicom: 01709 823536 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 157



1

Public Report
Audit Committee Meeting

Summary Sheet

Council Report

Audit Committee - 19th June, 2018

Title

Update Report on the Use and Operation of Surveillance and Acquisition of 
Communications Data Powers 

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 

No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report

Judith Badger, Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services

Report Author(s)

Neil Concannon, Service Manager (Litigation & Social Care), Legal Services

Ward(s) Affected

All

Executive Summary

This is the latest report to update the Audit Committee in its oversight role on the 
Council’s use of surveillance and acquisition of communication data powers under the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).  The report also asks the Audit 
Committee to re-adopt the Council’s RIPA and Acquisition and Disclosure of 
Communications Policies.

Recommendations

That the Audit Committee:

1. Notes that the Council has not made use of surveillance or acquisition of 
communication data powers under RIPA during 2017/18, or to date in 2018/19.

2. Re-adopts in their current form, the Council’s RIPA and Acquisition and 
Disclosure of Communications Policies, save for minor amendments reflecting 
the name of the new regulator.

3. Agrees to accept a further update report in 6 months’ time.

Page 158 Agenda Item 9



2

List of Appendices

Appendix 1: RIPA Policy
Appendix 2: Acquisition and Disclosure of Communications Data Policy

Background Papers

1. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and associated Orders and 
Codes of Practice made thereunder.

2. The Office of Surveillance Commissioners Procedures and Guidance (July 2016)

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel

None

Council Approval Required

No

Exempt from the Press and Public

No

Page 159



3

Title

Update on the Use and Operation of Surveillance and Acquisition of Communications 
Data Powers 

1. Recommendations 

That the Audit Committee:

1.1 Notes that the Council has not made use of surveillance or acquisition of 
communication data powers under RIPA during 2017/18, or to date in 
2018/19.

1.2 Re-adopts in their current form, the Council’s RIPA and Acquisition and 
Disclosure of Communications Policies, save for minor amendments to 
reflect the name of the new regulator.

1.3 Agrees to accept a further update report in 6 months’ time.

2. Background

2.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) provides a 
mechanism to make it lawful for public bodies such as local authorities, to 
use directed (i.e. covert) surveillance and covert human intelligence 
sources e.g. undercover officers and public informants (CHIS) for the 
purposes of the detection and prevention of crime. Any use of those 
powers has to be proportionate and necessary both in use and scope. The 
Council has a RIPA Policy that governs the use of those powers.

2.2 RIPA also provides a mechanism for public bodies such as local 
authorities to acquire communications data where it is proportionate and 
necessary to do so for the purposes of the detection and prevention of 
crime. The Council has a separate Acquisition and Disclosure of 
Communication Data (ACD) Policy to cover this activity. Typically this 
activity might include acquiring mobile phone subscriber details and 
details of itemised calls but not the content of calls. 

2.3 The Council’s corporate policies in this regard make provision for the Audit 
Committee to perform those functions by receiving reports on a 6 monthly 
basis.  This is the latest update report. 

3. Key Issues

3.1 As a result of the Investigatory Powers Act 2016, the powers of the Office 
of Surveillance Commissions (OSC) in relation to directed surveillance 
and CHIS, and of the Interception of Communications Commissioners’ 
Office (IOCCO) in relation to the acquisition and disclosure of 
communications data were taken over by one regulator.  The Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO).  IPCO will continue the roles of the 
OSC and IOCCO in inspecting and auditing the use of RIPA powers by 
various public bodies, including local authorities.

Page 160



4

As previously with the OSC, the Council is required to notify IPCO of the 
number of directed surveillance/CHIS authorisations granted in each 
financial year. The annual return was made to IPCO in April for the 
financial year 2017/18, to confirm there were no such authorisations in 
that period. In addition, there have been no such authorisations this 
financial year thus far. 

3.2 Similarly the Council was previously required to notify IOCCO of the 
number of authorisations for the acquisition and disclosure of 
communications data granted each calendar year. There were no 
authorisations during 2017 and there have been no such authorisations 
this calendar year thus far.

3.3. As the Audit Committee is aware, the OSC inspected the Council’s use of 
surveillance powers in 2017. In line with one of the recommendations from 
the OSC Inspection report, a corporate training day was held for relevant 
officers from across all the Council Directorates, focussing on the use of 
CHIS. The training also covered RIPA and the use of social media which 
is a continually developing area and which was a line of enquiry during the 
OSC inspection.

3.4 The Council is required by the relevant Home Office codes of practice to 
ensure that the Council’s policies on the use of powers under RIPA are 
re-adopted each year by elected members. The policies were last 
considered by the Audit Committee in April 2017. As a result of 
recommendations made by the OSC in their Inspection Report last year, 
the RIPA Policy was amended to include a new section on the use of 
social media in investigations, and these issues were reinforced in the 
recent corporate training. Since that time there has been no revised Home 
Office codes of practice issued. In December 2017, IPCO conducted a 
public consultation on some suggested amendments to those codes of 
practice, including expanded guidance on the use of social media and 
guidance on the reporting of errors to IPCO when certain sections of the 
Investigatory Powers Tribunal 2016 are brought into force. However, to 
date, no revised codes of practice have been issued, the relevant sections 
of the 2016 Act have not been brought into force and there is no indication 
as to when that will happen. 

4. Other considerations and recommended proposal

4.1 Given that there have been no revised codes of practice issued by IPCO 
since the last RIPA and ACD Policies were set and there is no indication 
when this will happen, the current policies remain fit for purpose. 
Therefore, it is recommended that they be re-adopted in their current form 
save for very minor amendments replacing where appropriate reference to 
the ICO/IOCCO with IPCO. Should revised codes of practice be issued by 
the Home Office, or new guidance issued by IPCO which require 
amendments to the policies, then a further report will be presented to the 
Audit Committee. The recommendations in this report are also to note that 
there has been no requirement by the Council to make use of RIPA 
powers since the last report, that further corporate training has taken place 
in January and to receive a further update report in six months’ time.

5. Consultation

Page 161



5

5.1 None 

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 Further update reports will be submitted to the Audit Committee on a six 
monthly basis in line with the Council’s policies, or sooner if required.

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 The training covered within this report was met from within existing 
budgets.

8. Legal Implications

8.1 Legal Implications are considered in the main body of this report. 

9.     Human Resources Implications

9.1 There are no human resources implications.

10.   Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 There are no direct implications for children and young people and 
vulnerable adults.   

11. Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 Adherence to the Council’s policies and the statutory guidance in relation 
to the use of RIPA and the Acquisition of Communication powers should 
ensure that the any actions taken are human rights compliant.

12.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 There are no direct implications for partners or other directorates. 

13.    Risks and Mitigation

13.1 The statutory Codes of Practice issued by the Home Office require elected 
members to have oversight of the RIPA powers to ensure that they are 
being used consistently with policies and that the policies are fit for 
purpose. A failure to have such member oversight would give rise to 
greater legal risk and adverse reports following inspections undertaken by 
IPCO.

14.  Accountable Officer(s)

Dermot Pearson, Assistant Director of Legal Services.

Approvals Obtained from:

Finance Manager: Named Officer: Paul Stone

Human Resources: Named Officer: John Crutchley

Assistant Director, Legal Services: Named Officer: Dermot Pearson

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:-
http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories

Page 162

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


Appendix A

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

RIPA Policy

June 2018

Page 163



2

INDEX

1. Covert Surveillance Policy Statement Page 3

2. Guide to Surveillance Regulated by Part 2 of RIPA Page 5

i) Directed Surveillance Page 6

ii) Intrusive Surveillance Page 9

iii) CHIS
Page 12

3. Guidance for Authorising Officers Page 15

4. Seeking Magistrates’ Approval Page 27

5. Notes to Assist Completion - Magistrates Approval Page 33

6. Governance Arrangements & Quality Assurance Page 35

Appendix 1: Non-RIPA Surveillance
Sample Form for Non-RIPA Surveillance

Appendix 2: Forms

Page 164



3

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

1. COVERT SURVEILLANCE POLICY STATEMENT

Introduction

1. Rotherham Borough Council (“the Council”) is committed to building a fair and 
safe community for all by ensuring the effectiveness of laws designed to 
protect individuals, businesses, the environment and public resources. 

2. The Council recognises that most organisations and individuals appreciate the 
importance of these laws and abide by them. The Council will use its best 
endeavours to help them meet their legal obligations without unnecessary 
expense and bureaucracy. 

3. At the same time the Council has a legal responsibility to ensure that those 
who seek to flout the law are the subject of firm but fair enforcement action. 
Before taking such action, the Council may need to undertake covert 
surveillance of individuals and/or premises to gather evidence of illegal 
activity.

Procedure

4. All covert surveillance shall be undertaken in accordance with the procedures 
set out in this document.

5. The Council shall ensure that covert surveillance is only undertaken where it 
complies fully with all applicable laws in particular the:

 Human Rights Act 1998
 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA”)
 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012
 Data Protection Act 1998

6. The Council shall, in addition, have due regard to all official guidance and 
codes of practice particularly those issued by the Home Office, The 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Officer (IPCO) (formerly the Office of 
the Surveillance Commissioners (OSC)), the Security Camera Commissioner 
and the Information Commissioner.

7. In particular the following guiding principles shall form the basis of the all 
covert surveillance activity undertaken by the Council:

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is absolutely 
necessary to achieve the desired aims.

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is proportionate 
to do so and in a manner that it is proportionate.

 Adequate regard shall be had to the rights and freedoms of those who 
are not the target of the covert surveillance.

Page 165



4

 All authorisations to carry out covert surveillance shall be granted by 
appropriately trained and designated authorising officers. A list of those 
authorising officers who have been nominated by their Directorate and 
have undertaken appropriate training is held by the Senior Responsible 
Officer (SRO). 

 Covert surveillance which is regulated by RIPA shall only be 
undertaken after obtaining judicial approval.

 The operation of this Policy and Procedure will be overseen by the 
SRO, whose role is described later in this document. 

Training and Review

8. All Council officers undertaking and authorising covert surveillance shall be 
appropriately trained to ensure that they understand their legal and moral 
obligations.

9. Quality Assurance checks shall be carried out by the Solicitor with conduct of 
a specific case and the RIPA Co-ordinator to ensure that officers are 
complying with this policy when the authorisation forms are forwarded to 
Legal Services for the Judicial Approval applications. All other forms – 
Renewals, Review, and Cancellation forms are submitted to the RIPA Co-
ordinator who will collate the forms for the Central Record. 

10. This policy shall be reviewed at least once a year in the light of the latest legal 
developments and changes to official guidance and codes of practice.

11. The operation of this policy shall be overseen by the Council’s Audit 
Committee by receiving reports on a 6 monthly basis to ensure that the RIPA 
powers are being used consistently with this policy. 

Conclusion

12.  All citizens will reap the benefits of this policy, through effective enforcement 
of criminal and regulatory legislation and the protection that it provides. 

13. Adherence to this policy will minimise intrusion into citizens’ lives and will 
avoid any legal challenge to the Council’s covert surveillance activities.

14. An electronic copy of this Policy can be found on the Council’s Intranet on the 
Key Documents section of the Legal Services page. 

15. Any questions relating to this policy should be addressed to:

Contact: N Concannon, Litigation and Social Care Service Manager, 
Legal Services - Extension 23569 

Page 166



5

2. GUIDE TO SURVEILLANCE REGULATED BY PART 2 OF RIPA

Part 2 of RIPA sets out a regulatory framework for the use of covert investigatory 
techniques by public authorities to ensure that they are compatible with the 
European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR), particularly Article 8, the right to 
respect for private and family life. The purpose of this part of the procedure is to help 
you decide what type of surveillance you are doing and whether it is regulated by 
Part 2.

The Law

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents

 RIPA Explanatory Notes 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/notes/contents

 RIPA Statutory Codes of Practice (Revised December 2014)
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes 

o Covert Surveillance and Property Interference 
o Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

 SI 2010 N0.521 - Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance 
and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/521/pdfs/uksi_20100521_en.pdf

 SI 2012 No.1500 (The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed 
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 
2012)
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/pdfs/uksi_20121500_en.pdf

The Surveillance Techniques which Local Authorities may authorise

Part 2 of RIPA allows local authorities to authorise two out of the three techniques it 
regulates i.e. the use of directed surveillance and covert human intelligence sources. 
The first issue for any local authority officer, considering undertaking covert 
surveillance is; is it something that can be authorised under RIPA?

Let us consider the definitions of the different types of surveillance regulated by 
Part 2 of RIPA:

1. Directed Surveillance
2. Intrusive Surveillance
3. Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS)

Page 167

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/notes/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-codes
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/521/pdfs/uksi_20100521_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/pdfs/uksi_20121500_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/pdfs/uksi_20121500_en.pdf


6

i) Directed Surveillance:  This is defined in S.26(2) of the Act:

“Subject to subsection (6), surveillance is directed for the purposes of this Part 
if it is covert but not intrusive and is undertaken – 

(a) for the purposes of a specific investigation or a specific operation; 

(b) in such a manner as is likely to result in the obtaining of private 
information about a person (whether or not one specifically identified 
for the purposes of the investigation or operation); and 

(c) otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or 
circumstances the nature of which is such that it would not be 
reasonably practicable for an authorisation under this Part to be sought 
for the carrying out of the surveillance.”

Typically local authorities may use Directed Surveillance when investigating 
benefit fraud, trading standards offences or serious environmental crime or 
antisocial behaviour. This may involve covertly filming or following an 
individual or monitoring their activity in other ways. 

Before undertaking any covert surveillance activity an investigating officer 
must ask (and have an affirmative answer to) six questions before the activity 
can be classed as Directed Surveillance:

 Is the surveillance, actually “surveillance” as defined by the Act?
 Will it be done covertly?
 Is it for a specific investigation or a specific operation?
 Is it likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a 

person?
 Will it be done, otherwise than an immediate response to events?

Please consult Flowchart 1 when deciding if your surveillance is 
Directed.

Key Points to Note
1. General observations do not constitute Directed Surveillance. The 

Covert Surveillance Code (para 2.24) states:

“The general observation duties of many law enforcement officers and 
other public authorities do not require authorisation under the 2000 Act, 
whether covert or overt. Such general observation duties frequently 
form part of the legislative functions of public authorities, as opposed to 
the pre-planned surveillance of a specific person or group of people.”

2. Surveillance is only Directed if it is covert. S.26(9)(a) states:

“Surveillance is covert if, and only if, it is carried out in a manner that is 
calculated to ensure that persons who are subject to the surveillance 
are unaware that it is or may be taking place;”

This requires investigating officers to consider the manner in which the 
surveillance is going to be undertaken. If it is done openly, without 
making any attempt to conceal it or a warning letter is served on the 
target before the surveillance is done, then it will not be covert.

Page 168



7

3. The definition of “private information” is very wide. The Covert 
Surveillance Code states:

“2.4 The 2000 Act states that private information includes any 
information relating to a person’s private or family life. Private 
information should be taken generally to include any aspect of a 
person’s private or personal relationship with others, including family 
and professional or business relationships.

2.5 Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy when in 
a public place, covert surveillance of that person’s activities in public 
may still result in the obtaining of private information. This is likely to be 
the case where that person has a reasonable expectation of privacy 
even though acting in public and where a record is being made by a 
public authority of that person’s activities for future consideration or 
analysis.”

There is a common misconception that if investigating officers are 
watching someone covertly in a public place or observing activities in 
an office or business premises then there is no private information 
likely to be obtained and so there is no Directed Surveillance. The 
above sections of the code make it extremely unlikely that a public 
authority will be able to successfully argue that surveillance will never 
result in private information being obtained.

4. Where covert surveillance needs to be done in an emergency and 
there is no time (or no Authorising Officer available) to authorise the 
activity, the surveillance can still be done. It will not constitute Directed 
Surveillance. The Covert Surveillance Code (para 2.23) states:

“Covert surveillance that is likely to reveal private information about a 
person but is carried out by way of an immediate response to events 
such that it is not reasonably practicable to obtain an authorisation 
under the 2000 Act, would not require a directed surveillance 
authorisation.The 2000 Act is not intended to prevent law enforcement 
officers fulfilling their legislative functions. To this end section 26(2)(c) 
of the 2000 Act provides that surveillance is not directed surveillance 
when it is carried out by way of an immediate response to events or 
circumstances the nature of which is such that it is not reasonably 
practicable for an authorisation to be sought for the carrying out of the 
surveillance.”

5. If the Council authorises a non-employee (e.g. an enquiry agent) to 
conduct covert surveillance then that person/company is acting as an 
agent for the Council. The Authorising Officer must ensure that the 
person/company is competent and they have provided a written 
acknowledgment that they are an agent of the Council and will comply 
with the authorisation.

Page 169



8

             Flowchart 1 - Are you conducting Directed Surveillance?

YES

NOT
DIRECTED 

SURVEILLANCE

But still need to 
consider: 

-Article 8 of the ECHR 
(privacy)

-the completion of a 
non RIPA surveillance 
authorisation form 

-The Data Protection 
Act 1998

Are you doing “surveillance”? 
S.48(2)-(4)

Is the surveillance “covert”? 
S.26(9)(a)

Is it for a specific investigation 
or a specific operation?

S.26(2)(a)

Is the surveillance undertaken 
in such a manner as is likely to 

result in the obtaining of 
private information about a 

person?
S.26(10)

Is the surveillance an 
immediate response to events 

or circumstances?
S.26(2)(c)

NO RIPA ISSUE

DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE
Consider Authorisation

 Also consider if involves Intrusive Surveillance as well – check flowchart 2

NO

NO

NO

NO

NO

YES

YES

YES

YES

DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE
Consider Authorisation

 Also consider if involves Intrusive Surveillance as well – check flowchart 2

SEEK MAGISTRATES’ APPROVAL

Page 170



9

ii) Intrusive Surveillance: S.26(3) states:

“Subject to subsections (4) to (6), surveillance is intrusive for the purposes of 
this Part if, and only if, it is covert surveillance that— 

(a) is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential 
premises or in any private vehicle; and 

(b) involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the vehicle 
or is carried out by means of a surveillance device. “

As the name suggests, this type of surveillance is much more intrusive and so 
the legislation is framed in a way as to give greater protection to the citizen 
when it is used.  Applications to carry out Intrusive Surveillance can only be 
made by the senior Authorising Officer of those public authorities listed in or 
added to S.32(6) of the Act or by a member or official of those public 
authorities listed in or added to section 41(l). Local authorities are not listed 
therein and so cannot authorise such Intrusive Surveillance. 

It is still important to understand the definition of Intrusive Surveillance 
because sometimes over zealous officers may overstep the mark and end up 
doing it. The following questions have to be asked:

 Is it Covert Surveillance as defined by the Act?
 Is it being carried out in relation to anything taking place on any 

residential premises or in any private vehicle?
 Does it involve the presence of an individual on the premises or in the 

vehicle?
 Is it being carried out by means of a surveillance device on the 

premises or in the vehicle?

Please consult Flowchart 2 when deciding if your surveillance is 
Intrusive.

Key Points to Note

1. When doing covert surveillance of premises it can only be Intrusive if it 
is carried out in relation to anything taking place on residential 
premises. This is defined in S.48(1):

“residential premises” means (subject to subsection (7)(b)) so much of 
any premises as is for the time being occupied or used by any person, 
however temporarily, for residential purposes or otherwise as living 
accommodation (including hotel or prison accommodation that is so 
occupied or used);”

Environmental health officers doing covert surveillance of takeaways, 
restaurants and shops will not be doing Intrusive Surveillance. Care 
must be taken though where a shop also contains living quarters and 
covert filming may capture images of people in those quarters. Other 
examples of residential premises include flats, hotel rooms, caravans 
and even boats, which are used as living quarters. Care must be taken 
in such situations to avoid the accusation that unauthorised Intrusive 
Surveillance was carried out.

Page 171



10

2. Not all surveillance of vehicles is Intrusive; the target has to be a 
private vehicle as defined in S.48(1):

“private vehicle” means (subject to subsection (7)(a)) any vehicle which 
is used primarily for the private purposes of the person who owns it or 
of a person otherwise having the right to use it;”

The vehicle can be owned, borrowed, rented or leased. However (by 
virtue of S.48 (7) (a)) surveillance is not Intrusive where the target 
vehicle is a taxi or a chauffer driven vehicle such as a public coach 
service.

3. For the surveillance to be Intrusive rather than just Directed it has got 
to be undertaken in such a manner as to involve the presence of an 
individual on the premises or inside the vehicle.

It is extremely unlikely that local authorities would allow their staff to 
undertake surveillance by getting inside a private vehicle covertly. This 
could only be conceivably done if the investigating officer hides in the 
boot of the target vehicle!

However it may be that an officer is stationed inside residential 
premises to covertly observe drug dealing or anti social behaviour. 
Whilst normally this kind of conduct is the realm of the police, care 
must be taken. For example a keen investigator taking covert pictures 
from outside a house may decide to jump over the fence and hide in 
the garden to obtain clearer images.

4. Surveillance can still be Intrusive even if the investigating officer is not 
on or inside the premises or vehicle but is using a surveillance device 
such a camera, listening device, recorder or even binoculars. 

However the words of S.26 (5) should be noted:

For the purposes of this Part surveillance which— 

(a) is carried out by means of a surveillance device in relation to 
anything taking place on any residential premises or in any 
private vehicle, but 

(b) is carried out without that device being present on the premises 
or in the vehicle, 

is not intrusive unless the device is such that it consistently provides 
information of the same quality and detail as might be expected to be 
obtained from a device actually present on the premises or in the 
vehicle.

Page 172



11

Flowchart 2 -Are you doing Intrusive Surveillance?

NOT DIRECTED 
OR INTRUSIVE 
SURVEILLANCE

(But still need to consider 
Article 8 ECHR - right to 

privacy and the DPA 1998)

Are you doing 
“surveillance”? 

S.48(2)-(4)

NO RIPA
ISSUE

NO

NO

NO NOT
INTRUSIVE 

SURVEILLANCE
BUT COULD BE DIRECTED

(See flowchart 1)

NO
Is it being done by 
using a surveillance 

device?
S.26(3)(b)

YES

NO

Is the device on or 
inside the premises 

or vehicle?
S.26(3)(b)

YES

NO

YES
NO

Is the surveillance 
“covert”? 
S.26(9)(a)

Is the surveillance being 
carried out in relation to 
anything taking place on 
residential premises or 
in a private vehicle?

S.26(3)(a) &S.81

Is the surveillance being 
done by someone being 

on the premises or 
inside the vehicle?

S.26(3)(b)

INTRUSIVE 
SURVEILLANCE

N.B. Cannot be authorised by
local authorities

YES

YES

YES

YES

Does the device 
give same level of 
detail as from a 
device on the 

premises?
S.26(5)(b)

Page 173



12

iii) A Covert Human intelligence Source(CHIS) This is defined in S.26(8):

“…a person is a covert human intelligence source if -

(a) he establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a 
person for the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling 
within paragraph (b) or (c);

(b) he covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide 
access to any information to another person; or

(c) he covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a 
relationship, or as a consequence of the existence of such a 
relationship.”

To ascertain whether a person is a CHIS three questions must be asked:

 Is the person establishing or maintain a personal or other relationship 
with a person?

 Is that relationship being used for a covert purpose?
 Is the covert purpose facilitating the doing of anything falling within 

paragraph (b) or (c) (above)?

Please consult Flowchart 3 when deciding if your surveillance involves a 
CHIS.

A CHIS is somebody who is concealing or misrepresenting their true identity 
or purpose in order to covertly gather or provide access to information from 
the target. Examples of a CHIS include a private investigator pretending to 
live on a housing estate to gather evidence of drug dealing or an informant 
who gives information to Trading Standards about illegal business practices in 
a factory or shop.

Key Points to Note

1. A public volunteer is not a CHIS. The CHIS code (para 2.17) states:

“In many cases involving human sources, a relationship will not have 
been established or maintained for a covert purpose. Many sources 
merely volunteer or provide information that is within their personal 
knowledge, without being induced, asked, or tasked by a public 
authority. This means that the source is not a CHIS for the purposes of 
the 2000 Act and no authorisation under the 2000 Act is required.”

Care must be taken to ensure that someone who starts off as a public 
volunteer does not end up being a CHIS.

2. There must be covert use of a relationship to provide access to 
information or to covertly disclose information. Merely giving a 
complainant a diary sheet to note comings and goings will not make 
that person a CHIS.

3. A test purchaser, though technically a CHIS, may not always require 
authorisation. Please consult the CHIS Code (para 2.13) and the OSC 
Procedures and Guidance Document for further guidance.

Page 174



13

Flowchart 3 - Are you deploying a CHIS? 

NOT A
CHIS 

SITUATION

Are you using a person to obtain or provide 
access to information for you?

Will he/she be establishing or maintaining a 
personal or other relationship with another 

person?

Will he/she be doing this for the covert purpose 
of covertly using such a relationship to obtain 

information or to provide access to any 
information to another person?

Will he/she be doing this for the 
covert purpose of covertly disclosing 
information obtained by the use of 

such a relationship, or as a 
consequence of the existence of such 

a relationship?

NO RIPA ISSUE

CHIS SITUATION

Consider Authorisation

NO

NO

YES

YES

YES

NOYES

SEEK MAGISTRATES’ APPROVAL

NO

Page 175



14

Completing the Forms

Once it is decided what type of surveillance is being undertaken, the appropriate form must 
be completed and sent to the Authorising Officer for approval. Templates of each form 
together with notes to assist completion and precedent wording are on the Intranet in the 
same section on the same page as this Policy (Legal Services, Key Documents). It should 
be noted that as a result of the changes made by the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, 
local authorities no longer have the power to make urgent oral authorisations, Therefore, all 
authorisations, even if urgent, must be made in writing and the relevant judicial approval 
must be sought.

The Authorising Officer

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 (SI 2010 N0.521) states that the Authorising Officer for a 
local authority can be a Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent. A list of 
the Council’s Authorising Officers is held by the SRO. All authorising officers will be 
nominated by their Directorates, as being of sufficient rank and having undertaken 
appropriate RIPA training. Once the SRO is satisfied that this is the case they will be added 
to the list of Authorising officers, held by the SRO.  

Where the surveillance involves the likelihood of obtaining confidential information or the 
deployment of juveniles or vulnerable people, then the authorisation has to be sought from 
the Head of Paid Service or, in his/her absence, the acting Head of Paid Service.

Time Limits

The current time limits for an authorisation are 3 months for Directed Surveillance and 12 
months for a CHIS (1 month if the CHIS is underage), from the date of the Magistrate’s 
approval.  

A renewal must be authorised prior to the expiry of the original authorisation, but it runs 
from the expiry date and time of that original authorisation.  Authorisations may be renewed 
more than once if still considered necessary and proportionate and approved by a 
Magistrate.

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original authorisation 
period is due to expire but local authorities must take account of factors, which may delay 
the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability of the relevant local 
authority authorising officer and a Magistrate to consider the application).

Page 176



15

3. GUIDANCE FOR AUTHORISING OFFICERS

Page 177



16

AUTHORISING DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE: RULES AND CRITERIA

Section 27 of RIPA provides a powerful defence if covert surveillance is challenged:

“(1) Conduct to which this Part applies shall be lawful for all 
purposes if -
(a) an authorisation under this Part confers an entitlement to engage in that conduct 
on the person whose conduct it is; and 
(b) his conduct is in accordance with the authorisation.”

To take advantage of this defence, the surveillance needs to be properly authorised. S.28 
sets out the criteria for authorising Directed Surveillance, whilst S.29 covers CHIS. 

The Authorising Officer

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 (SI 2010 N0.521) states that the Authorising Officer for a 
local authority can be a Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent. As stated 
above, a list of the Council’s approved Authorising Officers is held by the SRO. A list of the 
current Authorising Officers is set out in section 6.

Where the surveillance involves the likelihood of obtaining confidential information or the 
deployment of juveniles or vulnerable people, then the authorisation has to be sought from 
the Head of Paid Service or, in his/her absence, the acting Head of Paid Service.

Time Limits

The current time limits for an authorisation are 3 months for Directed Surveillance and 12 
months for a CHIS (1 month if the CHIS is underage), from the date of the Magistrates’ 
approval.  

A renewal must be authorised prior to the expiry of the original authorisation, but it runs 
from the expiry date and time of that original authorisation.  Authorisations may be renewed 
more than once if still considered necessary and proportionate and approved by a 
Magistrate.

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original authorisation 
period is due to expire but local authorities must take account of factors, which may delay 
the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability of the relevant local 
authority authorising officer and a Magistrate to consider the application).

Page 178



17

Authorising Officer’s Consideration (Chapter 3, Covert Surveillance Code) 

S.28(2) states: 

“A person shall not grant an authorisation for the carrying out of directed surveillance 
unless he believes - 
(a) that the authorisation is necessary on grounds falling within subsection (3); and 
(b) that the authorised surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved 
by carrying it out.”

Please consult flowchart 4 when deciding whether Directed Surveillance should be 
authorised.

The first question that the Authorising Officer needs to ask is; Is the surveillance 
necessary? Namely, is it necessary to use directed surveillance in the operation.

The surveillance has to be necessary on one of the grounds set out within in S.28(3). 
Previously local authorities could authorise Directed Surveillance where it was necessary “

“for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.” 
(S.28(3)(b))

The Home Office Review, which reported in January 2011, recommended that where local 
authorities wish to use Directed Surveillance, this should be confined to cases where the 
offence under investigation is a serious offence.  

This recommendation was put into effect by The Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
(Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012, 
SI 2012/1500  which was made in June 2012 and came into force on 1st November 2012. 
This amends the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert 
Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010, SI 2010/521 (“the 2010 Order”), which prescribes 
which officers, within a public authority, have the power to grant authorisations for the 
carrying out of Directed Surveillance and the grounds, under Section 28(3), upon which 
authorisations can be granted. 

From 1st November 2012, local authority Authorising Officers may not authorise Directed 
Surveillance unless it is for the purpose of preventing or detecting a criminal offence and it 
meets the condition set out in New Article 7A(3)(a) or (b) of the 2010 Order. Those 
conditions are that the criminal offence which is sought to be prevented or detected is 
punishable, whether on summary conviction or on indictment, by a maximum term of at 
least 6 months of imprisonment, or would constitute an offence under sections 146, 147 
or 147A of the Licensing Act 2003 or section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 
1933. The latter are all offences involving sale of tobacco and alcohol to underage children.

So what about surveillance being carried out to tackle disorder (e.g. anti-social behaviour)? 
This can no longer be authorised as Directed Surveillance unless the disorder includes 
criminal offences satisfying the above criteria.

Page 179

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1500/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111490365/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111490365/contents


18

The second question is; Is the surveillance proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved by carrying it out?

Proportionality means ensuring that the surveillance is the least intrusive method to obtain 
the required information having considered all reasonable alternatives. This requires 
consideration of not only whether surveillance is appropriate but also the method to be 
adopted, the duration and the equipment to be used.

The OSC often stated in its inspection reports that officers have not properly understood 
this concept or have not demonstrated compliance within the authorisation form. The 
Covert Surveillance Code (para 3.6) requires four aspects to be addressed in the 
authorisation form:

 balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent 
of the perceived crime or offence;

 explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible 
intrusion on the subject and others;

 considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a 
reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the 
necessary result;

 evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been 
considered and why they were not implemented.

The third question is; can we avoid or minimise collateral intrusion?

The Authorising Officer will need to carefully consider the likelihood of collateral intrusion 
occurring. This is the risk of intrusion into the privacy of persons other than those who are 
directly the subjects of the investigation or operation. If the risk is significant, measures 
should be taken, wherever practicable, to avoid or minimise any unnecessary intrusion.

Investigating and Authorising Officers will need to ask themselves:

 What is the impact on third parties? Is it significant?

 If it is, what can be done to avoid or minimise it?

 Have we considered:

- Changing the timing of the surveillance
- Reducing the amount of surveillance
- Changing the method of surveillance
- The sensitivities of the local community

Surveillance operations by other public authorities - Of course at all times the need to 
obtain the best evidence to investigate the crime will be paramount. 

Next Stage: Once the surveillance has been authorised the next stage is to seek 
Magistrates’ approval. See Section 4 for a detailed explanation of the procedure

Page 180



19

Flowchart 4 - Authorising Directed Surveillance

Q.1 – Is the surveillance necessary? Namely, is it 
necessary to use directed surveillance in the 

operation.

Does it involve 
preventing or detecting 

a serious offence*?

*One carrying a term of 
imprisonment of six months 
or more

CANNOT BE 
AUTHORISED AS 

DIRECTED 
SURVEILLANCE

Q.2 – Is the surveillance 
proportionate?

See para 3.6 of Covert Surveillance Code – 
Consider:

 Size and scope of operation
 Methods to be adopted
 Alternative means available
 Appropriate use of legislation
 Impact on suspect

AUTHORISE AS DIRECTED 
SURVEILLANCE

SEEK MAGISTRATES’ 
APPROVAL

Q.3 – Have you considered 
what you can do (if anything) 
to minimise/avoid collateral 
intrusion?

See para 3.8 of Covert Surveillance Code - 
Consider e.g.:

 Size and scope of operation
 Means/equipment used
 Timing of surveillance
 Duration of surveillance

Is it to prevent or detect an 
offence-involving sale of 

tobacco or alcohol to 
underage children?

YES

YES

YES

NO

NO

NO

Page 181



20

AUTHORISING A CHIS: RULES AND CRITERIA

Section 27 of RIPA provides a powerful defence if covert surveillance is challenged:

“(1) Conduct to which this Part applies shall be lawful for all purposes if -
(a) an authorisation under this Part confers an entitlement to engage in that conduct 
on the person whose conduct it is; and 
(b) his conduct is in accordance with the authorisation.”

To take advantage of this defence, the surveillance needs to be properly authorised. S.28 
sets out the criteria for authorising Directed Surveillance, whilst S.29 covers CHIS. 

The Authorising Officer

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources) Order 2010 (SI 2010 N0.521) states that the Authorising Officer for a 
local authority can be a Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent.

Where the surveillance involves the likelihood of obtaining confidential information or the 
deployment of juveniles or vulnerable people, then the authorisation has to be sought from 
the Head of Paid Service or, in his/her absence, the acting Head of Paid Service. A list of 
the Council’s Authorising Officers is held by the SRO.

If there is any doubt regarding sufficiency of rank you should contact Legal Services or 
RIPA Coordinator for advice.

Time Limits

The current time limits for an authorisation are 3 months for Directed Surveillance and 12 
months for a CHIS (1 month if the CHIS is underage).  

A renewal must be authorised prior to the expiry of the original authorisation, but it runs 
from the expiry date and time of that original authorisation.  Authorisations may be renewed 
more than once if still considered necessary and proportionate and approved by a 
Magistrate.

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original authorisation 
period is due to expire but local authorities must take account of factors, which may delay 
the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability of the relevant local 
authority authorising officer and a Magistrate to consider the application).

Page 182



21

Authorising Officer’s Consideration
S.29(2) states: 

“A person shall not grant an authorisation for the conduct or the use of a covert 
human intelligence source unless he believes- 
(a) that the authorisation is necessary on grounds falling within subsection (3); 
(b) that the authorised conduct or use is proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved by that conduct or use; and 
(c) that arrangements exist for the source’s case that satisfy the requirements of 
subsection (5) and such other requirements as may be imposed by order made by 
the Secretary of State. “

Please consult flowchart 5 when deciding whether the deployment of a CHIS should 
be authorised.
Three matters are important to consider before authorising the deployment of a CHIS:
1. Necessity

The deployment of a CHIS has to be necessary on one of the grounds set out within 
in S.29(3). Local authorities can only authorise on the one ground; where it is 
necessary:
“for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.” 
(S.29(3)(b))
The matter being investigated must be an identifiable criminal offence or constitute 
disorder. Unlike Directed Surveillance, the grounds for authorising a CHIS did not 
change on 1 November 2012.

2. Proportionality
Proportionality means ensuring that the deployment of the CHIS is the least intrusive 
method to obtain the required information having considered all reasonable 
alternatives. This requires consideration of not only whether a CHIS is appropriate 
but also the method to be adopted, the duration and the equipment to be used. The 
CHIS Code (para 3.5) requires four aspects to be addressed in the authorisation 
form:
 balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and 

extent of the perceived crime or offence;
 explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least 

possible intrusion on the subject and others;
 considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a 

reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining 
the necessary result;

 evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been 
considered and why they were not implemented.

3. Security and Welfare Arrangements
CHISs are often placed in difficult and sometimes dangerous situations e.g. an 
informant on a housing estate in contact with criminal gangs.  Appropriate security 
and welfare arrangements must also be in place in relation to each CHIS.  S.29(5) 
requires there to be:
 A person who will have day-to-day responsibility for dealing with the CHIS on 

behalf of that authority, and for his/her security and welfare; 
 A person who will have general oversight of the use made of the CHIS. This 

person must be different to the one above.

Page 183



22

 A person who will maintain a record of the use made of the CHIS. This can be 
any of the above or a separate person.

 Proper and secure records to keep about the use made of the CHIS. 
Risk Assessment: An authorisation for the conduct or use of a CHIS may not be 
granted or renewed in any case where the source is under the age of eighteen at the 
time of the grant or renewal, unless a risk assessment has been carried out. This 
must be sufficient to demonstrate that:
 the nature and magnitude of any risk of physical injury to the CHIS arising in 

the course of, or as a result of, carrying out the conduct described in the 
authorisation has been identified and evaluated; 

 the nature and magnitude of any risk of psychological distress to the CHIS 
arising in the course of, or as a result of, carrying out the conduct described in 
the authorisation has been identified and evaluated;

 the person granting or renewing the authorisation has considered the risk 
assessment and has satisfied himself that any risks identified in it are justified 
and, if they are, that they have been properly explained to and understood by 
the CHIS;

the person granting or renewing the authorisation knows whether the relationship to 
which the conduct or use would relate is between the CHIS and a relative, guardian 
or person who has for the time being assumed responsibility for the CHIS’s welfare, 
and, if it is, has given particular consideration to whether the authorisation is justified 
in the light of that fact.

Use of Social Media in Investigations
Reviewing open source sites does not require authorization unless the review is 
carried out with some regularity, usually when creating a profile, in which case 
directed surveillance authorisation will be required. If it becomes necessary to 
breach the privacy controls and become, for example, a “friend” on a Facebook site, 
with the investigating officer utilising a false account to conceal his/her identity as a 
Council officer for the purposes of gleaning intelligence, this is a covert operation 
intended to obtain private information and needs to be authorised, at the minimum, 
as directed surveillance. If the investigator engages in any form of relationship with 
the account operator then s/he becomes a CHIS requiring authorisation as such and 
management by a Controller and Handler with a record being kept and a risk 
assessment created.
No officer should make repeated visits to the same open source social media site 
unless they have first spoken to the Council’s RIPA Co-ordinator (Neil Concannon 
01709 823569) or the RIPA Senior Responsible Officer (Dermot Pearson 01709 
255768) to ensure that it is lawful to do so.

Page 184



23

Flowchart 5 - Authorising a CHIS

Q.1 - Is the deployment of the CHIS necessary in the interests 
of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder?

CANNOT BE 
AUTHORISED 

AS A CHIS

Q.2 - Is the deployment of the CHIS proportionate?

See para 3.5 of the CHIS Code. Consider:

 Size and scope of operation
 Methods to be adopted
 Alternative means available
 Appropriate use of legislation
 Impact on suspect

AUTHORISE 
AS A CHIS

YE
S

SEEK MAGISTRATES’ 
APPROVAL

Q.3 - Have you considered what you can do (if anything) to 
minimise/avoid collateral intrusion?

See para 3.8 of the CHIS Code. Consider e.g.:

 Size and scope of operation
 Means/equipment used
 Timing of surveillance

Q.4 - Have you complied with the Special Duties?

See S.29(5) of RIPA and Chapter 6 and 7 of the CHIS 
Code – Consider:

 Security and welfare of CHIS
 CHIS Handler 
 CHIS Controller
 Source records

YES

YES

YES

YES

NO

NO

NO

NO

Page 185



24

PROCEDURE FOR COMPLETING THE RIPA FORMS

The standard forms with guidance notes are on the intranet, in the same section as this 
Policy (Legal Services, Key Documents) Each standard Home Office RIPA form is 
reproduced with guidance notes in dark blue 12 point Calibri font. These forms are the 
latest versions downloaded from the Home Office RIPA website on 10th March 2015. 

The Home Office states that public authorities may use these forms or adapt them, for 
example to include corporate logos or images or to combine review and renewal, or 
renewal and cancellation forms. However, if they adapt these forms for their own purposes - 
to record extra information that is not strictly necessary to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with RIPA - that additional local requirement should be indicated as being 
distinct from the necessary recording of RIPA considerations and decisions. On no account 
though should the forms be pre completed with standard wording, as each application 
should be made with the specific circumstances of the investigation in mind.

What to do

1. Decide what types of surveillance you are doing (refer to the guidance in Section 2 of 
this procedure).

2. Use this guidance and associated precedents to complete the appropriate forms. 
The following documents will also assist in this task:

a) The Covert Surveillance Code of Practice

b) The Covert Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice

c) The OSC Procedures and Guidance Document – (available from the RIPA 
Co-coordinator).

3. Once completed, the forms should be sent to the most appropriate authorising 
Officer for approval. A list of Authorising Officers is available from the SRO. 

4. The Authorising Officer should be reminded to read Section 3 of this procedure 
before completing his/her sections of the form. All authorization forms should be 
signed in hard copy by the authorizing officer, as opposed to any system of using an 
electronic signature. 

5. If you are seeking a new authorisation or renewing an existing one, remember that it 
cannot take effect until a Magistrate has approved it. The procedure for this is set out 
in Section 4 of this document.

6. The original of each completed form (including cancellation forms) should be sent to 
the RIPA Co-coordinator who maintains the Council’s Central Record of 
Authorisations, with a copy kept on the operational file.

Page 186



25

COMMON MISTAKES IN RIPA FORMS
(Highlighted by the OSC)

Officers should be aware of the following mistakes when they undertake their respective 
roles in the RIPA process. 

Investigating Officers’ Mistakes

 Using of out of date Home Office forms

 Not quoting a unique reference number (URN)

 Copying (cutting and pasting) wording from old authorisation forms 

 Failing to give a detailed explanation of what the surveillance will involve

 A surfeit of surveillance tactics and equipment being requested and granted but 
rarely fully used when reviews and cancellations are examined

 Failing to consider and/or explain the proportionality factors 

 Poor and over-formulaic consideration of potential collateral intrusion and how this 
will be managed

 Failing to consider likelihood of obtaining Confidential Information 

 Failing to recognise or be alive to the possibility that someone may have met the 
CHIS criteria

 Failing to authorise a CHIS promptly as soon as they have met the criteria 

 Over-generic risk assessments for a CHIS and not updated to enable the Authorising 
Officer to identify emergent risks

 Failing to send completed forms to the RIPA Coordinator

Please also read paragraph 3.28 of the Covert Surveillance Code which sets out best 
working practices with regard to all applications for authorisations under RIPA

Authorising Officers’ Mistakes

 Too many Authorising Officers within the Authority

 Repetitive narrative and rubber stamping without proper consideration of all the facts 
set out in the authorisation form

 Not knowing the capability of the surveillance equipment which is being authorised. 
(For instance, there are differences between video cameras that record continuously 
and those activated by motion; and between thermal image and infrared capability. 
These differences may have an important bearing on how a surveillance operation is 
conducted and the breadth of the authorisation being granted. Therefore, a simple 
authorisation for ‘cameras’ is usually insufficient.)

 Failing to demonstrate that less intrusive methods have been considered and why 
they have been discounted in favour of the tactic selected

Page 187



26

 Discussions that take place between the Authorising Officer and those charged with 
the management of the CHIS under section 29(5) of RIPA are not always captured in 
an auditable manner for later recall or evidence

 At cancellation, a lack of adequate, meaningful update for the Authorising Officer to 
assess the activity conducted, any collateral intrusion that has occurred, the value of 
the surveillance and the resultant product; with, often a similarly paltry input by 
Authorising Officers as to the outcome and how product must be managed

 Failing, when cancelling authorisations, to give directions for the management and 
storage of the product of the surveillance

 No robust management and quality assurance procedures including no regular 
audits

Page 188



27

4. SEEKING MAGISTRATES’ APPROVAL

Page 189



28

4. GUIDE TO SEEKING MAGISTRATES’ APPROVAL FOR RIPA SURVEILLANCE

Background

Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (sections 37 and 38) came into 
force on 1st November 2012. This changes the procedure for the authorisation of local 
authority surveillance under the Regulation for Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).

From 1st November 2012 local authorities are required to obtain the approval of a Justice of 
the Peace (JP) for the use of any one of the three covert investigatory techniques available 
to them under RIPA namely Directed Surveillance, the deployment of a Covert Human 
Intelligence Source (CHIS) and accessing communications data. 

An approval is also required if an authorisation to use such techniques is being renewed. In 
each case, the role of the JP is to ensure that the correct procedures have been followed 
and the relevant factors have been taken account of. There is no requirement for the JP to 
consider either cancellations or internal reviews.

Home Office Guidance

The Home Office has published guidance on the Magistrates’ approval process both for 
local authorities and the Magistrates’ Court:

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-
guidance/

This guidance is non-statutory but provides advice on how local authorities can best 
approach these changes in law and the new arrangements that need to be put in place to 
implement them effectively.  It is supplementary to the legislation and to the two statutory 
Codes of Practice made under RIPA.

For a brief summary of the approval process please see flowchart 6 at the end of this 
section.

The New Magistrates’ Approval Process

1. The first stage will be to apply for an internal authorisation in the usual way. Once 
this has been granted, the local authority will need to contact the local Magistrates’ 
Court to arrange a hearing. 

2. The hearing is a ‘legal proceeding’ and therefore local authority officers need to be 
formally designated to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or provide 
information as required by the JP.  Authorisation forms will be quality assured by 
Legal Services. A member of Legal Services will also attend at the Magistrates Court 
to present the application. 

3. The Home Office suggests that the investigating officer will be best suited to making 
the application for Judicial Approval, although the Authorising Officer may also want 
to attend to answer any questions.

Page 190

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2010-12/protectionoffreedoms.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2075/made
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-guidance/
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-guidance/
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-guidance/


29

4. The local authority will provide the JP with a copy of the original RIPA authorisation.  
This forms the basis of the application to the JP and should contain all information 
that is relied upon. In addition, the local authority will provide the JP with two copies 
of a partially completed judicial application/order form (which is included in the Home 
Office Guidance)(see the next section for an example with notes to assist 
completion).

5. The hearing will be in private and heard by a single JP who will read and consider 
the RIPA authorisation and the judicial application/order form.  He/She may have 
questions to clarify points or require additional reassurance on particular matters.  
The forms and supporting papers must by themselves make the case.  It is not 
sufficient for the local authority to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or 
supported in the papers provided.  

6. The JP will consider whether he or she is satisfied that, at the time the authorisation 
was granted or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing that the 
authorisation was necessary and proportionate.  He/She will also consider whether 
there continues to be reasonable grounds.  In addition the JP must be satisfied that 
the Authorising Officer was of an appropriate level within the local authority and that 
the authorisation was made in accordance with any applicable legal restrictions (e.g. 
meets the Serious Crime Test for Directed Surveillance)

7. The order section of the above mentioned form will be completed by the JP and will 
be the official record of his/her decision.  The local authority will need to retain a 
copy of the form after it has been signed by the JP.  

Magistrate’s Options

The JP may decide to:-

 Approve the grant/renewal of the authorisation

The grant/renewal of the authorisation will then take effect and the local authority 
may proceed to use the surveillance technique mentioned therein. A copy of the 
order must be kept on the central record of authorisations.

 Refuse to approve the grant/renewal of the authorisation on a technicality

The RIPA authorisation will not take effect and the local authority may not use the 
surveillance technique in that case. The authority will need to consider the reasons 
for the refusal. A technical error in the form may be remedied without the need to go 
through the internal authorisation process again.  The authority can then reapply for 
Magistrates’ approval.

 Refuse to approve the grant/renewal and quash the authorisation

A JP may refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation and decide to 
quash the original authorisation. This may be because he/she believes it is not 
necessary or proportionate. The RIPA authorisation will not take effect and the local 
authority may not use the surveillance technique in that case. The JP must not 
exercise his/her power to quash the authorisation unless the local authority has had 
at least two business days from the date of the refusal in which to prepare and make 
further representations to the court.

Page 191



30

Appeals

A local authority may only appeal a JP’s decision to refuse approval of an authorisation, on 
a point of law by making an application for Judicial Review in the High Court. 

The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT) will continue to investigate complaints by 
individuals about the use of RIPA techniques by public bodies, including local authorities.  
If, following a complaint to them, the IPT finds fault with a RIPA authorisation it has the 
power to quash the JP’s order which approved the grant or renewal of the authorisation. It 
can also award damages if it believes that an individual’s human rights have been violated 
by the local authority.

Page 192



31

Application for Judicial Approval for Authorisation to Obtain or Disclose 
Communications Data To Use a Covert Human Intelligence Source or To Conduct 

Directed Surveillance
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 - Sections 23A, 23B, 32A, and 32B

Local Authority:    ....................................................................................................................

Local Authority Department: ....................................................................................................

Offence under investigation1:   ................................................................................................

.................................................................................................................................................

Address of premises or identity of subject:2: ...........................................................................

.................................................................................................................................................

Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details)   

Communications Data

Covert Human Intelligence Source

Directed Surveillance

Summary of details3

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

.............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

..............................................................................................................................................

Note: this application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA authorisation/ 
RIPA application or notice.

Investigating Officer: ...............................................................................................................

Authorising Officer: ..................................................................................................................

Officer(s) appearing before JP  4: ............................................................................................

Page 193



32

Address of applicant department: ...........................................................................................

.................................................................................................................................................

Contact telephone number: .....................................................................................................

Contact email address (optional): ...........................................................................................

Local authority reference: ........................................................................................................

Number of pages: ....................................................................................................................

To be completed by local authority Order overleaf

Page 194



33

5Order Made on an Application for Judicial Approval for Authorisation to Obtain or 
Disclose Communications Data, To Use a Covert Human Intelligence Source or To 

Conduct Directed Surveillance.
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 - Sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B

Magistrates’ Court: ..................................................................................................................

Having considered the application, I (tick one):

am satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the requirements of 
the Act were satisfied and remain satisfied, and that the relevant conditions are 
satisfied and I therefore approve the grant or renewal of  the authorisation/notice.

6refuse to approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice. 

7refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation/notice. 

Reasons 
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................

Notes
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................

Signed:

Date:

Time:

Full name:

Address of magistrates’ court:

Page 195



34

Notes to Assist Completion

1Insert the offence or disorder that you are investigating. If you are seeking authorisation for 
Directed Surveillance make sure that the criminal offence you are investigating attracts a 
maximum custodial sentence of six months or more or relates to the underage sale of 
alcohol or tobacco (as per the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance 
and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012.

2You may not know the identity of the person in which case you can include a description 
and/or how they relate to the offence/disorder under investigation.

3This forms the basis of the application to the JP and should contain all information that is 
relied upon. You may wish to set out in brief:

 What information you are seeking from the surveillance
 What the surveillance will involve e.g. covert cameras, CHIS
 How long the surveillance will last

You do no need to go into a lot of detail as this form should have the original authorisation 
form attached.

4 Any officer employed by the Council can appear before the Magistrate.  The Home Office 
suggests that the Investigating Officer is best placed to do this. Make sure that whoever 
appears is formally designated to do so under section 223 of the Local Government Act 
1972. Legal Services will carry out the initial applications.

5The order section of this form will be completed by the Magistrate and will be the official 
record of the Magistrate’s decision.  The Council will need to retain a copy of the judicial 
application/order form after it has been signed by the Magistrate. This may be kept with the 
original authorisation on the Central Record.

6If the Magistrate refuses to approve the authorisation, surveillance cannot be undertaken. 
This may be due to a technical error which can be corrected. Read the reasons for refusal 
and seek advice from the Legal Dept. and/or RIPA Coordinator with regards to the next 
steps.

7If the Magistrate decides to quash the authorisation, surveillance cannot be undertaken. 
You will have two days to make further representations. Read the reasons for refusal and 
seek advice from the Legal Dept and/or RIPA Coordinator with regards to the next steps.

Page 196



35

Flowchart 6 - The Magistrates’ Approval Process

Complete authorisation form and seek approval 
of Authorising Officer

Complete judicial approval application form

Contact local Magistrates’ Court 

to arrange a hearing

Attend court with:

- Counter-signed RIPA authorisation form plus a 
copy 

- Judicial approval application form plus copy
- Any other relevant reference or supporting 

material

MAGISTRATES’ DECISION OPTIONS

REFUSE TO APPROVE

and quash the 
authorisation due 
fundamental flaw

(2 days to make further 
representations)

REFUSE TO APPROVE

authorisation due to a
technical issue

(Make correction and 

resubmit to court)

APPROVE

THE AUTHORISATION

Council can go ahead with 
the surveillance

Page 197



36

6. Governance Arrangements & Quality Assurance
Senior Responsible Officer

Pursuant to the revised Code of Practice the Authority’s Senior Responsible Officer 
is the Assistant Director of Legal Services.  The Senior Responsible Officer is 
responsible for the integrity of the process in place to authorise directed surveillance 
and engagement with the Commissioners and inspectors when they conduct their 
inspections.  The Senior Responsible Officer is also responsible for ensuring that 
authorising officers are of an appropriate standard. This is ensured by an appropriate 
system being adopted in respect of nomination of authorising officers, as described 
earlier in this document. The current list of Authorising officers is as follows:

Dermot Pearson (Assistant Director of Legal Services)
Lewis Coates (Head of Service – Regulation & Enforcement)
Alan Pogorzelec (Business Regulation Manager)
Robert Cutts (Operational Manager Revenues & Benefits – Housing Benefit Fraud)
David Webster (Head of Internal Audit)

The SRO will maintain an up to date list of Authorising officers which accurately 
reflects any changes to personnel and Authorising officers between the annual 
settings of this policy by elected members. The SRO also regularly monitors the 
quality of the authorisations forms which are completed, in conjunction with the RIPA 
Coordinator as part of the overall Quality Assurance process.   

Members Oversight

Pursuant to the revised Code of Practice paragraph 3.35, elected members of the 
authority will review the authority’s use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 and set the policy at least once a year.  

Further, members will consider reports on the use of RIPA on a regular basis to 
ensure that it is being used consistently with the Authority’s policy and that the policy 
remains fit for purpose.  This is done by means of six monthly reports to the Audit 
Committee.

Quality Assurance

Quality Assurance will be provided on an ongoing basis by Legal Services who will 
review and assess all forms as part of the Judicial Approval application process. 
Feedback will be given directly to relevant officers, with wider feedback given and 
changes to the Policy made if necessary.

Monitoring and Quality Control

In addition to the Quality Assurance set out above as part of the Judicial Approval 
application process, the RIPA Co-ordinator will monitor on receipt the authorisation, 
renewal, review and cancellations forms which are submitted for the Central 
Register. Any issues arising from these forms will be brought to the attention of the 
applying and authorising officer. 

Page 198



37

The RIPA Co-ordinator 

The RIPA Co-ordinator for Rotherham is Neil Concannon, Litigation and Social Care 
Service Manager, Legal Services.

Contact details are:-

Phone : 01709 823569
E-mail : neil.concannon@rotherham.gov.uk

The RIPA Co-ordinator will maintain a register centrally of all authorisations, refusals, 
reviews, renewals and cancellations. As part of the Judicial Approval application the 
RIPA Co-ordinator will monitor the authorisation forms submitted. Further the RIPA 
Co-ordinator will monitor on receipt all renewal, review and cancellation forms which 
are submitted for the Central Register. Any issues arising out of these forms will be 
brought immediately to the attention of the applying and authorising officer. 

IT IS IMPORTANT that all Services keep the RIPA Co-ordinator updated on all or 
any changes to authorisation forms.

The RIPA Co-ordinator will keep the records for 5 years to comply with Home Office 
guidance.

The further responsibilities of the RIPA Coordinator are:-

a) Oversight of the submitted RIPA documentation
b) Organising a RIPA training programme
c) Raising RIPA awareness within the Council

Storage of Authorisation Forms

Each Assistant Director whose department conducts surveillance is responsible for 
organising sufficient systems within their service in respect of the storage of files and 
associated RIPA forms.

Copies of the forms should be retained on the operational file for the investigation.  
The RIPA co-ordinator should be sent originals of all authorisations, refusals, 
reviews, cancellations and renewals of authorisations to satisfy Home Office Code of 
Practice recommendations. 

The following should also be kept by the authorising officer.  There is no requirement 
for this to form part of the central register maintained by the RIPA Co-ordinator 
(although pursuant to the current arrangements the originals of forms will be kept by 
the RIPA Co-ordinator):-

- the original forms of application, authorisation and supplementary 
documentation and notification of approval given by the authorising officer.

- a record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place

- frequency of reviews prescribed by the authorising officer

Page 199



38

- a record of the result of each review of an authorisation

- a copy of any renewal of an authorisation, and supporting documentation 
submitted when it was requested.

- the date and time any instruction was given by the authorising officer.

THE  OVERSIGHT  OF  RIPA

RIPA is overseen by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office. They are 
tasked to ensure that RIPA is being applied properly. Inspections can be carried out 
at regular intervals.

Also, any person aggrieved by the way a local authority carries out covert 
surveillance as defined by RIPA can make a complaint to the Investigatory Powers 
Tribunal under the Act for redress within a year of the act complained of or any 
longer period that the tribunal thinks it just and equitable to allow.

This tribunal can quash any authorisation and can order the destruction of 
information held or obtained in pursuit of it. It can also award damages if it believes 
that an individual’s human rights have been violated by the local authority.

Page 200



Appendix A1 - Non-RIPA Surveillance

From time to time Rotherham Borough Council may wish to undertake covert surveillance 
that is not regulated by RIPA. This is fine as RIPA is permissive legislation.
 
Authorisation under RIPA affords a public authority a defence under Section 27 i.e. the 
activity is lawful for all purposes. However, failure to obtain an authorisation does not make 
covert surveillance unlawful. S. 80 states:

“Nothing in any of the provisions of this Act by virtue of which conduct of any 
description is or may be authorised by any warrant, authorisation or notice, or by 
virtue of which information may be obtained in any manner, shall be construed -
(a) as making it unlawful to engage in any conduct of that description which is not 
otherwise unlawful under this Act and would not be unlawful apart from this Act;
(b )as otherwise requiring—
(i) the issue, grant or giving of such a warrant, authorisation or notice, or
(ii) the taking of any step for or towards obtaining the authority of such a warrant, 
authorisation or notice,
before any such conduct of that description is engaged in; or
(c) as prejudicing any power to obtain information by any means not involving 
conduct that may be authorised under this Act.”

This point was explained more fully by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal in the case of C v 
The Police (Case No: IPT/03/32/H 14th November 2006 ):

“Although RIPA provides a framework for obtaining internal authorisations of directed 
surveillance (and other forms of surveillance), there is no general prohibition in RIPA 
against conducting directed surveillance without RIPA authorisation. RIPA does not 
require prior authorisation to be obtained by a public authority in order to carry out 
surveillance. Lack of authorisation under RIPA does not necessarily mean that the 
carrying out of directed surveillance is unlawful.”

The Council may wish to do such “Non-RIPA Surveillance” for the following reasons:

1. Child/Vulnerable Adult Protection

It may be necessary and proportionate to conduct covert surveillance for the purposes of 
child/vulnerable adult protection. For example, to gather evidence for use in court 
proceedings to verify the account given by a parent where there is reasonable cause to 
doubt that account and which raises significant safeguarding concerns in relation to the 
child in question.

2. Employee Surveillance

Most employee surveillance will not be authorisable under RIPA, if a previous decision by 
the Investigatory Powers Tribunal is to be followed. 

In C v The Police and the Secretary of State for the Home Department (14th November 
2006, No: IPT/03/32/H),  C, a former police sergeant, retired in 2001 having made a claim 

Page 201

http://www.ipt-uk.com/default.asp?sectionID=17
http://www.ipt-uk.com/default.asp?sectionID=17


for a back injury he sustained after tripping on a carpet in a police station. He was awarded 
damages and an enhanced pension due to the injuries. 

In 2002, the police instructed a firm of private detectives to observe C to see if he was 
doing anything that was inconsistent with his claimed injuries. Video footage showed him 
mowing the lawn. C sued the police claiming they had carried out directed surveillance 
without an authorisation. The Tribunal first had to decide if it had jurisdiction to hear the 
claim. The case turned on the interpretation of the first limb of the definition of directed 
surveillance i.e. was the surveillance “for the purposes of a specific investigation or a 
specific operation?” 

The Tribunal ruled that this was not the type of surveillance that RIPA was meant to 
regulate. It made the distinction between the ordinary functions and the core functions of a 
public authority:

“The specific core functions and the regulatory powers which go with them are 
identifiable as distinct from the ordinary functions of public authorities shared by all 
authorities, such as the employment of staff and the making of contracts. There is no 
real reason why the performance of the ordinary functions of a public authority 
should fall within the RIPA regime, which is concerned with the regulation of certain 
investigatory powers, not with the regulation of employees or of suppliers and 
service providers.”

The Tribunal also stated that it would not be right to apply RIPA to such surveillance for a 
number of reasons: 

1) RIPA does not cover all public authorities, and there was no sense in police 
employee surveillance being conducted on a different legal footing than, for example, 
the Treasury, which does not have the same surveillance rights under RIPA. 

2) The Tribunal has very restrictive rules about evidence, openness and rights of 
appeal. The effect of these would lead to unfairness for employees of RIPA 
authorities when challenging their employers’ surveillance as compared to those who 
were employed by non RIPA authorities.

This case suggests that, even where employee surveillance is being carried out on one of 
the grounds in section 28(3), the question has to be; is it for a core function linked to one of 
the authority’s regulatory functions? In the local authority context this would include, 
amongst others, trading standards, environmental heath and licensing. If it is not being 
done for one of these purposes it will not be directed surveillance. 

Human Rights Compliance

Covert surveillance done without a RIPA authorisation will not have the protection of RIPA 
(i.e. the defence in section 27). However it will still be able to be undertaken as long is it is 
done in accordance with the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) which is 
directly enforceable against public authorities pursuant to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
Article 8 of the ECHR states:

Page 202



“Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life his home and his 
correspondence. 

There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right 
except such as in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society 
in the interests of public safety, for the protection of public order, health or morals, or 
for the rights and freedoms of others.”
 

To satisfy Article 8, the covert surveillance must be both necessary and proportionate. In 
deciding whether it is, the same factors need to be considered as when authorising 
surveillance regulated by RIPA. 

The flowchart at the end of this Appendix will also assist.

Data Protection Compliance

When doing covert surveillance of employees not regulated by RIPA, the Data Protection 
Act 1998 (DPA) will apply as personal information about living individuals will be being 
processed e.g. their movements, photographs etc. 
The Information Commissioner has published a Data Protection Employment Practices 
Code of Practice (available at www.ico.gov.uk).  Part 3 of this code covers all types of 
employee surveillance from video monitoring and vehicle tracking to email and internet 
surveillance. It gives guidance on how to do employee surveillance in a way which complies 
with the DPA. Whilst the code is not law, it can be taken into account by the Information 
Commissioner and the courts in deciding whether the DPA has been complied with. 
The code states that employee monitoring should take place for a clear justified purpose 
and employees should be aware that it is taking place. With regard to covert surveillance it 
states that it will be rare for such monitoring to be justified. It should therefore only be used 
in exceptional circumstances e.g. prevention or detection of crime or serious malpractice.

One of the other main recommendations of the code is that senior management should 
normally authorise any covert monitoring of employees. They should satisfy themselves 
that there are grounds for suspecting criminal activity or equivalent malpractice. They 
should carry out an impact assessment and consider whether the surveillance is necessary 
and proportionate to what is sought to be achieved.

The code sets out other rules that local authorities (and others) need to consider when 
doing covert surveillance of employees:

 Prior to the investigation, clear rules must be set up limiting the disclosure and 
access to information obtained.

 The number of people involved in a covert monitoring exercise should be limited.
 The surveillance must be strictly targeted at obtaining evidence within a set time 

frame and it should not continue after the investigation is complete.
 If using audio or video equipment, this should not normally be used in places such as 

toilets or private offices.
 Information obtained through covert monitoring should only be used for the 

prevention or detection of criminal activity or serious malpractice. 

Page 203

http://www.ico.gov.uk/


 Other information collected in the course of monitoring should be disregarded and, 
where feasible, deleted unless it reveals information that no employer could 
reasonably be expected to ignore.

Non – RIPA Surveillance Form

In both the above cases it is important to have a proper audit trail through written records. 
In his annual report (2011/2012) the Chief Surveillance Commissioner (at paragraph 5.22) 
emphasises this:

“I occasionally encourage the use of similar authorisation mechanisms for activity 
which cannot be protected by the Acts (for example where covert techniques are 
used to identify a missing person when no crime is suspected). In these 
circumstances statutory definitions are met but none of the grounds specified in 
RIPA section 28(3) or RIP(S)A section 6(3), yet the human rights of the subject of 
surveillance must be considered. The authorisation process provides a useful audit 
of decisions and actions.”

Non-RIPA surveillance will only be carried out if it is authorised by Council officers who are 
of sufficient seniority i.e. Service Managers (or equivalent) and above, and who have been 
appropriately trained. The Non-RIPA Authorisation form at the end of this appendix will be 
used for such authorisation. As an added quality assurance check, the completed Non-
RIPA Authorisation form must be provided to, and approved by the RIPA Coordinator, 
before any such surveillance takes place. This will ensure both consistency of approach 
and compliance with the relevant law and guidance so that this type of surveillance is only 
carried out where it is appropriate, necessary and proportionate to do so. The surveillance 
should cease as soon as the surveillance is no longer necessary and a Non-RIPA 
Cancellation form should be completed.

If the Council authorises a non-employee (e.g. an enquiry agent) to conduct covert 
surveillance then that person/company is acting as an agent for the Council. The 
Authorising Officer must ensure that the person/company is competent and they have 
provided a written acknowledgment that they are an agent of the Council and will comply 
with the authorisation

As with Directed Surveillance and CHIS, Non-RIPA authorisation and cancellation forms 
should be provided to the RIPA Coordinator who will maintain a central record of such 
authorisations/cancellations.

Page 204



Flowchart - Authorising Non RIPA Surveillance

Q.1 – Is the surveillance necessary

Q.2 – Is the surveillance
proportionate?

Consider:
• Size and scope of operation
• Methods to be adopted
• Alternative means available
• Appropriate use of legislation
• Impact on suspect

What is the purpose of
the surveillance?

For example:
• Crime
• Public order
• Public safety
• Staff malpractice
• Child protection
• Other serious matter

Q.3 – Have you considered 
what you can do (if anything)
to minimise/avoid 
collateral intrusion?

Consider e.g.:
• Size and scope of operation
• Means/equipment used
• Timing of surveillance
• Duration of surveillance

CANNOT BE
AUTHORISED

SEEK WRITTEN AUTHORITY

YES

YES

YES

NO
NO

NO

Page 205



Unique Reference Number 

39
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Appendix A2

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Application for Authorisation of Directed Surveillance

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion 

This form is to be completed by an officer of the local authority seeking authorisation to carry out Directed 
Surveillance. Before completing it, you must satisfy yourself that you are doing Directed Surveillance as 
defined by RIPA. Please read chapter 2 of the Covert Surveillance Code of Practice.

Once completed, this form should be forwarded to the Authorising Officer for approval and to complete 
box 12 onwards.  The next step is to seek the approval of a Magistrate. If this is granted, the authorisation 
will last for three months. 

Code of Practice/Code: This is the RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which are issued by the same 
department. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant 
initials and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in 
others this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules. 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Investigating Officer (if a person other than the 
applicant)

This section is fairly explanatory. Where a third party (e.g. private detective agency or the police) is used to 
carry out Directed Surveillance on behalf of the authority or to give operational support, details of that 
party and their involvement should be recorded on this form. See paragraph 3.15 - 3.22 of the Code.

Page 206

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

40
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

DETAILS OF APPLICATION

1. Give rank or position of authorising officer in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
(Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010; No.521. 1

Insert the name and position of the Authorising Officer. This is the person who will decide whether or not 
Directed Surveillance should be authorised and will countersign this form. He/she must hold a rank in 
accordance with the above Order (i.e. Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent). Care should 
be taken to avoid more junior officers authorising surveillance. Each department, which makes regular use of 
Directed Surveillance, will have officers appointed as such. If in doubt consult the RIPA Co-ordinator.  

2. Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation.

Explain the crime, which is being investigated. For example;

 “To investigate and gather evidence of a possible benefit fraud by the target.”
 “To investigate instances of illegal dumping of waste at ....”
 “To investigate criminal damage which has been perpetrated against…”

If possible, include the relevant legislation that may be used to prosecute offenders and/or which gives you 
the power/duty to investigate the matter.

3. Describe in detail the surveillance operation to be authorised and expected duration, including any 
premises, vehicles or equipment (e.g. camera, binoculars, and recorder) that may be used.

Read the above carefully. Note the phrase “in detail.” Therefore a response which merely states “Video 
camera and recording equipment will be installed at a fixed point” will not be adequate.

Your statement here needs to include what is going to be done, who is going to do it, when they are going to 
do it, where they are going to do it and how they are going to do it. Other points to address here include:

 How long will the surveillance last?
 Specific details about dates and times i.e. is it 24/7, at specific times of the day or at random times?
 Which premises are to be used and/or targeted?
 Which vehicles are to be used? Are they public or private?
 What type of equipment is to be used? e.g. covert cameras, audio devices
 What is the capability of the equipment to be used? e.g. zoom lense, remote controlled etc.
 Who else will be involved in the operation and what will be their role? e.g. private detectives, police

It may be appropriate to attach plans/maps showing where and how the surveillance will be conducted and 
indicating where any surveillance equipment will be installed.

Note that, if the Authorising Officer approves this surveillance, the authorisation will only cover you to do 
what you have stated here (subject to any amendments made by the Authorising Officer in box 12). 
Consequently you can only rely on section 27 (“the RIPA Shield/Defence”) in so far as you were undertaking 
the activities set out in this section. Therefore it pays to include lots of detail. 

1  For local authorities:  The exact position of the authorising officer should be given.  For example, Head of Trading Standards.

Page 207

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

41
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

4. The identities, where known, of those to be subject of the directed surveillance.

 Name:
 Address:
 DOB:
 Other information as appropriate:

Include as much information as you have. If you do not know the identity of the target then say so. You could 
include a general description of the target(s) e.g. “visitors and/or residents of ASBO lane (identities unknown) 
who are alleged to be selling counterfeit goods at the property.”

5. Explain the information that it is desired to obtain as a result of the directed surveillance.

Your statement here should be more detailed than in Box 2. You should give details of the precise 
information sought by doing the surveillance. For example:

 “To ascertain what time the suspect enters and leaves the building.”
 “To capture images of the perpetrators of criminal damage at [place/address].”
 “To find out who is delivering the counterfeit goods to the suspect’s premises [place/address].”
 “To corroborate the evidence of witnesses who have complained about racially aggravated 

               anti social behaviour.”

You may include a number of separate pieces of information it is hoped to be obtained by doing the 
surveillance e.g. “where the alleged perpetrator is dumping the illegal waste, who he is employing him and 
when it is being done.”

6. Identify on which grounds the directed surveillance is necessary under Section 28(3) of RIPA. Delete 
those that are inapplicable. Ensure that you know which of these grounds you are entitled to rely on. 
(SI 2010 No.521)

 In the interests of national security;
 For the purpose of preventing or detecting crime 
 In the interests of the economic well-being of the United Kingdom;
 In the interests of public safety;
 for the purpose of protecting public health;
 for the purpose of assessing or collecting any tax, duty, levy or other imposition, contribution or charge payable 

to a government department;

From 1st November 2012, local authorities can only authorise Directed Surveillance on the one ground: where 
it is necessary to prevent or detect crime. If you are not investigating a criminal offence (e.g. merely seeking 
to prevent disorder/anti social behaviour) then you cannot seek authorisation for this Directed Surveillance. 
Box 7 explains the requirements in more detail.

Page 208

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

42
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

7. Explain why this directed surveillance is necessary on the grounds you have identified [Code 
paragraph 3.3]

The OSC Document states that the Authorising Officer must be satisfied that there is a necessity to use covert 
surveillance in the proposed operation. In order to be satisfied, there must be an identifiable offence to 
prevent or detect before an authorisation can be granted on the grounds falling within S. 28(3)(b) of RIPA.

From 1st November 2012, pursuant to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and 
Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012, (SI 2012/1500), local authority Authorising 
Officers may not authorise Directed Surveillance unless it is for the purpose of preventing or detecting a 
criminal offence and it meets the condition set out in New Article 7A(3)(a) or (b) of the 2010 Order (SI 2010 
no.521). Those conditions are that the criminal offence which is sought to be prevented or detected is 
punishable, whether on summary conviction or on indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months 
imprisonment, or would constitute an offence under sections 146, 147 or 147A of the Licensing Act 2003 or 
section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933. The latter are all offences involving sale of tobacco and 
alcohol to underage children. 

To address the above, you should explain here:

 The criminal offence you are investigating
 How it satisfies the six month threshold test (or falls within the exceptions) explained above
 How doing the Directed Surveillance will help the prevention or detection of the crime
 Any other evidence you have to link the target with the offender/offence which requires 

corroboration through surveillance

8. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is unavoidable. [Bear in 
mind Code paragraphs 3.8 to 3.11.]

      Describe precautions you will take to minimise collateral intrusion

When doing Directed Surveillance you may be invading the privacy of those who are not your target. RIPA 
requires you to think about their rights and what you can do to minimise the impact on them of your 
surveillance. People who may be the subject of collateral intrusion include:

 customers or workers at business premises
 visitors to a property
 friends or relatives of the suspect
 other people living on a housing estate where covert cameras have been set up to capture vandalism

The Code of Practice states:

“3.9 …Where such collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised, provided this 
intrusion is considered proportionate to what is sought to be achieved. The same proportionality tests apply 
to the likelihood of collateral intrusion as to intrusion into the privacy of the intended subject of the 
surveillance.

3.10. All applications should therefore include an assessment of the risk of collateral intrusion and details of 
any measures taken to limit this, to enable the authorising officer fully to consider the proportionality of the 
proposed actions.”

Page 209

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

43
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

When completing this section, three points should be addressed:

Firstly, identify which third parties will be the subjects of collateral intrusion and what that intrusion will be 
i.e. what information will be captured about them?

Secondly, state why this is unavoidable. This could be because of the nature of the premises (e.g. a 
restaurant) or because of what the person is doing (e.g. visiting the subject/target premises). In some cases 
there will always be third parties around who will be captured on film or whose activities will be 
recorded/observed in some way.

Thirdly, set out what steps you have taken to minimise collateral intrusion, if this is possible. This may 
include:

 using a still camera rather than a video camera
 switching covert cameras on at specific times rather than leaving them to run all the time
 narrowing the field of vision or the place where the cameras are cited
 reducing the amount of surveillance done at busy times to capture fewer people e.g. when targeting 

shops or places of worship
 Pixelating the faces of people who are not targets if recordings are to be viewed by a wider audience 

e.g. a court

If you cannot minimise collateral intrusion you still need to show that you have considered it. In some 
situations all you may be able to state is that you cannot do anything to minimise collateral intrusion but you 
will not be making any decisions based upon the information gathered about third parties unless it shows 
them committing a criminal offence. Furthermore, you will ensure that officers who do the surveillance or 
view any recordings are mindful of who the real target of the surveillance is.

9. Explain why this directed surveillance is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. How intrusive 
might it be on the subject of surveillance or on others? And why is this intrusion outweighed by the 
need for surveillance in operational terms or can the evidence be obtained by any other means? 
[Code paragraph 3.4 to 3.7]

The Code of Practice contains detailed guidance on proportionality:

 “3.4…This involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the target of the operation 
(or any other person who might be affected) against the need for the activity in investigative and operational 
terms.”

 “ 3.5 The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall circumstances of the case. 
Each action authorised should bring an expected benefit to the investigation or operation and should not be 
disproportionate or arbitrary. The fact that a suspected offence may be serious will not alone render 
intrusive actions proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor that any deployment of covert 
techniques would be disproportionate. No activity should be considered proportionate if the information 
which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.”

Paragraph 3.6 requires you demonstrate that you have:
 balanced the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent of the perceived 

crime or offence;

Page 210

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

44
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

 explained how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion on the 
target and others;

 considered whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a reasonable way, having 
considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the necessary result; 

 evidenced, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been considered and why they 
were not implemented.

In order to comply with the above you need to address the following questions:

• Can you get information/evidence using less intrusive means/ overt methods?
• What other means have you tried to obtain the same information/evidence?
• What have you done to try and lessen the impact on the target? Factors to address include:

– Amount of information to be gathered during surveillance
– The method of surveillance e.g. using still cameras rather than video to capture less 

information or using one camera rather than two.
– Impact of the surveillance on the subject
– Timing of the surveillance

At the same time, the above must be balanced with the need for the activity in operational terms. To 
demonstrate this balance you should address:

•  What you are seeking to achieve
•  The seriousness and extent of the offence
•  The impact of the offence on the victims (and others), the wider community and the public purse

For more guidance on proportionality see the examples on page 27 of the Code and also paragraph 106 of 
the OSC Document.

10. Confidential information. [Code paragraphs 4.1 to 4.31]
INDICATE THE LIKELIHOOD OF ACQUIRING ANY CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION:

This is defined in paragraph 4.1 of the Code as consisting of communications subject to legal privilege, 
communication between an MP and another person on constituency matters, confidential personal 
information and confidential journalistic material. So, for example, extra care should be taken where, 
through the use of surveillance, it would be possible to acquire knowledge of discussions between a minister 
of religion and an individual relating to the latter’s spiritual welfare, or where matters of medical or 
journalistic confidentiality may be involved. Where such material has been acquired and retained, the matter 
should be reported to the OSC during the next inspection and the material should be made available to them 
if requested.

Local authorities are unlikely to come across this kind of information during routine surveillance operations. 
However you have to be alive to the possibility and include wording here to show you have thought about it. 
For example, where you will be following someone who may attend a church, mosque or hospital.

Note that in cases where you will be acquiring confidential information as part of a Directed Surveillance 
operation, the authorisation has to be granted by the Chief Executive or, in his or her absence, the acting 
Chief Executive. 

Page 211

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

45
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

11. Applicant’s Details.

Name (print) Tel No:

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

12. Authorising Officer's Statement. [Spell out the “5 Ws” – Who; What; Where; When; Why and HOW– in 
this and the following box.]

I hereby authorise directed surveillance defined as follows: [Why is the surveillance necessary, Who is the 
surveillance directed against, Where and When will it take place, What surveillance activity/equipment is 
sanctioned, How is it to be achieved?] 

This section is for the Authorising Officer to complete. Authorising Officers should not normally be responsible 
for authorising operations in which they are directly involved. See paragraph 5.7 of the Code.

This section should not be pre completed by the Investigating Officer. Sufficient detail must be included here 
to demonstrate that the Authorising Officer has considered the application objectively. Reference can be 
made to the boxes completed by the Investigating Officer above but “cut and paste” should be avoided. The 
five “Ws” stated above must be addressed in detail. This is important so that the Investigating Officers are 
clear as to what they can and cannot do and the means they can adopt.
 
The Authorising Officer should also consider what is being authorised is not in conflict with previous or other 
current authorisations.

The Authorising Officer should not be afraid to reject the application if it lacks clarity or detail. Furthermore, 
the OSC Document recommends that if an application fails to include an element in the proposed activity 
which in the opinion of the Authorising Officer should have been included (for example, the return of 
something to the place from which it is to be taken for some specified activity), or which is subsequently 
requested orally by the Investigating Officer, it may be included in the authorisation; if so a note should be 
added explaining why. Conversely, if an Authorising Officer does not authorise all that was requested, a note 
should be added explaining why.

Page 212

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

46
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

13. Explain why you believe the directed surveillance is necessary. [Code paragraph 3.3]
      Explain why you believe the directed surveillance to be proportionate to what is sought to be
      achieved by carrying it out. [Code paragraph 3.4 to 3.7]

The OSC Document (paragraph 105) states that the Authorising Officer should state why he/she believes that 
the Directed Surveillance is necessary and proportionate. A bare assertion is insufficient.

You may refer to box 7 and 9 when completing this section. Set out what matters in the respective boxes you 
have given particular weight to when considering necessity and proportionality. You can also add any 
additional factors you have considered. 

To demonstrate that you have given the issues due thought, it is important not to “cut and paste” the 
Investigating Officer’s wording or to just state “see box 7 and 9”.

14. (Confidential Information Authorisation.) Supply detail demonstrating compliance with Code 
paragraphs 4.1 to 4.31

Box 10 (above) explains Confidential Information. This box should only to be completed if you are likely to 
obtain Confidential Information through Directed Surveillance. If in doubt speak to the RIPA Co ordinator.

Date of first review

Programme for subsequent reviews of this authorisation: [Code paragraph 3.23]. Only complete this box 
if review dates after first review are known. If not or inappropriate to set additional review dates then 
leave blank.

Reviews should be done as frequently as is considered necessary and practicable. The Code draws particular 
attention to the need to review authorisations frequently where the surveillance involves a high level of 
intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or where confidential information is likely to be 
obtained. During a review, consideration will have to be given to whether the surveillance is still necessary and 
proportionate. A standard form is available to record the review. 

Name (Print) Grade / Rank State the position of the Authorising 
Officer e.g. Director of Environmental 
Services

Signature Date and time

According to the Code of Practice (paragraph 5.7), Authorising Officers should not normally be responsible for 
authorising operations in which they are directly involved, although it is recognised that this may sometimes 
be unavoidable, especially in the case of small organisations, or where it is necessary to act urgently or for 
security reasons. Where an Authorising Officer authorises such an investigation or operation the Central 
Record should highlight this and the attention of the OSC should be drawn to it during the next inspection.

Page 213

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

47
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

 Expiry date and time [ e.g.: authorisation granted on 1 April 
2005 - expires on 30 June 2005, 23.59 ]

All authorisations automatically last for 
three months. You cannot authorise for 
shorter periods. Even in the case of time 
limited surveillance operations you must 
cancel the authorisation as soon as the 
surveillance has been completed.

15. Urgent Authorisation [Code paragraphs 5.9]:  Authorising officer: explain why you considered the case 
so urgent that an oral instead of a written authorisation was given.

Local authorities can no longer use the Urgent(Oral) Authorisation procedure due to the need to have all 
authorisations approved in writing by a Magistrate. See paragraph 3.30 of the Code of Practice.

16. If you are only entitled to act in urgent cases: explain why it was not reasonably practicable for the 
application to be considered by a fully qualified authorising officer

Not applicable – see box 15

Name (Print) Grade/ Rank

Signature Date and Time

Urgent authorisation 
Expiry date:

Expiry time:

Remember the 72 hour rule 
for urgent authorities – 
check Code of Practice.

e.g. authorisation granted 
at 5pm on June 1st expires 
4.59pm on 4th June

WHAT NEXT?

The Directed Surveillance cannot be undertaken until a Magistrate has approved the authorisation. 
Once the authorisation has been approved a copy of this form (together with the Magistrate’s Order) must 
be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator so that he/she can update the Central Record. 

Page 214

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

53
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Renewal of a Directed Surveillance Authorisation

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

(Please attach a copy of the original authorisation.)

This form is to be completed by an officer of the local authority when the original authorisation period has 
expired but Directed Surveillance is still required. An application for renewal should not be made until 
shortly before the original authorisation period is drawing to an end. Any person who would be entitled to 
grant a new authorisation can renew an authorisation. However the renewal has to be approved by a 
Magistrate in the same way the original authorisation was. If this is done, the authorisation will last for a 
further period of three months.

Code of Practice/Code: This is the revised RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice. Before completing this 
form please read paragraphs 5.12 -5.16 of the Code.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which are issued by the same 
department. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant 
initials and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in 
others this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules.

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Renewal Number This should be a sequential number reflecting the number of times this 
particular Directed Surveillance authorisation has been renewed.

Page 215

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

54
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of renewal:

1. Renewal numbers and dates of any previous renewals.

Renewal Number Date

2. Detail any significant changes to the information as listed in the original authorisation as it applies at 
the time of the renewal.

Has anything changed in the way the surveillance is going to be carried out e.g. different premises targeted, 
different times when it will be done or equipment used etc.?

Has more information come to light reflecting greater need for surveillance e.g. seriousness of the offence, 
new victims, new witnesses etc.?

3. Detail the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the directed surveillance.

Set out how far you have achieved the desired objective. What more information is required?

Are you still investigating a criminal offence which meets the criteria set out in the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012 i.e. a crime 
punishable with maximum term of at least 6 months imprisonment, or one which involves the sale of tobacco 
and alcohol to underage children?

You may refer to box 7 of the original authorisation application form and state what has or has not changed.
See also the notes for that box for more guidance on necessity.

4. Detail why the directed surveillance is still proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.

You may refer to box 9 of the original authorisation application form and state what has or has not changed. 
See also the notes for that box for more guidance on proportionality.

State any further considerations which show that Directed Surveillance is still proportionate. In the light of the 
surveillance done so far, will you do things differently to ensure proportionality. e.g. reduce the times of 
surveillance or use different equipment?

5. Indicate the content and value to the investigation or operation of the information so far obtained by 
the directed surveillance.

This box requires you to review the information you have obtained so far by doing Directed Surveillance. It 
may be useful to refer to any review forms completed in relation to this surveillance.

Page 216

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

55
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

6. Give details of the results of the regular reviews of the investigation or operation.

This box requires you to look back at the review forms completed during the duration of the original 
authorisation that you are seeking to renew. You may wish to attach copies of the review forms or quote their 
unique reference numbers.

7. Applicant's Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

8. Authorising Officer's Comments.  This box must be completed.

The Authorising Officer should set out here why he/she believes that the original authorisation should be 
renewed taking care to explain the necessity (box 3) and proportionality (box 4) considerations.  Reference can 
be made to the original authorisation application form for assistance, as many of the original considerations 
may still be relevant.

9. Authorising Officer's Statement.

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the renewal of the directed surveillance operation as detailed above.  The renewal 
of this authorisation will last for 3 months unless renewed in writing.
This authorisation will be reviewed frequently to assess the need for the authorisation to continue.

Name (Print) Grade / Rank

Signature Date

Renewal From: Time: Date:

Date of first review.

Date of subsequent reviews of this authorisation.

Do not forget to set review dates. Reviews should be done as frequently as is considered necessary and 
practicable. The Code draws particular attention to the need to review authorisations frequently where the 
surveillance involves a high level of intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or where 
confidential information is likely to be obtained. During a review, consideration will have to be given to 
whether the surveillance is still necessary and proportionate. A standard form is available to record the 
review

WHAT NEXT?

This renewal will not take effect until a Magistrate has approved it. 
Once the renewal has been approved a copy of this form (together with the Magistrate’s Order) must be 
sent to the RIPA Co ordinator so that he/she can update the Central Record. 
 

Page 217

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

49
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Review of a Directed Surveillance authorisation

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

Regular reviews of all Directed Surveillance authorisations should be undertaken to assess whether they 
should continue or whether the criteria, upon which the original decision to grant an authorisation was 
based, have changed sufficiently to require the authorisation to be revoked. Before completing this form 
please read the Code of Practice (paragraph 3.23 - 3.27). Unlike authorisations and renewals of Directed 
Surveillance, a review does not have to be approved by a Magistrate.

Reviews should be done as frequently as is considered necessary and practicable. The Code draws 
particular attention to the need to review authorisations frequently where the surveillance involves a high 
level of intrusion into private life or involves significant collateral intrusion, or where confidential 
information is likely to be obtained. 

The actual review is the responsibility of the original Authorising Officer and should, as a matter of good 
practice, be conducted by them or, failing that, by an officer who would be entitled to grant a new 
authorisation in the same terms. Support staff and Investigating Officers can though do the necessary 
research, prepare the review process and complete this form up to box 8.

Code of Practice/Code: This is the RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which are issued by the same 
department. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant 
initials and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in 
others this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules. 

Public Authority
(including address)

Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Operation Name Operation Number*
*Filing Ref

Date of authorisation or 
last renewal

Expiry date of 
authorisation or last 
renewal

Review Number

The above is self explanatory.  An additional requirement is an Operation Number. This may be specific to 
police procedures. Local authorities may decide to just use the Unique Reference Number. 

Page 218

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

50
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of review:

1. Review number and dates of any previous reviews.

Review Number Date

If this review is part of a series of reviews then the date(s) and number(s) of the 
previous review(s) must be inserted.

2. Summary of the investigation/operation to date, including what private information has been 
obtained and the value of the information so far obtained.

Summarise what has been done so far. Set out what information you have obtained so far by doing 
Directed Surveillance.  Private Information is any information about a person’s private or family life and will 
include details of relationships, next of kin, religious activity, visitors to the target property etc.

You also need to bring to the attention of the Authorising Officer any proposed or unforeseen changes to 
the nature or extent of the surveillance operation that may result in the further or greater intrusion into 
the private life of any person. Any such changes must also be highlighted at the next renewal if the 
authorisation is to be renewed.

Where a Directed Surveillance authorisation provides for the surveillance of unidentified individuals whose 
identity is later established, the terms of the authorisation should be refined here to include the identity of 
those individuals. See Paragraph 3.27 of the Code.

3. Detail the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the directed surveillance.

Set out how far you have achieved the desired objective. What more information is required?

You may refer to box 7 of the original authorisation application form and state what has or has not 
changed. See also the guidance notes for that box for more information on necessity.

4. Explain how the proposed activity is still proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.

You may refer to box 9 of the original authorisation application form and state what has or has not 
changed. See also the notes for box 9 for more guidance on proportionality.

State any further considerations which show that Directed Surveillance is still proportionate. In the light of 
the surveillance done so far will you do things differently to ensure proportionality e.g. reduce the times of 
surveillance or use different equipment?

5. Detail any incidents of collateral intrusion and the likelihood of any further incidents of collateral 
intrusions occurring.

For an explanation of collateral intrusion see the notes in box 8 of the original authorisation application 
form. Consider :

 Have you recorded information about third parties? If so what?
 Can you do things differently to avoid the collateral intrusion?

Page 219

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

51
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

6. Give details of any confidential information acquired or accessed and the likelihood of acquiring 
confidential information.

For an explanation of confidential information see the notes in box 10 of the original authorisation 
application form. For the reasons explained therein it is unlikely that you will say anything here other than 
“No confidential information has been acquired or accessed or is likely to be acquired or accessed.”

7. Applicant's Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

8. Review Officer's Comments, including whether or not the directed surveillance should continue.

As the reviewing officer, you should set out here why you believe that the original authorisation should 
continue;  taking care to explain the necessity and proportionality considerations.  You may refer to the 
original authorisation application form for assistance, as many of the original considerations may still be 
relevant. You should also consider:

 whether any proposed changes to the surveillance are proportionate (bearing in mind any extra 
intended intrusion into privacy or collateral intrusion)

 whether you need to amend the original authorisation yourself in the light of what you have read 
above e.g. reduce the timings of the surveillance or length of the operation etc.

You should make a recommendation to the Authorising Officer to cancel, renew or amend the original 
authorisation as appropriate.

9. Authorising Officer's Statement.

I, [insert name], hereby agree that the directed surveillance investigation/operation as detailed above 
[should/should not] continue [until its next review/renewal] [it should be cancelled immediately].

As the Authorising Officer, if you decide that the authorisation should be cancelled you should explain your 
reasons. The cancellation form must now be completed. You should also immediately issue instructions to 
Investigating Officers to stop any further surveillance.

If you decide that the authorisation should continue, you should explain your reasons and, if need be, set a 
further review date (below) bearing in mind the length of the surveillance operation and its impact on the 
target(s) and others.

Name (Print) Grade / Rank

Signature Date

10. Date of next review

NOTE: Once an authorisation has been reviewed, a copy of this form must be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator 
so that he/she can update the Central Record. It must be kept for 5 years.

Page 220

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

57
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

NON-RIPA Authorisation Cancellation Form

Cancellation of an authorisation to conduct covert surveillance not regulated 
by RIPA

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

This form is to be completed when cancelling an authorisation for Surveillance not regulated by RIPA. It is 
not a statutory requirement but is best practice. An authorisation should be cancelled as soon as it is no 
longer required or no longer meets the criteria upon which it was authorised. The Authorising Officer who 
granted or last renewed the authorisation must cancel it. Where that officer is no longer available, this 
duty will fall on the person who has taken over that role or the person who is acting as such. 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Page 221

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

58
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of cancellation:

1. Explain the reason(s) for the cancellation of the authorisation:

This section is self explanatory. Reasons could include:

“It is no longer necessary; we have obtained all the information we need.”
“It is no longer proportionate; the intrusion into the suspect’s private life cannot be justified.”
“We do not have the resources to continue.”
“This was a short time limited operation.”
“The three month time limit has expired and we have decided to use other investigation methods.”

2. Explain the value of surveillance in the operation:

State what actual surveillance was carried out under the authorisation.
Explain what was achieved through the surveillance including information acquired as well as any 
surveillance product e.g. photographs, recordings etc.
How is the surveillance product being stored, destroyed or otherwise handled? 
How does the information/surveillance product assist with your investigation/prosecution? You may wish to 
look back at the original authorisation application form for this surveillance, in particular box 2 and box 5.

3. Authorising officer's statement.

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the cancellation of the directed surveillance investigation/operation as detailed 
above.

Also include here directions to the Investigating Officers for the management and storage of the product of 
the surveillance e.g. photographs and other evidence. 

Name (Print) Grade

Signature Date

4. Time and Date of when the authorising officer instructed the surveillance to cease.

Date: Time:

It is important to formally instruct Investigating Officers to immediately cease any surveillance which is still 
ongoing and record that fact here.

5. Authorisation cancelled Date: Time:

NOTE: Once an authorisation has been cancelled, a copy of this form must be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator 
so that he/she can update the Central Record.

Page 222

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

59
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000
Application for authorisation of the conduct or use of a Covert Human 

Intelligence Source (CHIS)
 Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion 

This form is to be completed by an officer of the local authority seeking authorisation for the deployment 
of a CHIS.  Before completing it please read chapter 2 of the CHIS Code of Practice and chapter 6 (to 
understand the procedures that need to be in place to manage the CHIS). Once completed, this form 
should be forwarded to the Authorising Officer for approval and to complete box 13 onwards.  The next 
step is to seek the approval of a Magistrate. If this is granted, the authorisation will last for twelve months. 

Code of Practice/Code: The Covert Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which does the same department 
issue. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant initials 
and investigation number. In some organisations the RIPA Co ordinator allocates the URN.

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Service/Department/
Branch

How will the source be referred to? i.e. what will 
be his/her pseudonym or reference number

You need to consider whether it is appropriate to 
use a pseudonym for the CHIS where the operation 
involves the CHIS being placed in a dangerous 
situation e.g. a CHIS who is part of a gang engaging 
in anti social behaviour on a housing estate. In other 
cases the use of the real name or reference number 
will suffice.

The name, rank or position of the person within 
the relevant investigating authority who will have 
day to day responsibility for dealing with the 
source, including the source’s security and 
welfare. (Often referred to as the Handler)

This is a requirement of the Act (S.29(5)(a) and the 
Code (paragraph 6.7). The Handler will usually be 
someone below the rank or position of the 
Authorising Officer.  His/her job will include giving 
tasks to the CHIS e.g. to make a series of test 
purchases from a shop etc. 

The name, rank or position of another person 
within the relevant investigating authority who 
will have general oversight of the use made of the 
source. (Often referred to as the Controller)

This is the person referred to in Act (section 
29(5)(b)) who will be responsible for the 
management and supervision of the Handler and 
the general oversight of the use made of the CHIS.

Who will be responsible for retaining (in secure, 
strictly controlled conditions, with need-to-know 
access) the source’s true identity, a record of the 
use made of the source and the particulars 
required under RIP (Source Records) Regulations 
2000 (SI 2000/2725)?

This is the person in your organisation who 
maintains the Source Records in accordance with 
the Code (chapter 7) and the stated Regulations.

Investigation/Operation

Name (if applicable)

Page 223

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

60
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

DETAILS OF APPLICATION

1. Give rank or position of authorising officer in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010; No.521 2 Where 
appropriate throughout amend references to the Order relevant to your authority.

Insert the name and position of the Authorising Officer. This is the person who will decide whether or not 
the deployment of a CHIS should be authorised and will countersign this form. He/she must hold a rank in 
accordance with the above Order (i.e. Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent). Each 
department, which makes regular use of a CHIS, will have officers appointed as such. Care should be taken 
to avoid more junior officers signing authorisations. If in doubt consult the RIPA Co ordinator. 

Please note where the CHIS operation involves the acquisition of confidential information (see box 11) or 
where the CHIS is a vulnerable individual (as defined in paragraph 4.23 of the Code) or a juvenile source (as 
defined in paragraph 4.24 of the Code) then this authorisation can only be granted by the Chief Executive 
or, in his/her absence, the acting Chief Executive.

2. Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation.

Explain the crime or disorder, which is being investigated. For example;

 “To investigate acts of vandalism and antisocial behaviour on X Housing Estate”
 “To investigate and gather evidence of the supply of meat unfit for human consumption [brief 

details]”
 “To investigate the operation of an illegal fly tipping business [brief details]”
 “To investigate the sale of dangerous goods to children in X Market”

If possible, include the relevant legislation that may be used to prosecute offenders and/or which gives you 
the power/duty to investigate the crime or disorder.

3. Describe in detail the purpose for which the source will be tasked or used.

What are you hoping to achieve by deploying the CHIS? For example:

 “To ascertain the extent of the suspect’s alleged trade in clocked cars and who his suppliers are”
 “To collect evidence of drug dealing and noise nuisance on X Housing Estate”

Some background information about the investigation may be included to give the Authorising Officer an 
understanding of the context of the CHIS operation.

4. Describe in detail the proposed covert conduct of the source or how the source is to be used.

2 For local authorities:  The formal position of the authorising officer should be given.  For example, Head of Trading Standards.

Page 224

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

61
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

Your statement here needs to include what activities the CHIS will be tasked with to fulfil the purpose set 
out in box 3. Points to address here include:

 What the CHIS will do e.g. “to pretend to be a new tenant on X Housing Estate with a view to 
obtaining information about drug dealing from local residents by forming relationships with them.”

 Where are they going to do it?
 How long will the task last?
 When are they going to do it?
 Which premises are to be used and/or targeted?
 What type of equipment is going to be used e.g. hidden camera or microphone on the CHIS?

Note that if the Authorising Officer approves the deployment of the CHIS then the authorisation will only 
cover you to deploy the CHIS as stated here (subject to any amendments made by the Authorising Officer 
in box 13). Consequently you can rely on section 27 (“the RIPA Shield/Defence”) only in so far as the CHIS 
was undertaking the activities set out in this section. Therefore it pays to be detailed in this section.

If you are using more than one CHIS in an operation, state the URN of that other authorisation here.

5. Identify on which grounds the conduct or the use of the source is necessary under Section 29(3) of 
RIPA. Delete those that are inapplicable. Ensure that you know which of these grounds you are entitled 
to rely on. (e.g. SI 2010 N0.521)

 In the interests of national security;
 For the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder;
 In the interests of the economic well-being of the United Kingdom;
 In the interests of public safety;
 for the purpose of protecting public health;
 for the purpose of assessing or collecting any tax, duty, levy or other imposition, contribution or charge 

payable to a government department.

Local authorities can only authorise the use or conduct of a CHIS for the purpose of preventing or detecting 
crime or of preventing disorder.  Therefore all other grounds should be deleted. If you believe that the 
deployment of the CHIS does not come under this heading then stop and seek advice from Legal Services 
and/or the RIPA Co ordinator.

6. Explain why this conduct or use of the source is necessary on the grounds you have identified [Code 
paragraph 3.2]

The Authorising Officer must be satisfied that there is a necessity to use a CHIS in the proposed operation. 
You should explain here:

 What crime or disorder you are investigating.
 How the use of the CHIS lead to prevention or detection of that crime or prevention of that 

disorder 
 Any other evidence you have to link the target with the offender/offence which requires 

corroboration through use of the CHIS

Page 225

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

62
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

7. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is unavoidable. [Bear in 
mind Code paragraphs 3.8 to 3.11.] Describe precautions you will take to minimise collateral intrusion 
and how any will be managed.

When deploying a CHIS you may be invading the privacy of those who are not your target e.g. customers at 
a shop, friends or relatives of the target. RIPA requires you to think about their rights and what you can do 
to minimise the impact of your surveillance on them.

The Code of Practice states:

“3.9 …Where such collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised, provided this 
collateral intrusion is considered proportionate to the aims of the intended intrusion. Any collateral 
intrusion should be kept to the minimum necessary to achieve the objective of the operation.
3.10. All applications should therefore include an assessment of the risk of any collateral intrusion and 
details of any measures taken to limit this, to enable the authorising officer fully to consider the 
proportionality of the proposed use or conduct of a CHIS.”
 
People who may be the subject of collateral intrusion include:

 customers or workers at business premises
 visitors to a property
 friends or relatives of the suspect or person with whom the CHIS has formed a relationship

Firstly, identify whose privacy may be invaded by the deployment of the CHIS.

Secondly, state why it is unavoidable. This could be because of the nature of the premises (e.g. restaurant) 
or because of what the person is doing (e.g. visiting the target); there will always be third parties present 
who will not know that the CHIS is there for a covert purpose or that their activities are being 
recorded/observed in some way.

Thirdly, set out what steps (if any) you have taken to minimise collateral intrusion and how this will be 
managed. This may include:

 If the CHIS is to visit public premises (e.g. a restaurant or a retail outlet) he/she will only do so at 
less busy times to ensure fewer customers’ privacy is invaded

 If the CHIS will be using a hidden microphone he/she will only switch it on when the target is 
present

If you cannot minimise collateral intrusion you still need to show you have considered it. You may wish to 
add that you cannot do anything to minimise it but you will not be making any decisions based on the 
information gathered about third parties unless it shows them committing a criminal offence. You must 
also remind your officers of the purpose and target of the surveillance and the need to keep information 
about third parties confidential.

8. Are there any particular sensitivities in the local community where the source is to be used? Are 
similar activities being undertaken by other public authorities that could impact on the deployment of 
the source? (see Code 3.17 and 3.18)

Page 226

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

63
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

This section is probably more relevant to the police, given the extent of their use of CHIS and the wide 
ranging nature of investigations in which they are involved. The Code of Practice states:

“…3.17. Any person granting or applying for an authorisation will also need to be aware of any particular 
sensitivities in the local community where the CHIS is being used and of similar activities being undertaken 
by other public authorities which could have an impact on the deployment of the CHIS. Consideration 
should also be given to any adverse impact on community confidence or safety that may result from the 
use or conduct of a CHIS or use of information obtained from that CHIS.

3.18. It is therefore recommended that where an authorising officer from a public authority considers that 
conflicts might arise they should, where possible, consult a senior officer within the police force area in 
which the CHIS is deployed. All public authorities, where possible, should consider consulting with other 
relevant public authorities to gauge community impact.”

Are there any sensitivities of the local community that you need to record e.g. using a CHIS who may 
attend a place of worship? Are you aware of any similar investigations by the police or other local 
authorities which could have an impact here? Often you will only know this if the police or other local 
authorities inform you.

9. Provide an assessment of the risk to the source in carrying out the proposed conduct. (see Code 
6.14. to 6.16)

You could be putting the CHIS in danger because of the task that you give him/her e.g. tasking a drug user 
to obtain information about drug dealers. Paragraph 6.14 of the Code of Practice states:

“Any public authority deploying a CHIS should take into account the safety and welfare of that CHIS when 
carrying out actions in relation to an authorisation or tasking, and the foreseeable consequences to others 
of that tasking. Before authorising the use or conduct of a CHIS, the authorising officer should ensure that a 
risk assessment is carried out to determine the risk to the CHIS of any tasking and the likely consequences 
should the role of the CHIS become known. The ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS, after the 
cancellation of the authorisation, should also be considered at the outset. Also, consideration should be 
given to the management of any requirement to disclose information tending to reveal the existence or 
identity of a CHIS to, or in, Court.”

State here what health and safety risks are involved in deploying the CHIS and how you have addressed 
them e.g. personal security, panic alarm, use of fake identities, presence of other officers in the vicinity etc. 
Where you are deploying more than one CHIS in an operation you can still use one authorisation form but a 
separate risk assessment must be carried out in relation to each individual CHIS.

Page 227

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

64
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

10. Explain why this conduct or use of the source is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. How 
intrusive might it be on the subject(s) of surveillance or on others? How is this intrusion outweighed 
by the need for a source in operational terms, and could the evidence be obtained by any other means? 
[Code paragraph 3.3 to 3.5]

This requires you to justify the need for using the CHIS and balance that with the impact on the privacy of 
the subject and others. The Ministry of Justice Guide on Human Rights states:

“When taking decisions that may affect any of the qualified rights, a public authority must 
interfere with the right as little as possible only going as far as is necessary to achieve the desired aim.” 

The Code of Practice explains proportionality as follows:

“3.3…This involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the private or family life of the target of 
the operation (or any other person who might be affected) against the need for the activity in investigative 
and operational terms.”

 “ 3.4 The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall circumstances of the case. 
Each action authorised should bring an expected benefit to the investigation or operation and should not 
be disproportionate or arbitrary. The fact that a suspected offence may be serious will not alone render the 
use or conduct of a CHIS proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor that any deployment of a 
CHIS would be disproportionate. No activity should be considered proportionate if the information which is 
sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.”

Paragraph 3.5 of the Code of Practice requires you to demonstrate that you have:
 balanced the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent of the perceived 

crime or offence;
 explained how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion on the 

target and others;
 considered whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a reasonable way, 

having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the necessary result; 
 evidenced, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been considered and why they 

were not implemented.

To demonstrate proportionality, the following issues must be addressed here:
• Can you get information using less intrusive means/ overt methods?
• What other means have you tried?
• What have you done to try and lessen the impact on the target? Factors to set out:

– Amount of information to be gathered 
– Impact on the target 
– Timing of the surveillance

At the same time, the above must be balanced with the need for the deployment of the CHIS in operational 
terms. To demonstrate this balance you should set out:

• What you are seeking to achieve?
• Seriousness of the offence/disorder
• Impact of the offence/disorder on the victims
• Impact of the offence/disorder on others including the wider community and on the public purse

Page 228

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

65
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

11. Confidential information. [Code paragraphs 4.18 to 4.22] Indicate the likelihood of acquiring any 
confidential information.

This is defined in paragraph 4.1 of the Code as consisting of communications subject to legal privilege, 
communication between an MP and another person on constituency matters, confidential personal 
information and confidential journalistic material. So, for example, extra care should be taken where, 
through the use of surveillance, it would be possible to acquire knowledge of discussions between a 
minister of religion and an individual relating to the latter’s spiritual welfare, or where matters of medical 
or journalistic confidentiality may be involved. Where such material has been acquired and retained, the 
matter should be reported to the OSC during the next inspection and the material should be made 
available to them if requested.

Local authorities are unlikely to come across this kind of information during routine CHIS operations. 
However you have to be alive to the possibility and include adequate wording here to show you have 
thought about it. For example, where your CHIS may attend a church, mosque or doctor’s surgery.

Note that in cases where you will be acquiring confidential information as part of a CHIS operation, the 
authorisation has to be granted by the Chief Executive or, in his/her absence, the acting Chief Executive.

References for any other linked authorisations: 

12. Applicant’s Details.

Name (print) Grade/Rank/Position

Signature Tel No

Date

13. Authorising Officer’s Statement. [Spell out the “5 Ws” – Who; What; Where; When; Why and HOW 
– in this and the following box]. The authorisation should identify the pseudonym or reference number 
of the source, not the true identity.

This section is for the Authorising Officer to complete. Please note that where the CHIS operation involves 
the acquisition of confidential information (see box 11 above) or where the CHIS is a vulnerable individual 
(as defined in paragraph 4.23 of the Code) or a juvenile source (as defined in paragraph 4.24 of the Code) 
then this authorisation can only be granted by the Chief Executive or in his/her absence the acting Chief 
Executive.

This section should not be pre completed by the Investigating Officer. Sufficient detail must be included 
here to demonstrate that the Authorising Officer has considered the application thoroughly. Reference can 
be made to box 3 and 4 above but “cut and paste” should be avoided. 

The five “Ws” stated above must be addressed in detail. This is important so that the Investigating Officers 
and the CHIS are clear as to what they can and cannot do and the means they can adopt. 

You, as the Authorising Officer, should not be afraid to reject the application if it lacks clarity or detail.

Page 229

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

66
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

14. Explain why you believe the conduct or use of the source is necessary. [Code paragraph 3.2]
Explain why you believe the conduct or use of the source to be proportionate to what is sought to be   
achieved by their engagement. [Code paragraph 3.3 to 3.5]

You may refer to box 6 to 10 when completing this section. You can also add any additional factors you 
have considered. However, to demonstrate that you have given the issues due thought, it is important not 
to cut and paste that wording or to just state “see boxes 6 to 10”.

The CHIS Handler is responsible for bringing to the attention of the CHIS Controller any concerns about the 
personal circumstances of the CHIS, insofar as they might affect:

 the validity of the risk assessment; 
 the conduct of the CHIS; 
 the safety and welfare of the CHIS.

Where appropriate, concerns about such matters must be considered by the Authorising Officer, and a 
decision taken on whether or not to allow the authorisation to continue.

15. (Confidential Information Authorisation.) Supply details demonstrating compliance with Code 
paragraphs 4.1 to 4.21

This box should only to be completed if you are likely to obtain Confidential Information (see box 11) 
through use of the CHIS. Note that in such cases the authorisation has to be granted by the Chief Executive 
or, in his/her absence, the Acting Chief Executive.

16. Date of first review

17. Programme for subsequent reviews of this authorisation: [Code paragraphs 5.15 and 5.16]. Only 
complete this box if review dates after first review is known. If not, or inappropriate to set additional 
review dates, and then leave blank.

Regular reviews are stressed by the Code of Practice. Where a CHIS operation is going to last more than 
one month, the OSC has suggested that there should be a review once a month. Shorter or time limited 
operations may not require a review.

During a review, consideration will have to be given to whether the use of the CHIS is still necessary and 
proportionate. A standard form is available to record the review.

Page 230

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

67
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

18. Authorising Officer’s Details

Name (Print) Grade/Rank/Position

Signature Time and date 
granted*

Time and date 
authorisation ends

Please note that all CHIS 
authorisations automatically last 
for twelve months. You cannot 
authorise for shorter periods. In the 
case of time limited CHIS 
operations you must cancel the 
authorisation as soon as the 
operation has been completed.

Authorising Officers should, where possible, be independent of the investigation. The Code states 
(paragraph 5.8), they should not normally be responsible for authorising their own activities e.g. those in 
which they themselves are to act as the CHIS or as the handler of the CHIS. However it is recognised that it 
is not always possible, especially in the case of small organisations, or where it is necessary to act urgently 
or for security reasons. Where an Authorising Officer authorises his own activity, the Central Record should 
highlight this and the OSC should be about it during the next inspection.

* Remember, an authorisation must be granted for a 12 month period, i.e. 1700 hrs 4th June 2006 to 
2359 hrs 3 June 2007

19. Urgent Authorisation [Code paragraph 5.15]:  Authorising Officer: explain why you considered the 
case so urgent that an oral instead of a written authorisation was given

Local authorities can no longer use the Urgent (oral) Authorisation procedure due to the need to have all 
authorisations approved in writing by a Magistrate. See paragraph 3.26 of the Code.

20. If you are entitled to act only in urgent cases: explain why it was not reasonably practicable for the 
application to be considered by a fully designated Authorising Officer

This section is only to be completed where an urgent verbal authorisation was given by an Authorising 
Officer only entitled to act in urgent cases. This will not be appropriate for local authorities (see above).

21. Authorising Officer of urgent authorisation

Name (Print) Grade/Rank/Position

Signature Date and Time

Urgent authorisation 
expiry date:

Expiry time:

Remember the 72 hour rule for urgent authorisations – check Code of Practice [Code Paragraph 4.18].    
e.g. authorisation granted at 1700 on 1st June 2006 expires 1659 on 4th June 2006

Page 231

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number (URN) (to be 
supplied by the central monitoring officer).

68
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk 

WHAT NEXT?

The CHIS cannot be deployed until a Magistrate has approved the authorisation. See section 4 of the 
Council’s RIPA Policy for the procedure for seeking such approval.

Once the authorisation has been approved a copy of this form (together with the Magistrate’s Order) must 
be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator so that he/she can update the Central Record

Page 232

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

73
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000

Application for renewal of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) 
Authorisation

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

(Please attach the original authorisation.)

This form is to be completed by an officer of the local authority when the period of authorisation for a 
Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) has expired but the deployment of the CHIS is still required. An 
application for renewal should not be made until shortly before the original authorisation period is drawing 
to an end. Any person who would be entitled to grant a new authorisation can renew an authorisation. 
Before completing this form please read the Code of Practice (paragraphs 3.12 - 3.16 and 5.18 - 5.27). The 
next step is to seek the approval of a Magistrate. If this is granted, the authorisation will be renewed for a 
further period of twelve months.

The actual renewal is the responsibility of the original Authorising Officer and should, as a matter of good 
practice, be conducted by them or, failing that, by an officer who would be entitled to grant a new 
authorisation in the same terms. Support staff and Investigating Officers can though do the necessary 
research, prepare the review process and complete this form up to box 9.

Once completed this form should be forwarded to the Authorising Officer for approval and to complete box 
10 onwards. If granted, the authorisation will cover a further period of 12 months. Please refer to the CHIS 
authorisation application form for more guidance on the definitions and principles mentioned below.

Code of Practice/Code: The Covert Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which does the same department 
issue. Some organisations devise a URN, which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant initials 
and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in others 
this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules. 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch

Full Address

Contact Details

Pseudonym or reference 
number of source

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Renewal Number This should be a sequential number reflecting the number of times this 
particular CHIS authorisation has been renewed.

Page 233

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

74
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of renewal:

1. Renewal numbers and dates of any previous renewals.

Renewal Number Date

2. Detail any significant changes to the information as listed in the original authorisation as it applies 
at the time of the renewal.

Has anything changed in the way the CHIS  is going to be used e.g. different premises targeted, different 
tasks to be given, different times or equipment used etc.?
Has more information come to light reflecting greater need for the CHIS e.g. seriousness of the offence, 
new victims?

3. Detail why it is necessary to continue with the authorisation, including details of any tasking given 
to the source.

Is the investigation/operation continuing?
What more information is required to be obtained by the CHIS?
What have you achieved thus far?
You may refer to box 6 of the original authorisation application form (as well as the guidance notes relating 
to it) and state what has or has not changed.

4. Detail why the use or conduct of the source is still proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.

You may refer to box 10 of the original authorisation application form (as well as the guidance notes which 
relate to it) and state what has or has not changed.

State any further considerations, which show that deployment of the CHIS is still proportionate. In the light 
of the use you have made of the CHIS thus far, will you do things differently to ensure proportionality e.g. 
reduce the times of surveillance or use different equipment?

5. Detail the use made of the source in the period since the grant of authorisation or, as the case may 
be, latest renewal of the authorisation.

What use have you made of the CHIS so far? List dates, times and places and the nature of each use. You 
may attach extracts from the Source Records.

6. List the tasks given to the source during that period and the information obtained from the conduct 
or use of the source.

Similar to above - You may refer to the Source Records.

7. Detail the results of regular reviews of the use of the source.

This box requires you to look back at the review forms completed during the duration of the original 
authorisation that you are seeking to renew. You may wish to attach copies of those forms or include their 
unique reference numbers.

8. Give details of the review of the risk assessment on the security and welfare of using the source.

See box 9 of the original authorisation application form. Do you need to take any additional measures to 
safeguard the security and welfare of the CHIS?

Page 234

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

75
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

9. Applicant's Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

10. Authorising Officer's Comments.  This box must be completed.

The Authorising Officer should state here whether or not he/she is satisfied that the CHIS authorisation 
should be extended and the reasons for his/her decisions. 

Any other special requirements for the deployment of the CHIS (e.g. security and welfare considerations) 
should also be stated here. In particular the Authorising Officer should consider necessity, proportionality, 
collateral intrusion and the risk assessment and state that he/she is satisfied with all the compliance 
measures in place. Reference can be made to box 3 and 4 as well as any other matters taken into account.

11. Authorising Officer's Statement. THE AUTHORISATION SHOULD IDENTIFY THE PSEUDONYM OR REFERENCE NUMBER 
OF THE SOURCE NOT THE TRUE IDENTITY.

An example:

 “I, [insert name], hereby authorise the renewal of the deployment of the CHIS [insert pseudonym or 
reference] as detailed above.  The renewal of this authorisation will last for 12 months unless cancelled.
This authorisation will be reviewed frequently to assess the need for it to continue.”

Name (Print) Grade / Rank

Signature Date

Renewal From: Time: Date:
End date/time of the 
authorisation

NB. Renewal takes effect at the time/date of the original authorisation would have ceased but for the 
renewal

Date of first review:

Date of subsequent 
reviews of this 
authorisation:

WHAT NEXT?

The renewal of the CHIS authorisation does not take effect until a Magistrate has approved the 
authorisation. See section 4 of the Council’s RIPA Policy for the procedure for seeking such approval.

Once the renewal has been approved a copy of this form (together with the Magistrate’s Order) must be 
sent to the RIPA Co ordinator so that he/she can update the Central Record.

Page 235

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

69
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000
Review of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) authorisation

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

Regular reviews of all CHIS authorisations should be undertaken to assess whether they should continue or 
whether the criteria upon which the original decision to grant an authorisation was based have changed 
sufficiently to require the authorisation to be revoked. Before completing this form please read the Code of 
Practice (paragraphs 3.12 - 3.16 and 5.16 - 5.17). 

Reviews should be done as frequently as is considered necessary and practicable. The Code draws 
particular attention to the need to review authorisations frequently where the CHIS operation involves a 
high level of intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or where confidential information is 
likely to be obtained. 

The actual review is the responsibility of the original Authorising Officer and should, as a matter of good 
practice, be conducted by them or, failing that, by an officer who would be entitled to grant a new 
authorisation in the same terms. Support staff and Investigating Officers can though do the necessary 
research, prepare the review process and complete this form up to box 8. Please refer to the original CHIS 
authorisation application form for more guidance on the definitions and principles, which are exactly the 
same here. A review does not have to be approved by a Magistrate.

Code of Practice/Code: The Covert Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which does the same department 
issue. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant initials 
and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in others 
this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules. 
 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Applicant Unit/Branch

Full Address

Contact Details

Pseudonym or 
reference number of 
source

Operation Name Operation Number*
*Filing Ref

Date of authorisation or 
last renewal

Expiry date of 
authorisation or last 
renewal

Review Number

Page 236

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

70
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of review:

1. Review number and dates of any previous reviews.

Review Number Date

If this review is part of a series of reviews then the date and number(s) of the 
previous review(s) must be inserted.

2. Summary of the investigation/operation to date, including what information has been obtained and 
the value of the information so far obtained.

Summarise what has been done so far. You may wish to attach extracts of the Source Records. Set out 
what information you have obtained so far by deploying the CHIS.  

You also need to bring to the attention of the Authorising Officer any proposed or unforeseen changes to 
the nature or extent of the CHIS operation that may result in the further or greater intrusion into the 
private life of any person. Any such changes must also be highlighted at the next renewal if the 
authorisation is to be renewed.

3. Detail the reasons why it is necessary to continue with using a Covert Human Intelligence Source.

What more information is required? You may refer to box 6 of the original authorisation application form 
(as well as the guidance notes relating to it) and state what has or has not changed.

4. Explain how the proposed activity is still proportionate to what it seeks to achieve.

You may refer to box 10 of the original authorisation application form (as well as the guidance notes) and 
state what has or has not changed.  State any further considerations, which show that deployment of the 
CHIS is still proportionate. In the light of the use you have made of the CHIS thus far, will you do things 
differently to ensure proportionality e.g. reduce the times of surveillance or use different equipment?

5. Detail any incidents of collateral intrusion and the likelihood of any further incidents of collateral 
intrusions occurring.

For an explanation of collateral intrusion see the notes relating to box 7 of the original authorisation 
application form.

6. Give details of any confidential information acquired or accessed and the likelihood of acquiring 

Page 237

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

71
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

confidential information.

For an explanation of confidential information see the notes relating to box 11 of the original authorisation 
application form. Consider :

 Have you recorded information about third parties? If so what?
 Can you do things differently to avoid or further minimise the collateral intrusion?

7. Give details of the review of the risk assessment on the security and welfare of using the source.

See box 9 of the original authorisation application form. Do you need to take any additional measures to 
safeguard the security and welfare of the CHIS?

8. Applicant's Details

Name (Print) Tel No

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

9. Review Officer's Comments, including whether or not the use or conduct of the source should 
continue?

As the reviewing officer, you should set out here why you believe that the original authorisation should 
continue taking care to explain the necessity and proportionality considerations.  You may refer to the 
original authorisation application form for assistance, as many of the original considerations may still be 
relevant. You should also consider:

 whether any proposed changes to the CHIS operation are proportionate (bearing in mind any extra 
intended intrusion into privacy or collateral intrusion)

 whether you need to amend the original authorisation in the light of what you have read above e.g. 
reduce the timings of the surveillance or length of the operation etc.

You should make a recommendation to the Authorising Officer to cancel, continue with or amend the 
original authorisation.

10. Authorising Officer's Statement. THE AUTHORISATION SHOULD IDENTIFY THE PSEUDONYM OR REFERENCE NUMBER 
OF THE SOURCE NOT THE TRUE IDENTITY.

If you decide that the original authorisation should continue, explain your reasons here and, if need be, set 
a further review date (below) bearing in mind the length of the operation and its impact on the target. 

Reference can be made to the original authorisation application form, for assistance, as many of the 
original considerations will be relevant. Any additional requirements in terms of deploying the CHIS (e.g. 
security and welfare measures) should also be stated here. If you decide the authorisation should be 
cancelled you should explain your reasons. The cancellation form must now be completed. You should also 
immediately issue instructions to Investigating Officers to stop any further use or conduct of the CHIS.

Name (Print) Grade / Rank

Page 238

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


CHIS Unique Reference Number 
(URN)

72
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Signature Date

Date of next review:

Regular reviews are stressed by the Code of Practice. Where a CHIS operation is going to last more than 
one month the OSC has suggested that there should be a review once a month. Shorter or time limited 
operations may not require a review.

NOTE: Once this form is completed, a copy should be sent to the person maintaining the Central Record so 
that it can be updated.

Page 239

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

57
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Part II of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

Cancellation of a Directed Surveillance authorisation

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

This form is to be completed when cancelling an authorisation for Directed Surveillance. It is a statutory 
requirement that an authorisation is cancelled as soon as it is no longer required or no longer meets the 
criteria upon which it was authorised. Even where surveillance was conducted for a short time, the 
authorisation must be cancelled at the end of the operation. Authorisations cannot be left to just lapse. 
The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must cancel it. Where that officer is 
no longer available, this duty will fall on the person who has taken over that role or the person who is 
acting as such. Unlike authorisations and renewals of Directed Surveillance, a cancellation does not have to 
be approved by a Magistrate. 

Code of Practice/Code: This is the revised RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice. Before completing this 
form please read paragraphs 5.17 – 5.18 of the Code.

Unique Reference Number (URN): This is a reference unique to each individual form but which also allows 
the form to be matched with other forms in the same investigation or which are issued by the same 
department. Some organisations devise a URN which comprises of the year, department initials, applicant 
initials and investigation number. In some cases the investigating department allocates the URN whilst in 
others this is done by the RIPA Co ordinator. There are no hard and fast rules. 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Page 240

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

58
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of cancellation:

1. Explain the reason(s) for the cancellation of the authorisation:

This section is self explanatory. Reasons could include:

“It is no longer necessary; we have obtained all the information we need.”
“It is no longer proportionate; the intrusion into the suspect’s private life cannot be justified.”
“We do not have the resources to continue.”
“This was a short time limited operation.”
“The three month time limit has expired and we have decided to use other investigation methods.”

2. Explain the value of surveillance in the operation:

State what actual surveillance was carried out under the authorisation.
Explain what was achieved through the surveillance including information acquired as well as any 
surveillance product e.g. photographs, recordings etc.
How is the surveillance product being stored, destroyed or otherwise handled? (see paragraphs 9.3 to 9.5 of 
the Code)
How does the information/surveillance product assist with your investigation/prosecution? You may wish to 
look back at the original authorisation application form for this surveillance, in particular box 2 and box 5.

3. Authorising officer's statement.

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the cancellation of the directed surveillance investigation/operation as detailed 
above.

Also include here directions to the Investigating Officers for the management and storage of the product of 
the surveillance e.g. photographs and other evidence. See paragraph 9.3 to 9.5 of the Code.

Name (Print) Grade

Signature Date

4. Time and Date of when the authorising officer instructed the surveillance to cease.

Date: Time:

It is important to formally instruct Investigating Officers to immediately cease any surveillance which is still 
ongoing and record that fact here and in the Central Record.

5. Authorisation cancelled Date: Time:

NOTE: Once an authorisation has been cancelled, a copy of this form must be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator 
so that he/she can update the Central Record.

Page 241

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

97
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Application for Authorisation to conduct Covert Surveillance 
not regulated by RIPA

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion 

This form should be completed by an officer of the local authority seeking authorisation to carry out 
surveillance which does not fall within the definition of Directed Surveillance in section 28 of the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). This could include surveillance where the target is 
doing something which is not criminal offence (or which does not carry a tem of imprisonment of six 
months or more), misusing the work e mail/internet system or breaching a legal agreement (e.g. tenancy 
agreement).

Before completing this form please consult:
 The briefing notes in appendix 1 of the Council’s RIPA Policy.
 The ICO Employment Practices Code: Part 3 (Staff Surveillance)
 Legal Services

Once completed this form should be forwarded to your manager to complete box 11 onwards. 

Organisation
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Investigating Officer (if a person other than the 
applicant)

Page 242

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

98
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

DETAILS OF APPLICATION

15. Give rank or position of the authorising officer 

This is the person who will decide whether or not the surveillance should be authorised and will 
countersign this form. It must be a person who holds the post of Service Manager or above and has been 
trained in relation to surveillance. If in doubt consult your legal services.  

16. Describe the purpose of the specific operation or investigation.

Explain what is being investigated. For example:

 Child protection investigation
 An employee working when on sick leave

If possible, include the relevant legislation that which gives you the power/duty to investigate the matter 
and to take action.

17. Describe in detail the surveillance operation to be authorised and expected duration, including 
any premises, vehicles or equipment (e.g. camera, binoculars, and recorder) that may be used.

The key phrase is “in detail.” Therefore a response which merely states “Video camera and recording 
equipment will be installed at a fixed point” will not be adequate.

Your statement here needs to include what is going to be done, who is going to do it, when they are 
going to do it, where they are going to do it and how they are going to do it. Other points to address 
here include:

 How long will the surveillance last?
 Specific details about dates and times i.e. is it 24/7, at specific times of the day or at random 

times?
 Which premises are to be used and/or targeted?
 Which vehicles are to be used? Are they public or private?
 What type of equipment is to be used? e.g. covert cameras, audio devices
 What is the capability of the equipment to be used? e.g. zoom lense, remote controlled etc.
 Who else will be involved in the operation and what will be their role? e.g. private detectives, 

police

It may be appropriate to attach plans/maps showing where and how the surveillance will be conducted 
and indicating where any surveillance equipment will be installed.

18. The identities, where known, of those to be subject of the directed surveillance.

 Name:
 Address:
 DOB:
 Other information as appropriate:

Include as much information as you have. If you do not know the identity of the target(s) then say so. 
You could include a general description of the target(s).

Page 243

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

99
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

19. Explain the information that it is desired to obtain as a result of the directed surveillance.

Your statement here should be more detailed than in Box 2. You should give details of the precise 
information sought by doing the surveillance. For example:

 “To ascertain whether an employee is working for another employer whilst on sick leave.”
 “To ascertain whether if a parent x continues to have direct contact with parent y and to capture 

video footage of the contact.”
 “To find out what websites the employee has been visiting and what images have been 

downloaded.”

20. Has any warning/notice been served on the target? If not, explain why this surveillance needs to 
be covert

The warning could be general one (e.g. signs/policy) or it could be more specific (e.g. letter).

Explain any overt methods you have tried to obtain the evidence/information or why they are not 
appropriate.

Explain the consequences of the target finding out about this surveillance.

21. Explain why this surveillance is necessary 

Include in this box details of:

 Why surveillance is needed to obtain the information/evidence that is sought
 Any other means you have tried (not involving surveillance) to obtain the same 

information/evidence. If other means of obtaining the same information/evidence are not 
appropriate/possible, explain why.

 Any other evidence/information you have to link the target with a 3rd party which requires 
corroboration through surveillance

22. Supply details of any potential collateral intrusion and why the intrusion is unavoidable. Describe 
precautions you will take to minimise collateral intrusion

When doing surveillance you may be invading the privacy of those who are not your target. You are 
required to think about their rights and what you can do to minimise the impact on them of your 
surveillance. People who may be the subject of collateral intrusion include:

 fellow employees
 visitors to a property
 friends or relatives of the suspect

When completing this section, three matters should be addressed:

Firstly, identify which third parties will be the subject of collateral intrusion and what that intrusion will 
be i.e. what information will be captured about them?

Secondly, state why this is unavoidable. This could be because of the nature of the premises (e.g. a 

Page 244

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

100
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

restaurant) or because of what the person is doing (e.g. visiting the subject/target premises). In some 
cases there will always be third parties around who will be captured on film or whose activities will be 
recorded/observed in some way.

Thirdly, set out what steps you have taken to minimise collateral intrusion, if this is possible. 

If you cannot minimise collateral intrusion you still need to show you have considered it. In some 
situations all you may be able to state is that you cannot do anything to minimise collateral intrusion but 
you will not be making any decisions based upon the information gathered about third parties unless it 
shows them committing a criminal offence. Furthermore, you will ensure that officers who do the 
surveillance or view any recordings are mindful of who the real target of the surveillance is.

23. Explain why this surveillance is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve. How intrusive might it 
be on the subject of surveillance or on others? And why is this intrusion outweighed by the need 
for surveillance in operational terms or can the evidence be obtained by any other means? 

The RIPA Covert Surveillance Code of Practice contains detailed guidance on proportionality:

 “3.4…This involves balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into the privacy of the target of the 
operation (or any other person who might be affected) against the need for the activity in investigative 
and operational terms.”

 “ 3.5 The authorisation will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the overall circumstances of the 
case. Each action authorised should bring an expected benefit to the investigation or operation and 
should not be disproportionate or arbitrary. The fact that a suspected offence may be serious will not 
alone render intrusive actions proportionate. Similarly, an offence may be so minor that any deployment 
of covert techniques would be disproportionate. No activity should be considered proportionate if the 
information which is sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means.”

Here you demonstrate that you have:
 balanced the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent of the 

perceived crime or wrongdoing;
 explained how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion on the 

target and others;
 considered whether the activity is appropriate and a reasonable way, having considered all 

reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the necessary result; 
 evidenced, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been considered and why 

they were not implemented.

In order to comply with the above you need to address the following questions:
• Can you get information using less intrusive means/overt methods?
• What other means have you tried to obtain the same information/evidence?
• What have you done to try and lessen the impact on the target? Factors to address include:

– Amount of information to be gathered during surveillance
– The way the surveillance is done e.g. using still cameras rather than video to capture less 

information or using one camera rather than two.
– Impact of the surveillance on the subject
– Timing of the surveillance

Page 245

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

101
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

At the same time, the above must be balanced with the need for the activity in operational terms. To 
demonstrate this balance you should address:

•  What you are seeking to achieve?
•  Seriousness and extent of the offence/wrongdoing
•  Impact of the offence/wrongdoing on the victims, others (e.g. children) wider community and on 

the public purse

For more guidance on proportionality see chapter 3 of the RIPA Covert Surveillance Code and the 
Employment Practices Data Protection Code (Part 3).

24. Applicant’s Details.

Name (print) Tel No:

Grade/Rank Date

Signature

25. Authorising Officer's Statement. [Spell out the “5 Ws” – Who; What; Where; When; Why and 
HOW– in this and the following box.]

I hereby authorise directed surveillance defined as follows: [Why is the surveillance necessary, Who is the 
surveillance directed against, Where and When will it take place, What surveillance activity/equipment is 
sanctioned, How is it to be achieved?] 

This section is for the Authorising Officer to complete. Ensure that you are satisfied that any covert 
monitoring is strictly targeted at obtaining evidence within a set timeframe and that it does not continue 
after the investigation is complete.

Sufficient detail must be included here to demonstrate that you, as the Authorising Officer, have 
considered the application objectively. Reference can be made to the boxes completed by the 
Investigating Officer above but “cut and paste” should be avoided. The five “Ws” stated above must be 
addressed in detail. This is important so that the Investigating Officers are clear as to what they can and 
cannot do and the means they can adopt. 

You should not be afraid to reject the application if it lacks clarity or detail. 

26. Explain why you believe the surveillance is necessary. 
      Explain why you believe the surveillance to be proportionate to what is sought to be
      achieved by carrying it out. 

You should satisfy yourself that there are grounds for suspecting criminal activity or other serious 
wrongdoing and that notifying individuals about the monitoring would prejudice its prevention or 
detection. Set out what matters in the respective boxes you have given particular weight to when 
considering necessity and proportionality. You can also add any additional factors you have considered. 

Page 246

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number 

102
© Ibrahim Hasan – Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Date of first review If the surveillance operation is going to last more than a 
month then you should consider whether it should be 
reviewed after a period of time. During a review, 
consideration will have to be given to whether the 
surveillance is still necessary and proportionate.

Programme for subsequent reviews of this authorisation: Only complete this box if review dates after the 
first review are known. If not or inappropriate to set additional review dates then leave blank.

Name (Print) Grade / Rank State the position of the Authorising 
Officer e.g. Head of Audit

Signature Date and time

Authorising Officers should not normally be responsible for authorising operations in which they are directly 
involved, although it is recognised that this may sometimes be unavoidable, especially in the case of small 
organisations, or where it is necessary to act urgently or for security reasons. 

 Expiry date and time 

NOTE: Once an authorisation has been granted, a copy of this form must be sent to Legal Services.

Page 247

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

57
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

NON-RIPA Authorisation Cancellation Form

Cancellation of an authorisation to conduct covert surveillance not regulated 
by RIPA

Sample Form with Notes to Assist Completion

This form is to be completed when cancelling an authorisation for Surveillance not regulated by RIPA. It is 
not a statutory requirement but is best practice. An authorisation should be cancelled as soon as it is no 
longer required or no longer meets the criteria upon which it was authorised. The Authorising Officer who 
granted or last renewed the authorisation must cancel it. Where that officer is no longer available, this 
duty will fall on the person who has taken over that role or the person who is acting as such. 

Public Authority
(including full address)

Name of Applicant Unit/Branch /Division

Full Address

Contact Details

Investigation/Operation 
Name (if applicable)

Page 248

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Unique Reference Number

58
© Ibrahim Hasan - Act Now Training www.actnow.org.uk

Details of cancellation:

1. Explain the reason(s) for the cancellation of the authorisation:

This section is self explanatory. Reasons could include:

“It is no longer necessary; we have obtained all the information we need.”
“It is no longer proportionate; the intrusion into the suspect’s private life cannot be justified.”
“We do not have the resources to continue.”
“This was a short time limited operation.”
“The three month time limit has expired and we have decided to use other investigation methods.”

2. Explain the value of surveillance in the operation:

State what actual surveillance was carried out under the authorisation.
Explain what was achieved through the surveillance including information acquired as well as any 
surveillance product e.g. photographs, recordings etc.
How is the surveillance product being stored, destroyed or otherwise handled? 
How does the information/surveillance product assist with your investigation/prosecution? You may wish to 
look back at the original authorisation application form for this surveillance, in particular box 2 and box 5.

3. Authorising officer's statement.

I, [insert name], hereby authorise the cancellation of the directed surveillance investigation/operation as detailed 
above.

Also include here directions to the Investigating Officers for the management and storage of the product of 
the surveillance e.g. photographs and other evidence. 

Name (Print) Grade

Signature Date

4. Time and Date of when the authorising officer instructed the surveillance to cease.

Date: Time:

It is important to formally instruct Investigating Officers to immediately cease any surveillance which is still 
ongoing and record that fact here.

5. Authorisation cancelled Date: Time:

NOTE: Once an authorisation has been cancelled, a copy of this form must be sent to the RIPA Co ordinator 
so that he/she can update the Central Record.

Page 249

http://www.actnow.org.uk/


Appendix B
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council

Acquisition & Disclosure
of Communications Data
Under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)

June 2018

Page 250



Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council

Acquisition and Disclosure of Communication Data Policy

What is Communications Data?

Why is Communications Data useful?

Why introduce statutory provisions for access to communications data?

Communications Data -  RIPA Part II

Lawful authority

Authorisation Procedure 

Single Point of Contact

Applications

Considerations for Designated Person

Content of an Authorisation or Notice

Duration of an Authorisation or Notice

Renewal and Cancellation

Disclosure of Data

Retention of Data

Oversight

Page 251



2

Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council

Acquisition and Disclosure of Communication Data Policy

Introduction

What is Communications Data?

Communications data includes data such as itemised telephone call records and subscriber 
details. Communications data is not about giving access to the content of anybody's 
communications. For example, it is not about the contents of e-mails or interactions with 
websites. (Communications data includes Internet addresses, but only to the extent that 
they identify a network or a host computer, as opposed to a web page accessed by 
interacting with the host website).

Why is Communications Data useful?

Everyone needs to communicate in order to arrange their day to day activities, and 
criminals are no exception. Their need to communicate during the planning and execution 
of crime is a weakness which the authorities exploit, often with considerable success. 
Telephone call records, for example, provides a great deal of information on individuals' 
contacts and how they organise their life. This can be used in the planning of operations, 
the gathering of intelligence and, ultimately, it regularly assists in the prosecution of 
criminals. 

Because the analysis of communications data can provide much information about the way 
in which people live their lives, this has led to concerns that the level of intrusion into an 
individual's privacy may be too great. The Government believes that there is a balance to 
be struck between the privacy of the individual and the needs of society as a whole to be 
protected from crime and other public safety risks.

Why introduce statutory provisions for access to communications data?

The Government introduced the access to communications data provisions in the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) because it believed the regime 
surrounding access to communications data needed changing. In addition, there have been 
enormous changes in the telecommunications market. For example: the number of 
companies has grown; mass ownership of mobile phones; the emergence of totally new 
services; and Internet communications has grown dramatically. Public Authorities need to 
keep up with the changes in the communications marketplace; changes which criminals 
have been quick to exploit for their own purposes. Telephone call records, for example, can 
be of tremendous investigative value, and it is right that in certain circumstances public 
authorities should be able to access this material. However, it also involves a measure of 
intrusion into individual privacy and it is essential that access should be carefully controlled 
in accordance with European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) proportionality 
requirements, authorisation only being given where necessary and justified for clearly 
defined statutory purposes. It is for these reasons that the Government established a 
statutory framework for access to communications data under RIPA and an associated 
Code of Practice.

Page 252



3

Communications Data -  RIPA Chapter II Part I

Chapter II Part I of RIPA provides that conduct other than interception (see s.21(l)) such as the 
acquisition and disclosure of communications data is lawful if authorised (see s.21(2)). 
Communications data is the ‘who’, ‘when’ and ‘where’ of a communication, but not the ‘what’ 
(i.e. the content of what was said or written). Communications data means any of the following:

(i) Traffic Data – this is information about a communication and the equipment used in 
transmitting it (e.g. information about the location of a mobile phone or an Internet 
Provider address allocation). Local Authorities are not authorised to obtain access 
to traffic data.

(ii) Service Use Information – this is information about the use a person makes of a postal or 
telecommunications service (e.g. itemized call records, records of connection to the 
internet or the timing and duration of usage).

(iii) Subscriber Information – this is information that communications service providers 
(CSPs) hold about people to whom they provide a service (e.g. names, addresses and 
telephone numbers).

For further guidance on the relevant communications please refer to the Code of Practice 
(paragraphs 2.12-2.35)

Lawful authority

The Act provides two different ways of permitting access to communications data; through an 
authorisation under section 22(3) and by a notice under section 22(4). An authorisation would 
allow the relevant public authority to collect or retrieve the data itself from the relevant CSP. A 
notice is given to a CSP and requires that operator to collect or retrieve the data and provide it 
to the public authority which served the notice.  A designated person decides whether or not 
a notice or authorisation should be given. 

Designated Persons in Local Authorities are Directors, Head of Service, Service Manager 
or equivalent. See the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Communications Data) Order 
2010, SI 2010 No.480, I Schedule 2, Part 2.

Under section 22(2) of the Act, communications data may be sought if a designated person 
believes it is necessary for one or more of the following purposes (see s.21(2)):

 in the interests of national security;
 for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder;
 in the interests of the economic well being of the UK;
 in the interests of public safety;
 for the purpose of protecting public health;
 for the purpose of assessing or collecting any tax, duty, levy or other imposition, 

contribution or charge payable to a government department;
 for the purpose, in emergency, of preventing death or injury or any damage to a person's 

Page 253



4

physical or mental health, or mitigating the same:
 for any other purpose as specified by the Secretary of State.

However for our purposes, it is important to note that Local Authorities in England and 
Wales may authorise acquisition and disclosure of communications data only for the 
purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder. 

It is important that all requests which the Council makes for Communications data, 
are properly made in accordance with this procedure. Failure to follow these 
procedures will leave the Council vulnerable to Court challenge and may mean that 
the Communications Data evidence acquired may not be admissible in Court 
proceedings

Authorisation Procedure 

Acquisition of communications data under RIPA involves four roles. 

 The Single Point of Contact
 The Applicant
 The Designated Person
 The Senior Responsible Officer

Single Point of Contact

All Local Authorities are now required to make all requests for communications data through a 
single point of contact (SPoC) at the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN). As such applicants 
within the local authority are required to consult a NAFN SPoC throughout the authorisation 
process, including before referring the case to a Designated Person for approval. The SPoC at 
NAFN will scrutinise the applications independently and provide advice to applicants and 
Designated Persons ensuring the local authority acts in an informed and lawful manner. 

NAFN operates an electronic system whereby the Application is completed online by the 
investigating officer, this completed form is then forwarded electronically to the relevant 
Designated Person, and if the application is authorised then NAFN will return a copy to the 
Designated Person, who will liaise with Legal Services in respect making an application for 
Judicial Approval (see below). NAFN will advise whether an authorisation or notice is the most 
appropriate approach. If judicial approval is granted the NAFN SPoC will liaise with the 
appropriate CSP to acquire the relevant communications data. The results of the request will then 
be channeled through NAFN to the requesting officer. 

The NAFN online system can be accessed by logging on to their website at www.NAFN.gov.uk.  
In order to access the system each applicant and Designated person will require log on details 
which are issued by NAFN. A user guide is available for operating the NAFN online system.   

SPoCs should be in a position to:
 where appropriate, assess whether access to communications data is reasonably 

practical for the CSP:
 advise applicants and Designated Persons on the practicalities of accessing different 

types of communications data from CSPs:
 advise applicants and Designated Persons on whether communications data falls under 

Page 254



5

section 21(4)(a). (b) or (c) of the Act:
 provide safeguards for authentication:
 assess any cost and resource implications to both the public authority and the CSP.  

Applications

The application form is subject to inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office 
(“IPCO”) and both applicant and Designated Person may be required to justify their decisions. 
Applications to obtain communications data under the Act are made on a standard form. This is 
on the NAFN online system. This form is retained by the Council and NAFN and should 
contain the following minimum information:

 the name (or designation) and position of the officer requesting the communications data;
 the operation and person (if known) to which the requested data relates;
 a unique reference number and any operation name to which the application relates;
 a description, in as much detail as possible, of the communications data requested, 

specifying where relevant, any historic or future date(s) and, where appropriate, time 
period(s) (there will also be a need to identify whether it is communications data under 
section 21 (4)(b) or (c) of the Act);

 the reason why obtaining the requested data is considered to be necessary for one or more 
of the purposes in s.22(2) (the relevant purpose also needs to be identified);

 an explanation of why obtaining the data constitutes conduct proportionate to what it seeks 
to achieve;

 where appropriate, a consideration of collateral intrusion, the extent to which the privacy of 
others may be affected and why that intrusion is justified; 

 consider and, where appropriate, describe any possible unintended consequences of the 
application; and

 the timescale within which the communications data is required. Where the timescale within 
which the material is required is any greater than routine, the reasoning for this to be included.

In addition to the above requirements, the degree of interference with an individual’s rights 
and freedoms may be higher if the communications data being sought relates to a person 
who is a member of a profession that handles privileged or otherwise confidential 
information (including medical doctors, lawyers, journalists, Members of Parliament, or 
ministers of religion). It may also be possible to infer an issue of sensitivity from the fact that 
someone has regular contact with, for example, a lawyer or journalist. These situations do 
not preclude an application being made, but special consideration must be given to 
necessity and proportionality, including drawing attention to any such circumstances that 
might lead to an unusual degree of intrusion or infringement of rights and freedoms, 
particularly regarding privacy and, where it might be engaged, freedom of expression. 
Particular care needs to be taken by Designated Persons when considering such 
applications, including additional consideration of whether there might be unintended 
consequences of such applications and whether the public interest is best served by the 
application (see paragraphs 3.72 to 3.84 of the Code of Practice for further information).

The application form should subsequently record whether access to communications data 
was approved or denied, by whom and the date. Alternatively, the application form can be marked 
with a cross-reference to any authorisation granted or notice given (see paragraph 3.6 of the 
Code of Practice). 

Page 255



6

All applications relating to accessing communications data and associated documentation 
(renewals, cancellations etc) should be securely stored in files kept under lock and key when not 
in use.

Considerations for Designated Person

It is crucial that the Designated Person must be independent from operations and 
investigations when granting authorisations or giving notices related to those operations. 
Therefore, a Designated Person in a particular case should not be part of the same Council 
team who are carrying out the investigation (see paragraph 3.12 of the Code of Practice).

For an action to be necessary in a democratic society the access to communications data must 
pursue a legitimate aim as listed in s.23(2); and be proportionate to that aim.

Under section 22(5) of the Act, a designated person must also consider the conduct 
involved in obtaining the communications data to be proportionate. Proportionality is a crucial 
concept. In both the Act and the Code of Practice reference is made to the conduct being 
proportionate. This means that even if a particular case which interferes with a Convention 
right is aimed at pursuing a legitimate aim (as listed above) this will not justify the interference if 
the means used to achieve the aim are excessive in the circumstances. Any interference with a 
Convention right should be carefully designed to meet the objective in question and must not 
be arbitrary or unfair. Even taking all these considerations into account in a particular case, an 
interference may still not be justified because the impact on the individual or group is too 
severe.

A designated person needs to have in mind:

 the conduct which he is authorising or requiring in each case. In making a judgment as 
to proportionality, and also what the scope of the conduct is. For example, where the 
conduct covers the provision of ongoing communications data;

 where appropriate, where accessing the communications data is likely to result in collateral 
intrusion, whether the circumstances of the case still justify that access; and

 whether any urgent timescale is justified. 

Judicial Approval

From 1st November 2013 it has been necessary to make an application to the Magistrates 
Court for Judicial Approval, in respect of all applications for Access to Communications Data. 

A full procedural guide to making such an application for Judicial Approval is at Appendix 1 
(this guide is applicable to applications for Directed Surveillance also). The Applicant and 
Designated Persons should liaise with Legal Services in respect of making an application for 
Judicial Approval, as a solicitor from Legal Services will make the application to Court and 
represent the Council at the hearing of the application. 

Content of an Authorisation or Notice

A Designated Person will make a decision whether give an authorisation or to issue a notice based 
upon the application which is made. The application form is not served upon the CSP. Whether 
authorisation or a notice is granted, they must both be in writing, or if not, in a manner that 

Page 256



7

produces a record of it having been granted.
An authorisation must also:

 describe the conduct which is authorised and describe the communications data to be 
acquired, specifying, where relevant, any historic or future date(s) and, where appropriate, 
time period(s);

 specify the purpose for which the conduct is authorized, by reference to a statutory purpose 
under s 22(2) of RIPA;

 specify the office, rank or position held by the Designated Person granting the authorization. 
The Designated Person should also record their name (or designation) on any authorization 
they grant; and

 record the date and, when appropriate to do so, the time when the authorization as granted 
by the Designated Person.

If a notice is served upon a CSP it is in a standard format which must:

 specify the purpose for which the conduct is authorized, by reference to a statutory purpose 
under s 22(2) of RIPA;

 describe the communications data to be obtained or disclosed under the notice specifying, 
where relevant, any historic or future date(s) and, where appropriate, time period(s);

 include an explanation that compliance with the notice is a requirement of RIPA;
 specify the office, rank or position held by the Designated Person giving the notice. The 

name (or designation) of the Designated Person giving the notice should also be recorded;
 include a unique reference number and also identify the public authority;
 specify the manner in which the data should be disclosed. The notice should contain 

sufficient information including the contact details of the SPoC to enable the CSP to confirm 
the notice is authentic and lawful;

 record the date and, when appropriate to do so, the time when the notice was given by the 
Designated Person; and

 where appropriate, provide an indication of any urgency or time within which the CSP is 
requested to comply with the requirements of the notice.

The Senior Responsible Officer

The Senior Responsible Officer is responsible for;

 the integrity of the process in place to acquire communications data
 compliance with Chapter II of Part of RIPA and the Code of Practice
 oversight of reporting errors to IPCO (see below)
 engagement with the IPCO inspectors when they conduct inspections
 where necessary oversee the implementation of post-inspection action plans approved 

by the Commissioner

Within this Authority the SRO is the Assistant Director of Legal Services.

Duration of an Authorisation or Notice

Authorisations and notices will only be valid for a maximum of one month from when the 

Page 257



8

authorisation is granted or notice given. A designated person should specify a shorter period if 
that is satisfied by the request, since this may go to the proportionality requirements. For 
'future" communications data disclosure may only be required of data obtained by the CSP 
within this period i.e. up to one month. For "historical" communications data disclosure may only 
be required of data in the possession of the CSP. A CSP should comply with a notice as soon 
as is reasonably practicable. Furthermore, they will not be required to supply data unless it 
is reasonably practicable to do so. (see paragraph 3.48 of the Code of Practice).

Renewal and Cancellation

Any valid authorisation or notice may be renewed for a period of up to one month by the grant of 
a further authorisation or the giving of a further notice.

A renewed notice takes effect at the point at which the notice it is renewing expires.

A Designated Person shall cancel a notice given under section 22(4) of the Act as soon as it 
is no longer necessary, or the conduct is no longer proportionate to what is sought to be 
achieved. The duty to cancel a notice falls on the designated person who issued it who should 
immediately liaise with the NAFN SPoC. The Designated Person must confirm the position in 
writing for the SPoC or, if not, in a manner that produces a record of the notice having been 
cancelled by the Designated Person. Where the Designated person who gave the notice to the 
CSP is no longer available, this duty should fall on a person who has temporarily or 
permanently taken over the role of the Designated Person.

 (See paragraphs 3.45-58 of the Code of Practice).

Disclosure of Data

Notices under section 22(4) of the Act will only require the disclosure of data to:

 the person giving the notice i.e. the designated person; or
 another specified person. In practice, this is likely to be the SPoC. 

Communications data, and all copies, extracts and summaries of it. must be handled and 
stored securely. In addition, the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and its data 
protection principles should be adhered to (See Chapter 7 of the Code of Practice). In criminal 
proceedings, the principles under the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 will need 
to be complied with (See paragraph 6.4 of the Code of Practice).

Retention of Data

Applications, and notices for communications data will be retained by NAFN until it has been 
inspected by the Commissioner. NAFN should also keep a record of the dates on which the 
notice is started, Judicial Approval is granted and the Notice is cancelled (See paragraph 6.1 of 
the Code of Practice).

Where any errors have occurred in the giving of notices, a record should be kept, and a report 
and explanation may a have to be sent to the Commissioner. An error can only occur after a 
Designated Person:

Page 258



9

 has granted an authorization and the acquisition of date has been initiated; or
 has given notice and the notice has been served on a CSP in writing, electronically or 

orally.

Where an error occurs in the grant of an authorisation, the giving of a notice or as a consequence 
of any authorized conduct, or any conduct undertaken to comply with a notice, but the error is 
identified without data being acquired or disclosed wrongly, then a record should be kept.

Where an error results in communications date being acquired or disclosed wrongly, a report 
must be made to the Commissioner.
The practical arrangements for this Error reporting are as follows;

If there are any errors found with the data return (for example the wrong subscriber data) then the 
requesting officer must inform the Senior Responsible Officer and NAFN.

NAFN then contacts the SRO and reviews what has happened and why the error has occurred. 
It is the responsibility of the SRO to inform the IPCO and the appropriate CSP within 5 working 
days of the error being discovered. Where a reportable error is deemed to be of a serious nature, 
the Commissioner may investigate the circumstances that led to the error and assess the impact 
of the interference on the affected individual’s rights. The affected individual may make a 
complaint to the Investigatory Powers Tribunal. Applications must also be retained to allow for 
the Tribunal to carry out its functions.
(See paragraphs 6.11 to 6.25 of the Code of Practice for more information on the recording and 
reporting of errors).

Oversight

IPCO oversees the use of powers for interception of communications, acquisition of 
communications data and the investigation of electronic data. As the authority uses NAFN as 
its SPOC, NAFN as opposed to the Council will be inspected on a regular basis. It is still 
important that all of the relevant documents are completed properly by the Council and stored 
appropriately. The operation of this policy shall be overseen by the Council’s Audit 
Committee by receiving reports on a 6 monthly basis to ensure that the RIPA powers are 
being used consistently with this policy. 

Page 259



10

APPENDIX 1

 GUIDE TO SEEKING MAGISTRATES’ APPROVAL FOR RIPA SURVEILLANCE

Background

Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (sections 37 and 38) came into 
force on 1st November 2012. This changes the procedure for the authorisation of local 
authority surveillance under the Regulation for Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).

From 1st November 2012 local authorities are required to obtain the approval of a Justice of 
the Peace (JP) for the use of any one of the three covert investigatory techniques available 
to them under RIPA namely Directed Surveillance, the deployment of a Covert Human 
Intelligence Source (CHIS) and accessing communications data. 

An approval is also required if an authorisation to use such techniques is being renewed. In 
each case, the role of the JP is to ensure that the correct procedures have been followed 
and the relevant factors have been taken account of. There is no requirement for the JP to 
consider either cancellations or internal reviews.

Home Office Guidance

The Home Office has published guidance on the Magistrates’ approval process both for 
local authorities and the Magistrates’ Court:

http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-
guidance/

This guidance is non-statutory but provides advice on how local authorities can best 
approach these changes in law and the new arrangements that need to be put in place to 
implement them effectively.  It is supplementary to the legislation and to the two statutory 
Codes of Practice made under RIPA.

The New Magistrates’ Approval Process

1. The first stage will be to apply for an authorisation in the usual way. Once this has been 
granted, the local authority will need to contact the local Magistrates’ Court to arrange a 
hearing. 

2. The hearing is a ‘legal proceeding’ and therefore local authority officers need to be 
formally designated to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or provide information 
as required by the JP.  For the initial applications which are made following the 
requirement for Judicial Approval, Legal Services will attend at the Magistrates Court to 
present the application. In due course the Council may formally designate certain 
properly trained investigating officers for this purpose under section 223 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Page 260

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2010-12/protectionoffreedoms.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2075/made
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-guidance/
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/ripa-forms/local-authority-ripa-guidance/


11

3. The Home Office suggests that the investigating officer will be best suited to making the 
application for Judicial Approval, although the Authorising Officer may also want to 
attend to answer any questions.

4. The local authority will provide the JP with a copy of the original RIPA authorisation.  
This forms the basis of the application to the JP and should contain all information that 
is relied upon. In addition, the local authority will provide the JP with two copies of a 
partially completed judicial application/order form (which is included in the Home Office 
Guidance)

5. The hearing will be in private and heard by a single JP who will read and consider the 
RIPA authorisation and the judicial application/order form.  He/She may have questions 
to clarify points or require additional reassurance on particular matters.  The forms and 
supporting papers must by themselves make the case.  It is not sufficient for the local 
authority to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or supported in the papers 
provided.  

6. The JP will consider whether he or she is satisfied that, at the time the authorisation 
was granted or renewed, there were reasonable grounds for believing that the 
authorisation was necessary and proportionate.  He/She will also consider whether 
there continues to be reasonable grounds.  In addition the JP must be satisfied that the 
Authorising Officer was of an appropriate level within the local authority and that the 
authorisation was made in accordance with any applicable legal restrictions (e.g. meets 
the Serious Crime Test for Directed Surveillance)

7. The order section of the above mentioned form will be completed by the JP and will be 
the official record of the his/her decision.  The local authority will need to retain a copy 
of the form after it has been signed by the JP.  

Magistrate’s Options

The JP may decide to – 

 Approve the grant/renewal of the authorisation
The grant/renewal of the authorisation will then take effect and the local authority may 
proceed to use the surveillance technique/acquisition of data technique mentioned therein. 
The surveillance/acquisition of data has to be commenced within one month of the 
Magistrates’ Court approval.

 Refuse to approve the grant/renewal of the authorisation on a technicality
The RIPA authorisation will not take effect and the local authority may not use the 
surveillance technique/acquisition of data technique in that case. The authority will need to 
consider the reasons for the refusal. A technical error in the form may be remedied without 
the need to go through the internal authorisation process again.  The authority can then 
reapply for Magistrates’ approval.

Page 261



12

 Refuse to approve the grant/renewal and quash the authorisation
A JP may refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation and decide to quash 
the original authorisation. This may be because he/she believes it is not necessary or 
proportionate. The RIPA authorisation will not take effect and the local authority may not 
use the surveillance technique/acquisition of data technique in that case. The JP must not 
exercise his/her power to quash the authorisation unless the local authority has had at least 
two business days from the date of the refusal in which to prepare and make further 
representations to the court.

Appeals

A local authority may only appeal a JP’s decision to refuse approval of an authorisation, on 
a point of law by making an application for Judicial Review in the High Court. 

The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT) will continue to investigate complaints by 
individuals about the use of RIPA techniques by public bodies, including local authorities.  
If, following a complaint to them, the IPT finds fault with a RIPA authorisation it has the 
power to quash the JP’s order which approved the grant or renewal of the authorisation. It 
can also award damages if it believes that an individual’s human rights have been violated 
by the local authority.

Page 262



13

Application for judicial approval for authorisation to 
obtain or disclose communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to conduct 

directed surveillance
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A, 23B, 32A, and 32B

Local authority:..............................................................................................................    
Local authority department:...........................................................................................
Offence under investigation1……………………....……………………………………….  
.……………………………………………………………………………………………....…
Address of premises or identity of 
subject:2..…………………………………………………………………………………….………………………………
…………………………………….........................................

Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details)   

Communications Data

Covert Human Intelligence Source

Directed Surveillance

Summary of details3

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………………………………………………………………

Note: this application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA authorisation/RIPA application or 
notice.

Investigating Officer ....................................................................................

Authorising Officer ....................................................................................

Officer(s) appearing before JP  4..................................................................
Address of applicant department: ...............................................................
.....................................................................................................................
Contact telephone number...........................................................................
Contact email address (optional) ................................................................
Local authority reference.............................................................................
Number of pages.........................................................................................

To be completed by local authority Order overleaf

Page 263



14

5Order made on an application for judicial approval for 
authorisation to obtain or disclose communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source 

or to conduct directed surveillance.
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B

Magistrates’ court  .......................................................................................................

Having considered the application, I (tick one):

am satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the requirements of the Act 
were satisfied and remain satisfied, and that the relevant conditions are satisfied and I therefore 
approve the grant or renewal of  the authorisation/notice.

6refuse to approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice. 

7refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation/notice. 

Reasons ............………………………………………………………………………………………....

………..…………………………………………………………………………………………

.......................................................................................................................................

Notes

......................................................................................................................................

......................................................................................................................................

Signed:

Date:

Time:

Full name:

Address of magistrates’ court:

Page 264



Notes to Assist Completion

1Insert the offence or disorder that you are investigating. If you are seeking authorisation for Directed Surveillance make sure that the criminal offence you are investigating attracts a maximum custodial sentence of six months or more or relates to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco (as per the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) Order 2012.2You may not know the identity of the person in which case you can include a description and/or how they relate to the offence/disorder under investigation.3This forms the basis of the application to the JP and should contain all information that is relied upon. You may wish to set out in brief:What information you are seeking from the surveillanceWhat the surveillance will involve e.g. covert cameras, CHISHow long the surveillance will lastYou do no need to go into a lot of detail as this form should have the original authorisation form attached.4 Any officer employed by the Council can appear before the Magistrate.  The Home Office suggests that the Investigating Officer is best placed to do this. Make sure that whoever appears is formally designated to do so under section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972. Legal Services will carry out the initial applications.5The order section of this form will be completed by the Magistrate and will be the official record of the Magistrate’s decision.  The Council will need to retain a copy of the judicial application/order form after it has been signed by the Magistrate. This may be kept with the original authorisation on the Central Record.6If the Magistrate refuses to approve the authorisation, surveillance/acquisition of data cannot be undertaken. This may be due to a technical error which can be corrected. Read the reasons for refusal and seek advice from the Legal Dept. and/or RIPA Coordinator with regards to the next steps.7If the Magistrate decides to quash the authorisation, surveillance/acquisition of data cannot be undertaken. You will have two days to make further representations. Read the reasons for refusal and seek advice from the Legal Dept and/or RIPA Coordinator with regards to the next steps.

Page 265



Public Report

Summary Sheet

Council Report: 
Audit Committee – 19th June 2018

Title:
External Audit and Inspection Recommendations

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included in the Forward Plan? 
No 

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report:
Judith Badger – Strategic Director, Finance and Customer Services 

Report Author(s):
Tracy Blakemore - Quality and Projects Officer, CYPS
Sue Wilson – Head of Service, Performance & Planning, CYPS

Ward(s) Affected:
All

Executive Summary:

In line with the audit committee prospectus “A fresh start”, the purpose of this report is 
to provide details of recent and current external audits and inspections, including the 
details of arrangements that are in place regarding the accountability and governance 
for implementing recommendations arising from these.  

The appendix to the report provides a summary of progress against recommendations 
from across all key external audits and inspections. 

Recommendations:

That the Audit Committee notes the governance arrangements that are currently in 
place for monitoring and managing the recommendations from external audits and 
inspections.

That the Audit Committee continues to receive regular reports in relation to external 
audit and inspections and progress made in implementing recommendations.

Page 266 Agenda Item 10



List of Appendices Included:

Appendix A: Summary of Recommendations from “Active” Inspection and Audit Action 
Plans

Background Papers

CYPS Improvement Plan
Fresh Start Improvement Plan and Phase Two Action Plan
Ofsted Report published November 2014

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 267



Title – External Audit and Inspection Recommendations

1. Background

1.1 In line with the audit committee prospectus “A fresh start”, the purpose of this 
report is to provide details of recent and current external audits and 
inspections. The report covers the 2 key improvement plans – Fresh Start and 
the Children and Young People’s Plan plus recommendations from 
inspections from across the rest of the Council.

1.2       The “Fresh Start” Improvement Plan was Rotherham Council’s strategic, 
organisation-wide response to the corporate, organisation-wide aspects of the 
external Corporate Governance Inspection (CGI) and the Jay and Ofsted 
reports. The plan was approved in May 2015 and divided into two phases:

 An initial “transition” phase, from May 2015 to May 2016, which focused on 
ensuring the Council had in place the basic building blocks of an effective 
council.

 The second phase from May 2016 to May 2017, focused on embedding 
strong leadership and a new culture following the appointment of key, 
permanent senior staff and the all-out election in May 2016. 

 The implementation of the plan and its governance arrangements were 
overseen by the “Joint Board” of Commissioners and leading Elected 
Members (Labour and Opposition Groups), with links to the Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT) and Assistant Directors. 

 The final meeting of the Joint Board took place on 20th November 2017, 
where completion of 98% of the phase two actions was noted. One 
remaining milestone was completed by the end of December 2017 and the 
other was scheduled for April 2018. Improvement activity continues to be 
reported and monitored through the appropriate mechanisms such as 
performance reporting, reports to SLT and the Member Development 
Panel.

2. Adult Care and Housing 

2.1 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertakes programmed inspections of 
Rotherham MBC Adult Social Care registered providers. The following table details 
completed inspections and the most recent ratings for the service  

Page 268



Service Latest 
Inspection Report

Overall Rating 
for Service

Lord Hardy Court 1st February, 2017 Good

Davies Court 28th September, 2016 Good

Home Enabling (includes 
Shared lives)

30th July, 2016 Good

Parkhill Lodge 5th March, 2018 Good

Quarryhill Resource Centre 7th March, 2018 Good

Treefields Resource Centre 23rd August, 2017 Good

2.1.1 Lord Hardy Court’s last CQC inspection in February 2017 resulted in an 
overall rating of good, however 2 actions needed to be dealt with by the Council. 

 There was no dedicated activity staff or a structured activities programme. Due 
to staffs workloads activities were not consistently available for people to 
participate in. The roles of Dedicated Activity Coordinators were deleted from 
the service in 2013 and because the action references “dedicated” activity staff 
it is possible the action may never be deemed to be fully complete. Despite this 
the Council continues to work extremely hard mitigating the impact of this 
change on customers using the facility. Since the steps already taken and 
reported in April 2017, which included creating an accessible gardening feature 
for residents and developing individual activity plans for residents with 
dementia, some further work has been done to improve the service. Staff, 
proactively encourage residents to become more involved in a wider range of 
activities like taking part in table top games and attending weekly movement 
sessions to music, entertainers are also being booked to visit the unit at regular 
intervals.

 Changes in people's needs had not always been fully incorporated into all care 
records, and decisions made in people's best interest were not always clearly 
recorded in their care files. Action was taken to ensure recording in client files 
were accurately reflecting the up to date position. Follow up quality assurance 
checks have been scheduled by the service to ensure improvements are being 
consistently applied. 

 Following the inspection in February 2017 care plans were immediately 
updated to capture the current needs of people using the facility and a robust 
process was developed to ensure care plans are being updated regularly. 

2.1.2 Although rated overall as being good some minor recommendations were 
made about Parkhill Lodge with regard to how well the service was being led; The 
following actions were identified to help improve the service;

 Some firm timescales needed to be included into the action plan developed by 
the service to deal with items in the care home that needed repairing or 
replacing. The inspectors recognised the reasons for this was that consultations 

Page 269



were still underway to determine the future plans for the building, however 
despite this wanted to see some firm indication when actions in the plan would 
be completed.

 The Policies and procedures used to deliver the service were also last reviewed 
in 2013 which was identified as a gap. A refresh was required to ensure the 
service is; meeting its statutory requirements in terms of health and safety etc. 
operating effectively and is able to capture best practice and learning.

 No specific timescales were given to complete the actions although the review 
of the policies and procedures is now complete. Day to day repairs to the 
building are being completed as and when required and medium to long term 
plans for the home are to identify other suitable accommodation.

2.1.3 Following the previous inspection of Treefields Resource Centre in 
September 2015 an unannounced inspection also took place on 13th July 2017. 
The overall assessment of the service published in the final report on August 17 
was good and the following comments about the service were made:     

 The recommendation from the previous inspection of the service in September 
2015 to have registered with the CQC a manager of the service is complete.

 Staff supported people in a caring, sociable and inclusive way. They interacted 
with people positively, whilst respecting their privacy, preferences and 
decisions. 

 Staff demonstrated a very good knowledge of the people they supported, whilst 
understanding the need to maintain their independence.

2.2 Adult Social Care (ASC) continues to have a good compliance record with 
standards subject to inspection. Governance arrangements remain and are reported 
via the ASC Directorates development programme and the Transformation Board 
which is chaired by Sharon Kemp, RMBC Chief Executive, and has member 
representation from partner agencies. These arrangements have been further 
strengthened since June 2017, when additional governance reporting has been put in 
place in respect to ASC Improvement Plan.

2.3 Fire Risk Assessment Audits have been made by the South Yorkshire Fire and 
Rescue Service to 2 blocks of flats owned by Housing. The following actions are being 
taken to improve the service;  

 Fire stopping improvements have been made to Hampstead Green Flats. Match 
funding has been secured to install water sprinklers in the flats in addition to 
reconfiguring the alarm sounders which will be extended into all habitable rooms in 
each flat. South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service have been made aware of 
these changes and agreement reached to extend the target for the works to be 
completed to anytime during the current year.

 Bin chute doors at Doncaster Road and Eastwood View Flats have been 
upgraded. Plans to reconfigure fire alarm sounders have been delayed a month 
because of management issues with one of the flats. These issues are now 
resolved and a new completion date of May 2018 agreed with the South Yorkshire 
Fire and Rescue Service. 

Page 270



3. Children and Young People’s Services

3.1 Ofsted carried out a re-inspection of Children’s Services in November 2017 under 
their Single Inspection Framework. 

3.1.1 The findings from the inspection were published on the 29th January 2018 
and were:

 Services for Children and young People in Rotherham are overall Good
 Children in Need of Help and Protection is Good
 Children looked after and achieving permanence is Requires Improvement
 Adoption Performance is Good
 Experiences and progress of Care Leavers is Outstanding
 Leadership, management and Governance is Good

3.1.2 In the report Ofsted identified eight recommendations for improvement:

 Ensure that managers provide challenging, reflective and directive supervision 
and, with support from independent reviewing officers (IROs) and conference 
chairs, address the quality of practice and planning for all children effectively. 

 Ensure that all assessments are: meaningful to children and their families; 
reflect the changing needs of children; and effectively evaluate cumulative risks 
and their impact. 

 Ensure that all plans: are clear about how children’s and young people’s holistic 
needs are to be met; have clear timescales; can be understood by families; and 
are always well informed by risk assessment. 

 Ensure that early permanence planning is timely and considers the full range of 
placement options for all children when they are unable to return to their birth 
families. 

 Improve the timeliness of the early help response to children, particularly those 
who have a disability. 

 Work with schools to reduce the number of fixed-term exclusions and persistent 
absentees from education among children looked after. 

 Ensure that children benefit from timely, good-quality life story work and later 
life letters that are written clearly, so that young people will understand their 
experiences, life history and reason for separation from their birth families. 

 Ensure that birth parents of children who are adopted fully understand what 
support is available and are helped to access this. 

3.1.3 Progress in relation to the 24 Ofsted recommendations and underpinning 
actions from the 2014 Single Inspection (that had found the Service to be 
inadequate) have been reported regularly to and monitored by the multi-agency 
CYPS Improvement Board.  In Ofsted’s re-inspection of the service in November 
2017, Ofsted found that these recommendations had been addressed by the 
service. 

3.1.4 The CYPS Improvement Plan has been updated to include the actions 
required to address the eight recommendations from Ofsted and was submitted to 
Ofsted on the 8th May. 

3.1.5 The actions to address the 8 recommendations will now also be included 
within service plans and monitored as part of the services’ business as usual 
process. 

Page 271



3.1.6 The CYPS Improvement Board had its final meeting on the 31st January; 
therefore the quarterly Service Plan Performance Clinics and the CYPS 
Performance Board, chaired by Cllr Watson, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for 
Children and Young People’s Services, will monitor and challenge progress 
against the actions.

3.1.7 A named Lead officer has been allocated to each of the eight Ofsted 
recommendations.  This lead is accountable to the Performance Board for the 
progress of the actions identified against each of the recommendations.

3.1.8 Inspection readiness continues to be a priority in Children’s Services as the 
framework for the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services ( ILACs) has 
now been published and includes an annual self-assessment (which will need to 
cover progress against the 8 recommendations) and an annual conversation which 
is a visit from an Ofsted HMI (Her Majesty’s Inspector) to discuss the progress 
being made and any risks an issues, these together determine when the next 
inspection will take place.

3.2 Liberty House Short Breaks Children’s Home is for young people with disabilities. 
The Home has 9 beds but staffing capacity dictates the number of young people able 
to access an overnight short break. The number of nights a child accesses the home 
within the month is varied and subject to their assessed needs.

3.2.1 Liberty House received a full inspection on the 2nd and 3rd November 2016, 
the outcome of which was that Liberty House was found to be an ‘Outstanding’ 
service provision. In the subsequent Interim Inspection this was further upgraded 
to Outstanding with Improved Effectiveness.

3.2.2 In accordance with Children’s Homes standards and regulations Liberty 
House has monthly visits from an independent visitor. This is externally 
commissioned to ensure independence and objectivity. The reports are sent 
monthly to Ofsted.

4. Regeneration and Environment Services 

4.1 The ground source heat/cooling system at Riverside House was also inspected by 
the Environment Agency in January 2017.

4.2 The January inspection recommended, as part of any future upgrades to the 
heat/cooling system a new volume meter should be installed. No future upgrades to 
the system however are currently being planned. 

5. Finance and Customer Services

5.1 Each year the External Auditor issues a range of reports relating to the work to be 
undertaken and these are presented to Audit Committee:

5.1.1 External Audit Plan which outlines the audit approach and identifies areas of 
audit focus and planned procedures.

Page 272



5.1.2 Interim Audit Report (if required), which details control and process issues 
and identifies improvements required prior to the issue of the draft financial 
statements and the year-end audit.

5.1.3 Report to those charged with Governance (ISA260 report) which:

 Details the resolution of key audit issues.
 Communicates adjusted and unadjusted audit differences
 Highlights recommendations identified during the audit
 Comments on the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and    

effectiveness in the use of resources (Value for Money)

5.1.4 Annual Audit Letter which summarises the outcomes and key issues arising 
from the audit work specifically in relation to:

 Audit of accounts
 Value for Money Conclusion
 Any other matters the external auditor is required to communicate

5.1.5  The External Auditor’s 2016/17 ISA 260 Report, which was presented to 
Audit Committee on 19th September 2017, anticipated the issuing of an unqualified 
audit opinion on the 2016/17 financial statements. The unqualified opinion was 
subsequently issued to the Council on 26th September 2017.  

5.1.6 The ISA 260 report also provided an unqualified opinion on the Value for 
Money conclusion. The unqualified opinion confirms that the Council has made 
proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people.     

5.1.7 The Annual Audit Letter summarising the outcome from the External Audit 
work in relation to the 2016/17 financial year was issued to the Council on 31st 
October 2017 and is included on this Audit Committee agenda.  

5.1.7.1 Any recommendations made by the External Auditor in relation to 
issues identified and the management responses to those recommendations 
are highlighted in the reports presented to Audit Committee. In carrying out the 
audit work each year the External Auditor examines progress in addressing 
previous recommendations made and comments on progress within future 
reports.

 There are no outstanding recommendations from 2015/16 or earlier.  
 With regard to 2016/17, four medium and one low priority recommendations 

were raised within the 2016/17 ISA 260 Report. 

5.2 Each local authority’s external auditor is required to certify that the annual claim for 
reimbursement by the Government of Housing Benefit (a means tested benefit 
administered by local authorities on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP)) is fairly stated and to report any errors/adjustments to the DWP in a covering 
letter that accompanies the claim.

Page 273



5.3 Whilst the DWP have no formal inspection process it does reserve the right to 
carry out an inspection if circumstances warrant it, i.e. if a Local Authority’s 
performance causes concern.

5.4 KPMG, who carries out the audit on behalf of DWP, checks the financial validity of 
the housing benefit subsidy claim and, depending upon their findings, can:

5.4.1 Where, no errors are found during their audit, certify the claim as fairly stated 
(i.e. provide an unqualified opinion on the Council’s return).

5.4.2 Where minor errors are found, agree adjustments to the claim with the 
Council and make no reference to errors in their opinion to the DWP (without 
qualification).

5.4.3 For more significant errors, either in process or figures, the external auditor is 
likely to qualify the opinion on the Council’s return and explain the reasons for 
doing so to the DWP, who will then determine what action, if any, needs to be 
taken on any points raised by the auditor. 

5.5 The audit of the Council’s 2016/17 claim was finalised on the 29th November 2017. 
Audit identified some minor errors and agreed adjustments to the claim.  The final 
claim in accordance with the DWP arrangements, was submitted without qualification.

5.6 The start date of the audit for the financial year  2017/2018 has been agreed as 
11th June 2018. 

6.          Options considered and recommended proposal

6.1 Audit Committee consider the detail of the report including Appendix A which 
provides a high level summary of the current position of inspection 
recommendations.

7. Consultation

7.1 Not applicable to this report.

8. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

8.1 The timescales for each inspection recommendation differs and is included in 
Appendix A.

9. Financial and Procurement Implications 

9.1  There are no financial implications.

10. Legal Implications

10.1 There are no legal implications.

Page 274



11.     Human Resources Implications

11.1 There are no Human Resources implications.

12. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

12.1 The recommendations in relation to inspections in both Children and Young 
People’s Services and Adult Social Care have direct implications on the 
quality of services provided to children, young people and vulnerable adults.  
Completing the recommendations will improve outcomes for these groups.

13. Equalities and Human Rights Implications

13.1 Equality Assessments are undertaken in relation to any new policies or 
strategies that are developed as a result of the work being undertaken to 
improve services.

14. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

14.1 Partnership approaches are key to improving services, particularly in relation 
to Children and Young People’s Services, the Improvements need to be of a 
multi-agency nature and owned cross the partnership.  The CYPS 
Improvement Board is made up of senior officers from partner organisations.

15. Risks and Mitigation

15.1 There is a risk that actions are reported as completed without substance, it is 
important that arrangements are in place as part of the respective quality 
assurance regimes and monitored through performance management, 
evidencing not just completion of actions, but the associated outcomes.  As 
governance arrangements are strengthened, these risks become mitigated.

16. Accountable Officer(s)

 Anne Marie Lubanski, Strategic Director of Adult Care and Housing
 Damien Wilson, Strategic Director Regeneration and Environment Services
 Ian Thomas, Strategic, Director Children and Young People’s Services
 Judith Badger, Strategic Director Finance and Customer Services

Approvals Obtained from:-

Judith Badger, Strategic Director, Finance and Customer Services  

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories

Page 275

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


APPENDIX A

Summary of Recommendations from “Active” Inspection and Audit Action Plans

Inspection / Review (date)
External 

Assessor N
um

be
r o

f 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

at
 

la
st

 re
po

rt

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

si
nc

e 
la

st
 re

po
rt

St
ill

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

O
ve

ra
ll 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

D
at

e 
fo

r 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns

ST
A

TU
S

Corporate

Corporate “Fresh Start” Improvement Plan DCLG and 
DfE

132 actions 
set out in 
original 

“Phase One” 
plan (from 
May 2015)

Revised into 
20 objectives  
in the “Phase 
Two” action 
plan (from 
May 2016)

108 (82%) of 
Phase One 

actions 
complete – 
May 2016, 
remainder 

carried 
forward to 

Phase Two

Phase Two 
action plan – 
19 out of 20 
actions and 
98 out of 99 
milestones 
completed 
since May 

2016

1 Phase Two 
action 

ongoing with
1 milestone 
outstanding

1st phase to 
May 2016

2nd phase to 
May 2017

Outstanding 
action up to 
April 2018

Formal Commissioner progress reports or 
letters are submitted to Secretaries of 
State every three months, most recent 
published being November 2017

Next report due to Government from 
Commissioners  May 2018

Joint Board of Commissioners, Leader, 
Deputy Leader, Leader of Opposition and 
Lead Cabinet Member met ten times to 
review Phase Two progress. The final 
meeting was held in November 2017 

P
age 276



Inspection / Review (date)
External 

Assessor N
um

be
r o

f 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

at
 

la
st

 re
po

rt

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

si
nc

e 
la

st
 re

po
rt

St
ill

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

O
ve

ra
ll 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

D
at

e 
fo

r 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns

ST
A

TU
S

Adult Care and Housing

Adult Social Care – Inspection of Lord Hardy 
Court 

QCQ 2 0 1 1 December 
2018 

1 recommendation is complete.
The Council is currently developing a 

number of initiatives to deliver the 
outcomes of the 2nd recommendation 

within budgets 

Adult Social Care – Inspection of Parkhill Lodge CQC 2 0 0 2 2- 3 months

Medium Term 
Plan 

Recommendation relates to polices which 
has already been addressed and we will 
have a new integrated system across all 
services fully embedded within the next 2 

– 3 months.

In relation to the cosmetics of the building 
this is under corporate landlord and we are 

managing day to day repairs and 
maintenance by raising issues with 

facilities management building manager. 
 The medium term plan for Parkhill Lodge 

will be to look for alternative premises.

P
age 277



Inspection / Review (date)
External 

Assessor N
um

be
r o

f 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

at
 

la
st

 re
po

rt

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

si
nc

e 
la

st
 re

po
rt

St
ill

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

O
ve

ra
ll 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

D
at

e 
fo

r 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns

ST
A

TU
S

Adult Care and Housing

Housing - Fire Risk Assessment Audit: 
Hampstead Green Flats 

South 
Yorkshire Fire 

& Rescue 
Service

2 0 1 1 Complete 

Revised from 
August 2018 

to 
2018/2019

1. Recommendation 1 to improve the 
maintenance of the scheme is 
complete ( Fire stopping – holes in 
Fire breaks ) 

2. Recommendation 2 to reconfigure the 
sounders in the corridors has been 
agreed with South Yorkshire Fire & 
Rescue Service on 19/02/2018.The 
alarm system will also be expanded.  

Housing - Fire Risk Assessment Audit: Doncaster 
Road & Eastwood View Flats

South 
Yorkshire Fire 

& Rescue 
Service

2 0 1 1 Complete 

Revised from 
April 18 to 

May 18 

1. Recommendation 1 to improve the 
maintenance of the scheme is 
complete (upgrade bin chute doors )

  
2. Recommendation 2 , to reconfigure 

the sounders in the corridors will be 
completed by April 2018 

P
age 278



Inspection / Review (date)
External 

Assessor N
um

be
r o

f 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

at
 

la
st

 re
po

rt

Im
pl

em
en

te
d 

si
nc

e 
la

st
 re

po
rt

St
ill

 o
ut

st
an

di
ng

O
ve

ra
ll 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

D
at

e 
fo

r 
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns

ST
A

TU
S

Children and Young People’s Services

Children’s Services Inspection: November 2017

Inspection of services for children in need of help 
and protection, children looked after and care 
leavers and Review of the effectiveness of the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board

OFSTED 8 0 0 8 TBA Children’s Services was re-inspected by 
HMI Ofsted in November 2017 and 

received a rating of ‘Good’ with 
outstanding features and identified 8 new 

recommendations.

Finance and Corporate Services

External Auditor’s Report on the Accounts 
2016/2017

KPMG 5 0 5 0 Mar 2018 Complete

Regeneration and Environment Services

Environment Agency compliance audit against 
environmental permit Licence No. 
NE/027/0005/004 & Discharge Permit EPR-
HP3427GA

Ground source heat/cooling system at Riverside 
House, Main Street, Rotherham, S60 1AE

EA 1 0 0 1 N/A The recommendation was for a new 
volume meter to be installed if there are 

any future upgrades to the system. There 
are no planned upgrades at this time.

P
age 279



1

Public Report
Audit Committee Report

Summary Sheet

Council Report: 
Audit Committee 19th June 2018

Title: 
Annual Governance Statement 2017-18. 

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan?: 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Judith Badger (Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services)

Report Author(s): 
Simon Dennis (Corporate Risk Manager)
Assistant Chief Executive’s Department
Extension 22114
simon.dennis@rotherham.gov.uk

David Webster (Head of Internal Audit)
Finance and Customer Services
Extension 23282
david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected: 
All

Executive Summary: 

The Council has produced a draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for the 
2017-18 financial year which was published alongside the Council’s financial 
statements on 31st May 2018. This report briefly sets out for the Committee the 
process that was followed to construct this AGS. The full draft AGS is attached to 
this report as Appendix A. 

Recommendations:
The Audit Committee is asked to review the draft 2017-18 Annual Governance 
Statement and raise queries if necessary.

Page 280 Agenda Item 11

mailto:simon.dennis@rotherham.gov.uk
mailto:david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk


2

Background Papers:
"Delivering Good Governance in Local Government", published by CIPFA (the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) and SOLACE (the Society of 
Local Authority Chief Executives) in April 2016.
Audit Committee Report 21st November 2017 “Code of Corporate Governance”

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel:
No

Council Approval Required:
No

Exempt from the Press and Public:
No

Page 281



3

Title: 
Annual Governance Statement 2017-18. 

1. Recommendations:
1.1 The Audit Committee is asked to review the draft 2017-18 Annual 

Governance Statement and raise queries if necessary
2. Background

2.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations require the Council to produce an 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) alongside its Statement of 
Accounts in each financial year. The AGS is a statutory document 
which explains the processes and procedures in place to enable the 
Council to carry out its functions effectively. Local Authorities are 
required to prepare an AGS in order to report publicly on the extent to 
which they comply with their own Local Code of Governance. The draft 
2016-17 AGS was published on 31 May 2018. 

2.2 A process to gather assurances and evidence to support the AGS was 
led by the Corporate Governance Group, chaired by the Strategic 
Director Finance and Customer Services. The group included the Head 
of Internal Audit, the Corporate Risk Manager and the Assistant 
Director, Legal Services. 

2.3 The assurance and evidence process produced a strong evidence 
base and enabled the Council to have confidence in the statements 
that it is making in the AGS. The AGS also includes updates to matters 
raised in the previous year’s AGS. The draft AGS is attached to this 
report as Appendix A.

3. Process to construct the 2017-18 AGS

3.1 In constructing the AGS for 2017-18, the Council has assembled 
sufficient evidence to support the statements that it has made. To 
achieve this, each Strategic Director was asked to oversee a self-
assessment of governance in their Directorate. This comprised the 
completion of a self-assessment form based on the Principles and Sub-
principles in the Local Code by each Assistant Director as well as a 
review and update of the detailed issues raised in the 2016-17 AGS. 
Each Strategic Director was also required to sign a Statement of 
Assurance which was based on the information arising from their 
review of current and previous governance issues.

3.2 Each Directorate has returned the required Statement of Assurance 
and supporting documents and the Corporate Governance Group has 
reviewed the evidence contained in them. Additionally, the group has 

Page 282



4

considered which issues are of sufficient significance to require 
reporting in the AGS.

3.3 The group then produced the AGS itself, which was reviewed by SLT, 
the Strategic Director Finance and Customer Services, the Assistant 
Director Legal Services and the Chief Executive.

Overall conclusion

3.4 The AGS outlines the governance arrangements in place throughout 
the year and how their effectiveness was monitored.

3.5 The Committee will note that the AGS at Appendix A reaches an overall 
conclusion that “…the Council demonstrated good governance and met 
its Best value duty throughout the year”. The AGS recognises the 
improvements made in the Council’s performance throughout the 
financial year but also highlights a number of areas for further 
developments in 2018-19. 

Next Steps

3.6 The Audit Committee are invited to comment on any aspect of the 
Annual Governance Statement attached to this report at Appendix A. 

3.7 The AGS will be updated by 31st July to reflect any issues that emerge 
between now and the completion of the final Statement of Accounts. It 
will also take account of any comments made by the Audit Committee 
and the external auditor.

4. Options considered and recommended proposal

4.1 This paper considers the draft AGS for 2017-18. As a result, no specific 
options have been considered.

5. Consultation

5.1 All Strategic Directors have been asked for their input into the AGS 
process through the submission of signed Statements of 
Assurance.

5.2 The draft AGS has been reviewed by SLT, the Strategic Director 
Finance and Customer Services, the Assistant Director Legal Services 
and the Chief Executive.

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 The Corporate Governance Group will ensure that any issues raised by 
the Audit Committee or the external auditors, and any emerging issues 

Page 283



5

are addressed and updated as part of the completion of the final AGS 
for 2017-18.

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 There are no direct financial implications other than the requirement to 
publish the AGS alongside the Council’s Annual Finance Statements.  
There are no procurement issues.

8. Legal Implications

8.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report, although 
it is a statutory required for an AGS to be published alongside the 
Council’s Financial Statements. This report endeavours to set out how 
the Council intends to comply with that requirement.     

9.     Human Resources Implications

9.1 There are no Human Resources implications directly associated with 
the paper.

10.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 Any implications for the Children and Young People’s Service and 
Adults Services are set out in the AGS attached at appendix A.

11.   Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 There are no direct human rights or equalities implications in this 
report.    

12.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 There are no direct implications for our Partners in this report.  The 
AGS has been constructed following consultation with all Directorates. 
Individual directorates are responsible for implementing action to 
respond to weaknesses identified in the AGS.

13.   Risks and Mitigation

13.1 The AGS is expected to be completed each year to sit alongside the 
Financial Statements. The risk of failing to produce an AGS has been 
considered and, although this is a remote risk resources are in place to 
ensure that a complete an accurate AGS is delivered on time.

14. Accountable Officer:

14.1 Judith Badger (Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services)

Page 284



6

Approvals Obtained from:-

Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services: Judith Badger

Director of Legal Services: Dermot Pearson

Simon Dennis
Corporate Risk Manager

This report is published on the Council's website. 

Page 285



DRAFT

ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Annual Governance Statement 
2017/18

Page 286



1

ROTHERHAM MBC ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017/18

1 SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

1.1 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring 
that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, 
and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness (the Best Value duty). 

1.2 In discharging its overall responsibilities, the Council is responsible for putting in 
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, and ensuring there are effective arrangements 
in place for the management of risk. 

1.3 The Council has a Code of Corporate Governance in line with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. 
The Code can be found at www.rotherham.gov.uk 

1.4 This Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015 in relation to the publication of an Annual Governance 
Statement.

2 THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, values and 
behaviours by which the Council is directed and controlled. It also comprises the 
activities through which the Council accounts to, engages with and leads the 
community. It enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic 
objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate, cost-effective services. 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of the governance framework 
and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore provide 
proportionate and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an on-going process that is designed to:

 identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Council policies, aims 
and objectives 

Page 287

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/


2

 evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and assess the impact 
should they be realised, and 

 manage the risks efficiently, effectively and economically. 

3 THE COUNCIL’S CURRENT GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

3.1 Following Directions issued by the Secretaries of State for Education and 
Communities and Local Government on 26th February 2015, the Government 
appointed Commissioners to take on all executive responsibilities at the Council 
and responsibilities relating to licensing*1. By the start of the 2017/18 financial 
year, three Commissioners remained following the departure of Sir Derek Myers 
on 31st March 2017. 

3.2 Throughout the 2017/18 financial year the Commissioner team was led by Lead 
Commissioner Mary Ney. The Lead Commissioner was assisted throughout the 
year by the Children’s Social Care Commissioner, Commissioner Patricia Bradwell 
and Commissioner Julie Kenny CBE.

3.3 The Council’s general governance arrangements include a range of policies, 
procedures and activities that are designed to be consistent with the expectations 
for public sector bodies. Throughout the financial year these arrangements have 
been developed further as the Commissioner team and the scale of intervention 
has changed. Section 4 makes reference to the operation of general governance 
arrangements in place at the Council and includes annual statutory assessments 
made by Internal and External Audit. 

3.4 During 2017/18 the Corporate Plan was refreshed and renamed as the Council 
Plan. This Council Plan set out the direction and priorities for the whole 
organisation for the year ahead. The vision for the borough was defined as

“Rotherham is our home, where we can come together as a community, where we 
seek to draw on our proud history to build a future we can all share. We value 
decency and dignity and seek to build a town where opportunity is extended to 
everyone, where people can grow, flourish and prosper, and where no one is left 
behind. To achieve this as a council we must work in a modern, efficient way, to 
deliver sustainable services in partnership with our local neighbourhoods, looking 
outwards, yet focused relentlessly on the needs of our residents”.

1 The Commissioner for Children’s Social Care Services had been in place since October 2014 having 
been appointed initially by the Secretary of State for Education following the failings identified by Ofsted.

Page 288



3

3.5 To that end four priorities were set which were:

 Every child making the best start in life
 Every adult secure, responsible and empowered
 A strong community in a clean, safe environment
 Extending opportunity, prosperity and planning for the future

Each of these priorities was underpinned by a fifth priority, “A modern, efficient 
Council”. The plan detailed how each directorate contributes to those priorities and 
included performance measures to be met. 

3.6 By the start of the Financial Year, the majority of powers and accountabilities had 
been restored to Councillors by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government. These services were listed in last year’s Annual Governance 
Statement.  

3.7 Most remaining functions (community safety; waste management; performance 
management; asset management; and human resources) were recommended for 
return in July 2017. A revised Direction was issued on 12th September 2017 that 
returned most services to the Council other than those relating to children’s 
safeguarding and all other children’s social care services. The Commissioners 
also retain responsibility for deciding on the appointment and dismissal of 
statutory officers (the Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer).

3.8 In addition, for adult social care and the Council’s partnership with the NHS and 
the domestic abuse aspect of community safety, the relevant Commissioner can, 
if they consider a Cabinet decision is particularly significant and carries notable 
risk in terms of the best value duty, make a formal written recommendation to the 
relevant Executive Councillor that must be followed. 

3.9 Ofsted carried out a re-inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers in November 2017. This re-
inspection, which was published in January 2018, rated the Council’s service as 
“good”. Additionally, in February 2018, the Commissioners commissioned an 
independent check of the Council as part of the move through the final phases of 
the intervention. The process was designed to assess whether the intervention 
had served its purpose and the Council’s fitness to continue its improvement 
journey without Commissioner oversight and without detriment to the Council’s 
best value duty. At the date of writing this Statement, the outcome of the 
independent check and the future of intervention is awaited.

Page 289



4

4 GENERAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND THEIR 
OPERATION DURING THE YEAR

4.1 As noted in paragraph 3.3, the Council’s Governance framework includes a range 
of policies, procedures and activities that are designed to be consistent with the 
expectations for public sector bodies. They are drawn together by the Council’s 
Code of Corporate Governance which was refreshed and approved by the Audit 
Committee in November 2017.

Elements of an effective Governance framework

4.2 The table below sets out the key elements of an effective Governance framework, 
all of which were in place in the Council throughout the 2017/2018 year.

Council Committee or group Governance Function
Full Council Approves the Council Plan and Improvement Plan

Endorses the Constitution
Approves the policy and financial frameworks

Cabinet Primary decision making body of the Council
Comprises the Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
members who have responsibility for specific areas

Audit Committee Considers all issues relating to audit matters, both 
internal and external.
Monitors and reviews the effectiveness of risk 
management systems, including systems of internal 
control

Standards and Ethics 
Committee

Promotes high standards of conduct by elected 
members and monitors the operation of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees

Review and scrutinise the decisions and action taken 
in connection with any functions of the Council
Make reports or recommendations to the Council or 
Cabinet with respect to the discharge of any functions 
of the Council

Chief Executive, Strategic and 
Assistant Directors

Set governance standards
Lead and apply governance standards across the 
Council

Internal Audit Performs independent and objective reviews of all 
areas of the Council
Undertakes fraud and irregularity investigations and 
proactive anti-fraud work

4.3 The table below indicates the detailed governance arrangements in place during 
the year and their operation, with reference to the principles set out in both the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance Guidance applicable to 2017/18 
and the Council’s own Code:

Page 290



5

Principle Arrangements at RMBC
Principle A - 
Behaving with 
integrity, 
demonstrating 
strong commitment 
to ethical values, 
and respecting the 
rule of law

The Council has a constitution and a supporting set of rules and 
procedures that govern its activities in accordance with 
legislative requirements.
All key decisions require review by Legal and Financial 
Services to ensure all relevant requirements and considerations 
are taken account of.
The Council has arrangements for encouraging the reporting of 
suspected wrong-doing. The Council’s Whistle-blowing policy 
has been revised in line with current guidance.
The Council has a Member/Officer Protocol which was adopted 
by the Council in October 2016. It is communicated to all 
Members, and is emphasized through training on the Code of 
Conduct which forms part of the induction programme for 
Members and their continuous development programme. Codes 
of Conduct for Members and Officers define conflicts of interest 
and how they should be treated.

The Code of Practice, Officer/Member Protocol, constitution 
and Whistle-blowing Policy can be found at 
www.rotherham.gov.uk 
 

Principle B - 
Ensuring openness 
and 
comprehensive 
stakeholder 
engagement. 

The Council is committed to openness and acting in the public 
interest. The current Council Plan (covering the period to March 
2020) is based on a series of public consultation exercises 
which resulted in a new vision for the borough which was 
approved 28th October 2015. The Council Plan can be found at 
www.rotherham.gov.uk 

Delivery of this vision is embedded in day-to-day activities 
across the Council and is monitored through the performance 
management framework.

The Local Government Association conducted a citizen’s 
satisfaction survey on behalf of the Council during 2017 – the 
results of which have been reported through the performance 
management framework. 
Ongoing work is taking place on embedding greater levels of 
community and stakeholder engagement through the Council’s 
Communications Strategy. Work is also taking place to reform 
the Council’s Neighbourhoods and Engagement arrangements. 
The Rotherham Together Partnership is well established and 
partner organisations have an opportunity to provide the Chair 
role in future years. The new Partnership strategy, The 
Rotherham Plan 2025, was published in early 2017. The Plan 
can be found at www.rotherham.gov.uk. 

Principle C - The Council has had a Council Plan in place throughout 

Page 291

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/


6

Defining outcomes 
in terms of 
sustainable 
economic, social, 
and environmental 
benefits.

2017/18 which set out the principal outcomes required in the 
course of the financial year. This has been monitored 
throughout the year in line with the Council’s Performance 
Management Framework. This involves monthly and quarterly 
consideration of the performance indicators, the latter process 
being in public.

Sitting alongside the Council Plan are numerous other 
strategies which set out more detail around the required 
outcomes. These include the Rotherham Housing Strategy, 
Rotherham Economic Growth Plan, Safer Rotherham Strategy, 
Rotherham Local Plan Core Strategy, Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy and the Rotherham Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.

Each Service area has a Service Plan which links to both the 
Council Plan and the relevant Strategies and these Plans are 
reviewed by individual Services.

In addition to the above, the Council’s Risk Management 
framework links to the Service Plans and enables Leadership 
Teams to monitor the risks around each key element of the 
overall plan that they are accountable for. 

Principle D - 
Determining the 
interventions 
necessary to 
optimise the 
achievement of the 
intended 
outcomes.

As set out above, the Council Plan and associated Service 
Plans form the basis for all interventions planned by the 
Council. All Business decisions are accompanied by a business 
case and options appraisal and the corporate report templates 
require information explaining the legal and financial 
implications of decisions. 

Delivery of the Plans is monitored through Quarterly Monitoring 
Reports and Contract Monitoring Reports and the Council has 
Performance Reports which are aligned to the Council Plan 
priorities. 

All decisions need to be taken in the context of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, the Capital Programme and the 
Revenue budget process. 

Principle E - 
Developing the 
entity’s capacity, 
including the 
capability of its 
leadership and the 
individuals within it. 

The Council has been working with the Local Government 
Association to provide peer mentors for all Cabinet Members 
and Opposition Group Leaders during 2017/18 and this will 
continue into future years. Personal development planning is 
also now available to all Members and take up has now 
reached 100%.
The permanent Strategic Leadership Team structure is now 
embedded and almost all Assistant Director posts are 

Page 292



7

permanently filled. 

Job descriptions are in place for all posts throughout the 
Council and these are supported by recruitment and 
appointment policies and procedures. There is a 
comprehensive training programme for officers linked to a 
Workforce Development Plan and the Corporate Workforce 
Strategy.  Each Council employee has a Personal Development 
Plan which links to their service’s Service Plan.

Capacity to respond to increasing demand has been identified 
in a number of front line services. Plans are being developed to 
deliver service transformation across the Council which will 
enable these capacity pressures to be mitigated.

Principle F - 
Managing risks and 
performance 
through robust 
internal control and 
strong public 
financial 
management. 

The Council has a Risk Management Policy and Guide which is 
embedded and reviewed annually. This Policy requires the 
Strategic Risk Register to be reviewed at regular intervals by 
the Strategic Leadership team and for Directorate and Service 
level risk registers to be reviewed monthly. Corporate report 
templates all contain ‘risk implications’ sections and Risk 
Management also links closely to Service Plans. The Audit 
Committee reviews risks and the Risk Management process at 
every meeting. 

Performance Reports are aligned to Council Plan priorities and 
are considered in public and are also linked to the Risk Policy.

The Council has an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
Strategy which is frequently reviewed and an Internal Audit 
function which issues an annual opinion on governance, risk 
management and internal control. The council also has a 
Corporate Information Governance Group which is responsible 
for improving its approach to securing information. This group is 
supported by a dedicated Information Governance team as well 
as ongoing monitoring of Data Protection Act / Freedom of 
Information compliance

Principle G - 
Implementing good 
practices in 
transparency, 
reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective 
accountability.

The Council has a Corporate Communications Strategy and 
this includes the publication on its website of details around 
budgets and spending, Senior Officer remuneration, 
Performance Information and reports, the Annual Report and 
Statement of Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement.
The Local Code of Corporate Governance is refreshed annually 
in accordance with CIPFA/SOLACE principles and any 
documents proposed for publication are scrutinised and 
approved by Senior Leadership Team, Cabinet and Audit 
Committee prior to publication.
The Head of Internal Audit presents an annual report to Audit 

Page 293



8

Committee to inform members of Internal Audit activity that has 
taken place during the year and the Audit Committee meets five 
times a year and receives reports from both Internal and 
External Audit.
The Council is subject to regular inspections from regulatory 
bodies, including Ofsted, Care Quality Commission etc. The 
outcomes of these inspections, together with the Council’s 
responses are made available via the website
An appropriate financial control and reporting framework for the 
Council is in place, with all aspects of revenue and capital 
spending compared to budget plans being routinely reported 
throughout the year to the officer Strategic Leadership Team, 
Cabinet and Commissioners. 

Monitoring the effectiveness of Governance Arrangements 

4.4 The Council annually reviews the effectiveness of its governance framework 
including the system of internal control. The ten key elements of assurance that 
inform this governance review are:

1) The Chief Executive, Strategic and Assistant Directors whose role includes:
 Corporate oversight and strategic planning
 Annual corporate governance assessment which is informed by annual 

Assurance Statements from each Strategic and Assistant Director
 Implement and monitor regulatory and other governance protocols

2) Monitoring Officer who has oversight of:
 Legal and regulatory assurance
 Monitors the operation of the Constitution

3) The Section 151 Officer who has oversight of the proper administration of the 
Councils financial affairs

4) Information Governance, which is monitored by:
 The Designated Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)
 Data Protection procedures
 Information Security and Records Management procedures

5) The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, who carry out policy review 
and challenge as well as have an overview and carry out scrutiny of specific 
topics

6) The Audit Committee which;
 Reviews the effectiveness of internal and external audit

Page 294



9

 Considers the adequacy of the internal control, risk management and 
governance arrangements 

 Carries out a Self-assessment

7) Internal Audit who produce;
 An Annual opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal 

controls, risk management and governance arrangements
 An Internal audit plan, reports and action tracking reported to Audit 

Committee

8) External Audit / Inspections which include:
 Financial statements audit
 Value for Money conclusion
 Other external inspections

9) Risk Management which incorporates:
 A Risk management policy and strategy
 Quarterly monitoring and reporting of Strategic Risks

10) Counter Fraud work, which includes:
 Anti-Fraud and Corruption and Whistleblowing arrangements
 Anti-Money Laundering Policy and supporting arrangements
 Codes of Conduct for Officers and Members
 Financial and Contract Procedure Rules

The Council’s Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy

4.5 The Council’s budget for 2018/19 includes £15m of savings to address the budget 
shortfall. This is on top of £162m of annual savings delivered between 2011/12 
and 2017/18. Public consultation was carried out through December 2017 on the 
new budget savings proposals and they were considered by Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board prior to Cabinet recommendation and approval by 
Council.    

   
4.6 To help mitigate some of the pressures within Adult Social Care the Council took 

the opportunity to increase the 2018/19 Adult Social Care precept by the maximum 
3% allowable announced by the Government, along with maximising its ability to 
raise income through Council Tax. 

4.7 The Council’s revenue budget outturn for 2017/18 achieved a £3.2m underspend 
which has reduced the level of planned use of reserves in the 2017/18 budget 
which was approved by Council in March 2017.  However, within this overall 

Page 295



10

positive position there were significant overspends in social care services which 
must be addressed if the Council is to remain financially sustainable in the future.

      
4.8 The Council is undertaking a number of cross-cutting reviews which demonstrate a 

more strategic approach where previously there has largely been an over-reliance 
on a traditional “top-slicing” approach. In future budgets there will be a stronger 
focus on delivering increased value for money as the Council continues to better 
understand its costs and compares itself with Councils elsewhere. These reviews 
will provide new budget proposals for 2019/20 and beyond to address some of the 
funding gaps in those years as well as identifying actions to address the spending 
pressures in social care. The Council’s 2018/19 Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy can be found at www.rotherham.gov.uk.  The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is currently being updated for approval by Cabinet in the 
autumn.

Internal Audit 

4.9 It is a requirement of the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards that an annual 
report is produced setting out the work performed by Internal Audit and the opinion 
of the Chief Audit Executive (at Rotherham this is the Head of Internal Audit) on 
the Council’s internal control environment. 

4.10 The Annual Internal Audit report will be presented to the Audit Committee on 19th 
June 2018. The report confirms positive progress had been made during the year, 
but also highlighted areas identified from the work of Internal Audit where further 
improvement could be made. 

4.11 Internal Audit concluded that the Council had maintained, overall, an adequate and 
effective framework of governance, risk management and control. 

4.12 In December 2016 Internal Audit was assessed as partially conforming to Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards. An action plan was immediately put into 
operation. 13 of the 21 actions were completed during 2017, and as a result when 
assessed in December during 2017 the department was found to have 
substantially improved and to be generally conforming to the standards.

External Audit 

4.13 The Council’s external auditor (KPMG) is required each year to carry out a 
statutory audit of the Council’s financial statements and give an assessment of the 
Council’s value for money arrangements.

Page 296

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/


11

Audit Opinion on the Council’s Financial Statements

4.14 KPMG issued an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements for the 
2016/17 financial year on 26th September 2017. In KPMG’s opinion, the financial 
statements gave a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority and of 
its expenditure and income for the year ended 31st March 2017.

4.15 KPMG have carried out some preliminary work in advance of the commencement 
of the audit of the Council’s 2017/18 accounts.  Nothing has arisen so far to 
suggest that the opinion should not be as positive as last year.  However it is too 
early in the process to have any significant indication from the auditors.  The audit 
will be completed and opinion published by 31st July 2018. 

External Audit Value for Money Conclusion

4.16 KPMG issued an unqualified conclusion on the Council’s arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resources on 26th 
September 2017. In KPMG’s opinion, the Council had, in all significant respects, 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the financial year ended 31st March 2017.

4.17 KPMG anticipate being able to give an unqualified opinion in relation to the 
element of the Value for Money Conclusion that relates to the Council’s overall 
governance arrangements, the area improved on during 2016/17.  They have 
indicated that the main focus of their attention in relation to 2017/18 will be the 
future financial sustainability of the Council and that this will most likely be the 
determinant of the Value for Money conclusion for 2017/18.  The conclusion will be 
given by 31st July 2018.

5 UPDATE ON MATTERS REFERRED TO IN THE ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT FOR 2016/17  

5.1 In November 2017, the Commissioners produced a thirty three month progress 
review to the Department for Communities and Local Government. Overall, the 
Commissioners stated that they continued to see evidence of ongoing progress by 
the Council and noted the growing strength of leadership of the Leader of the Council 
and the Chief Executive which boded well for the ongoing task of cascading 
improvement in leadership throughout senior and middle management. 

5.2 The Commissioners also noted the Leader’s wider role within the region which has 
been prominent and consistent. The thirty three month review can be found at 
www.rotherham.gov.uk 

Page 297

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/


12

5.3 More details can be found below covering Children’s Services, Child Sexual 
Exploitation and Corporate Improvement, including the Restoration of Powers.  

Children’s Services

5.4 Following the 2014 Ofsted Single Inspection Framework (SIF) inspection which 
judged Children’s Care Services as inadequate, the Children’s Improvement Board 
continued to oversee progress of the Children and Young People’s Services 
(CYPS) Improvement Plan through monitoring, challenging and supporting 
officers. This has been summarised in previous Annual Governance Statements. 
The Board considered the areas of greatest risk first, and laid the foundations for 
effective and sustained improvement. This included challenging whether sufficient 
progress was made. 

 5.5 The most recent Ofsted inspection, which was published in January 2018 following 
a full re-inspection in November 2017, stated that the local authority had taken a 
systematic and rigorous approach to improvement since the last Ofsted inspection 
in 2014. The findings from the most recent Ofsted inspection report have been 
included in the Improvement Plan and are subject to monitoring at the monthly 
Performance Board meetings. The Improvement Board held its last meeting 
following the publication of the report and the improvement plan and in particular 
the 8 recommendations from the Ofsted re-inspection are now monitored at the 
monthly Performance Board as well as being part of business as usual Service 
Planning Monitoring.

5.6 The Ofsted report stated that the recruitment of effective senior managers has 
resulted in sustained improvement and that the quality and impact of services for 
children have been transformed. Ofsted reported that risks to children are 
recognised early and responded to, ensuring their safety and, overall, that the 
corporate response and associated change in the quality of children’s services has 
been impressive.

5.7 Ofsted also stated that the Council achieves excellent outcomes for a great 
majority of its care leavers. Since the last inspection, councillors and senior 
leaders have invested significantly in the care leaving service, expanding its 
capacity and providing excellent new facilities, including a dedicated drop-in centre 
and good-quality housing. Highly effective partnership working has developed a 
broad range of services that give care leavers access to good-quality housing, and 
opportunities to receive education and training, and to gain employment.

5.8 The Ofsted report focused on a number of areas where work needs to be done to 
further improve performance. These included the need for greater management 

Page 298



13

challenge of the quality of practice and planning for children looked after, the need 
to improve some risk assessments, the need to ensure that assessments are up to 
date for children looked after and the need to properly reflect the complexity of 
needs or how these will affect the children’s future requirements. 

5.9 The local authority is working to address these areas of provision that require 
improvement. Continued progress will depend on the Council meeting its vision for 
prioritising Children’s Services and maintaining improvement within the services. 
This will include managing the significant financial pressure brought about by the 
need to strengthen the service. The Council is continuing to work to ensure that 
the needs of Children’s Services are properly resourced within the financial 
envelope that is affordable to the Council whilst sustaining the improvements 
carried out to date.  Significant work is underway to ensure that services are 
delivered efficiently and that value for money is secured. 

Child Sexual Exploitation – “The Way Forward for Rotherham 2015-2018”

5.10 The Children and Young People’s Services Action Plan remains the primary 
mechanism for delivering improvement.  Improvements are being delivered 
through a multi-agency action plan jointly owned by the children and adult 
safeguarding boards and relationships across agencies are improving and leaders 
are increasingly modelling behaviours conducive with effective joint working. This 
is evidenced by the work of the Evolve Team, a crucial partnership between 
Children’s Social Care and South Yorkshire Police to address Child Sexual 
Exploitation effectively. In addition, the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub continues 
to bring together partners to facilitate effective decision making to keep children 
and young people safe from harm. Public confidence and staff morale across 
agencies continues to be boosted by a stream of successful prosecutions for 
online, non-recent, and current Child Sexual Exploitation. 

5.11 Six independent reports into various issues raised by aspects of the Council’s 
actions around Child Sexual Exploitation were published on 6th September 2017. 
Although these reports were critical of the Council’s actions in the period leading 
up to the appointment of the Commissioners in February 2015, no new issues 
were identified that impact on the current arrangements in place at the Council.

“A Fresh Start” Corporate Improvement 

5.12 The first phase of the Council’s Corporate Improvement Plan (‘A Fresh Start’) 
included 132 separate projects and was substantively completed by the end of 
May 2016. The second phase of the Corporate Improvement Plan (‘Phase Two 
Action Plan’) from May 2016 was agreed by the Joint Board of Commissioners and 

Page 299



14

elected members and further endorsed at the Cabinet and Commissioners’ 
decision making meeting on 11th July 2016. The Phase Two plan included 20 
overall improvement objectives (and 99 specific milestones) to be delivered over 
the year to May 2017. 

5.13 The Council concluded this phase of improvement activity in November 2017. The 
concluding performance progress report covering activity up to this date set out 
that 97 of the 99 measurable milestones in the ‘Phase Two’ action plan had been 
substantively delivered. There were three actions underneath these remaining two 
milestones, both of which were scheduled to be completed by the end of 2017. 
The actions remaining were; the review of the Compact; the implementation of the 
commissioning action plan and the six month review of the constitution. Both 
outstanding actions have now been completed and follow up arrangements are 
being embedded within the Council’s governance and management processes. 

5.14 The Council is now an organisation which uses intelligence to assess what it does 
and how well it does it. The development of Members, senior managers and other 
managers has increased the Council’s ability to effectively govern, lead and 
manage its operations. The capacity and capability of the Council has been 
developed through new leadership which is able to respond to the challenges 
ahead and future improvement and development will be managed through the 
Council Plan and the Council’s performance management framework.

Adult Social Care

5.15 The 2016/17 Annual Governance Statement reported the progress that Adult 
Social Care Services had made against their improvement priorities. Specifically, it 
reported that an improvement plan has been developed to track social work 
performance and align this to an enhanced understanding of the customer cohort 
and spend data through the ContrOCC finance system. 

5.16 The Commissioner’s most recent progress report referred to the pressures within 
adult social care and the actions the Council was taking to manage demand and a 
backlog of referrals. They reported that the Council continued to make progress 
with its improvement work and, in particular, the governance arrangements of the 
Adult Social Care Improvement Board had been refreshed and now include 
external challenge from an experienced independent chair and additional peer 
support/critical friend input from the Local Government Association. A new 
improvement plan is in place and the LGA has reviewed and critiqued the 
programme to support the improvement plan.

Page 300



15

5.17 The improvement plan has provided a level of structure and discipline to taking 
corrective action, waiting time for assessment and leadership and other detailed 
work has been carried out relating to the medium term finance strategy and 
associated actions and ownership. The Council continues to experience rising 
demand but has responded proactively and has made good progress on ensuring 
that referrals are up to date. The ongoing reduction of the backlog, performance and 
caseload management is being closely project managed within the improvement 
plan.  Progress is also being made to reduce the costs of the service and improve 
value for money with a number of significant decisions being brought before Cabinet 
during 2018/19 for decision. 

Information Governance

5.18 In last year’s Annual Governance Statement it was reported that the Council failed 
to retain its Public Services Network (PSN) certificate due to insufficient progress 
being made to action the previous years’ requirements.  This has not had any 
impact on the business of the Council but there was a risk that, should lack of 
progress continue, the Council’s permissions to share confidential data with other 
organisations would be removed.   It was also reported that an action plan had 
been developed and action was being taken to deal with the identified 
weaknesses. Delivery of the action plan has progressed well with 90% of tasks 
completed during the last 12 months and regular discussion with the PSN office to 
discuss this progress.

5.19 A Corporate Information Governance Group remains in place and is chaired by the 
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO). There is also a work programme 
developed to ensure continued improvement in all areas connected to information 
and data management and the Group will continue to address the risks associated 
with these issues in the course of 2018/19. High level risks have been mitigated 
with appropriate actions and work is focusing on the completion of tasks required 
to ensure the Council is GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) ready for 25th  
May 2018.

5.20 Additionally, last year’s Governance Statement reported that Freedom of 
Information response times had deteriorated, significantly over the previous year 
although they had mostly recovered by the year end. In the course of this year, the 
Freedom of Information process has been reviewed and re-engineered to make it 
more efficient and citizen focused and is now operating effectively.  Significant 
progress has been made on improving the response rate across all areas of the 
Council and monthly updates are presented to the Senior Leadership Team.

Page 301



16

6 OTHER SIGNIFICANT ISSUES ARISING DURING 2017/18 

6.1 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

The biggest challenge for the Council is the cost and demand pressure on social 
care services.  In 2017/18 both Adult’s and Children’s social care services 
overspent significantly.  The cost of these services need to be brought down in the 
current year to ensure that by the year end the overall Council budget is within the 
risk contingency set.  In the short to medium term the cost of these services needs 
to be brought down further as the biggest risk to the Council’s future financial 
sustainability is the pressure on these services.  Substantial in depth work and 
analysis is taking place in order to identify where the cost pressure can be 
addressed or mitigated without adverse impact on vulnerable children and adults.  
The outcome of this work will be reported in the update of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy which will be presented to Cabinet in the Autumn.

6.2 Ongoing issues relating to Children’s Social Care and Child Sexual Exploitation 
are reported in Section 5 above. Progress on improvement actions in these areas 
will continue to be reviewed and reported during 2018/19 and summarised in the 
Annual Governance Statement for that year. All other issues arising during 
2017/18 from other review processes have been included in the previous section 
as they were all mentioned in last year’s Annual Governance Statement. 

7 UPDATE SINCE MAY 2018

7.1 To be revised prior to publication of the audited financial statements in July 2018.

8 LEADER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE STATEMENT 2017/18

8.1 This Annual Governance Statement fairly reflects the position at Rotherham 
Metropolitan Borough Council during the year and up to the date of signing.

8.2 The Council has continued to make good progress on its improvement journey 
throughout 2017/18 and this is supported by the comments made by the 
Commissioners in their most recent progress review. Positive progress continues 
to be made and this is supported both by the further restoration of powers to the 
Council throughout 2017/18 by the Secretary of State as well as by the positive 
outcome from the Ofsted re-inspection 

8.3 The Council Vision remains current and has been reflected in the Council Plan 
which has been in place throughout the year. This Plan has been monitored 
through the Performance Management framework which includes public reporting 

Page 302



17

of Council performance against the Plan. Refreshed indicators under the Council 
Plan have been finalised and were approved in May 2018. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy sets out the prioritising and funding of the Council’s aspirations. 
These and other guiding documents developed during the year provide the 
building blocks for the Council to make further improvements. 

8.4 There continues to be clear and demonstrable progress as evidenced by the 
return of powers, the completion of the phase two Corporate Improvement Plan 
and the views of the Commissioners. Although, at the time of writing, 
Commissioners retain oversight of children’s safeguarding and children’s social 
care, the evidence in place throughout the 2017/18 year supports a conclusion 
that, overall, the Council demonstrated good governance and met its Best Value 
duty throughout the year. The action plans in place, which are now embedded as 
part of Service Plans and the wider Council Plan, will continue to drive further 
improvement throughout the coming year. 

Signed ……………………………………  Signed …………………………………….
Councillor Chris Read, Sharon Kemp,
Leader, Rotherham MBC Chief Executive, Rotherham MBC 

 

Page 303



Public Report

Council Report
Audit Committee – 19th June 2018.

Title
Internal Audit Annual Report 2017 – 2018.

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No.

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Judith Badger, Strategic Director, Finance and Customer Services.

Report Author
David Webster, Head of Internal Audit
Tel: 01709 823282 Email: david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
All wards.

Executive Summary
This report provides information on the role of Internal Audit; the work completed during 
2017/18 and highlights the key issues that have arisen from it. It provides the overall 
opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the adequacy of the Council’s control environment, 
risk management and governance. It also provides information regarding the performance 
of the Internal Audit function during 2017/18.

Based upon internal audit work undertaken and taking into account other internal and 
external assurance processes it has been possible to complete an assessment of the 
Council’s overall control environment. In the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit, 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council had overall an adequate and effective 
framework of governance, risk management and control. 

Recommendations
The Audit Committee is asked to:
1. Note the Internal Audit work undertaken during the financial year 2017/18 and the 

key issues that have arisen from it.
2. Note the overall opinion of the Head of Internal Audit.  
3. Note the information contained regarding the performance of Internal Audit during 

2017/18. 

List of Appendices Included:-
Appendix 1 – Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18. 

Page 304 Agenda Item 12



Background Papers
UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015.

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No.

Council Approval Required
No.

Exempt from the Press and Public
No.

Page 305



Title: Internal Audit Annual Report 2017 / 2018. 

1. Recommendations 

The Audit Committee is asked to:

1.1 Note the Internal Audit work undertaken during the financial year 2017/2018 
and the key issues that have arisen from it.

1.2 Note the overall opinion of the Head of Internal Audit

1.3. Note the information contained regarding the performance of Internal Audit 
during 2017/18. 

2. Background

2.1 Internal Audit produced a risk based Annual Audit Plan in accordance with the 
UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). This was received by the 
Audit Committee at its meeting in April 2017. The Plan was regularly reviewed 
and monitored during the year so that it provided sufficient coverage of the key 
risks facing the Council. 

2.2 During the year the Audit Committee received periodic updates on the work of 
Internal Audit and a summary of the key issues that arose. This annual report is 
a final summary of Internal Audit activity.  

2.3 The report is attached at Appendix 1 and includes the following information:
 Legislative requirements and Professional Standards
 The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion on the control framework, 

risk management and governance
 Resources and audit coverage during the year
 Summary of audit work undertaken during 2017/18, including both 

planned and responsive / investigatory work
 Summary of other evidence taken into account for control environment 

opinion
 Summary of audit opinions and recommendations made
 Internal Audit performance indicators

3. Key Issues

3.1 We gave an opinion of Partial Assurance or No Assurance in ten areas subject 
to audit.

3.2 The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion is that there was overall an adequate and 
effective framework of governance, risk management and control.

3.3 We can confirm that action plans have been agreed with management in 
respect of all final audit reports issued. 

3.4 There were substantial changes to the Internal Audit team during 2017/18. The 
team was affected by sickness and secondment, and the establishment was 

Page 306



increased during the year.  Resource levels provided sufficient capacity to 
provide an adequate level of assurance, and sufficient work was completed to 
enable the Head of Internal Audit to provide his overall opinion.

3.5 Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that an assessment of 
the Internal Audit function must be undertaken annually. The internal 
assessment by the Head of Internal Audit in December 2017 showed general 
conformance with the standards. The previous internal assessment in 
December 2016 showed partial conformance, and the external assessment in 
late 2015 had shown non-conformance.

3.6 A Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) was put into place 
during 2017 with the results reported to the Audit Committee in February 2018. 
This showed 13 of the 21 actions had been completed. An updated QAIP based 
on the internal assessment has been produced to maintain and increase the 
level of conformance within the team. This has 17 actions which will be actioned 
and monitored during 2018.

4. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal
4.1 This report is presented to enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibility 

for overseeing the work of Internal Audit. It provides an annual summary of 
Internal Audit work completed and the key issues arising from it and the overall 
opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the adequacy of the Council’s control 
environment. It also provides information about the performance of the Internal 
Audit function during the year. 

5. Consultation
5.1 All Internal Audit reports referred to in this report have been discussed and 

agreed with the appropriate Service Manager and Assistant Director, and have 
also been issued formally to the relevant Strategic Director. Where an opinion of 
partial or no assurance has been given, the report was also sent to the Chief 
Executive.

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision
6.1 The Audit Committee is asked to receive this report at its 12th June 2018 

meeting.

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 
7.1 There are no direct financial or procurement implications arising from this 

report. The budget for the Internal Audit function is contained within the budget 
for the Finance and Customer Services Directorate.

8. Legal Implications
8.1 The provision of Internal Audit is a statutory requirement for all local authorities 

that is set out in the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. These 
state:

“each principal authority must undertake an effective internal audit to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 

Page 307



processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance.”

8.2 Internal Audit also has a role in helping the Council to fulfil its responsibilities 
under s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which are:

“each local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration 
of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has 
responsibility for the administration of those affairs”

9.    Human Resources Implications
9.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications arising from this report. 

However, it is noted that during 2017/18 there were significant changes to the 
membership of the team. 

10.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
10.1 This document constitutes a report of progress against delivery of the Internal 

Audit Plan 2017/18. A significant proportion of the Plan was devoted to the 
examination of risks facing Children and Young People’s Services and Adult 
Social Care. 

11     Equalities and Human Rights Implications
11.1 There are no direct Equalities and Human Rights Implications arising from this 

report.

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates
12.1 Internal Audit is an integral part of the Council’s Governance Framework, which 

is wholly related to the achievement of the Council’s objectives, including those 
set out in the Corporate Improvement Plan and Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan.

13. Risks and Mitigation
13.1 The following risk has been identified. 

Risk Impact Likelihood Mitigation
Insufficient and / or ineffective 
resources / skills. Inadequate 
service 
Failure to meet the 
requirements of S151 of the 
LG Act 1972 and the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations, to 
provide an effective internal 
audit.                                                                                                                            
Council exposed to risks (fraud 
/ errors / inefficiencies) from 
unexposed control 
weaknesses.  Critical 
comments from external audit 
and /or inspection.

Med Low Implementation of action 
plan. Resources 
monitored to ensure 
sufficient to complete the 
plan.

Page 308



14.   Accountable Officer

David Webster, Head of Internal Audit.

Page 309



Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Internal Audit Annual Report 
2017/18

Page 310



1

1 Introduction

1.1 Objectives of the Report.

The objectives of this report are:
 To provide a summary of the Internal Audit work undertaken during the 

financial year 2017/18 and the key issues that have arisen from it.
 To present the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s control environment, risk management and 
governance arrangements, which supports the Council’s Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS).

 To provide information regarding the performance of the Internal Audit 
function during the 2017/18 year.

This report is presented to the Audit Committee to enable the Committee to fulfil its 
responsibility for overseeing the work of Internal Audit.

1.2 Legislation Surrounding Internal Audit.

The provision of Internal Audit is a statutory requirement for all local authorities that 
for the period under consideration is set out in the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015. These state:

“each principal authority must undertake an effective internal audit to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance.”

Internal Audit also has an important role in helping the Council to fulfil its 
responsibilities under s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which are that: 

“each local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration of 
their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their officers has responsibility 
for the administration of those affairs”.

 
1.3 Professional Standards

The professional responsibilities for Internal Auditors are set out in the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, published by the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) in the UK and Ireland. Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) are based on the international standards.

The Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to develop a Quality Assurance 
and Improvement Programme (QAIP), designed to enable an evaluation of Internal 
Audit’s conformance with the Standards. The QAIP must include both internal and 
external assessments. External assessments must be completed at least every five 
years. Internal assessments must include:

 Ongoing monitoring of the performance of the Internal Audit activity; and
 Periodic self-assessments

Page 311



2

A self-assessment against the standards was completed in December 2016 and the 
results reported to the Audit Committee in February 2017. The Internal Audit 
Service was assessed as partially conforming to the Standards. The assessment 
resulted in the development of a QAIP for 2017. During 2017, 13 of the 21 actions 
were completed. Another self-assessment was completed in December 2017 with 
the results reported to the Audit Committee in February 2018. This showed that 
general conformance with the standards had been achieved. An updated QAIP was 
then produced to continue the improvement during 2018. This will be implemented 
and monitored during 2018.

The CIIA define General Conformance as follows.
 
Generally Conforms means the evaluator has concluded that the relevant 
structures, policies, and procedures of the activity, as well as the processes by 
which they are applied, comply with the requirements of the individual Standard or 
element of the Code of Ethics in all material respects. For the sections and major 
categories, this means that there is general conformance to a majority of the 
individual Standards or elements of the Code of Ethics, and at least partial 
conformance to the others, within the section/category. There may be significant 
opportunities for improvement, but these must not represent situations where the 
activity has not implemented the Standards or the Code of Ethics, has not applied 
them effectively, or has not achieved their stated objectives. As indicated above, 
general conformance does not require complete/perfect conformance, the ideal 
situation, successful practice, etc.

Ongoing monitoring of performance is in place. The quality of audit work is ensured 
by the use of an audit manual, ongoing supervision and management of staff and 
the review of all audit work. Performance targets are set and actual performance 
reported to each Audit Committee meeting.

During the year the team integrated internal audit software was implemented in 
stages. This integrates: audit scoping; the development of audit programmes; 
testing and recording results; and time and performance management. Automated 
reporting and recommendation tracking have recently been added. Client 
satisfaction surveys and audit questionnaires will be developed in the future, whilst 
it is also possible to integrate strategic planning and scheduling. The structure of the 
software helped to enforce standardised modern working practices and contributed 
to the increase in conformance with the standards.

In March the whole team completed an external training course on Risk Based 
Internal Auditing provided by the CIIA. This will form the basis of further 
developments, improvements and standardisation within the team over the coming 
year.

1.4 The Definition and Role of Internal Audit

The definition of Internal Auditing in PSIAS is as follows:

Page 312



3

Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation achieve its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes.

The role and responsibilities of the Rotherham MBC Internal Audit Service are 
outlined in the Internal Audit Charter which was revised during the year and 
approved by the Audit Committee. It also specifies the department’s independence, 
authority, scope of work and reporting arrangements. All audit work is carried out in 
accordance with the contents of the Charter.

The role of Internal Audit is to provide an independent and objective opinion to the 
organisation on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of internal 
control, risk management and governance. Internal Audit is therefore a key part of 
the RMBC assurance cycle and one of the sources of assurance available to the 
Council and Audit Committee, which assists the Council to prepare the Annual 
Governance Statement.

In giving the opinion on the framework of internal control, risk management and 
governance, it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The matters 
raise in this report are only those which came to our attention during our Internal 
Audit work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all weaknesses 
that exist, or of all the improvements that may be required.

There have been no limitations made on the scope of Internal Audit coverage within 
the year.

2 Internal Audit Assurance for 2017/18

2.1 Internal Audit Opinion
For the year ending 31 March 2018, based on the work we have undertaken, my 
opinion is that Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council had overall an adequate 
and effective framework of governance, risk management and control. 

2.2 Scope of the opinion
In arriving at that opinion, I have taken into account

 The results of all internal audits undertaken during the year (see Appendix A 
for a summary of audits

 The results of follow up action taken in respect of audits from previous years
 The appropriateness of the proposed action by management to address 

control weaknesses and consequent risks
 Matters arising from previous reports or other assurance providers to the 

Audit Committee and/or the Council
 No limitations having been placed on the scope of internal audit
 No resource constraints having been imposed on us which may have 

impacted on our ability to meet the full audit needs of the Council; and

Page 313



4

 Where weaknesses have been identified, the action plans in place to 
address those weaknesses.

2.3 The basis of the opinion
In reaching this opinion the following factors were taken into particular 
consideration:-

Governance

The council’s governance framework comprises a range of policies, procedures and 
processes. At the highest level this includes the Council Plan, which is monitored 
and reported on regularly. It is supported by a range of policies and strategies to 
ensure that governance is applied throughout the Council. Although there was no 
internal audit review of governance as a whole during the year, many of the audits 
undertaken touched on the implementation of these policies and strategies. 

A Corporate Governance Group operated during the year, chaired by the Strategic 
Director Finance and Customer Services and comprising the Corporate Risk 
Manager, the Head of Internal Audit and the Assistant Director, Legal Services. The 
group produced the annual review of the RMBC Code of Corporate Governance 
based on the seven principals from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
(SOLACE) guidance on ‘delivering good governance’, published in 2016. This was 
presented to the Audit Committee in November 2017. 
The group has the following roles:

 Have oversight of the Local Code, including its implementation, review and 
revision on at least an annual basis

 Coordinate the production of the Annual Governance Statement and the 
assurances needed to underpin it

 Review the progress being made to address the issues reported in the 
previous year’s Annual Governance Statement

 Ensure that recommendations from external bodies are appropriately 
followed up and reported to the Audit Committee

 Be responsible for responding to any ad hoc governance issues as required.

The group has prepared and drafted the Annual Governance Statement. To do so 
the group issued corporate governance self-assessment questionnaires to Assistant 
Directors and asked for Statements of Assurance from Strategic Directors. This 
process provided an opportunity for senior officers to consider the effectiveness of 
governance arrangements. The Statement explains how Rotherham MBC complies 
with its own Code of Corporate Governance, in line with the seven principles from 
CIPFA/SOLACE.

Risk Management

Risk management has been developed and improved throughout the year. There is 
a hierarchy of risk registers dealing with strategic and operational risks at SLT, DLT 
and service level. These are regularly reviewed, discussed and amended to ensure 
they remain up to date. Risks are escalated to strategic level as necessary. Risk 

Page 314



5

management training continued to be delivered to Directors and managers during 
the year. The Audit Committee reviewed the strategic risk register in July 2017 and 
February 2018, and Directorate risk registers on a rolling basis throughout the year. 
Internal Audit completed a review of risk management in February 2018 and gave 
an audit opinion of substantial assurance. 

Internal Control

Our opinion on the Council’s control environment is based on our assessment of 
whether the controls in place in the services and functions subject to audit support 
the achievement of the Council’s objectives as set out in the 2017/18 Annual Audit 
Plan and the individual audit reports issued.

Audits were carried out in all areas of the Council during the year. The overall level 
of control found in audits was good.  67% of audits resulted in a Substantial or 
Reasonable assurance level. No area stood out as being worse than the others. 
During 2017/18 194 recommendations were made to improve the internal control, 
risk management and governance arrangements across the Council. Summary 
results are given in Appendix A together with definitions of the assurance levels and 
recommendation categories.

2.4 Resources

At the time the Internal Audit Plan was agreed in April 2017, the establishment 
structure had been agreed as 7 permanent employees plus 0.6 fte Apprentice, with 
external resource being used to support the team. This was the smallest Internal 
Audit team of any local authority in South or West Yorkshire. However it was known 
that one of the team would be seconded to Finance from the beginning of May for 
the rest of the year, to be covered by incoming secondees. One secondee was in 
place from July to December, with another in place from February, so covering eight 
of the eleven months. However, inevitably they had little or no audit knowledge 
when they joined the team, meaning efficiency was affected as they were trained. 
The team was affected by long term sickness, with one of the Principal Auditors 
being sick for three months and a Senior Auditor being sick for over a month. It was 
agreed that the establishment should be increased to 8 permanent employees, 
funded by the money available for the external resource, which was no longer 
needed. The new recruit started in September. 

It is the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit that resource levels throughout the 
year provided sufficient capacity to provide an adequate level of assurance to the 
Audit Committee and the Strategic Director of Finance and Customer Services.

As a result of careful management of our resources and significant effort by a very 
small team, sufficient work was completed during 2017/18 to enable the Head of 
Internal Audit to provide his overall opinion.

2.5 Revisions to the Audit Plan

In accordance with PSIAS, a detailed review of the Audit Plan was regularly 
undertaken. In particular a review was undertaken at the half-year to arrive at a 
revised plan. The factors taken into account as part of this review were as follows:

Page 315



6

 The imperative to deliver a balanced programme of work that would inform 
Internal Audit’s annual opinion on the overall adequacy of the Council’s 
control environment;

 Any changes to our risk assessment of specific services, functions or 
systems during the year;

 The scope for Internal Audit to place reliance on other assurance providers 
in accordance with PSIAS 2450 and the Chartered Institute Of Internal 
Auditors Practice Guide: “Reliance by Internal Audit on other Assurance 
Providers”. In particular, reliance was placed on the work of Ofsted in 
assessing Childrens Services as ‘Good’.

The changes arising from this review were presented to the Audit Committee in 
November 2017. Any further changes were presented to the Audit Committee as 
they arose.

2.6 Level of Audit Coverage during the year
The number of audit days spent in each area compared to the original and revised 
plan is given in the table below.

The plan is produced after taking into account estimated unproductive time. During 
2017/18 the actual unproductive time was much higher than anticipated due to a 
number of factors. Sickness was 90 days higher than expected. The implementation 
of the new audit software took 20 days more than expected. The delay in 
implementation meant that the full benefits of the system were not received in the 
year. Administration time was therefore 60 days more than planned. There was also 
a higher than expected amount of time spent on training, 40 days more than 
planned – on the new software, on professional qualification and on audit 

Audit Area Original 
Plan Days

Revised 
Plan Days

Actual 
Days

Corporate 10 10 0
Assistant Chief Executive 85 100 101
Adult Care and Housing 100 120 64
Children and Young People Services 165 145 90
Finance and Customer Services 210 190 133

Public Health 15 0 0

Regeneration and Environment 90 70 64

Investigations and Advice / Consultancy 180 180 225

Anti-Fraud 50 50 30

Grants 35 35 48

Follow Up 20 20 0

Software Development 40 40 60

Total 1000 960 815

Page 316



7

methodology. These will benefit the team in future years. None of these factors 
should recur in the future.
The plan is always flexible and subject to change during the year. The number of 
days planned for audits at the start of the year is reviewed when the audit is scoped 
in detail, and is also subject to change depending on the findings. 
The original plan showed 58 audits to be completed in 1000 days. After a mid-year 
review this was changed in September 2016 to 52 audits in 960 days. There is 
always a time lag in terms of the dates of audits, with the audit plan for any year not 
being completed at the end of March but in April/May. Additions and deferrals also 
make comparison of actual work completed against the plan more difficult, and 
some investigation work results in reports with recommendations to correct 
weaknesses. However, within 2017/18, as can be seen in Appendix A, 53 final 
reports were issued. In overall terms, this shows that the plan was substantially 
achieved.

2.7 Summary of Findings from Audit Reviews. 

Internal Audit provides an opinion on the control environment for all systems, 
services or functions which are subject to audit review. These are taken into 
account when forming our overall annual opinion on the Council’s control 
environment. All final audit reports are issued to the appropriate Strategic Director, 
Assistant Director and Service Manager. In addition, where an opinion of partial or 
no assurance was given, the final report was also sent for information to the Chief 
Executive. 

2.8 Management Response to Audit Reports.

After reports are finalised Internal Audit subsequently seeks assurance that agreed 
actions emanating from audit work have actually been implemented. As a minimum 
this involves contacting the manager responsible to seek written confirmation that 
agreed actions have been implemented or, where they have not, appropriate 
progress is being made. Where fundamental weaknesses in internal control 
arrangements have been identified, a more detailed follow up piece of work is 
undertaken.

A summary of outstanding audit recommendations made following each piece of 
audit work is provided to the Audit Committee at each meeting. This shows the 
number of recommendations made, the number of recommendations completed 
and the number outstanding or deferred. 

2.9 Reporting to the Senior Leadership Team

SLT receive a summary report based on the Progress Reports presented to the 
Audit Committee, showing progress against the plan, reports issued and 
outstanding recommendations.

2.10 Investigations and Advisory/Consultancy work

During the year 193 days were spent on investigations. 7 were completed during 
the year with 7 ongoing. There was no pattern to the subjects of the investigations, 

Page 317



8

and none were significant in terms of the governance of the Council. A further 32 
days were spent on Advisory work. This includes work that does not result in an 
audit report but adds value to the Council by contributing to working groups or 
providing advice.

2.11 Anti-Fraud work

During the year the department completed the following:

 The Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and strategy were updated and 
presented to the Audit Committee in September 2017. They were 
subsequently entered onto the Intranet.

 An Annual Fraud Report was produced and presented to the Audit Committee 
in September 2017.

 The Anti-Money Laundering Policy was updated and presented to the Audit 
Committee in November 2017.

 Continued to work on the National Fraud Initiative. 
 Launched fraud awareness e-learning to Members and relevant staff.
 Raised the risk of fraud with the Risk Champions group so that it could be 

considered and entered into risk registers.

2.12 Grants

During the year the department completed reviews in accordance with the grant 
funding body requirements for the following grants.

 Troubled Families Grant
 Disabled Facilities Grant
 Active Ability Grant
 Active Rotherham Communities Grant
 Active for Health Grant

All were found to be accurately compiled and in accordance with the grant criteria

2.13 Summary of Other Evidence taken into Account for Control Environment 
Opinion.

In forming our opinion, we also take into account the findings from external reviews 
of the Council’s activities. In line with the Audit Committee prospectus “A Fresh 
Start” the Head of Service, Performance and Planning, CYPS presents a bi-annual 
report that details recent and current external audits and inspections, including the 
details of arrangements that are in place regarding the accountability and 
governance for implementing recommendations arising from these. Reports were 
submitted to Audit Committee in November 2017 and June 2018.
The Ofsted inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers rated the Authority as Good. Internal Audit 
were able to place reliance on the inspection and result when reviewing the audit 
plan and arriving at the opinion on the control environment.

Page 318



9

2.14 External work
 

During the period Internal Audit provided audit services on a fee earning basis to 
the following academies:

 Wingfield Academy 
 Anston Greenlands Primary
 Herringthorpe Junior
 Greasbrough Primary

Since academies are separate legal entities to the Council, this work does not have 
any impact on our overall opinion of the Council’s control environment. The 
findings, recommendations and conclusions arising from these engagements are 
therefore not reported to the RMBC Audit Committee. 

2.15 Internal Audit Performance Indicators

Our performance against a number of key indicators is summarised below:

Performance
Indicator

2016/17 
Actual

2017/18
Target

2017/18
Actual

Draft reports issued within 15 
days of field work being 
completed.

93% 95% 80%

Percentage of 3 star 
(fundamental control 
weakness) recommendations 
agreed.

100% 100% 100%

Chargeable Time / Total Time. 75% 72% 70%
Audits completed within 
planned time. 90% 95% 76%

Client Satisfaction Survey. 100% 100% 100%

With respect to the performance indicators above:-

 Performance has been hit by the amount of sickness, the conversion to 
the new software and the related training. 

 Performance during 2018/19 will benefit from the introduction of 
automated action tracking and report generation.

 Performance will be monitored to ensure that it improves to meet the 
targets during 2018/19.

Page 319



APPENDIX A

10

Analysis Of Internal Audit Opinions and Recommendations Made in 2017/18

The table below shows a summary of the audit opinions and recommendations that have arisen from audit work completed during the 
period.

Audit Opinions Number of Recommendations Made

Audit Area Substantial 
Assurance

Reasonable 
Assurance

Partial 
Assurance

No 
Assurance

No 
opinion 
given

Total *** ** * Total

Assistant Chief 
Executive 3 1 1 0 0 5 0 5 21 26

Adult Care and 
Housing 1 1 5 0 3 10 2 28 19 49

Children and 
Young People 
Services

1 3 3 1 4 12 3 40 22 65

Finance and 
Customer 
Services

2 8 2 0 1 13 8 32 20 60

Public Health 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 1

Regeneration 
and 
Environment

1 3 0 1 6 11 1 24 27 52

Total 9 16 11 2 15 53 14 129 110 253

P
age 320



APPENDIX A

11

Rating Definition

Substantial 
Assurance

Substantial assurance that the system of internal control is 
designed to achieve the service’s objectives and this minimises 
risk.

The controls tested are being consistently and effectively applied. 
Recommendations, if any, are of an advisory nature (1 star) to 
further strengthen control arrangements.

Reasonable 
Assurance

Reasonable assurance that the system of internal control is 
designed to achieve the service’s objectives and minimise risk. 
However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent 
application of controls put the achievement of some objectives at 
risk.
 
There are some areas where controls are not consistently and 
effectively applied and / or are not sufficiently developed. 
Recommendations are no greater than medium (2 star) priority.

Partial 
Assurance

Partial assurance where weaknesses in the design or application of 
controls put the achievement of the service’s objectives at risk in a 
significant proportion of the areas reviewed.

There are significant numbers of areas where controls are not 
consistently and effectively applied and / or are not sufficiently 
developed. Recommendations may include high priority (3 star) 
and medium priority (2 star) matters.

No Assurance Fundamental weaknesses have been identified in the system of 
internal control resulting in the control environment being 
unacceptably weak and this exposes service objectives to an 
unacceptable level of risk.

There is significant non-compliance with basic controls which 
leaves the system open to error and / or abuse. Recommendations 
will include high priority (3 star) matters and may also include 
medium priority (2 star) matters.

Recommendation categories

*** Fundamental     (Action considered necessary to avoid exposure to high risk)
** Significant     (Action considered necessary to avoid exposure to a significant risk)
* Merits Attention  (Action desirable to enhance control or value for money)

Page 321



Public Report

Council Report
Audit Committee – 19th June 2018.

Title
Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21.

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No.

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Judith Badger, Strategic Director, Finance and Customer Services.

Report Author(s)
David Webster, Head of Internal Audit
Internal Audit, Finance and Customer Services
Tel: 01709 823282 Email: david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
All wards.

Executive Summary

This report refers to the Internal Audit Strategic Plan for 2018/19 to 2020/21. The report 
explains Internal Audit’s approach to the development of the plan, as well as detailing the 
specific activities we plan to review during the first year. The plan reflects a comprehensive 
risk assessment process, which has also included discussions with Strategic Directors and 
Assistant Directors to obtain their views of key risks and areas for audit coverage. 

Recommendations

The Audit Committee is asked to consider the Internal Audit Strategic Plan and to 
comment on its content and is asked to consider:

 Does the three year plan for internal audit reflect the areas that the Committee 
believe should be covered?

 Does the first year of the plan reflect the areas that should be prioritised?
 Is the level of audit resources accepted by the Committee and agreed as 

appropriate to achieve the plan?

The committee is requested to approve the Internal Audit Strategic Plan for 2018/19 to 
2020/21.

List of Appendices Included:-
Appendix 1: Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Background Papers
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Page 322 Agenda Item 13



Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
No.

Council Approval Required
No.

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 323



Title: Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

1. Recommendations 

The Audit Committee is asked to consider the Internal Audit Strategic Plan and to 
comment on its content and is asked to consider:

 Does the three year plan for internal audit reflect the areas that the 
Committee believe should be covered?

 Does the first year of the plan reflect the areas that should be prioritised?
 Is the level of audit resources accepted by the Committee and agreed as 

appropriate to achieve the plan?

The committee is requested to approve the Internal Audit Strategic Plan for 2018/19 to 
2020/21.

2. Background

2.1 Internal Audit is required to comply with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). The Standards require Internal Audit’s plans to be risk based and to 
take into account the need to produce an annual internal audit opinion. It needs 
to be flexible to reflect changing risks and priorities of the organisation.

3. Key Issues

3.1 The plan has been prepared after a full refresh of the ‘audit universe’ (i.e. the 
comprehensive list of all areas potentially subject to audit across the Council) 
and a thorough risk assessment of the Council’s activities. It has also taken into 
account:

 Analysis of the Council’s risk registers.
 Reports by management to the Audit Committee on the management of 

risks.
 Cumulative audit knowledge and experience of previous work undertaken. 
 Discussions with Strategic Directors and Assistant Directors.
 Knowledge of existing management and control environments.
 Professional judgement on the risk of fraud or error.
 Examination of Corporate Plans.
 Review of external inspection reports.

3.2 As well as identifying all of the proposed pieces of work to be carried out during 
the year, the plan:

 Explains the statutory requirements for Internal Audit
 Describes the approach and methodology adopted in producing the plan
 Shows the level of resources available to deliver the plan is 1,150 days
 Includes a contingency for responsive work. 

3.3  In line with auditing standards, the plan does not become fixed when it is 
approved. It remains flexible and will be revised to take into account any 
significant emerging risks facing the Authority. It will be subject to a half year 
review in consultation with Strategic Directors and Assistant Directors.

Page 324



4. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal

4.1 This report is presented to enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its responsibility 
for overseeing the work of Internal Audit, in particular to review and approve the 
risk-based plan.

4.2 The Audit Committee is asked to support the Internal Audit Strategic Annual 
Plan for 2018/19 to 2020/21.

5. Consultation

5.1 As part of the process for producing this Audit Plan, the Head of Internal Audit 
has held discussions with the Council’s Strategic Directors and their teams to 
obtain their views of key risks and areas for audit coverage.

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 The Audit Committee is asked to receive this report at its 19th June 2018 
meeting.

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 There are no direct financial or procurement implications arising from this 
report. The budget for the Internal Audit function is contained within the budget 
for the Finance and Customer Services Directorate.

8. Legal Implications

8.1 The provision of Internal Audit is a statutory requirement for all local authorities 
that is set out in the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. This 
states:

“A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate 
the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance.”

8.2 PSIAS state:

“The chief audit executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the 
priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. 
The risk-based plan must take into account the requirement to produce an 
annual internal audit opinion.”

8.3 Internal Audit also has a role in helping the Council to fulfil its responsibilities 
under s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which are:

“each local authority shall make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their 
officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs”

Page 325



9.    Human Resources Implications

9.1 There are no direct Human Resources implications arising from this report. 

10.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 This document constitutes a report of the Internal Audit Plan for 2018/19 to 
2020/21. A significant proportion of the Plan is devoted to the examination of 
risks facing Children and Young People’s Services and Adult Social Care. 

11     Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 There are no direct Equalities and Human Rights Implications arising from this 
report.

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 Internal Audit is an integral part of the Council’s Governance Framework, which 
is wholly related to the achievement of the Council’s objectives, including those 
set out in the Corporate Improvement Plan and Children’s Services 
Improvement Plan.

13. Risks and Mitigation

13.1 The following risks have been identified. 

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigation
Not having/failing to 
deliver a risk-based 
Plan. Audit Plan does 
not reflect current 
risks/threats to 
Council. Unforeseen 
demands upon audit 
resources, e.g. 
increase in 
frauds/investigations 
and/or requests from 
management 
(responsive work). 
Insufficient resources 
to complete work to 
support the annual 
opinion.

Low High Internal Audit regularly monitors 
progress of the plan and takes 
steps where necessary to ensure 
that sufficient work is carried out. 

14. Accountable Officer(s)

David Webster, Head of Internal Audit.

Page 326



Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council

Internal Audit Strategic Plan 
2018/19 to 2020/21

Page 327



1. Introduction

This document provides a summary of the Internal Audit Strategic Plan for 2018/19 to 
2020/21, with more detail on the annual plan for the first year. 

Definition of Internal Audit

The UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards defines Internal Audit as follows:-

“Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control 
and governance processes”.

Requirement for Internal Audit

The requirement for Internal Audit is set out in the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015:

“A relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking
into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.”

PSIAS state:

“The chief audit executive must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of 
the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. The risk-based plan 
must take into account the requirement to produce an annual internal audit opinion.”

The overall opinion issued each year by Internal Audit on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the control environment is used as a key source of assurance to support the Annual 
Governance Statement. 

S.151 Officer responsibility

Internal Audit also has an important role to support the Strategic Director of Finance & 
Customer Services in discharging her statutory responsibilities, which include:-

 S151 Local Government Act 1972 – to ensure the proper administration of financial 
affairs.

 S114 Local Government Act 1988 – to ensure the Council’s expenditure is lawful.

Development of Internal Audit Plan

The plan has been prepared after a full refresh of the ‘audit universe’ (i.e. the comprehensive 
list of all areas potentially subject to audit across the Council) and a thorough risk assessment 
of the Council’s activities. It has also taken into account an analysis of risk registers and the 
views of Directors and Assistant Directors as to where audit resource is most needed. In line 
with the PSIAS, this plan should enable Internal Audit to maximise the value and assurance it 
provides the Council and Chief Executive, while ensuring it fulfils its statutory obligation to 
review and report on the Council’s internal control environment. 

Page 328



A three year plan has been produced, however years two and three are indicative. Year one 
is provided in detail.

Ongoing Revision of Internal Audit Plan

It should be noted that this is an iterative plan that will be kept under review on an ongoing 
basis. It is also intended to undertake a half year review. Any significant changes to it will be 
reported to the Audit Committee for consideration and approval.

2. Approach
The internal audit function will be delivered in accordance with the Internal Audit Charter, as 
presented to the Audit Committee in September 2017. The Charter defines the role, scope, 
independence, authority and responsibility of the internal audit department. Audits will be 
delivered in accordance with that Charter. The team will also be developed during the year in 
accordance with the Charter and Service Plan. Development will be predominantly by the 
further embedding of integrated audit software and the use of Risk Based Internal Audit to 
increase the efficiency of the department. 

3. Methodology

A summary of our approach to the development of the Audit Plan for 2018/19 is set out below. 
The Plan is driven by the Council’s organisational objectives and priorities and the risks that 
may prevent the Council from meeting these objectives.

Step 1 – Understand corporate objectives and risks

Step 1
Understand corporate objectives 
and risks

Step 2 
Define the audit universe

Step 3
Assess the risk of each 
auditable area 

 Obtain information regarding corporate and 
service objectives and risks.

 Identify the auditable services, systems 
functions in the Council.

 Assess the audit risk of each auditable unit, 
taking into account inherent risk and control 
risk.

Step 4
Include other mandatory 
auditable areas

 Include within the Audit Plan those mandatory 
requirements additional to those identified 
through the risk assessment process.

Step 5
Derive the audit plan

 Determine the Audit Plan for 2018/19 based 
on corporate priorities and risks and taking 
into account the quantum of audit resource.

Page 329



Step 1 – Understand corporate objectives and risks 

Approach

We have examined all the Council’s Strategic and Directorate risk registers. We have also 
reviewed the Councils plans to identify objectives. We have reviewed the findings from recent 
external reviews and OFSTED reports and have held meetings with the Council’s Strategic 
Directors and their teams. We have also used sector knowledge to gain a wider 
understanding and perspective on risk.

Step 2 – Define the audit universe

Approach
We have updated the auditable services, functions and systems within the Council based on 
the risk registers, Council plans, Performance Management framework and our accumulated 
knowledge and experience.

Step 3 – Assess the risk of each auditable area
Approach

This is a function of the estimated impact and likelihood of risk occurring for each auditable 
unit within the audit universe. It also takes into account our understanding of the strength of 
the control environment of each area. Where the auditable area is included in a risk register, 
the risk rating was used. Where the auditable area was not in a risk register the risk was 
assessed by reviewing:

 The time elapsed since the previous audit of the area
 The result of the previous audit
 Any new developments within the area
 Assessment of financial materiality
 Our assessment of reputational risk 
 Our cumulative audit knowledge and experience of the Council
 The results of any external assessments

All auditable areas were the subject of discussions with Strategic Directors, Assistant 
Directors and Service Managers

Step 4 – Include other auditable areas 

Approach

In addition to the audit work identified through the risk assessment process, we also work on 
fundamental financial systems to assist the Responsible Finance Officer to meet her statutory 
responsibilities under s.151 of the Local Government Act 1972. We are required to provide 
certification of a small number of grant claims. Finally, we have committed to provide an 
internal audit service to a number of academy schools in the Rotherham area, from which we 
generate a small income stream. 

Step 5 – Derive the Audit Plan. 

Approach

Discussions were held with all Strategic Directors and their teams, the Chief Executive and 
the Senor Leadership Team. The plan was then derived to account for competing priorities, 

Page 330



the need to provide an opinion at the end of the year and the resources available.

4. Basis of our annual audit opinion for 2018/19
Internal audit work will be performed in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) and the associated Local Government Application Note (LGAN). 

Our annual internal audit opinion will be based on the internal audits we have completed over 
the year and the control objectives agreed for each individual internal audit. Progress against our 
Plan will be reported to the Audit Committee during the year.

In producing this Plan, we have considered carefully the level of audit coverage required to be 
able to form an evidenced annual internal audit opinion. There are a number of risks to the 
delivery of this Plan:

 The plan includes a more realistic provision for investigations. However there is no 
guarantee that it is accurate. If further resource is needed it may impact on the plan. 
Conversely, if this amount is not required then it will be allocated to other specific audit 
tasks.

 Integrated audit software has been introduced during the previous year. There was 
disruption to the plan whilst it was being implemented. This should now be reduced, but 
an allowance of 20 days has been made. If further time is needed it may impact on the 
plan.

 One of the team is on a temporary contract and a full time person is being sought. This 
may impact on overall capacity during recruitment and/or training.

Audits covered within the plan

Outline scopes for each review are given in the attached table. The following types of audit 
work will be completed.

1. Risk based work

This work is based on the strategic or operational risks. The audits examine the 
objectives of the area under consideration, the risks that may affect the achievement of 
those objectives and the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls to mitigate those 
risks.

2. System based work

Predominantly of key financial systems to give assurance that they are operating 
effectively. Reviews will take place each year but will look at specific controls on a 
rolling basis.

3. Follow up audits

Specific follow up audits have been planned where there have been a number of 
recommendations made in previous reviews. There is also a contingency of 20 days to 
allocate to further follow up reviews as they become necessary.

4. Advisory work

Page 331



Audit time to take part in specific projects or developments, as already requested / 
agreed with management.

5. Value for money

Value for money is considered as part of each audit review.

6. Grant claims

Time has been assigned to carry out reviews of grant claims.

7. Schools

We introduced Control and Risk Self-Assessment for all maintained schools during the 
previous year. This was designed to provide a level of assurance about the standards 
in schools, whilst at the same time minimising audit time in the schools by eliminating 
the need for traditional school audit visits.

During 2018/19 we will complete some themed school based reviews on risks 
identified from the self-assessment. A sample of schools will be visited to assess the 
identified risks.

8. Counter Fraud work

We will continue to conduct investigations in fraud and irregularity during the year. In 
addition we will continue to participate in the National Fraud Initiative. This matches 
data across organisations and systems to help identify potentially fraudulent or 
erroneous claims and transactions.

Resources

The audit plan will be delivered by the in-house team and has been based on the current 
complement of the team. 

There is a contingency of 50 days for further audits of risks as they arise and 30 days for 
requests from management for advisory work. 

Not shown within the plan is a small allocation of days for the provision of an audit service to 
a number of academy schools in the Rotherham area, from which we generate a small 
income stream.

The level of available resources for the Internal Audit function for 1st April 2018 to 31st March 
2019 is 1,150 days and is based on an establishment structure of 7 FTE. This is sufficient to 
allow the Head of Internal Audit to give his annual opinion at the end of the year. However, a 
greater resource would enable the team to provide a better service and greater assurance to 
the Council. The plan depends on maintaining the current level of resource. 

5. Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21

The internal audit plan has been derived as shown below to reflect the core areas of our 
Internal Audit programme determined by our risk assessment and consultation process.

Page 332



Page 333



Strategic Plan for Internal Audit 2018/19 – 2020/21

Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

CORPORATE

Governance Advisory
Review of activities to manage and monitor the ethics and Code of 
Conduct of the authority. 10

Annual Governance 
Statement Advisory

Review of the process for the production of the AGS
10

Emergency planning / 
Business Continuity Corporate Risk

Corporate arrangements to respond to a major incident or emergency.
X

Total Planned Days – Corporate 20

ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Tackling Family Poverty Corporate Risk Review of the procedures around the use of crisis loans. 5

Corporate Improvement 
Plan Strategic Risk Assurance that the actions have been completed and are being 

maintained. 10

Payroll Strategic Risk Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10

Replacement Payroll 
System Strategic Risk Review of data migration to give assurance on the accuracy of data in 

the new system. 10

Community Cohesion Strategic Risk Review of the controls around migration funding X

Partnership Working Strategic Risk Review of the governance arrangements for partnerships X

Communications and 
Marketing Strategic Risk Review of the arrangements for dealing with high profile media issues. X

P
age 334



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

Replacement Payroll 
System Advisory Audit advice to Programme Board and Project Board. 5

Establishment Control Review of the controls in place to ensure the establishment is 
maintained. 20

Agency Staff / Relief 
Workers Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

Consultants Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

Recruitment Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

Leavers Review of the operation of processes to manage leavers. 10

Training Review of the operation of training policies across the Council. 10

Timesheets
Review of the processes and system of control to ensure that timesheets 
are completed correctly. 15

Risk Management Review of the effectiveness of risk management. 10

Declaration of Interest Follow Up Follow up of previous review – new procedures belong introduced. 5

Performance Management Review of the accuracy of data used reported in the performance 
management system. 10

Organisational 
Development

Review to be scoped with the new Director of HR. X

HR Policies Review of the application of policies throughout the organisation. X

Member Allowances Review of the procedures for Member Allowances X

Total Planned Days – Assistant Chief Executive 135

P
age 335



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

ADULT CARE AND HOUSING
Mental Capacity Act Corporate Risk Review of new procedures and compliance with the Act 15

Care Homes Operational Risk Review of systems in place to ensure the retention of sufficient capacity 
and meet the requirements of the Care Act. 10

Social Landlord 
Responsibilities Operational Risk Review of compliance with health and safety and statutory regulations. 15

Charging Policy Operational Risk Review of charging, including benchmarking and compliance with the 
Care Act. 10

Transition from Childrens 
Care to Adult Care Operational Risk Review of the process, including meeting the financial commitments. 

Linked to CYPS. 10

Unallocated Assessments 
and Reviews Operational Risk Review of the policies and procedures to complete assessments and 

reviews, and the level of any backlog 15

Repairs and Maintenance 
Contract Operational Risk Follow up of previous review 5

Disrepair Claims Operational Risk Review of the system of correcting disrepair cases and reduce claims. X

Housing Growth Operational Risk Review of the delivery of housing to meet demand. X

Capital Programme Operational Risk Review of the delivery of investment schemes. X

Rothercare Operational Risk Review of the operation of Rothercare Service and Assistive Technology. X

Direct Payments Review of policies and procedures around Direct Payments to ensure 
effective care is delivered and resources are deployed efficiently. 10

Furnished Homes Follow Up Follow up of previous review 5

Care Act Review of compliance with the Act. 10

Right To Buy Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

P
age 336



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

District Heating Review of the system for income, refunds and replacements 10

Contract Management  -
Properties

Contract management of, for example, managing empty properties, 
replacement to central heating, refurbishment. X

Commissioning Review of implementation of actions from peer review X

Liquid Logic Follow Up Follow up of current review X

Homelessness Review of the actions taken to manage homelessness. X

Total Planned Days – Adult Care and Housing 120

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLES SERVICE
Special Educational 
Needs Operational Risk Education Health and Care Plans. Review of the requirements to meet 

statutory deadlines. 10

Virtual School Pupils Operational Risk Assurance that Pupil Premium Monies are being spent effectively. 15

Early Years Education Operational Risk Assurance that all children entitled to have access to the education. 10

Liquid Logic Operational Risk Review of the processing of payments for commissioned services and 
foster carer payments 20

Improvements in Childrens 
Services

After Ofsted report, review of the implementation of recommendations. X

Looked After Children Operational Risk After Ofsted report, review of the implementation of recommendations. X

Safeguarding Operational Risk After Ofsted report, review of the implementation of recommendations. X

Early Help Operational Risk Review of the engagement of partners in developing and delivering Early 
Help X

Rating of Schools Operational Risk Review of the arrangements to ensure maintained schools are rated 
highly. X

SEND Operational Risk Review of the management of SEND requirements. X

P
age 337



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

Social, Emotional and 
Mental Health (SEMH) 
Needs

Operational Risk
Review of the management of SEMH requirements.

X

Learning Needs of 16-18 
Year Olds Operational Risk Review to ensure there is sufficient provision  to meet learning needs. X

Children In Need Section 17 payments, and to include follow up of previous review. 10

Safeguarding Policies Assurance that policies are being operated as designed. 10

Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board

Review of the analysis of audits and evaluation of thresholds by the 
LSCB 10

Out Of Area Residential 
Placements

Review of the process for procuring residential payments under the White 
Rose Framework. 15

Direct Payments Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

Connected Persons Follow Up Follow up of previous review. 5

Schools Themed Audit Reviews based on the results of the schools’ Control and Risk Self-
Assessment. 30

Fostering and Adoption 
Allowances

Review of the controls around the delivery of allowances X

Front Door After Ofsted report, review of the implementation of recommendations. X

Public Law Outline After Ofsted report, review of the implementation of recommendations. X

Total planned days - Children and Young People’s Services 140

P
age 338



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

FINANCE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES
Finance

Budgetary Control Strategic Risk
Services adherence to agreed financial plans, and being able to identify, 
implement and deliver sustainable budget proposals. Relevant priority 
services are delivered efficiently, effectively and economically.

X

Procurement – value for 
money Strategic Risk Review of the management of high spend / high risk areas of expenditure 

across the Council. Audit to be completed after Category Plans in place X

Procurement – Contract 
Renewals / Expiry Strategic Risk Review of planning for contract renewals/expiry. Compliance with EU 

procurement legislation X

Procurement - 
Governance Strategic Risk Review of compliance with Contract Standing Orders after they have 

been revised. X

Procurement – Spend 
Analysis and Forecasting Strategic Risk  Review of the processes to analyse spend in order to identify savings or 

efficiency opportunities X

Insurance Operational Risk Review of controls and the level of cover 10

Council Tax Systems Based Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

NNDR Systems Based Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

Benefits and Council Tax 
Reduction Systems Based Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 

examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

Debtors Systems Based Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

Creditors Systems Based
Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

P
age 339



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

Rents Systems Based
Fundamental system. Previously no concerns, audit resources to 
examine a particular area within the system. 10 X X

Personal Service 
Companies – IR 35

Review of processes and procedures in place to ensure compliance with 
IR35 requirements. 10

Compliance with FPRs AD raised concerns over compliance with FPRs within Directorates. 15

Treasury Management Follow Up Follow up of 2017/18 audit X

VAT Follow Up Follow up of 2017/18 audit X

General Ledger Review of the operation of the General Ledger. X

Customer Information Digital Services

Information Management Strategic Risk
Compliance with relevant legislation. This includes the provision of timely 
and appropriate responses to requests for information via FOI ,EIR and 
DSAR. To include follow up of previous audit

20

Cyber Security Attacks Strategic Risk Review of the safeguards in place to prevent or react to cyber security 
attacks. X

Information Management Strategic Risk Review of arrangements in place to ensure compliance with legislation. X

GDPR Operational Risk Implementation of GDPR requirements. Detailed scope to be agreed 20

Data Loss Operational Risk Review of the controls around the security of data transferred to mobile 
devices. X

Data Storage Platforms Operational Risk Review of the replacement of data storage platforms. X

Active Directory AD CIDS has highlighted issues around active directories access rights. 10

Electronic Data Retention 
and Destruction

Review of arrangements to manage electronic data retention and 
destruction. X

P
age 340



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

Customer Service and 
Efficiency Programme 
Board

Advisory
Audit contribution to projects designed to increase efficiency.

30

Legal Services
Electoral Registration Assurance on the process for electoral registration. 10

Right to Buy Effective operation of RTB process within Legal Services 10

Planning Control and 
Building Regulations

Review of the legal procedures with regards to Planning and Building 
Control 15

Licencing Applications Review of the legal procedures with regards to Licensing Applications 15

Whistleblowing Review of the application of the whistleblowing policy. X

Total Planned Days – Finance and Customer Services 225

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT

Licencing Corporate Risk Delivery of an effective, fit for purpose licencing service. Review of 
Licencing policy, practice and procedures. 20

Asset Management Strategic Risk Operational property estate. Compliance with Health and Safety 
regulations, maintenance. Follow up CIPFA Health Check. 15

Enforcement Strategic Risk Delivery of an effective enforcement and regulatory function. Follow up of 
previous review. 5

Home to School Transport Strategic Risk Effective Home to School Transport. Review of new Home to School 
Transport Policy. Also review cross-directorate working with CYPS. 20

Waste Collection Strategic Risk Review of the management of the BDR Waste Treatment Plant X

Property Estate Strategic Risk Review of the controls around leased in property. X

P
age 341



Audit Audit Classification Auditable Area Risk 
Rating

2018/19 
Days

2019/20 2020/ 21

Highway Network Operational Risk Maintenance of a safe highway network. Review of the implementation of 
the new code of practice. 10

Planning Operational Risk Making timely planning decisions. Linked to review within Legal 
Department 5

Building Control Operational Risk Building works undertaken in accordance with Building Regulations. 
Linked to review within Legal Department 5

Planning – Landfill Sites Operational Risk Review of the controls to prevent the release of gases or leachate from 
landfill sites. X

Kerbside Waste Operational Risk Review of the arrangements for Kerbside Waste collection X

Household Waste 
Recycling Centres

General review of procedures and security in place at the centres. 10

Vehicle Fleet Review of the operation of the external contract. 20

Establishment Procedures
Review of the operation of standard procedures in place with regards to 
income and cash handling. 10

Hellaby Depot Follow Up Follow up of audit in 2017/18. 5

Out of Hours Review of the processes for dealing with contacts out of hours 5

Section 106 Follow Up Follow up of previous audit. X

Registration Services Review of the delivery of statutory services. X

Total Planned Days – Regeneration and Environment 130

P
age 342



OTHER Provision Days 
Used

Grants 50

Provision for investigations 200

Pro-active fraud  30

Contingency 50

Provision for ad-hoc requests from management 30

Audit development – integrated software 20

Total 380

Overall Plan Total 1150

P
age 343



Public Report

Summary Sheet

Council Report: 
Audit Committee 19th July 2018

Title: 
Audit Committee Prospectus and Forward Work Plan 2018/19

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report: 
Judith Badger (Strategic Director Finance and Customer Services)

Report Author(s): 
David Webster, Head of Internal Audit
Tel: 01709 823282 Email: david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected: 
None

Executive Summary: 
This report presents to the Audit Committee a draft 2018/19 Prospectus for 
agreement. The Prospectus outlines the Audit Committee’s objectives, how the 
Committee will operate and how it will deliver its objectives through its work plan, 
which is scheduled in the Prospectus. 
The Prospectus highlights key activities to be carried out in relation to risk 
management, corporate governance, accounting and internal and external audit. 

Recommendation:
The Audit Committee is asked to agree the 2018/19 Prospectus. 

Background Papers:
None

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel:
No 

Council Approval Required:
No

Exempt from the Press and Public:
No

Page 344 Agenda Item 14



Title: 
Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

1. Recommendations 
1.1 The Audit Committee is asked to agree the 2018/19 Prospectus. 

2. Background
2.1 The Audit Committee produces an annual Prospectus setting out the 

scope of its work, the standards it adheres to and its work programme 
for the year. This report refers to the 2018/19 Prospectus, which is 
attached at Appendix A.

3. Details
3.1 Local Government Audit Committees should comply with the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Position Statement and 
Practical Guidance for Audit Committees. The scope of the Audit 
Committee’s responsibilities and its work plan, set out in the 
Prospectus, are designed to ensure the Committee meets the CIPFA 
standards. 

3.2 Key Audit Committee activities, reflected in the Prospectus, include:
 Satisfying itself and others that the Annual Governance Statement 

reflects the Council’s arrangements and position; for 2018/19 this 
will include the updated Code of Corporate Governance.

 Monitoring the effectiveness of the internal control environment and 
assurances obtained about its operation.

 Ensuring Internal Audit is independent and effective. 
 Reviewing the Council’s arrangements for managing the risk of 

fraud. 
 Reviewing the external auditor’s annual audit plan and ensuring it is 

consistent with the scope of the audit engagement.
 Reviewing the findings of the external auditor’s work
 Reviewing the financial statements and the external auditor’s 

opinion on the statements
 Considering external audit and inspection recommendations and 

ensuring these are fully responded to. 
 Reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements. 

3.3 An Audit Committee Annual Report will be produced at the end of the 
year summarising actual work done and activities undertaken, and 
demonstrating compliance with standards and fulfilment of the 
Committee’s responsibilities.

4. Options considered and recommended proposal
4.1 The Prospectus and work plan is a helpful guiding document for the 

Committee itself and other stakeholders with an interest in the 
Committee’s activities. It is considered relevant to produce a 
Prospectus and work plan covering each municipal year. The work plan 
will be presented to each committee meeting for review and 
amendment as necessary.

Page 345



5. Consultation
5.1 Relevant officers have been consulted in producing the Prospectus.    

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision
6.1 The Prospectus includes a schedule of reports to be presented to the 

Audit Committee at each of its meetings during the year. Various 
reports have to be presented at specified meetings in order to comply 
with statutory requirements (for example relating to the statement of 
accounts and annual governance statement). 

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 
7.1 There are no financial or procurement issues arising from this report.  

8. Legal Implications
8.1 There are no direct legal implications associated with this report.

9.    Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults
9.1 The Audit Committee reviews the management of risks across the 

Council including relating to Children’s and Adult Services. Review of 
the management of risks helps to ensure the risks are mitigated.

10.   Equalities and Human Rights Implications
10.1 There are no immediate equalities or HR implications associated with 

the proposals.   

11.    Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

11.1 Partners will be able to take assurance on the Council’s application of 
governance controls and management of risks from the work of the 
Audit Committee. 

12.   Risks and Mitigation
12.1 The Audit Committee aims to comply with standards established by the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The 
maintenance of a work plan is consistent with the CIPFA standards. 
The production of a work plan also helps the Audit Committee to 
ensure it achieves its terms of reference. 

13. Accountable Officer(s)

David Webster (Head of Internal Audit).       
Tel 01709 823282
E mail david.webster@rotherham.gov.uk

Page 346



Audit 
Committee 
Prospectus:
2018/19

The purpose of an audit committee is to 
provide to those charged with governance 

independent assurance on the adequacy 
of the risk management framework, the 
internal control environment and the 
integrity of the financial reporting and 
annual governance processes.  CIPFA 

Page 347



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

The Context at Rotherham Council
This Prospectus sets out the scope and the standards 
of the Audit Committee, which are consistent with 
Local Government standards. It also describes the 
approach that will be taken by the Audit Committee 
and outlines its 2018/19 work programme.
In 2017/18 there were two new members of the 
Audit Committee, Councillors Simon Evans and 
Stuart Sansome replacing Councillors Sue Ellis and 
Sarah Allen. Both the new members received 
induction training to the Committee. 
During 2017/18 the Internal Audit team continued to 
undergo changes, whilst implementing an action 
plan to improve and at the same time delivering the 
audit plan. These will all continue during 2018/19 
and the Audit Committee will continue to support 
the team.
Also for 2018/19, the Audit Committee will continue 
to oversee the Council’s risk management 
arrangements.
After the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts is finalised 
there will be a change to the external auditors under 
the new Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) 
scheme. The Audit Committee will oversee the 
transition from KPMG to Grant Thornton, the new 
external auditors.

Scope and Standards
In accordance with CIPFA’s Position Statement on 
Audit Committees, the Audit Committee will:
 Satisfy itself and others that the Annual 

Governance Statement reflects the Council’s 
arrangements and position; for 2018/19 this 
includes the Code of Corporate Governance.

 Monitor the effectiveness of the internal 
control environment1 and assurances obtained 
about its operation.

 Consider the accuracy and effectiveness of risk 
management.

 Ensure Internal Audit is independent and 
effective. In particular, the Committee will: 
 review and approve the responsibilities of 

the internal audit function and ensure the 
function has the necessary resources to 
enable it to perform in accordance with 
appropriate professional standards

 review and assess the annual internal audit 
work plan

1 The internal control environment comprises all the 
checks and balances in place, including risk management, 
to ensure the Council’s actions are completed properly 
and recorded accurately

 receive a report on the results of the internal 
auditor's work on a periodic basis

 ensure Internal Audit implements its Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Plan and 
demonstrates compliance with auditing 
standards.

 Review the Council’s arrangements for 
managing the risk of fraud. 

 Review and approve the external auditor’s 
annual audit plan and ensure that it is 
consistent with the scope of the audit 
engagement.

 Review the findings of the external auditor’s 
work with the external auditor, including a 
discussion of any major issues which arise 
during the audit.

 Review the financial statements and the 
external auditor’s opinion on the statements. In 
particular, the Committee will review and 
challenge where necessary:
 the consistency of, and any changes to, 

significant accounting policies 
 the methods used to account for significant 

or unusual transactions where different 
approaches are possible

 whether the Council has followed 
appropriate accounting standards and made 
appropriate estimates and judgements, 
taking into account the views of the external 
auditor

 the clarity and completeness of disclosure in 
the financial reports and the context in 
which statements are made

 Consider external audit and inspection 
recommendations and ensure these are fully 
responded to. 

 Review and monitor treasury management 
arrangements.

 Review the Council’s policy relating to 
surveillance and its use of surveillance to ensure 
compliance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000.

The Audit Committee has Terms of Reference that 
reflect the scope and standards, and agrees an 
annual work-plan showing how 
the Committee will deliver its 
responsibilities. The 2018/19 
work-plan, which is a ‘live’ 
document that is updated 
throughout the year, is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

The Audit Committee has a membership of five 
Council Members and one co-opted member. It will 

Page 348



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

meet five times in 2018/19. The Committee’s 
operating model ensures that it: 

 Has clear rights of access to other committees 
and functions, for example scrutiny.

 Will have as regular attendees, the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Head of Internal Audit and 
the external auditor. Other attendees may 
include the Council’s Chief Executive and its 
Legal Officer. 

 Meets privately and separately with the 
external auditor and with the head of internal 
audit.

 Has the right to call on any other officers as 
required.

 Will report regularly on its work to the Council.  

Priorities for 2018/19
The Audit Committee has a lead role in ensuring 
governance is in place across the Council. In 
2018/19, the Committee will:

 Oversee the continuing implementation of the 
overall risk management framework, reviewing 
the Strategic Risk Register and requesting the 
attendance of Cabinet Members and senior 
managers to explain their management of risks.

 Support the Internal Audit team in continuing 
improvement and change, and in delivering the 
audit plan.

 Oversee the transition to new external auditors, 
due to change after the Statement of Accounts 
are finalised.

In addition, the Committee aims to strengthen its 
own contribution.  It will:

 Provide an opportunity for public questions at 
the start of committee meetings.

 Maintain a self-assessment and take action to 
address gaps and develop strengths.

 Receive regular, detailed, update sessions on 
relevant topics throughout the year.

 Participate in PSAA Audit Committee seminars 
and other appropriate events.

 Receive other development and support as 
required, individually and/or collectively.

Working with others
The Audit Committee Chair and Vice-Chair are 
members of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board. At the end of each Audit 
Committee meeting there will be a standing item to 
consider any matters to be referred to scrutiny, the 
Executive and / or Council for information or action. 

How will we know we have 
succeeded?
The role of the Audit Committee is crucial. The 
Committee has primary responsibility for ensuring 
there are effective governance arrangements in 
place and operating throughout the organisation, 
and is the principal advisory function to the Council 
and Executive on governance related matters.

The Audit Committee will be accountable for 
meeting its responsibilities. We expect the following 
outcomes to be achieved: 

 Comprehensive risk registers, including fraud 
risks, with risks demonstrably controlled.

 Demonstrable implementation of audit and 
inspection recommendations.

 A clear risk-based Internal Audit plan that is 
adequately delivered.

 The achievement of a clear opinion on the 
Statement of Accounts.

 A Code of Governance reflecting  CIPFA/Solace 
guidance.

 An Annual Governance Statement, external 
audit Value for Money opinion and Internal 
Audit control environment assessment that 
fairly reflect the Council’s position.

The Audit Committee will produce an Annual Report 
which will show how the Audit Committee is 
delivering these success measures and contributing 
positively to improving governance and risk 
management. The Annual report will be presented 
to the Council in June 2019.

Page 349



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
Meeting Date Objective Agenda Item Author
25th July 2018

Review financial statements

Review Annual Governance Statement

Review External Audit findings

Review Treasury Management

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Training - Treasury Management

Final Statement of Accounts

Final AGS

External Audit report on the Accounts

Annual Treasury Report

Strategic Risk Register

Risks Management arising from Brexit

Audit Committee Annual Report

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Private Meeting

Graham Saxton

Judith Badger

KPMG / Graham Saxton

Graham Saxton

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 350



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
Meeting Date Objective Agenda Item Author
28th 
September 
2018 Effectiveness of Internal Audit

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Managing the risk of fraud

Training – Risk Management

IA Charter review and update

IA Progress Report

Risk Management Policy and Strategy

Risk Management Directorate Presentation – 
Assistant Chief Executive

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
strategy review and update

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

David Webster

David Webster

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 351



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
Meeting Date Objective Agenda Item Author
27th 
November 
2018 Review External Audit findings

Consider Audit and Inspection Recommendations

Monitor Treasury Management

Regulation of Investigatory Powers

Review Annual Governance Statement

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Training – Code of Corporate Governance

External Audit Annual Letter

External Audit and Inspection recommendations

Mid-Year Report on Treasury Management

Review of Surveillance

Code of Corporate Governance

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
Regeneration and Environment

IA Progress Report

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

External Audit / Graham 
Saxton

Sue Wilson

Graham Saxton

Neil Concannon

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 352



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
Meeting Date Objective Agenda Item Author
29th January 
2019

Review financial statements

Review External Audit findings

Review External Audit Annual Plan

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Effectiveness of internal control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Training 

Final Accounts closedown and accounting policies

External Audit Grants Report

External Audit Plan

Strategic Risk Register

Risk Management Directorate Presentation – 
Finance and Customer Services

Information Governance

IA Progress Report

Audit Committee Forward Work Plan

Graham Saxton

External Audit / Graham 
Saxton

Grant Thornton / Graham 
Saxton

Simon Dennis

Simon Dennis

Head of Information 
Governance

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 353



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
Meeting Date Objective Agenda Item Author
26th March 
2019

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit

Training

IA Strategy and Plan

IA Progress Report

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
CYPS

PSIAS Internal Assessment / QAIP

Audit Committee Self Assessment and 
Annual Report

Audit Committee Prospectus and Forward Work plan

Private Meeting

David Webster

David Webster

Simon Dennis

David Webster

David Webster

David Webster

P
age 354



Rotherham MBC Audit Committee Prospectus 2018/19

Appendix 1
June 2019

Review Financial Statements

Review Governance Statement

Regulation of Investigatory Powers

Consider Audit and Investigation 
recommendations

Effective of internal control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Internal Audit and internal 
control environment

Effectiveness of Risk Management

Training – Statement of Accounts

Draft Statement of Accounts

Draft AGS

Review of Surveillance and Policy

External Audit Recommendations

Information Governance

IA Progress Report

IA Annual Report

Risk Management Directorate Presentation –
Adult Care and Housing 

Audit Committee Forward Plan

Graham Saxton

Judith Badger

Neil Concannon

Sue Wilson

Head of Information 
Governance

David Webster

David Webster

Simon Dennis

David Webster

P
age 355



Document is Restricted

Page 356 Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 379
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 394 Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 400
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 6th February, 2018 (herewith)
	7 Briefing Paper - GDPR Compliance Progress (herewith)
	8 Publication of Unaudited Statement of Accounts 2017/18 (herewith)
	Appendix A - Narrative_Report_2017_18 (1)
	Appendix B - SOA report audit committee 19 June
	Appendix C - Draft_Statement_of_Accounts_2017_18

	9 Update Report on the Use and Operation of Surveillance and Acquisition of Communications Data Powers (herewith)
	Appendix A - RIPA Policy 2018
	Appendix A1 - Non-RIPA 2018
	Appendix A2  RIPA Policy 2018- Forms
	Appendix B - ACD Policy 2018

	10 External Audit and Inspection Recommendations (herewith)
	Inspection and Recommendations Appendix

	11 Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 (herewith)
	Annual Governance Statement 2017-18 310518 v6 final draft published

	12 Internal Audit Annual Report 2017 - 2018 (herewith)
	13 Internal Audit Strategic Plan 2018/19 to 2020/21 (report herewith)
	14 Audit Committee Prospectus and Forward Work Plan 2018/19 (report herewith)
	Audit Committee Prospectus 2018-19 Appendix

	17 Internal Audit Progress Report for the period 1st January to 31st May 2018 (herewith)
	Outstanding Actions

	18 Strategic Risk Register (herewith)
	Draft Directorate Risk Register Version 12.6


